
6 July 2018 Our Ref Council 18.07.18 
 Your Ref.  
 Contact. Hilary Dineen 
 Direct Dial. (01462) 474353 
 Email. hilary.dineen@north-herts.gov.uk 

 
 

To: The Chairman and Members of North Hertfordshire District Council 
 
 

You are invited to attend a  
 
 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 

 
to be held in the 

 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNCIL OFFICES, 
GERNON ROAD, LETCHWORTH GARDEN CITY 

 
on 

 

WEDNESDAY, 18 JULY 2018 
 

at 
 

7.30 PM 
 
 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Jeanette Thompson 
Service Director – Legal and Community 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Agenda 
Part l 

 
Item  Page 

 
1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
 

2.   MINUTES - 17 MAY 2018 
To take as read and approve as a true record the Minutes of the Annual 
meeting of the Council held on 17 May 2018.  
 

1 - 8 

3.   NOTIFICATION OF OTHER BUSINESS 
Members should notify the Council of other business which they wish to be 
discussed by the Cabinet at the end of either Part I or Part II business set 
out in the agenda. They must state the circumstances which they consider 
justify the business being considered as a matter of urgency. 
 
The Chairman will decide whether any item(s) raised will be considered. 
 

 

4.   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
Members are reminded that any declarations of interest in respect of any 
business set out in the agenda, should be declared as either a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest or Declarable Interest and are required to notify the 
Chairman of the nature of any interest declared at the commencement of the 
relevant item on the agenda.  Members declaring a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest must withdraw from the meeting for the duration of the item. 
Members declaring a Declarable Interest, wished to exercise a ‘Councillor 
Speaking Right’, must declare this at the same time as the interest, move to 
the public area before speaking to the item and then must leave the room 
before the debate and vote. 
 

 

5.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
To receive petitions and presentations from members of the public. 
 

 

6.   ITEM REFERRED FROM FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE: 18 
JUNE 2018 - FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE ANNUAL 
REPORT 2017/18 
The Chairman of the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee will present to the 
Council a referral from the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee regarding the 
Committee’s Annual Report 2017/18. 
 

9 - 16 

7.   ITEM REFERRED FROM CABINET: 19 JUNE 2018 - RISK MANAGEMENT 
UPDATE AND ANNUAL REPORT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 2017/18 
To consider a referral from Cabinet regarding Risk Management Update and 
Annual Repot on Risk Management 2017/18. 
 
 
 
 

17 - 40 



 

8.   ITEM REFERRED FROM CABINET: 19 JUNE 2018 - REVENUE BUDGET 
OUTTURN 2017/18 
To consider a referral from Cabinet regarding Revenue Budget Outturn 
2017/18. 
 

41 - 54 

9.   ITEM REFERRED FROM CABINET: 19 JUNE 2018 - ANNUAL TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT REVIEW 2017/18 
To consider a referral from Cabinet regarding Annual Treasury Management 
Review 2017/18. 
 

55 - 72 

10.   COUNCIL CONSTITUTION (CONFIRMATION OF AMENDMENTS) & 
FURTHER MINOR PROPOSED CHANGES 
To confirm the amendments made to the Council’s Constitution under 
delegated decision and consider some further proposed minor amendments. 
 

73 - 82 

11.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS 
To consider any questions submitted by Members of the Council, in 
accordance with Standing Order 4.8.11 (b). 
 

 

12.   NOTICE OF MOTIONS 
To consider any motions, due notice of which have been given in accordance 
with Standing Order 4.8.12. 
 

 

  
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting of the Council held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Gernon Road, Letchworth Garden City  

on Thursday, 17th May, 2018 at 7.30 pm 
 

 
PRESENT:  Councillors Councillor John Bishop (Chairman),  (Vice-Chairman), 

Ian Albert, Allen, Kate Aspinwall, David Barnard, Clare Billing, 
Judi Billing, Paul Clark, Sam Collins, Julian Cunningham, Bill Davidson, 
Steve Deakin-Davies, Elizabeth Dennis-Harburg, Sarah Dingley, 
Faye Frost, Nicola Harris, Simon Harwood, Cathryn Henry, Terry Hone, 
Mike Hughson, Tony Hunter, Steve Jarvis, David Levett, 
Bernard Lovewell, Ian Mantle, Jim McNally, Paul Marment, Ian Moody, 
Gerald Morris, Lisa Nash, Lynda Needham, Sue Ngwala, Helen Oliver, 
Janine Paterson, Mike Rice, Deepak Sangha, Martin Stears-Handscomb, 
Claire Strong and Michael Weeks 

 
IN ATTENDANCE: David Scholes (Chief Executive), Anthony Roche (Deputy Chief 

Executive), Jeanette Thompson (Service Director - Legal and 
Community) and Ian Gourlay (Committee and Member Services 
Manager) 

 
ALSO PRESENT:  
 At the commencement of the meeting approximately8 members of the 

public. 
 
 

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ruth Brown, Val Bryant, Jean Green, 
Gary Grindal, Ben Lewis, Michael Muir, Valentine Shanley, Harry Spencer-Smith, Richard 
Thake and Terry Tyler. 
 

2 ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE CIVIC YEAR 2018/19  
 
Nominations were invited by the retiring Chairman (Councillor Alan Millard) for the election of 
the Chairman of the Council to hold office until the next annual meeting of the Council in 2019. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Lynda Needham, seconded by Councillor Julian Cunningham, 
and 

RESOLVED: That Councillor John Bishop be elected Chairman of the Council to hold office 
until the next Annual Meeting of the Council in 2019. 

 
Councillor John Bishop then read and signed the Statutory Declaration of Acceptance of 
Office and the Chairman (Councillor John Booth) placed the chain of office upon him.  
Councillor Bishop thanked the Council for his election as Chairman. 
 

3 COUNCILLOR ALAN MILLARD - PAST CHAIRMAN  
 
The Chairman paid tribute to Councillor Alan Millard for his service as Chairman during his 
term of office.   

 
Councillor Millard wished to record particular thanks to his wife and consort, Maureen, and his 
Secretary, Amelia McInally, for their help and support during the Civic Year.  He presented 
Maureen and Amelia with bouquets of flowers as a mark of his thanks.   

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Thursday, 17th May, 2018  

 
It was moved by the Chairman, Councillor John Bishop, seconded by Councillor Lynda 
Needham, and 
 
RESOLVED: That the Council places on record its sincere thanks and appreciation to 
Councillor Alan Millard for his services as Chairman of the Council during the past year. 
 

4 APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE CIVIC YEAR 2018/19  
 
The Chairman asked for nominations for the appointment of Vice-Chairman of the Council to 
hold office until the next Annual Meeting of the Council in 2019. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Lynda Needham, and seconded by Councillor Julian Cunningham, 
and 
 
RESOLVED: That Councillor Jean Green be appointed Vice-Chairman of the Council to hold 
office until the next Annual meeting of the Council in 2019. 
 
The Chairman announced that Councillor Green had tendered her apologies for the meeting. 
 

5 MINUTES - 10 APRIL 2018  
 
It was moved by Councillor Lynda Needham, seconded by Councillor Julian Cunningham, and 
 
RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 10 April 2018 be 
approved as a true record signed by the Chairman. 
 

6 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
(1) Declarations of Interest 

 
The Chairman reminded Members that any declarations of interest in respect of any 
business set out in the agenda, should be declared as either a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest or Declarable Interest and are required to notify the Chairman of the nature of 
any interest declared at the commencement of the relevant item on the agenda.  
Members declaring a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest must withdraw from the meeting 
for the duration of the item. Members declaring a Declarable Interest, who wished to 
exercise a ‘Councillor Speaking Right’, must declare this at the same time as the 
interest, move to the public area before speaking to the item and then must leave the 
room before the debate and vote. 

 
(2) New Councillors and Former Councillor re-elected 

 
The Chairman congratulated and welcomed Councillors Daniel Allen, Kate Aspinwall, 
Ruth Brown, Val Bryant, Sam Collins, Mike Hughson, Ian Moody, Lisa Nash, Sue 
Ngwala and Helen Oliver and welcomed back Councillor Clare Billing, following their 
success at the Elections held on 3 May 2018. 

 

(3) Re-elected Councillors 
  

The Chairman congratulated all those existing Councillors who had been successful in 
being re-elected at the District Council Elections. 
 

(4) Councillors unsuccessful in seeking re-election 
 
The Chairman thanked for all their work and effort those Councillors who had been 
unsuccessful at the District Council Elections, namely former Councillors John Booth, 
Steve Hemingway, Fiona Hill and Alan Millard. 

Page 2



Thursday, 17th May, 2018  

 

(5) Charities and Fundraising 
 
The Chairman was still deliberating over choosing his charity for the year, and 
Members would be advised as soon as a decision had been made. 

 
7 DISTRICT COUNCIL ELECTIONS - 3 MAY 2018  

 

The Council received the report of the Returning Officer on the results of the District and 
Parish Council Elections held on 3 May 2018. 

RESOLVED: That the report of the Returning Officer be noted. 

REASON FOR DECISION:  To inform Members of the results of the District and Parish 
Council Elections held on 3 May 2018. 
 

8 SCHEDULE OF COUNCIL MEETINGS 2018/19  
 
The Council received a report of the Chief Executive on a proposed programme of ordinary 
meetings of the Council in 2018/2019. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Lynda Needham, seconded by Councillor Julian Cunningham, and 
 
RESOLVED:  That the following programme of ordinary meetings of the Council be approved 
for the Civic Year 2018/2019: 
 
Wednesday, 18 July 2018; 
Thursday, 6 September 2018; 
Thursday, 22 November 2018; 
Thursday, 17 January 2019; 
Thursday, 7 February 2019; and 
Thursday, 4 April 2019. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION:  To enable Members to agree a programme of ordinary meetings 
of the Council for 2018/2019. 
 

9 LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  
 
The Council noted that the Leader of the Council for the period until May 2019 would be 
Councillor Lynda Needham. 
 

10 APPOINTMENT OF A DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  
 
The Council noted that the Leader of the Council had appointed Councillor Julian Cunningham 
as Deputy Leader for the 2018/2019 Civic Year. 
 

11 APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS OF THE CABINET FOR 2018/19  
 
The Leader of the Council presented a report which was tabled at the meeting, and which 
advised the Council of the proposed Cabinet Executive Members for 2018/2019.  The Leader 
explained the rationale behind her decision to reduce the number of Cabinet Members from 8 
to 7 for the 2018/19 year.  The report also contained details of the delegation arrangements 
for Executive Members, which would be incorporated into the Council’s Constitution. 

 
RESOLVED: That it be noted that the following Members be appointed as Executive Members 
of the Cabinet for 2018/2019 responsible for the following areas, and with the delegations for 
inclusion in the Council’s Constitution as detailed in the report tabled at the meeting: 

 

Page 3



Thursday, 17th May, 2018  

 
Cabinet Member   Portfolio  
Councillor Mrs L.A. Needham   Leader and Cabinet Chairman 
Councillor Julian Cunningham   Finance & IT and Cabinet Vice-Chairman 
Councillor Tony Hunter   Community Engagement & Rural Affairs 
Councillor David Barnard   Leisure & Green Issues 
Councillor Bernard Lovewell   Housing & Environmental Health  
Councillor Michael Weeks   Waste, Recycling & Environment 
Councillor David Levett   Planning, Enterprise & Transport 
 

12 TO APPOINT MEMBERS OF COMMITTEES FOR 2018/19  
 
The Chief Executive reported on the proposed allocation of places on the Council’s 
Committees and other bodies for 2018/2019.  He also tabled details of the political balance of 
Committees as required under the provisions of Section 15 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 which imposed a duty for the Council to review the representation of the 
different political groups on the Council’s committees.   

 
The report indicated the bodies to which the section applied and set out the proposed 
numbers of seats on these bodies and the suggested allocation of places that complied with 
the requirements of the law. 

 
It was moved by Councillor Lynda Needham, seconded by Councillor Julian Cunningham, and  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(1) That the seats allocated to each political party on the Committees to which Section 15 

of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 applied and the seats allocated to 
each political party on the bodies to which Section 15 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 did not apply be as set out in Appendix A to these Minutes; and 

 
(2) That Members be appointed to the various Committees and other bodies in 

accordance with the wishes of the individual groups, as detailed in Appendix B to these 
Minutes, and subject to the replacement of the name “Robert Logan” with “Gary Hills” 
as one of the Parish Council representatives on the Standards Committee. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION:  To comply with the provisions of Section 15 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989. 
 

13 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMEN AND VICE-CHAIRMEN OF COMMITTEES FOR 2018/19  
 
The Council gave consideration to the appointment of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of 
Committees (with the exception of Area Committees) for 2018/2019. 
 
It was then moved by Councillor Lynda Needham, seconded by Councillor Julian 
Cunningham, and 

 
RESOLVED: That the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees for 2018/2019 be 
appointed in accordance with the details set out in the Appendix C to these Minutes. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION:  To comply with the provisions of Standing Order 4.8.1(a)(ix) of 
the Council’s Constitution. 
 

14 ADJOURNMENT TO ENABLE THE APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMEN AND VICE-
CHAIRMEN OF AREA COMMITTEES  
 
The Chairman adjourned the meeting to enable the five Area Committees to meet to elect 
their respective Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen for 2018/2019. 

Page 4



Thursday, 17th May, 2018  

 
The meeting was adjourned at 7.50pm. 

 
The meeting was re-convened at 7.55pm. 
 

15 KEY DECISIONS - ANNUAL REPORT ON CASES OF SPECIAL URGENCY  
 
The Leader of the Council (Councillor Mrs L.A. Needham) submitted a report informing the 
Council of any occasions over the past year where the provisions relating to “Special Urgency” 
had been used in connection with the publication of an intention to make a Key Decision, as 
required by legislation. 
  
The Leader of the Council confirmed that, during the 2017/2018 Financial Year, there had 
been three occasions upon which the “Special Urgency” powers had been used.   

 
The powers had been exercised by the Cabinet on 19 December 2017 and 23 January 2018, 
in respect of decisions concerning the acquisition of 14/15 Brand Street, Hitchin, in relation to 
the North Hertfordshire Museum Project at Hitchin Town Hall, and on 27 March 2018 in 
respect of a decision concerning options for a Housing Investment Company, all as detailed in 
the report.  
  
It was moved by Councillor Lynda Needham, seconded by Councillor Julian Cunningham, and 
  
RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION:  To comply with Regulation 19 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 

16 ANNUAL REPORT OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Chairman Cathryn Henry) for the 
Civic Year 2017/2018 introduced the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which 
set out that Committee’s activities over the year and the plans for continued improvement over 
the coming year. 

 
The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee was pleased at the appointment of 
Councillor Elisabeth Dennis-Harburg as her Vice-Chairman for 2018/19. 

 
RESOLVED: That the Annual Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 2017/2018 
be noted. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION:  To comply with the provisions of Standing Order 6.2.6 of the 
Council’s Constitution. 
 

17 ANNUAL REPORT OF STANDARDS COMMITTEE  
 
RESOLVED:  That the Annual Report of the Standards Committee for 2017/18, as attached at 
Appendix A to the report, be received and noted. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION:  To promote and maintain high standards of conduct and to 
demonstrate a strong commitment to ethical values. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



Thursday, 17th May, 2018  

 
18 NOMINATION OF REPRESENTATIVES ON OUTSIDE ORGANISATIONS AND OTHER 

BODIES FOR 2018/19  

The Leader of the Council referred to the current position regarding District Council 
representatives on outside organisations, as detailed on the paper tabled at the meeting.  The 
Political Groups had indicated those positions they wished to have allocated to them and there 
were a small number of issues to resolve.  The Leader of the Council suggested that 
nominations be notified to the Proper Officer in due course. 

It was moved by Councillor Lynda Needham, and seconded by Councillor Julian Cunningham, 
that the list of Nominations to Outside Organisations for 2018/2019 tabled at the meeting be 
approved, with the exception of those which had more nominations than places. 

During the debate, the Leaders of the Conservative and Liberal Democrat Groups withdrew 
from the list the names of certain nominees for those bodies which had more nominations than 
places. 

Upon being put to the vote, it was 

RESOLVED: 

(1) That the report as submitted be approved, with confirmation that: 

(a) the Council’s nominated representative on the British Schools Museum will be 
Councillor Nicola Harris; 

(b) the Council’s nominated representative on the East and North Herts NHS Trust 
Involvement Committee will be Councillor Steve Deakin-Davies; 

(c)  a decision on the Council’s nominated representative on the Hitchin Initiative be 
deferred, pending clarification of the roles of the Hitchin Initiative and the 
Hitchin Business Improvement District (BID) ; 

(d) the Council’s nominated representatives on the King George V Playing Fields 
User Group will be Councillors David Barnard, Simon Harwood and Richard 
Thake; 

(e) the Council’s nominated representative on the Letchworth Garden City Town 
Twinning Association will be Councillor Ian Mantle; 

(f) the Council’s nominated representatives on North Hertfordshire Homes will be 
Councillors David Barnard, Tony Hunter and Claire Strong; 

(g) the Council’s nominated representative on the Royston and District Sports 
Council will be Councillor Tony Hunter; 

(h) the Council’s nominated representatives on the Royston Town Twinning 
Association will be Councillors Jean Green and Ben Lewis; and 

(2) That Political Group Leaders notify the Proper Officer of nominations to the remaining 
vacancies or any changes to the existing representatives on outside organisations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Thursday, 17th May, 2018  

 
19 ITEMS REFERRED FROM EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE: 11 MAY 2018 - APPOINTMENT 

OF CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER AND MONITORING OFFICER  
 
[Note:  Prior to the consideration of this item, Jeanette Thompson withdrew from the meeting.] 
 
The Council considered items referred from the Employment Committee, made at its meeting 
held on 11 May 2018, in respect of proposed appointments to the statutory posts of Chief 
Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Lynda Needham, seconded by Councillor Julian Cunningham, and 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(1) That Ian Couper be appointed to the statutory post of Chief Financial Officer; and 

 
(2) That Jeanette Thompson be appointed to the statutory post of Monitoring Officer. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION:  To ensure the Council complies with the requirements set out in 
the Officer Employment Procedure Rules contained in the Council’s Constitution. 
 
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 8.20 pm 

 
Chairman 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 
COUNCIL 

18 JULY 2018 
 

 

 
*PART 1 – PUBLIC DOCUMENT 

 

 
TITLE OF REPORT:  ITEM REFERRED FROM FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK 
COMMITTEE: 18 JUNE 2018 – FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE ANNUAL 
REPORT FOR 2017/18 

The following is an extract from the Minutes of the  
Finance, Audit and Risk Committee meeting held on 18 June 2018. 

 

11 FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18  
 
The Committee received the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report for 2017/18, 
prepared by the Chairman of the Committee (Councillor Terry Hone).  The Chairman 
referred to the various sections in the report regarding the role of the Committee; its 
effectiveness; the types of reports submitted to meetings; main achievements; and planned 
work for 2018/19. 
 
In response to a Member’s query, the Service Director undertook to circulate to Committee 
Members the dates of future meetings of the Risk Management Group. 
 
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:  That the Annual Report of the Finance, Audit and Risk 
Committee 2017/18 be noted. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION:  To comply with the requirements of the Council’s Constitution. 
 

 

 

 

  

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

The following is the report considered by the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee at its 

meeting held on 18 June 2018. 

 

 

 

  

North Hertfordshire District Council 

Finance, Audit & 
Risk Committee 
Annual Report 
2017 to 2018 

 
 

Page 10



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 

Contents 

Introduction from the Chairman 

Role of the Committee 

Effectiveness 

Members of the Committee 

Meetings in 2017-18 

Main Achievements 

Planned work for 2018-19 

 

 
  

Page 11



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

Introduction from the Finance Audit & Risk Committee Chairman 

I am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Finance, Audit & Risk (FAR) Committee 

which describes the Committee’s work and achievements over a 12 month period to March 

2018. 

I hope this Annual Report demonstrates the importance of the role of the Finance Audit & 

Risk Committee and the contribution it makes to the Council’s overall governance.  All 

meetings are open to the public and I would encourage residents to come along and see the 

Committee in action. 

As well as elected members, the Committee is supported by the Strategic Director of 

Finance, Policy & Governance; the Head of Finance Performance & Asset Management and 

the Accountancy Manager. Similarly representatives from the Shared Internal Audit Service 

(SIAS), the Shared Anti-Fraud Service (SAFS) and our External Auditors (Ernst & Young) 

regularly attend the meetings of the Committee.  

Councillor Terry Hone 

June 2018 

  

Page 12



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

Role of the Committee 

The purpose of the FAR Committee is to provide independent scrutiny and assurance of 
finance, audit and internal control matters and to provide effective scrutiny of financial 
matters. This also encompasses corporate governance and risk management.   
 
The Committee reports to Cabinet.  The work of the Committee provides assurance to 
Cabinet and Council on the annual accounts, risk management, audit and internal control. 
 
The Committee also provides the statutory approval of the Council’s Statement of Accounts 
and Annual Governance Statement. 
 
The full Terms of Reference for this Committee are provided in the Council’s Constitution 
(see Section 10). 
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/council-constitution 
 
Effectiveness 
 
The Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government 2006 requires an Audit 

Committee to review its own remit and effectiveness.  

Such a review was carried out by the Audit Manager within the Shared Internal Audit Service 

who has responsibility for the provision of the Internal Audit Service at North Herts District 

Council. It was reported to the June 2017 meeting of the FAR Committee.  This review 

concluded that the Committee was operating effectively. 

A further review will again be carried out and reported to the June 2018 meeting of the 

Committee. 

Members of the Committee 

The following Members were appointed to the Committee for 2017/18: 

Councillor Terry Hone Conservative Chairman 
Councillor Simon Harwood Conservative Vice Chairman 
Councillor Ian Albert 
Councillor John Bishop 

Labour 
Conservative 

 

Councillor Jim McNally Conservative  
Councillor Deepak Sangha Labour  
Councillor Terry Tyler Liberal Democrat  
   
Substitutes: 
 
Councillor Clare Billing Labour  
Councillor John Booth Conservative  
Councillor Nicola Harris 
Councillor S K Jarvis 

Conservative 
Liberal Democrat 

 

 

To support Members appointed to the Committee, assistance was readily available from 

relevant Officers.  

  

Page 13

https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/council-constitution


COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

Meetings 
A work plan was agreed at the start of the year, which included regular review of the 
following: 

 Reports of the External Auditor (Ernst and Young) 

 Internal Audit Reports (Shared Internal Audit Service – SIAS) to enable monitoring of 
the delivery of the internal audit service 

 Anti-fraud reports (Shared Anti-Fraud Service- SAFS) to enable monitoring of the 
effectiveness of anti-fraud activity 

 Risk Management Updates 

 Financial monitoring including Treasury Management Activity and Revenue/Capital 
monitoring 

 
As and when required, the planned Agenda is supplemented by reports where the 
Committee has requested additional information or assurance.   
 
The Committee met six times in the year and the following reports were presented and 
discussed: 
 

12 June 2017 

Annual External Audit and Certification Fees 
External Audit Update 
Information Note: Planning Obligations Funding (Section 106 and Unilateral Undertakings) 
The Effectiveness of the Finance Audit & Risk Committee 
Annual Assurance Statement and Internal Audit Annual Report 2016-2017 
SIAS update on progress against the 2017-18 audit plan 
Risk Management Update and Annual Report on Risk Management 2017-18 
FAR Annual Report 
Draft Annual Governance Statement for 2016-17 
Revenue Budget Outturn 2016-2017 
Capital Programme Outturn 2016-17 
Annual Treasury Management Review 2016-17 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018-23 
Information Note: Car Parking Expenditure and Income 
Draft Statement of Accounts 2016-17- Narrative Report 

21 September 2017 

Progress report on the Shared Anti-Fraud Service (SAFS) 
SIAS Annual Report for 2016-17 
SIAS update on progress against the 2017-18 Audit Plan 
Audit results report for the year ended 31 March 2017 
Annual Governance Statement for 2016-17 
Statement of Annual Accounts for 2016-2017 
First Quarter Revenue Monitoring 2017-18 
First Quarter Capital Monitoring for 2017-18 
First Quarter Treasury Monitoring Report for 2017-18 
Risk Management Update 

20 November 2017 

Annual Audit Letter 2016-17 
Local Government Audit Committee briefing 
Second Quarter Revenue Budget Monitoring 2016-17 
Second Quarter Capital Monitoring for 2016-17 
Second Quarter Treasury management 2016-17 
Updated Financial Regulations 
 
 

Page 14



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

18 December 2017 

SIAS update on progress against the 2017-18 Audit Plan 
Risk Management Update 
Corporate Business Planning- Draft Budget 2018-19  

22 January 2018 

External Audit Plan for the year ending 31 March 2018 
Certification of Grants and Claims Annual Report 2016-17 
Corporate Business Planning- Draft Revenue Budget 2018-19 
Capital Programme 2018-19 onwards 
Treasury Management Strategy for 2018-19 

21 March 2018 

External Audit Update 
Local Government Audit Committee Briefing 
SIAS update on progress against the 2017-18 Audit Plan 
Internal Audit Plan for 2018-19 
SAFS Proposed Anti-Fraud Plan for 2018-19 
Risk Management Update 
Local Code of Corporate Governance and Annual Governance Statement Actions Update 
Third Quarter Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017-18 
Third Quarter Capital Monitoring 2017-18 
Treasury Management Third Quarter Report 2017-18 
Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments 

 
Main Achievements  
 
Taking the year as a whole, the Finance, Audit & Risk Committee has been successful in 
maintaining a comprehensive overview of internal control and governance.  In addition, it 
played a key role in financial monitoring.  The Chairman of the Committee was in a position 
to provide an Assurance Statement on the role of the Committee to support the Annual 
Governance Statement for 2017-18. 
 
The Committee received an information note on planning obligations funding, which allowed 
them to see what funding was available and how it could be used. 
 
The Committee received a report on statutory guidance on Local Government investments, 
which allowed them to comment on how this would affect capital and treasury planning in 
future years. 
 
The Committee received a report on changes to the Financial Regulations, which allowed 
the Committee to make an onward recommendation to Council that the proposals be 
approved.  
 
The Committee reviewed the budget for 2018-19, including an early look at the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy in June. This allowed the Committee to make comments on the 
recommendations that went to Cabinet. 
 
Planned work for 2018-19 
 
The Committee will receive the items that ensure it covers its remit.  This will include a 
review of the Contract and Procurement Regulations. They will also review proposals for a 
capital strategy for 2019/20 onwards, which will include setting indicators for monitoring 
performance. In addition the Committee may also request reports or details of follow up 
actions on specific areas, as it has done a few times during 2017-18. 
 

Page 15



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

All Members of the Committee are encouraged to take advantage of the various offers of 
training and development that have been made by Officers as well as some of the external 
courses that are available.  This will include risk training and briefings from Ernst and Young. 
Attendance at a meeting of the Risk Management Group would also be beneficial. This will 
enable Members of the Committee to discharge their responsibilities to the best of their 
ability. 
 

Page 16



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 
COUNCIL 

18 JULY 2018 
 

 

 
*PART 1 – PUBLIC DOCUMENT 

 

 

TITLE OF REPORT:  ITEM REFERRED FROM CABINET: 19 JUNE 2018 – RISK 
MANAGEMENT UPDATE AND ANNUAL REPORT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
2017/18 

 
The following is an extract from the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting  

held on 19 June 2018. 
 

 

6A ITEM REFERRED FROM FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE: 18 
JUNE 2018 – RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE AND ANNUAL REPORT ON 
RISK MANAGEMENT 2017/18 

 
The Vice-Chairman of the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee presented the 
following referral from that Committee, made at its meeting held on 18 June 2018, in 
respect of the Risk Management Update and Annual Report on Risk Management 
2017/18 (Minute 10 refers): 
 
“RECOMMENDED TO CABINET: 
 
(1) That the increase in the score for the “Waste – Depot/Transfer Station” sub-

risk from an 8 to a 9 be approved; 
 
(2) That a new “Waste – Food and Garden Waste” sub-risk, with a score of 5, be 

approved; 
 
(3) That the overall score for the Waste and Street Cleaning Contract renewal” 

risk remain unchanged at a score of 8; and 
 
(4) That the Annual Report on Risk and Opportunities Management 2016/17, as 

set out at Appendix B to the report, be supported and referred to Council for 
approval.” 

 
The Executive Member for Finance and IT stated that he was supportive of the 
recommendations of the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(1) That the increase in the score for the “Waste – Depot/Transfer Station” sub-

risk from an 8 to a 9 be approved; 
 
(2) That a new “Waste – Food and Garden Waste” sub-risk, with a score of 5, be 

approved; 
 
(3) That the overall score for the Waste and Street Cleaning Contract renewal” 

risk remain unchanged at a score of 8; and 
 
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:  That the Annual Report on Risk and Opportunities 
Management 2017/18, as set out at Appendix B to the report, be approved.. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: To comply with the Risk and Opportunities Management 
Strategy, which stipulates that an Annual Risk Management report is taken to 
Council. 

 
 

 

 
  

 

Page 18



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

The following is the report considered by the Cabinet at its meeting held on 19 
June 2018. 

TITLE OF REPORT:  RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 

 
REPORT OF: THE HEAD OF FINANCE, PERFORMANCE & ASSET 
MANAGEMENT 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: COUNCILLOR JULIAN CUNNINGHAM 
COUNCIL PRIORITY: PROSPER AND PROTECT / RESPONSIVE AND EFFICIENT 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 To provide the Committee with an update on the Corporate risks. 

 
-  The Waste sub risk for Depot/ Transfer station has been reviewed and 

increased from an 8 to a 9 on the Matrix. 
- A new Waste sub risk for Food and Garden Waste has been introduced 

with a score of 5 on the Matrix.. 
- The overall Score for the Waste & Street Cleansing Contract Renewal 

remains unchanged at 8. 
 

1.2 To present the Committee with the Annual Report on Risk & Opportunities 
Management. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That the Committee notes and refers the changes in the Corporate risks to  

Cabinet. 
 
2.2    That the Committee notes and refers the Annual report on Risk & Opportunities               

Management to Cabinet and then Full Council. 

 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 The responsibility for ensuring the management of the risks is that of Cabinet.  
 
3.2 This Committee has responsibility to monitor the effective development and 

operation of risk management. 
 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 There are no alternative options that are applicable 
 
5. CONSULTATION WITH RELEVANT MEMBERS AND EXTERNAL 

ORGANISATIONS 
 
5.1 Consultation has been undertaken with SMT and the Risk Management 

Group (this includes Councillor Cunningham as Risk Management Member 
’champion’) and these recommendations were supported.  Lead Officers 
discuss these risks with the relevant Executive Member. 

 
6. FORWARD PLAN 
 
6.1 This report does not contain a recommendation on a key decision and has not 

been referred to in the Forward Plan. 
 
 
 

Page 19



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

7. BACKGROUND 
 
7.1 At the March meeting of the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee the following 

changes to the Corporate risks were approved and referred on to Cabinet. 
These were subsequently approved by Cabinet. 
 
- Office Accommodation reduction in score to 3 
- Waste & Street Cleansing Contract renewal sub risk -  Northern Transfer 

station  increase in score  to 8 
- Waste & Street Cleansing Contract renewal sub risk Commingled Waste 

score increase in score  to 7.  
 

7.2 The Committee also noted the information regarding the re-tendering of the 
Councils Insurance arrangements.  

 
 

8. RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS 
 
8.1 Corporate Risks 
 
8.1.1 The Corporate Risks summarised in Table 1 have been reviewed and agreed 

by SMT.   Members are able to view the current risk descriptions on Pentana 
(was Covalent), the Council’s performance and risk management software.  
The changes to the assessment of the current Corporate risks & opportunities 
are outlined in sections 8.2 and 8.3. Table 1 shows the last date that the risk 
was reviewed by the risk owner.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 
Table 1:  Risk and Opportunities Matrix – Proposed Changes 

 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

3 
High 

4 7 

 Income Generation 
(30.04.18)  
 

 Sustainable 
Development (2 x Sub 
Risks) 

9 

 Local Plan (13.04.18) 
 
 

 Managing the Council’s 
Finances (30.04.18)  
 

 North Hertfordshire 
Museum and Hitchin Town 
Hall Project (08.02.18) 

2 
Medium 

2 5 

 Increased 
Homelessness and Use of 
B&B (04.04.18)  
 

 Workforce Planning 
(27.03.18)  

8 

 Cyber Risks (19.03.18) 
  
 

 Waste and Street 
Cleansing Contract 
Renewal (9 x Sub Risks) 

1 
Low 

1 3 

 Office Accommodation 
(31.01.18) 

6 

  1 
Low 

2 
Medium 

3 
High 

  Impact 

 

Page 21



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 
8.2 Waste Sub Risk – Depot/Transfer Station. In February 2018 Officers 

reviewed the risk and increased the likelihood risk score to “High” (3). This is 
to reflect the emerging issues relating to the installation of a Fire Suppression 
System and the Environment Agency permit/licence at the Buntingford Depot. 
This proposed change will move the Waste sub risk from 8 to 9 on the Matrix. 
The overall score for the Waste and Street Cleansing Contract renewal 
remains at 8. 

 
8.3 Waste sub Risk – Food and Garden Waste.. In February 2018 Officers 

created a new sub risk for the Waste and Street Cleansing Contract renewal 
with a score of 5.. This was to reflect the introduction of charging for Garden 
Waste which commenced on 9 May 2018.The overall risk score for Waste 
remains unchanged as an 8 on the Matrix.  

 
8.3.1 Annual report on Risk & Opportunities Management. The annual report 

has been produced to provide an update to Full Council on the Risk & 
Opportunities Management at NHDC during the Financial year 17/18, as 
outlined in the Risk & Opportunities Management Strategy. The report 
confirms the Council’s ongoing  commitment to the management of Risks and 
Opportunities and outlines :- 
 

 - Significant changes to the Corporate risks in 1718. 
 
 - Achievements against the Risk Management Action Plan for 1718. 
 
 - Proposed Risk Management Action Plan for 1819. 
  
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The Committee’s Terms of Reference include “to monitor the effective 

development and operation of risk management and corporate governance, 
agree actions (where appropriate) and make recommendations to Cabinet..” 
This report gives the Committee the opportunity to review and comment on 
the high level Risks and how they are proposed to be managed. 

 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no direct financial implications from this report. 

 
11. RISK IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The Risk & Opportunities Management Strategy requires the Finance Audit & 

Risk Committee to consider regular reports on the Council’s Corporate Risks.  
Failure to provide the Committee with regular updates would be in conflict 
with the agreed Strategy and would mean that this Committee could not 
provide assurances to Cabinet that the Council’s identified Top / Corporate 
Risks are being managed. 

 
12. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty, public bodies must, in the 

exercise of their functions, give due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment, victimisation, to advance equality of opportunity 
and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

 
 

Page 22



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

12.2 Reporting on the management of risk provides a means to monitor whether 
the council are meeting the stated outcomes of the district priorities, its 
targets or delivering accessible and appropriate services to the community to 
meet different people’s needs. The risks of NHDC failing in its Public Sector 
Equality Duty are recorded on the Risk Register.   The Council’s risk 
management approach is holistic, taking account of commercial and physical 
risks. It should also consider the risks of not delivering a service in an 
equitable, accessible manner, and especially to its most vulnerable residents 
such as those who are homeless  

 
13. SOCIAL VALUE IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 The Social Value Act and “go local” policy do not apply to this report. 
 
14. HUMAN RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1 There are no direct Human Resource implications arising from this report, but 

it should be noted that there is a separate Corporate Risk relating to 
Workforce Planning. 

 
15. APPENDICES 
 
15.1 Appendix A – the Corporate Risks & Opportunities with changed 

assessments. 
           Appendix B – Annual Report on Risk & Opportunities Management 2017/18. 
 
16. CONTACT OFFICERS 
 
 Rachel Cooper 

Controls, Risk & Performance Manager 
rachel.cooper@north-herts.gov.uk 
01462 474606 

  
Ian Couper 

 Head of Finance, Performance& Asset Management 
 ian.couper@north-herts.gov.uk 
 
17. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
17.1 The risks held on Pentana the Council’s Performance and Risk Management 

IT system. 
 

Page 23

mailto:fiona.timms@hertfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:ian.couper@north-herts.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Top Risk Code 
& Title 

TR59.008 Depot/Transfer Station - CHANGED 

Description 

As a result of: 
- The Buntingford Depot/Transfer Station failing to meet Environment Agency 
requirements, e.g. installation of a fire suppression system  
- The Environment Agency not issuing the required operating licence  
- The Environment Agency not agreeing to a further extension to the temporary 
agreement, which expires in August 2018, to continue operating from the site on the 
existing basis  
- Foreclosure on the tenancy agreement, a fire or serious Health & Safety 
concerns/incident  
There is a risk that: 
- The Environment Agency closes the site  
- Operational use of the site is not possible or its use is severely restricted  
This could lead to: 
- Service delivery and the management of dry recyclates being significantly affected, 
e.g. waste collections being suspended/reduced  
- Dry recyclates being sent directly to the recycling facility  
- Dry recyclates being sent to landfill  
- Use of alternative transfer sites (either as a formal Business Continuity 
arrangement or as an emergency reactive solution)  

Opportunities - A joint depot/recycling transfer station with EHDC providing economies of scale  

Consequences 

As a result of the risks arising:  
- NHDC could require additional unbudgeted resources  
- NHDC's reputation could be damaged  
- NHDC could receive an increased number of complaints from residents  
- NHDC's performance could deteriorate  
- NHDC's income/identified savings could reduce  

Service Area Place 

Lead Officer Vaughan Watson 
Cabinet 
Member 

Executive Member for Waste 
Management, Recycling & 
Environment 

Current Risk 
Matrix 

 

Current Impact 
Score 

3 
Current 

Likelihood 
Score 

3 

Date Reviewed 23-May-2018 
Next Review 

Date 
23-Jul-2018 

Work 
Completed 

- Initial risks associated with the contract tendering process managed effectively, 
e.g. IT, telephone and parking issues all resolved  
- Urbaser submitted application for the operator licence  

Ongoing Work 

- EHDC responsible for financing and managing the installation of a fire suppression 
system  
- NHDC/EHDC representatives undertaking updated risk assessments and Business 
Continuity planning  
- Investigating options for third party providers to provide alternative transfer sites for 
dry recyclates and for direct delivery to Pearce  

            

Linked Action 
Code 

Linked Action Title Due Date Status 
Progress of 

Covalent 
Action 

         

Page 25



 

 

Top Risk Code 
& Title 

TR59.009 Food and Garden Waste - NEW 

Description 

On 16 October 2017, Cabinet approved the introduction of weekly food waste 
collections and a chargeable garden waste collection service for the new contract, 
commencing on 9 May 2018.  
As a result of: 
- NHDC not providing food waste caddy liners, apart from a limited number when the 
service is introduced  
- Residents being unwilling to pay the £40 per year charge (initial £35 early bird 
offer)  
- Residents being unhappy with the changes, especially in light of consultation 
feedback  
- Problems with the payment process and transfer of data to the operating system  
There is a risk that: 
- The contractor has problems delivering the garden waste collection service, i.e. 
ensuring residents that have paid have their waste collected and that residents that 
have not paid do not  
- Residents fail to utilise the food waste caddies and dispose of food waste in their 
purple bins  
- NHDC fails to maintain the required number of residents paying for the chargeable 
garden waste collection service  
- Residents dispose of garden waste by alternative (e.g. Household Waste Recycling 
Centres) or inappropriate (fly-tipping) means  
This could lead to: 
- NHDC not achieving the income figures specified in the budget  
- Reduced performance (increased residual waste and decreased recycling rate)  
- Increased incidents of fly-tipping  
- A high number of complaints and negative press coverage  
- Customer contact centres being unable to cope with a high volume of calls  
- Increased costs and negative impact on future AFM payments  

Opportunities 

- NHDC maximises take up of the chargeable garden waste collection service and 
the associated income  
- The amount of food waste collected increases (and offsets any reduction in garden 
waste)  

Consequences 

- Recycling performance reduces closer to the legislative requirement of 50%  
- Anticipated savings are not realised  
- Negative impact on NHDC's finances  
- Damage to NHDC's reputation  

Service Area Place 

Lead Officer Vaughan Watson 
Cabinet 
Member 

Executive Member for Waste 
Management, Recycling & 
Environment 

Current Risk 
Matrix 

 

Current Impact 
Score 

2 
Current 

Likelihood 
Score 

2 

Date Reviewed 23-May-2018 
Next Review 

Date 
23-Jul-2018 

Work 
Completed 

- Cabinet approval for service changes (October 2017)  
- Contract mobilised  
- Over 40% take up of the garden waste collection service at contract 
commencement, which has now increased to 47% (May 2018)  

Page 26



Ongoing Work 

- Implementing Communication Plan relating to service changes/implementation 
issues  
- Urbaser conducting a data cleansing exercise to resolve the issues with data 
transfer to the operating system (they have indicated that the system is currently 
99% clean), which resulted in problematic collection issues and a high number of 
complaints  
- To address short-term implementation issues, Urbaser has doubled the size of its 
contact centre and operated additional services/hours to “catch up”  
- No early indications of an increase in fly-tipping or a detrimental impact on HWRCs  

            

Linked Action 
Code 

Linked Action Title Due Date Status 
Progress of 

Covalent 
Action 

         

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

FAR COMMITTEE (18.6.18) 

 
 
 
 

 
Annual Report on Risk Management 

 
April 2017 to March 2018 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A progress report on Risk and Opportunity Management at 
North Hertfordshire District Council 

Page 29



 

FAR COMMITTEE (18.6.18) 

Annual Report on Risk Management 
2017/18 

 
 

1. Summary 
 
2. Background 
 
3. Significant Changes to the Corporate Risks 
 
4. Risk Appetite 
 
5. Insurance Review 
 
6. Business Continuity 
 
7. Health and Safety 
 
8. Review of the Risk Management Framework at NHDC 
 
9. Achieving the Significant Actions for 2017/18 
 
10. Significant Actions for 2018/19 
 
11. Conclusion 
 
12. Recommendations 
 
13. Definitions 
 
14. Risk Matrix for Corporate Risks as at 31 March 2018 
  

Page 30



 

FAR COMMITTEE (18.6.18) 

 

Annual Report on Risk Management 
 

April 2017 to March 2018 
 

 
 

1.0  Summary 
 
1.1 To provide Full Council with an annual report on risk and opportunities management 

at NHDC during the financial year 2017/18, as outlined in the Risk and Opportunities 
Management Strategy. 

 
1.2 This report aims to: 
 

 Confirm the Council’s ongoing commitment to the management of risks and 
opportunities to enable the achievement of its objectives, projects, service delivery 
and performance management. 

 

 Summarise the significant changes to the Corporate Risks during the year. 
 

 Summarise the achievements against the Risk Management Action Plan for 
2017/18. 

 

 Propose a Risk Management Action Plan for 2018/19, in order to maintain the 
Council’s effective and strong risk management processes. 

 

2.0 Background 
 
2.1 Throughout 2017/18, the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee received reports on the 

management of the Council’s Corporate Risks at its meetings. Where necessary, the 
Finance, Audit and Risk Committee then referred these reports to Cabinet. 

 
2.2 The Risk and Opportunities Management Strategy was reviewed in November 2017. 

The review included changing how the Strategy defined the Likelihood categories of 
Low, Medium and High. There were other revisions made, such as updating the 
Local Code of Corporate Governance principles, changing references to Covalent to 
Pentana Performance and referencing the new roles of Deputy Chief Executive and 
Service Directors. 

 
2.3 Throughout the year, the Performance and Risk Officer provided ongoing training 

and support to officers and Members. 
 
2.4 On request, the Performance and Risk Officer is able to provide 1:1 sessions to 

members of the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee, covering topics such as 
accessing risk register entries on Pentana Performance, the Council’s performance 
and risk management software. 

 
2.5 The Executive Member for Finance and IT, in his role as the Member “Risk 

Management Champion”, has been a regular attendee at Risk Management Group 
meetings. 

 
2.6 The risk management function at both a strategic and operational level is delivered 

and supported by the Head of Finance, Performance and Asset Management, the 
Controls, Risk and Performance Manager and the Performance and Risk Officer. 

Page 31



 

FAR COMMITTEE (18.6.18) 

 
2.7 Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) continues to deliver the Council’s insurance 

services and HCC’s Risk and Insurance Manager continues to attend Risk 
Management Group meetings. This enables the Council to obtain an insight into 
emerging risks and related issues at HCC and other local authorities in Hertfordshire. 
The Performance and Risk Officer is a member of ALARM, the national organisation 
dedicated to supporting risk professionals in the public sector. Membership of 
ALARM provides training opportunities and enables the sharing of best practice and 
benchmarking data with other public sector organisations. 

 

3.0 Significant Changes to the Corporate Risks 
 
3.1 There is a single set of Corporate Risks, which Cabinet owns and monitors. These 

risks require high level of resources to manage and mitigate (such as key projects or 
risks directly related to the Council’s objectives) and need to be managed at a 
strategic level within the Council. 

 
3.2 At each meeting, officers provided the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee with 

updates on the assessment and management of the Council’s Corporate Risks. 
Section 14.0 of this report presents a summary risk matrix, which shows the position 
of each Corporate Risk as at 21 March 2018 (the last meeting of the Finance, Audit 
and Risk Committee in 2017/18). The following paragraphs summarise the changes 
that were reported in the past year. 

 
3.3 Deleted Risks 

During 2017/18, no Corporate Risks were deleted or changed to service risks only. 
 
3.4 New Risks 

During 2017/18, no new Corporate Risks were introduced. 
 
3.5 Risks with Amended Assessments 

The regular review of the Council’s Corporate Risks includes an assessment of the 
impact and likelihood scores. Section 13.0 of this report details the definitions used 
for assessing scores at NHDC, which ensure a consistent approach to risk scoring. 

 
3.6 Increased Homelessness and Use of Bed and Breakfast 

On 12 June 2017, officers reported to the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee that 
the likelihood risk score had been reduced from “High” to “Medium” and this had 
resulted in a reduction to the overall risk score from “7” to “5”. Use of B&B 
accommodation had consistently reduced over the last year and at the time of the 
review (March 2017), there were no homeless households being accommodated in 
B&B. The current level of homelessness within the District was being managed using 
available temporary accommodation units. However, officers noted that this was a 
challenging issue and that demand could be unpredictable. Therefore, the risk would 
be subject to quarterly reviews. On 13 June 2017, Cabinet approved the change to 
the risk score. 

  

Page 32



 

FAR COMMITTEE (18.6.18) 

3.7 Office Accommodation 
On 12 June 2017, officers reported to the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee that in 
view of progress made and the Council's commitment to complete the refurbishment, 
the likelihood risk score had been reduced from “High” to “Medium”. This had 
resulted in a reduction to the overall risk score from “7” to “5”. Willmott Dixon 
commenced work on site on 6 March 2017 and they were undertaking asbestos 
removal and demolition works, which were on schedule. Some unforeseen issues 
had been identified during the works and these were being assessed, with any 
solutions required being financed from existing budgets. On 13 June 2017, Cabinet 
approved the change to the risk score. 

 
3.8 Waste and Street Cleansing Contract Renewal – Sale of Materials 

On 12 June 2017, officers reported to the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee that 
the likelihood risk score had been reduced from “High” to “Medium” and this had 
resulted in a reduction to the overall risk score from “9” to “8”. A new contract had 
been procured for mixed recycling services until May 2018 and currently, a saving 
against budget was predicted. Despite the change to the sub-risk score, the 
overarching “Waste and Street Cleansing Contract Renewal” Corporate Risk 
remained at the same assessment level (8). On 13 June 2017, Cabinet approved the 
change to the risk score. 

 
3.9 Office Accommodation 

On 21 March 2018, officers reported to the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee that 
the likelihood risk score had been reduced from “Medium” to “Low” and this had 
resulted in a reduction to the overall risk score from “”5” to “3”. This reflected the fact 
that the project was almost complete and staff were already being returned to the 
DCO. The risk entry would not be closed until a post implementation review had been 
completed and lessons learned had been captured. On 27 March 2018, Cabinet 
approved the change to the risk score. 

 
3.10 Waste and Street Cleansing Contract Renewal - Northern Transfer Station and 

Ancillary Facilities 
On 21 March 2018, officers reported to the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee that 
the likelihood risk score had been increased from “Low” to “Medium” and this had 
resulted in an increase to the overall risk score from “6” to “8”. This was due to the re-
letting of the residual waste transfer contract by HCC and the need for the depot to 
be secured for the new waste contract. Despite the change to the sub-risk score, the 
overarching “Waste and Street Cleansing Contract Renewal” Corporate Risk 
remained at the same assessment level (8). 

 
3.11 Waste and Street Cleansing Contract Renewal - Commingled Waste 

On 21 March 2018, officers reported to the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee that 
the likelihood risk score had been increased from “Medium” to “High” and this had 
resulted in an increase to the overall risk score from “5” to “7”. This reflected the 
global economic climate and the impact of China’s restrictions on plastics for 
recycling and the new contract re-letting. Despite the change to the sub-risk score, 
the overarching “Waste and Street Cleansing Contract Renewal” Corporate Risk 
remained at the same assessment level (8). 

  

Page 33



 

FAR COMMITTEE (18.6.18) 

4.0 Risk Appetite 
 
4.1 The Council’s willingness to accept risks in order to achieve its strategic objectives is 

known as its ‘risk appetite’. The Council has to take risks in order to evolve and 
deliver its services effectively. The Council’s risk management framework ensures 
that it recognises the risks that accompany new objectives and opportunities, and 
that it manages them appropriately. The Council has to decide what risks it wants to 
take and what risks it wants to avoid, although it cannot or should not avoid all risks. 

 
4.2 The Council will have a range of different appetites for different risks depending on 

the circumstances, and these can vary over time. The reporting of the Council’s 
Corporate Risks to Cabinet via the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee, allows the 
significant risks the Council is prepared to take to be approved and monitored 
accordingly. Generally, risks with a score of “7” or above will exceed the Council’s 
risk tolerance and will require further controls and mitigation to be put in place. As at 
31 March 2018, the following Corporate Risks, which have clear links to the Council’s 
objectives, had a score of “7” or above: 

 

 Local Plan (9) 

 Managing the Council’s Finances (9) 

 North Hertfordshire Museum and Hitchin Town Hall Project (9) 

 Cyber Risks (8) 

 Waste and Street Cleansing Contract Renewal (8) 

 Income Generation (7) 

 Sustainable Development (7) 
 

5.0 Insurance Review 
 
5.1 The Council’s insurance arrangements are handled by Hertfordshire County Council 

under a shared service arrangement that has resulted in savings for North 
Hertfordshire District Council. 

 
5.2 The Council transfers some financial risks to its insurers. Public liability insurance 

provides the Council with insurance cover for claims made by the public for personal 
injury and/or property damage. These are each subject to a £5,000 excess that is 
charged to the responsible service area. This will increase to £10,000 from 1 April 
2018, but it is the first increase since 1993 and it has ensured that the premium does 
not increase. Areas that have been subject to a claim are identified and wherever 
possible, action is taken to prevent future damage to property or personal injury. 

 
5.3 Eight claims were received from the public relating to the policy year 2017/18. 

Although claims are made, these are not always successful for the claimant, as 
payments of compensation are made only when there is a proven legal liability. To 
date, three of the eight claims relating to minor property damage have been settled. 
Two injury claims were made and these can take several years to conclude. 

 
5.4 The Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) Scheme of Arrangement was triggered in 

2013 and the Council now has to pay 25% of any new claims dating back to the 
period that MMI was the Council’s insurers (1974 to 1993). The Council’s Financial 
Risks make provision for any new claims and any further levy demands relating to 
the period that MMI was the Council’s insurers. 

 
5.5 The Council tendered its insurance portfolio in 2017 (apart from its liability insurance, 

as this was tendered in 2016).This has led to substantial savings of over £30,000 for 
the 2018/19 financial year. 

Page 34



 

FAR COMMITTEE (18.6.18) 

 

6.0 Business Continuity 
 
6.1 During 2016/17, the new NHDC Resilience Plan was completed. The Resilience Plan 

combines NHDC’s Emergency Planning and Business Continuity response 
arrangements into one plan with associated response and support plans. 

 
6.2 During 2017/18, the following Business Continuity activities were completed: 
 

 The Business Continuity Service and Infrastructure plans were reviewed and 
updated where required. 
 

 A Business Continuity tabletop exercise (Exercise Scarlet) was provided for 
Senior Managers Group in September 2017 based on the scenario of a small fire in 
the Council Offices. The objectives of the exercise included to validate the new 
Resilience Plan in response to a Business Continuity incident and highlight any gaps 
in resilience planning, to raise awareness of staff roles and responsibilities in a 
Business Continuity incident and to highlight the critical functions in each department 
taking part. 
 

 A Business Continuity workshop took place in October 2017, at which 
business critical functions were looked at in preparation for a forthcoming review. 
 

 A review of all Business Impact Assessments was carried out in late 
2017/early 2018 to inform an assessment of the critical functions for the Council. 

 
6.3 During 2018/19, the Resilience Plan will be updated to take into account changes 

arising from the return to the DCO and the restructure. The critical functions review 
will be completed and taken to the Senior Management Team. 

 

7.0 Health and Safety 
 
7.1 Health and Safety Concerns Relating to the DCO Relocation/Office Moves 

Only two major concerns were raised in relation to the moves back into the DCO 
building. Property Services investigated both issues: 
1. Heating/Cooling 
There is an ongoing issue around the general temperature throughout the building 
with staff complaining of constant changing temperatures throughout the day. There 
is also a heating issue overnight in the Careline Arc. 
2. Light Ingress 
The lack of blinds at the windows was causing problems for staff throughout the day. 
Staff were reporting DSE concerns in respect of glare onto screens etc. Blinds were 
fitted at the end of May 2018 to resolve the issues. 
There were general concerns raised by staff in respect of provision of additional 
equipment/local adjustments to desks/screens/chairs, which have all now been dealt 
with. 

 
7.2 Having completed the move back to the DCO, DSE assessments were reissued to 

staff in line with the DSE regulations. 
 
  

Page 35



 

FAR COMMITTEE (18.6.18) 

7.3 The new fire evacuation procedures for the DCO were introduced on 16 April 2018 
with all staff and councillors receiving information on the new procedures and their 
personal fire evacuation assembly points. A successful fire evacuation test drill was 
conducted on 26 April 2018 and as part of the new procedures, all floors were 
searched by our fire marshals and reported as clear with no issues seen. Staff 
vacated the building within five minutes and they were sent information via the IT text 
system, as well as verbally at the fire assembly points. 

 
7.4 There remains some residual asbestos within the building following the 

refurbishment. Most of the residual asbestos is within the old bitumen floor adhesive 
that could not be totally removed on the lift lobbies on all floors. New floor screed and 
carpeting has now been laid in these areas and this has encapsulated the old 
bitumen adhesive. The other areas that still contain asbestos are the 6th floor boiler 
room and the Artex ceilings within the ground floor Customer Services reception and 
back office. All remaining asbestos has been added to our Asbestos Register and will 
be monitored in line with our Asbestos Management policy and procedures. 

 
7.5 The vacated buildings (Town Lodge/Broadway Offices) are being closed down by 

Property Services and will be managed as “void” buildings going forward. 
 

8.0 Review of the Risk Management Framework at NHDC 
 
8.1 The Shared Internal Audit Service (SIAS) undertook a risk management audit in 

2016/17. This provided a substantial level of assurance and highlighted the Council’s 
commitment to ensuring that effective risk management underpinned all activities and 
thus supported the Council in achieving its stated objectives. During 2017/18, officers 
implemented the two “Merits Attention” recommendations that SIAS made, thereby 
enhancing the risk management processes further. 

 

9.0 Achieving the Significant Actions for 2017/18 
 
9.1 The following were considered key actions for 2017/18, in order to implement and 

develop the risk management framework at NHDC: 
 

Action Due Date 

To implement the two recommendations arising from the 
SIAS internal audit of risk management 

31/05/17 

To review the structure of the Risk Management Group 
following publication of the details of the corporate 
restructure and to make any required changes to the 
group’s Terms of Reference 

Dependent on 
the timing of 
the corporate 

restructure 

 
9.2 During 2017/18, the two “Merits Attention” recommendations arising from the SIAS 

internal audit of risk management were implemented. These recommendations 
related to the Performance Improvement Officer’s job description/person specification 
and communication of relevant risk management responsibilities. 

 
9.3 Due to the timing of the corporate restructure, a review of the structure of the Risk 

Management Group and the group’s Terms of Reference was not undertaken during 
2017/18. This action will now be completed during 2018/19. 

 

  

Page 36



 

FAR COMMITTEE (18.6.18) 

10.0 Significant Actions for 2018/19 
 
10.1 The implementation of the following key actions in 2018/19 will ensure the continued 

development of the risk management framework at NHDC during the year and 
beyond: 

 

Action Due Date 

To review the structure of the Risk Management Group 
following publication of the details of the corporate 
restructure and to make any required changes to the 
group’s Terms of Reference 

31/08/18 

 

11.0 Conclusion 
 
11.1 The Council continued to maintain robust risk management practices throughout 

2017/18, including the regular review of the Council’s Corporate Risks. Changes 
made to the assessment of Corporate Risks have been summarised earlier in this 
report. The outcome from the Council’s risk management framework is to have a 
better understanding of the risks and opportunities it faces and to determine the most 
effective way to manage or exploit them. By employing these techniques, the Council 
becomes more risk aware. 

 

12.0 Recommendations 
 
12.1 Full Council notes the continuing strong processes of the risk management 

framework at NHDC that supports the Council’s governance framework. 
 
12.2 Full Council notes the changes to the Council’s Corporate Risks during 2017/18. 
 

Page 37



 

FAR COMMITTEE (18.6.18) 

13.0 Definitions 
 

The following are the definitions of likelihood and impact used in NHDC’s Risk 
Management Framework. 

 
Likelihood 

 

1.  Low Unlikely in the next 12 months. 

2.  Medium Possible in the next 12 months. 

3.  High Likely in the next 12 months. 

 
Impact 

 
Severity of Impact Guide 

Score General 
Personal 

Safety 
Service 

Disruption 
Financial 

Loss £ 
Project 
Delay 

Impact on 
Stakeholders
/Environment 

Reputation 

1. 
Low 

Consequences 
will not be 
severe and 
associated 

losses will be 
small 

Minor 
injury (first 

aid) 

Negligible 
affect on 
service 

provision 
but may 
have a 
more 

significant 
cumulative 

affect if 
action is 
not taken 

Up to 
£10,000 

Delivery of 
project 
delayed 

by weeks 

No impact on 
stakeholders 

 
Minor damage 

to local 
environment 

Minimal 
reputation 

damage (local 
press article) 

2. 
Medium 

Will have a 
noticeable 
affect on 
services 

Injury 
(external 
medical 

treatment 
required) 

Will cause 
a degree of 
disruption 
to service 
provision 

and 
impinge on 

budgets 

Medium 
financial 

loss 
£10,000 to 
£100,000 

Delivery of 
project 
may be 
delayed 

by months 

Some impact 
to 

stakeholders 
 

Moderate 
damage to 

local 
environment 

Coverage in 
national tabloid 

press 

3. 
High 

Can have a 
catastrophic 

affect 

Serious 
injury or 

loss of life 

May result 
in 

significant 
financial 
loss or 
major 

service 
disruption 

Major 
financial 

loss 
exceeding 
£100,000 

Delivery of 
project no 

longer 
attainable 

Significant 
impact on 

stakeholders 
 

Major damage 
to local 

environment 

Extensive 
coverage in 

national 
press/national 

TV item 

 
  

Page 38



 

FAR COMMITTEE (18.6.18) 

14.0 Risk Matrix for Corporate Risks as at 31 March 2018 
 
 

Summary Matrix 
 
 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

3 
High 

4 7 

 Income Generation 

 Sustainable 
Development (2 x Sub 
Risks) 
 

9 

 Local Plan 

 Managing the Council’s 
Finances 

 North Hertfordshire 
Museum and Hitchin Town 
Hall Project 
 

2 
Medium 

2 5 

 Increased 
Homelessness and Use of 
B&B 

 Workforce Planning 
 

8 

Cyber Risks 

 Waste and Street 
Cleansing Contract 
Renewal (8 x Sub Risks) 
 

1 
Low 

1 3 

 Office Accommodation 
 

6 

  1 
Low 

2 
Medium 

3 
High 

  Impact 

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 
COUNCIL 

18 JULY 2018 
 

 

 
*PART 1 – PUBLIC DOCUMENT 

 

TITLE OF REPORT:  ITEM REFERRED FROM CABINET: 19 JUNE 2018 – 
REVENUE BUDGET OUTTURN 2017/18 

 
The following is an extract from the Draft Minutes of the  

Cabinet meeting held on 19 June 2018. 
 

8 REVENUE BUDGET OUTTURN 2017/2018  
 
The Executive Member for Finance and IT presented the report of the Service 
Director - Resources in respect of the Revenue Budget Outturn 2017/18. 
 
The Vice-Chairman of the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee presented the 
following referral from that Committee, made at its meeting held on 18 June 2018, in 
respect of the Revenue Budget Outturn 2017/18 (Minute 13 refers): 
  
“RECOMMENDED TO CABINET:  That, in respect of Table 3 in the report, which 
outlined the unspent Carry Forward budgets in 2017/18, it be ensured that each item 
in the list is challenged robustly if further carry forward is requested, with each item 
being accompanied by an acceptable justification as to why it should be carried 
forward, in the realistic expectation that the budget would be spent.” 
 
The Executive Member for Finance and IT was supportive of the recommendation 
from the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee. 
 
The Executive Member for Finance and IT advised that Table 1 in the report outlined 
the various changes to the Budget throughout 2017/18.  Table 2 provided a summary 
of the significant variances, and he highlighted the variances relating to the CCTV 
Partnership and Planning Applications Fees income.  The overachievement on the 
latter would be transferred to a planning reserve to mitigate the risks associated with 
the progress of the Councils Local Plan. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(1) That the contents of the report be noted; 
 
(2) That a decrease of £422,000 in the 2017/18 General Fund expenditure, as 

identified in Table 2 and Paragraph 8.1 of the report, to a total of 
£16.053million, be approved; 

 
(3) That the adjustments to the 2018/19 General Fund budget, as identified in 

Table 2 and Paragraph 8.2 of the report, of a £346,000 increase in net 
expenditure, be approved; 

 
(4) That, in respect of Table 3 in the report, which outlined the unspent Carry 

Forward budgets in 2017/18, it be ensured that each item in the list is 
challenged robustly if further carry forward is requested, with each item being 
accompanied by an acceptable justification as to why it should be carried 
forward, in the realistic expectation that the budget would be spent; and 

  

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:   That the net transfer to earmarked reserves of 
£1.070million, as identified in Table 7 of the report, be approved. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: To monitor and request appropriate action of Services 
who do not meet the budget targets set as part of the Corporate Business Planning 
process; and to ensure that changes to the Council’s balances are monitored and 
approved.

Page 42



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

The following is the report considered by the Cabinet at its meeting held on 19 
June 2018. 

TITLE OF REPORT:  REVENUE BUDGET OUTTURN 2017/18 

 
REPORT OF: THE SERVICE DIRECTOR - RESOURCES 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: COUNCILLOR JULIAN CUNNINGHAM 
COUNCIL PRIORITY: RESPONSIVE AND EFFICIENT 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the summary position on 

General Fund income and expenditure as at the end of the financial year 
2017/18. The net outturn of £16.053m represents a £422k decrease from the 
working budget of £16.475million. There are corresponding requests to carry 
forward £261k (of underspends) to fund specific projects that will now take 
place in 2018/19. There is a further forecast impact on the 2018/19 base 
budget of a £85k increase. This reflects the variances identified (generally 
overspends) that are expected to have an ongoing impact in future years.  
Within these summary totals there are several budget areas with more 
significant variances, which are detailed and explained in table 2. The report 
also provides an update on; 
- the delivery of planned efficiencies (paragraph 8.3) 
- the use of budget approved to be carried forward from 2016/17 (table 3) 
- performance against the four key corporate ‘financial health’ indicators 
(paras 8.5-8.7) 
- confirmation of the funding position as the end of 2017/18 (table 5) 
- details of earmarked reserves movements and balances (table 7)   

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That Cabinet notes this report. 
 
2.2 That Cabinet approves a decrease of £422k in the 2017/18 net General Fund 

expenditure, as identified in table 2 and paragraph 8.1, to a total of 
£16.053million. 

 
2.3 That Cabinet approves the adjustments to the 2018/19 General Fund budget, 

as identified in table 2 and paragraph 8.2, a £346k increase in net 
expenditure. 

 
2.4 That Cabinet recommend that Council approves the net transfer to earmarked 
 reserves, as identified in table 7, of £1.070million. 
 

 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Members are able to monitor, make adjustments within the overall budgetary 

framework and request appropriate action of Services who do not meet the 
budget targets set as part of the Corporate Business Planning process. 

 
3.2 Changes to the Council’s balances are monitored and approved. 
 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 Budget holders have considered the options to manage within the existing 

budget but consider the variances reported here necessary and appropriate. 
 

Page 43



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

5. CONSULTATION WITH RELEVANT MEMBERS AND EXTERNAL 
ORGANISATIONS 

 
5.1 Consultation on the budget monitoring report is not required.  Members will be 

aware that  there is wider consultation on budget estimates during the 
corporate business planning process each year. 

 
6. FORWARD PLAN 
 
6.1 This report contains a recommendation on a key decision that was first 

notified to the public in the Forward Plan on the 16th February 2018. 
 
7. BACKGROUND 
 
7.1 Council approved the revenue budget for 2017/18 of £16.545 million in 

February 2017. The working budget at financial year-end has reduced to 
£16.475 million. Table 1 below details the approved changes to this budget to 
get to the current working budget: 

 
 Table 1 - Current Working Budget 

 £k 

Original approved budget for 2017/18 16,545 

Proposed Crematorium at Wilbury Hills Cemetery - 
Interim Report On Business Case – approved by Cabinet 
28th March 2017 

50 

Quarter 3 2016/17 Revenue Monitoring report - 2017/18 
budget changes approved by Cabinet (March 2017) 

199 

2016/17 Revenue Outturn Report - 2017/18 budget 
changes approved by Cabinet (June 2017) 

228 

Quarter 1 2017/18 Revenue Monitoring report - 2017/18 
variances approved by Cabinet (September 2017) 

208 

Quarter 2 2017/18 Revenue Monitoring report - 2017/18 
variances approved by Cabinet (November 2017) 

(131) 

Revenue monitoring included within 2018/19 budget 
report – 2017/18 variances approved by Cabinet (January 
2018) 

(684) 

Quarter 3 2017/18 Revenue Monitoring report - 2017/18 
variances approved by Cabinet (March 2018) 

60 

Working budget at Financial Year End 2017/18 16,475 

 
8. RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS 
 

REVENUE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE FORECASTS 
 
8.1 Cabinet are asked to approve the net expenditure on the General Fund in 

2017/18 of £16.053million (recommendation 2.2).  This is a net decrease of 
£422k on the working budget of £16.475million. Table 2 below highlights the 
most significant variances, which are generally more than £25k, and contains 
an explanation for each. The final columns detail if a carry forward into 
2018/19 is requested and the estimated ongoing impact of any variances: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

Table 2 - Summary of significant variances 
 

 
Budget Area 

 
Working 
Budget 

£k 

 
 

Outturn 
£k 

 
 

Variance 
£k 

 
Reason for difference 

Carry 
Forward 
Request 

£k 

Estimated 
Impact on 
2018/19 

£k 

Corporate Vacancy 
Control Savings 
Target 

 
+55 

 
0 

 
-55 

The over-achievement of the 
vacancy control savings target is due 
to a greater level of posts held vacant 
pending the implementation of the 
Corporate Restructure. It is 
requested that £24k of this budget is 
carried forward and transferred to the 
Strategic Priorities Fund in 2018/19 
(see below). 
 

 
+24 

 
0 

Strategic Priorities 
Fund 

 
+76 

 
0 

 
-76 

Budget provision of £100k was 
approved for the Strategic Priorities 
Fund in 2017/18, of which a total of 
£24k was allocated to successful 
investment bids. It is requested that 
the remaining £76k goes towards a 
new allocation of £100k for 2018/19. 
 

 
+76 

 
0 

Commercialisation  
Project 

 
+95 

 
+1 

 
-94 

The creation of the ‘Service Director- 
Commercial’ post will lead to the 
ongoing development of 
commercialisation opportunities. It is 
therefore requested that the 
remaining resource unspent in 
2017/18 be carried forward into 
2018/19 as this funding will be used 
for the up-front costs of exploiting 
these opportunities. 
 

 
+94 

 
0 

Corporate 
Restructure 

 
0 

 
+100 

 
+100 

A provision in 2017/18 is required for 
employee settlement costs 
associated with the Senior 
Management Restructure, which 
were not finalised as at the 31st 
March. Final agreement was reached 
in April.  
 

 
0 

 
0 

CCTV 
 
Contribution to 
CCTV Partnership  
 
 
 
 
 
Income from Herts 
CCTV Company  
 
 
 
TOTAL 

 
 

+86 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-37 
 
 
 
 

+49 

 
 

+109 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0 
 
 
 
 

+109 

 
 

+23 
 
 
 
 
 
 

+37 
 
 
 
 

+60 
 

 
The increase in contribution to the 
CCTV Partnership follows the 
Partnership recording a deficit at the 
end of the financial year. The 
assumption in the budget is that the 
CCTV Partnership will achieve a 
break-even position. 
 
Anticipated income for 2017/18 was 
based on the original estimates 
prepared when the CCTV company 
was formed. Hertfordshire CCTV 
Limited has however made minimal 
profit this financial year due to the 
loss of a significant client, so there is 
no dividend receivable for the 
Council in 2017/18. 
 

 
 
0 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0 
 
 
 
 
0 
 

 
 
0 
 
 
 
 
 
 

+39 
 
 
 
 

+39 

Page 45



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 
Budget Area 

 
Working 
Budget 

£k 

 
 

Outturn 
£k 

 
 

Variance 
£k 

 
Reason for difference 

Carry 
Forward 
Request 

£k 

Estimated 
Impact on 
2018/19 

£k 

 
Churchgate Project 

 
+37 

 
0 

 
-37 

It is requested that the earmarked 
resource is carried forward to fund 
any external professional advice 
required to assess proposals, prior to 
consideration by Full Council, in 
2018/19. 

 
+37 

 
0 

 
Waste Services - 
Household Waste 
and Recycling Bins 

 
+47 

 
+18 

 
-29 

A lower number of requests received 
for new bins in 2017/18 has meant 
expenditure on bins has been 
significantly lower than both the 
budget estimate and the prior year 
outturn (£67k spend in 2016/17).  
 

 
0 

 
0 

 
Street Cleansing 
Contract 
Expenditure  

 
+911 

 
+894 

 
-17 

The cleansing of the Baldock Bypass 
had not commenced by the end of 
the financial year.  The unspent 
budget is requested to be carried 
forward to meet the cost of cleansing 
the bypass in the early part of the 
next financial year. 
 

 
+17 

 
0 

Planning Services –
Planning 
Applications 
Income  
 
 
 
 
Planning Services – 
Transfer to reserve 
 
 
 
 
 
TOTAL 

 
-1,168 

 
 
 
 
 
 

+363 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-805 

 
-1,292 

 
 
 
 
 
 

+487 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-805 

 
-124 

 
 
 
 
 
 

+124 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0 

Planning application income receipts 
have continued to exceed the 
budgeted expectation in the final 
quarter. Growth in this income 
stream, based on the successful 
adoption of the Local Plan, is already 
incorporated in the budget estimates 
for future years.    
 
The overachievement of income is 
requested to be transferred to the 
planning reserve. As previously 
discussed at Cabinet, there are 
significant risks associated with the 
progress of the Council’s Local Plan. 
The balance in the earmarked 
reserve will therefore be used to 
mitigate the financial impact of 
associated risks materialising in the 
coming years.  
 

 
0 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0 
 
 

 
0 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0 
 

 

Building Control -
Non fee Work 

 
+55 

 
+5 

 
-50 

Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd 
has agreed to only charge the 
Council for out-of-hours dangerous 
structures cover and response. The 
cost of this work totalled £4,500 in 
2017/18. The Company will seek 
reimbursement for other chargeable 
services in 2018/19. Some of these 
have been agreed at a fixed fee and 
others will be at an hourly rate. The 
total cost will depend on the number 
of chargeable hours. 
 

 
0 

 
0 

Page 46



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 
Budget Area 

 
Working 
Budget 

£k 

 
 

Outturn 
£k 

 
 

Variance 
£k 

 
Reason for difference 

Carry 
Forward 
Request 

£k 

Estimated 
Impact on 
2018/19 

£k 

Hertfordshire 
Warmer Homes 
project 

 
+12 

 
0 

 
-12 

Following delays to the Herts 
Warmer Homes project with Herts 
County Council commencing, the 
project will now be completed in the 
next financial year. It is therefore 
requested that the budget remaining 
is carried forward to meet the costs in 
that year.  

 
+12 

 
0 

Council Tax 
Summons Income 

 
-263 

 
-228 

 
+35 

The increasing proportion of 
households paying their Council Tax 
by direct debit has contributed to 
reducing the numbers of people 
taken to court over non-payment. 
Waiting times for court dates have 
also increased, which has extended 
the period available to pay the 
outstanding sum prior to the court 
summons being issued. Failure to 
meet the summons income budget 
was identified as a financial risk for 
2017/18. 
 

 
0 

 
+35 

Housing Benefits 
 
Housing Benefit 
Payments 
 
 
 
Housing Benefit  
Subsidy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contribution to 
overpayments bad 
debt provision 
 
 
Income from 
Housing Benefit 
Overpayments 
 
Total 

 
 

+34,332 
 
 
 
 

-33,861 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

+316 
 
 
 
 

-688 
 
 

+99 
 

 
 

+34,246 
 
 
 
 

-33,669 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

+335 
 
 
 
 

-889 
 
 

+23 

 
 

-86 
 
 
 
 

+192 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

+19 
 
 
 
 

-201 
 
 

-76 

The outturn for Housing Benefit 
Payments is less than the mid year 
estimate, upon which the working 
budget was based, due to fewer 
claimants than anticipated.   
 
The reduction in claimants also 
partially explains the lower than 
anticipated subsidy receivable 
(based on the mid-year estimate). In 
addition, subsidy is only receivable 
for the net payment where a portion 
of the gross amount is withheld to 
claw back an overpayment relating to 
a prior year. The total of relevant 
amounts (not eligible for subsidy) 
almost doubled from £330k in 
2016/17 to £652k in 2017/18.  
 
This increase also helps to explain   
overpayments income this year being 
significantly higher than 2016/17 
(£468k). The income forecast for the 
year was increased by £200k at 
quarter 2 and significant 
overpayments have continued to be 
identified in the second half of the 
year. The increase in income has 
been partially offset by a higher 
contribution required to the 
overpayments bad debt provision. 
 

 
 
0 
 
 
 
 
0 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0 
 
 
 
 
0 
 
 
0 

 
 

-3,867 
 
 
 
 

+3,867 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0 
 
 
 
 
0 
 
 
0 

Page 47



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 
Budget Area 

 
Working 
Budget 

£k 

 
 

Outturn 
£k 

 
 

Variance 
£k 

 
Reason for difference 

Carry 
Forward 
Request 

£k 

Estimated 
Impact on 
2018/19 

£k 

Careline Net Direct 
Trading 
Expenditure 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
-181 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
-141 

 
+40 

The lower than anticipated surplus 
achieved by Careline in 2017/18 is 
primarily due to higher than planned 
staffing costs. A higher turnover of 
temporary staff has meant a higher 
number of training hours being 
needed for new members of staff. 
Training hours increase salary costs 
as additional staff cover is required 
while the officers attend training. 

 
0 

 
0 

Total of explained 
variances 

+187 -24 -211  +260 +74 

Other minor 
balances 

16,288 16,077 -211  +1 +11 

Overall Total 16,475 16,053 -422  +261 +85 

 

 
8.2 Cabinet are asked to approve the estimated net impact on the 2018/19 

budget, a £346k increase in budget (recommendation 2.3), which includes: 

 £261k of budget carry-forwards from 2017/18 to 2018/19 for projects 
that were not completed by the end of the financial year. These are 
shown in the penultimate column of table 2 above. This will take the 
total carry-forward to £515k (i.e. including those reported and approved 
at month 8 and quarter 3).  

 £85k increase in budget to reflect the estimated ongoing impact in 
2018/19 of variances identified in Q4. These are shown in the final 
column of table 2 above. 

 
8.3 The original approved budget for 2017/18 (and therefore working budget) 

included efficiencies totalling £929k, which were agreed by Council in 
February 2017. Progress in delivering the efficiencies identified has been 
monitored throughout the year and reported at each quarter. The efficiency 
total has been overachieved in the year by £286k, which is £80k higher than 
the forecast overachievement of £206k reported at quarter 3. This increase in 
the total relates to: 
 

 Planning income; overachievement of £124k, as highlighted in table 2 
above.  

 IT Server Room Rental Income; £3k underachievement; this efficiency 
was not delivered (variance included within ‘other minor variances’ 
total in table 2 above) as the anticipated tenant withdrew their interest. 

 Net direct surplus from Hitchin Town Hall Community Facility; £41k 
underachievement; deterioration in overall financial position in the final 
quarter is due to the costs incurred in facilitating events at the Town 
Hall being higher than estimated and hence reducing the net income 
achieved (included within ‘other minor variances’ total in table 2 
above)    

 Corporate Restructure Phase 1 and 2; Overall the target was achieved 
from the posts deleted in phase 1 and holding other vacancies, even 
though the next stage of the restructure will not be in place until June 
2018.  
 

8.4 The working budget for 2017/18 included budgets totalling £642k that were 
carried forward from the previous year. These are generally carried forward so 
that they can be spent for a particular purpose that had been due to happen in 
2016/17 but was delayed into 2017/18. At the end of the year a total of £473k 

Page 48



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

of the budget carried forward has not been spent in 2017/18, as detailed in 
Table 3 below. 
 
Table 3 – Unspent Carry Forward Budget in 2017/18 

Monitoring 
Report 

Carry 
Forward 
Budget 
in 17/18 
(£k) Project 

Underspend 
reported 
(£k) 

Q1 20 
Migration of the NHDC building control service onto the single IT platform 
of the Hertfordshire Building Control trading company 20 

Q2 20 Proposed extension of the Chiltern area of outstanding natural beauty 20 

Q2 52 Economic Development Officer post 35 

Month 8 87 Viability Assessment of Community Infrastructure Levy 87 

Month 8 13 Review of Housing Strategy 13 

Month 8 25 Herts Warmer Home Project 13 

Month 8 52 Economic Development Officer post 17 

Q3 20 Legal Services Contract Scanning 14 

Q3 42 Parking Lines and Signs maintenance 30 

Q3 11 Waste Services Temporary Technical Officer Post 5 

Outturn 100 

Strategic Priorities Fund (SPF); £53k of unspent SPF resource in 2016/17 
and £47k of the overachievement of the vacancy control target in 2016/17 
were carried forward to provide a total SPF budget of £100k in 2017/18. 
£24k of the funding available was allocated to successful bids in 2017/18 
with the remaining £76k requested to be carried forward into 2018/19 (as 
highlighted in table 2 above).  76 

Outturn 95 

Commercialisation project; £1k of this £95k carry forward budget has been 
spent in 2017/18, with the remainder requested to be carried forward into 
2018/19 (as highlighted in table 2 above). 94 

Outturn 52 

Churchgate development; £15k of the £52k budget carried forward has 
been spent in 2017/18. It is requested that the remaining £37k be carried 
forward into 2018/19 (as highlighted in table 2 above). 37 

Outturn 25 

Herts Warmer Homes Project; A further £12k of the original £25k carry 
forward budget has not been spent in 2017/18. It is requested that this 
unspent amount is carried forward into 2018/19 (as highlighted in table 2 
above). 12 

Total Underspend 2017/18 473 

 
8.5 There are 4 key corporate ‘financial health’ indicators identified in relation to 

key sources of income for the Council. Table 4 below shows the performance 
for the year. A comparison is made to the original budget to give the complete 
picture for the year. Each indicator is given a status of red, amber or green. A 
green indicator means that income recorded matched or exceeded the 
budgeted level of income. A red indicator means that the outturn has not met 
the budgeted level of income. An amber indicator is only used during the year 
to highlight that there is a risk that the budgeted level of income may not be 
met. 
 

8.6 At the end of the year, two indicators are green and two indicators are red.  
 

8.7 The red indicator in relation to car parking fees was highlighted within the 
revenue monitoring report at quarter 2 and relates to the additional parking fee 
income anticipated from the Parking Strategy review that has not been 
achieved. 
 

8.8 The red indicator in relation to land charges income was highlighted within the 
revenue monitoring report at quarter 3. The number of searches requested to 

Page 49



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

be undertaken by the authority has reduced in comparison to the prior 
financial year. 

 
Table 4 - Corporate financial health indicators 

Indicator Status Original 
Budget 

£k 

Actual 
income for 

the year  
£k 

Variance  
 
 

£k 

Planning Application Fees (including 
fees for pre-application advice) 

Green (683) (1,292) (609) 

Land Charges Red (174) (150) 24 

Car Parking Fees Red (1,813) (1,734) 79 

Parking Penalty Charge Notices  Green (410) (546) (136) 

 
FUNDING, RISK AND GENERAL FUND BALANCE 
 

8.9 The Council’s revenue budget is funded from the following main sources; 
Council Tax, New Homes Bonus and Retained Business Rates income. The 
Council was notified by Central Government in February 2017 of the amount 
of New Homes Bonus it could expect to receive in 2017/18 and planned 
accordingly. 
  

8.10 Council Tax and Business Rates are accounted for in the Collection Fund 
rather than directly in our accounts, as we also collect them on behalf of other 
bodies. Each organisation has a share of the balance on the Collection Fund 
account. At the end of 2017/18 there is a surplus on the NHDC share of the 
Council Tax Collection Fund of £257k and a deficit on the Business Rates 
Collection Fund of £624k.  
 

8.11 The Central Government return submitted in January 2018 estimated a 
Business Rates Collection Fund deficit for 2017/18 of £656k. The contribution 
to the Collection Fund required in 2018/19 in respect of the deficit for 2017/18 
is based on this January estimate. The £32k difference between the actual 
deficit of £624k and the January estimate of £656k will be included in the 
calculation of the estimated surplus/deficit for 2018/19 (submitted to Central 
Government in January 2019), and hence will affect the calculation of the 
Council’s eligible retained business rates income for 2019/20. 

 
8.12 The Council also receives compensation in the form of a grant from Central 

Government for business rate reliefs introduced, which goes in to our funds 
rather than the Collection Fund. We are holding this amount in a reserve. 
Some of the amount held in reserve, £868k at the end of the year, will be used 
in the next financial year to fund the repayment of the £656k deficit highlighted 
above.  
 

8.13 The Council is also subject to a business rates levy from Central Government 
as NHDC collects more in business rates than the baseline need determined 
by Central Government. The calculated levy required for 2017/18 is £685k. 
The payment of the levy has been funded from the grant held in reserve. In 
2018/19 the Council will be a member of the Hertfordshire Business Rates 
Pool, with the expectation that this will reduce the levy amount required in 
2018/19. 

 
8.14 Table 5 below summarises the impact on the general fund balance of the 

outturn position detailed in this report. It should however be noted at this point 
that the Statement of Accounts is yet to be audited and changes to the 
General Fund balance may arise as a result of the final accounts audit. 

Page 50



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 
Table 5 – General Fund impact  

 Working 

Budget 

£k 

Outturn 

 

£k 

Difference 

 

£k 

Brought Forward balance (1st April 

2017) 

(8,235) (8,235) - 

Net Expenditure 16,475 16,053 (422) 

Funding (Council Tax, Business Rates, 

RSG)  

(15,589) (15,589) 0 

Contribution to Collection Fund 741 741 0 

Funding from Reserves (including 

Business Rate Relief Grant) 

(373) (373) 0 

Carried Forward balance (31st March 

2018) 

(6,981) (7,403) (422) 

 

 
8.15 The minimum level of General Fund balance is determined based on known 

and unknown risks. Known risks are those things that we think could happen 
and we can forecast both a potential cost if they happen, and percentage 
likelihood. The notional amount is based on multiplying the cost by the 
potential likelihood. The notional amount for unknown risks is based on 5% of 
net expenditure. There is not an actual budget set aside for either of these risk 
types, so when they occur they are reflected as budget variances (see table 
2). We monitor the level of known risks that actually happen, as it highlights 
whether there might be further variances. This would be likely if a number of 
risks come to fruition during the early part of the year. We also use this 
monitoring to inform the assessment of risks in future years. The notional 
amount calculated at the start of the year for known risks was £795k, and at 
the end of the year a total of £451k have come to fruition. The two identified 
risks realised in the final quarter relate to; 
 

 Failure to achieve summons costs’ income budget in relation to 
Council Tax (as highlighted in table 2) and Business Rates (included in 
the ‘other minor variances’ total in table 2). £46k 

 Costs incurred associated with the progress of the local plan (included 
in the ‘other minor variances’ total in table 2). £20K 
 

Table 6 – Known financial risks  

 

 

 

£’000 

Original allowance for known financial risks  795 

Known financial risks realised in Quarter 1 (144) 

Known financial risks realised in Quarter 2 (158) 

Known financial risks realised in Quarter 3 (83) 

Known financial risks realised in Quarter 4 (66) 

Remaining allowance for known financial risks  344 

 
EARMARKED RESERVES 
 

8.16 The Council has a number of earmarked reserves, which can be used to fund 
revenue expenditure. These are detailed in Table 6 below.  A total of 
£2.736million has been contributed to the reserves in 2017/18 and a total of 
£1.666million has been used to fund expenditure.   
 

8.17 Cabinet are asked to recommend to Council that the net contribution to 
reserves of £1.070million be approved (recommendation 2.4), which leaves a 
total balance in earmarked reserves at 31 March 2018 of £5.679million. 

 

Page 51



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 
 

Table 7 – Earmarked Reserves   

 Balance at 1 
April 2017 

Contributions 
to reserve 

Payments to Fund 
expenditure 

 Balance at 
31 March 

2018 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Cemetery Mausoleum 129 11 0 140 

Children’s Services  8 0 0 8 

Climate Change Grant 30 0 0 30 

Community Development 1 0 0 1 

Community Right to Bid 45 0 0 45 

DCLG Grants  489 1,457 (1,078) 868 

DWP Additional Grants 3 189 (63) 129 

Environmental Warranty Reserve 209 0 0 209 

Growth Area Fund 53 0 0 53 

Homelessness 42 175 (14) 203 

Housing Planning Delivery Reserve 368 612 (212) 768 

Information Technology Reserve 82 0 0 82 

Insurance Reserve 32 3 (1) 34 

Leisure Management Reserve 89 0 (42) 47 

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme 107 17 (124) 0 

Museum Exhibits Reserve 13 1 (2) 12 

Neighbourhood Plan Reserve 21 20 0 41 

Office Move IT Works 7 0 0 7 

Paintings Conservation 11 0 0 11 

Personal Search Fees  161 0 (57) 104 

Property Maintenance 67 10 (15) 62 

Syrian Refugee Project 19 83 (15) 87 

S106 Monitoring 68 0 (15) 53 

Special Reserve 1,720 0 0 1,720 

Street Furniture 10 12 (5) 17 

Street Name Plates 38 0 (22) 16 

Taxi Licences Reserve 13 0 0 13 

Town Centre Maintenance 39 0 (1) 38 

Town Wide Review 222 74 0 296 

Waste Reserve 513 72 0 585 

Total Revenue Reserves 4,609 2,736 (1,666) 5,679 

 
 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The Cabinet has a responsibility to keep under review the budget of the 

Council and any other matter having substantial implications for the financial 
resources of the Council. Specifically 5.6.8 of Cabinet’s terms of reference 
state that it has remit “to monitor quarterly revenue expenditure and agree 
adjustments within the overall budgetary framework”. By considering 
monitoring reports throughout the financial year Cabinet is able to make 
informed recommendations on the budget to Council.  The Council is under a 
duty to maintain a balanced budget and to maintain a prudent balance. 
 

9.2 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that the Annual Statement 
of Accounts be approved and published by the deadline date of 31 July 2018.  
Members are reminded of the duty to set a balanced budget and to maintain a 
prudent level of reserves. 
 
 

Page 52



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

10.1 Members have been advised of any variations from the budgets in the body of 
this report and of any action taken by officers. 
 

10.2 The general fund balance of £7.403million (table 5) meets the recommended 
minimum balance of General Fund reserves agreed when the budget was set. 
The Statement of Accounts is however yet to be audited and changes to the 
General Fund balance may arise as a result of the final audit. As the Housing 
Benefit claim is also yet to be audited, the relevant values included in the 
reported outturn are based on un-audited figures. 
 

11. RISK IMPLICATIONS 
 

11.1 As outlined in the body of the report.  The process of quarterly monitoring to 
Cabinet is a control mechanism to help to mitigate the risk of an unplanned 
overspend of the overall Council budget. 
 

12. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 

12.1 In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty, public bodies must, in the exercise 
of their functions, give due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation, to advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not.  
 

12.2 For any individual new revenue investment proposal of £50k or more, or 
affecting more than two wards, a brief equality analysis is required to be 
carried out to demonstrate that the authority has taken full account of any 
negative, or positive, equalities implications; this will take place following 
agreement of the investment. 
 

13. SOCIAL VALUE IMPLICATIONS 
 

13.1 The Social Value Act and “go local” policy do not apply to this report. 
 

14. HUMAN RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

14.1 Although there are no direct human resource implications at this stage, care is 
taken to ensure that where efficiency proposals or service reviews may effect 
staff, appropriate communication and consultation is provided in line with HR 
policy.  
 

15. APPENDICES 
 

15.1 None. 
 

16. CONTACT OFFICERS 
 

16.1 Antonio Ciampa, Accountancy Manager 
antonio.ciampa@north-herts.gov.uk; ext 4566 
 

16.2 Ian Couper, Service Director - Resources 
ian.couper@north-herts.gov.uk; ext 4243 
 

16.3 Kerry Shorrocks, Corporate Human Resources Manager 
kerry.shorrocks@north-herts.gov.uk; ext 4224 
 
 

Page 53

mailto:antonio.ciampa@north-herts.gov.uk
mailto:ian.couper@north-herts.gov.uk
mailto:kerry.shorrocks@north-herts.gov.uk


COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

16.4 Jeanette Thompson, Service Director – Legal & Community 
jeanette.thompson@north-herts.gov.uk; ext 4370 
 

16.5 Reuben Ayavoo, Senior Policy Officer 
reuben.ayavoo@north-herts.gov.uk; ext 4212 
 

17. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

17.1 Budget Estimate Book 2017/18. 
 

17.2 Statement of Accounts 2016/17.  
 

Page 54

mailto:jeanette.thompson@north-herts.gov.uk
mailto:reuben.ayavoo@north-herts.gov.uk


COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 
COUNCIL 

18 JULY 2018 
 

 

 
*PART 1 – PUBLIC DOCUMENT 

 

TITLE OF REPORT:  ITEM REFERRED FROM CABINET: 19 JUNE 2018 – 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REVIEW 2017/18 

 
The following is an extract from the Minutes of the  

Cabinet meeting held on 19 June 2018. 
 
10 ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REVIEW 2017/2018  
 
The Executive Member for Finance and IT presented a report of the Service Director 
- Resources in respect of the Annual Treasury Management Review 2017/18.  The 
following appendix was submitted with the report: 
 
Appendix A – Annual Treasury Management Review 2017/18. 
  
The Executive Member for Finance and IT advised that some of the Council’s 
investment funds could well be moved in the future to fund items in the Capital 
Programme.  It was proving increasingly difficult to find investments which provided a 
reasonable rate of return. 
 
The Executive Member for Finance and IT reminded the Cabinet of the important 
revisions to the Treasury Management Strategy made during the year in relation to 
changes to the boundaries in respect of borrowing, should the Council be in a 
position where borrowing was required.  However, he commented that borrowing 
would not be required until and unless the Council had exhausted its Capital 
reserves. 
 
The Executive Member for Finance and IT stated that, during the year, there had 
been three breaches of the limit set on the percentage that could be invested with a 
single counterparty.  The Service Director – Resources explained the processes and 
procedures to be put in place to prevent any future breaches. 
 
The Executive Member for Finance and IT alluded to the risks faced by the Council in 
dealing with its finances, and in this regard, encouraged as many Members as 
possible to attend the Risk Management training session scheduled for 25 June 
2018. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the position of Treasury Management activity as at the end of 
March 2018 be noted. 

 
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL: 

 
(1) That the actual 2017/18 prudential and treasury indicators be approved; and 
 
(2) That the Annual Treasury Management Report for 2017/18 be noted. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: To ensure the Council’s continued compliance with 
CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the Local Government Act 
2003 and that the Council manages its exposure to interest and capital risk. 

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

The following is the report considered by the Cabinet at its meeting held on 19 
June 2018. 

TITLE OF REPORT:  ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REVIEW 2017/18 

 
REPORT OF: SERVICE DIRECTOR - RESOURCES 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER : CLLR JULIAN CUNNINGHAM 
COUNCIL PRIORITY : RESPONSIVE AND EFFICIENT 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 During the year the Council has generated £0.334million of interest from its 

investments. This is slightly above the budgeted total of £0.320million. The 
Council continues to invest in smaller Building Societies (subject to checks 
that compare the size of the Society with that of the investment) but does no 
invest outside of the UK. 
 

1.2 The Council has repaid £0.025million of borrowing during the year as it has 
matured. The Council has £0.455million of remaining borrowing. This 
borrowing is at a fixed rate for a fixed period. The premium incurred from 
repaying this borrowing early means that it is not worthwhile to do so.   

 
1.3 The Council complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements 

throughout the year. There were however three minor breaches of the limit set 
on the percentage that can be invested with a single counterparty.   
 

1.4 The forecast for 2018/19 is that investment income will continue to reduce due 
to both market conditions and the use of cash balances to fund the capital 
programme.   

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 Cabinet is asked to note the position of Treasury Management activity as at    

the end of March 2018. 
 
2.2 Cabinet is asked to recommend this report to Council and ask Council to: 
 
 1) Approve the actual 2017/18 prudential and treasury indicators  
 2) Note the annual Treasury Report for 2017/18. 
 

 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 To ensure the Council’s continued compliance with both the CIPFA code of 

Practice on Treasury Management and the Local Government Act 2003, and 
that the Council manages its exposure to interest and capital risk. 

 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 In general there is a relationship between the risk of an investment and the 

level of interest that is received (yield). Risk can be summarised under the 
headings of credit, liquidity and market. The risk appetite and approach of the 
Council determines what strategy it adopts. Whilst the focus is on managing 
risk, the interest received is an important income stream for the Council’s 
General Fund.  

 
 

Page 56



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

4.2 Our Treasury advisors from Link Asset Services promote a different risk 
approach, particularly in relation to smaller Building Societies and non-UK 
investments. This option has been dismissed on the basis of Members’ 
different view of risk and the impact on the general fund. 

 
5. CONSULTATION WITH RELEVANT MEMBERS AND EXTERNAL 

ORGANISATIONS 
 
5.1 There is ongoing dialogue with the Authority’s Cash Manager, Tradition and 

regular meetings with Treasury advisors (Link). The Link service includes 
regular updates on economic and political changes that may impact on the 
Council’s borrowing and investment strategies, advice on rescheduling, 
information and prudent parameters in respect of investment counterparty 
creditworthiness, document templates, access to technical updates and to the 
Technical Advisory Group. The Executive Member for Finance IT 
Management is also regularly briefed. 

 
6. FORWARD PLAN 
 
6.1 This report contains a recommendation on a key decision that was first 

notified to the public in the Forward Plan on the 16th February 2018 
 
7. BACKGROUND 
 
7.1 Members adopted the 2017/18 Treasury Strategy at the meeting of full 

Council on the 9th February 2017.  There were no changes from the 2016/17 
Strategy although there were a couple of clarifications to the Property Fund 
criteria. 

 
7.2 Members received updates on treasury activity at quarterly intervals during 

2017/18, and this report represents the final quarterly update. 
 
8. RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS 
 
8.1 Appendix A provides the Treasury Management update at year end.  This 

document begins with information on the wider economic climate and hence 
provides context to Treasury activities. The remainder of the document 
contains an update on the Council’s investment strategy.  

 
8.2 In summary, the Council has generally operated both within the treasury and 

prudential indicators set out in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
and in compliance with the Treasury Management Practices. There were 
however three breaches of the expressed limit of “investing no more than 
10% of outstanding investments with one counter party”.  An existing 
investment was renewed with National Counties Building Society on 20th 
March for £1.5M and although the total invested with them remained 
unchanged, this was slightly over the 10% limit at 11.01%. Also two 
investments were placed with other Local Authorities in March that were over 
the 10% limit.  
 

8.3 The Council generated £0.334M of interest during 2017/18.  The average 
interest rate agreed on new deals during the year by Tradition was 1.0%. The 
average interest rate on all outstanding investments at the 31st March was 
1.13%. 

 
8.4 The Council’s activities expose it to a variety of risks (credit, liquidity and 

market).  The Treasury Strategy sets out the Authority’s appetite for the level 
of exposure to these risks.  
 

Page 57



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

8.5 Credit Risk – The possibility that other parties fail to pay amounts due to the 
Authority. 

 
8.6 The Council’s counterparty list comprises mostly UK building societies and 

UK banks with a Fitch (a credit rating agency) credit rating greater than BBB 
but also includes other Local Authorities and Public Corporations.  
 

8.7 Liquidity Risk – the possibility that the Authority may not have funds 
available to meet its commitments to make payments. 

 
8.8 Investments were split between the Cash Manager, Tradition and the In-

House team. The In-House investments cover the day to day cash flow 
activity of the Council whilst the Cash Manager’s investments take advantage 
of higher long term interest rates when they become available. However the 
in-house team are now often able to access most of the deals that Tradition 
can, without paying a fee. During 2018/19 the Cash Manager will only be 
used where they can access better rates. 

 
8.9 Market Risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of 

changes in interest rates. 
 
8.10 Investing long term (greater than one year) currently achieves higher interest 

rates than short term deals. The risks of long term deals are: 
 
 (i)  The longer the time period the longer the investment is exposed to 

default. 
(ii) If the investment has a fixed interest rate, interest rates could rise and 

the potential to invest at a higher rate will be lost until the investment 
matures. 

 
8.11 Members have indicated that they are prepared to accept this risk within the 

limits expressed in the Treasury Strategy which allows no more than 40% of 
outstanding investments to be invested for longer than 365 days at any one 
time.  At the end of the year the Council had £1.0M (3.3%) invested for longer 
than 365 days. 
 

8.12 Interest (Yield) - This year has continued to prove challenging to find 
counterparties willing to pay a reasonable return on cash investments, either 
long or short term.  The uncertainty around interest rate changes has 
continued in 17/18, with the latest predictions signalling the first increase to 
the base rate around December 2018.  
 

8.13 The investments outstanding at the 31 March 2018 were £32.8million. This 
compares to a balance of £39.9million at 31 March 2017. The reduced 
balance reflects the use of maturing investments to fund capital expenditure. 
Investment in capital projects will continue during 2018/19 and combined with 
declining returns for new investments means that the estimated investment 
interest for 2018/19 is expected to be in the region of £0.17M. 

 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The Cabinet has a responsibility to keep under review the budget of the 

Council and any other matter having substantial implications for the financial 
resources of the Council. 

 
9.2 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 states that: 

“.every local authority shall make arrangements for the proper administration 
of their financial affairs and shall secure that one of their officers has 
responsibility for the administration of those affairs.” 

Page 58



COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

 
9.3 The Prudential Indicators comply with the Local Government Act 2003. 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 These are covered in section 8, and in particular sections 8.11 to 8.13. 
 
11. RISK IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Risks associated with treasury management and procedures to minimise risk 

are outlined in the Treasury Management Practices document, TMP1, which 
was adopted by Cabinet in July 2003 and is revisited annually as part of the 
Treasury Strategy review. The risk on the General Fund of a fall of investment 
interest below the budgeted level is dependant on banks and building 
societies need for borrowing. The introduction of the Funding for Lending 
Scheme which allows financial institutions access to low cost funding from 
Government for an extended period has impacted on their need to borrow and 
the rates at which they are prepared to borrow. 

 
12. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty, public bodies must, in the 

exercise of their functions, give due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment, victimisation, to advance equality of opportunity 
and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

 
12.2 There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report. 
 
13. SOCIAL VALUE IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 The Social Value Act and “go local” policy do not apply to this report. 
 
14. HUMAN RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1 There are no direct human resource or equality implications.  
 
15. APPENDICES 
 
15.1 Appendix A - Annual Treasury Management Review 2017/18. 
 
16. CONTACT OFFICERS 
 
Author 
16.1 Dean Fury, Corporate Support Accountant, Tel 474509, email,   
  dean.fury@north-herts.gov.uk 

 
Contributors 

 
16.2 Ian Couper, Head of Finance, Performance and Asset Management, Tel 
474243, email 
 Ian.couper@north-herts.gov.uk 
 
16.3 Antonio Ciampa, Accountancy Manager, Tel 474566, email,  
 Antonio.ciampa@north-herts.gov.uk   
 
16.4 Reuben Ayavoo, Senior Corporate Policy officer, Tel 47212, email,  

Reuben.ayavoo@north-herts.gov.uk 
 

Page 59

mailto:dean.fury@north-herts.gov.uk
mailto:Ian.couper@north-herts.gov.uk
mailto:Antonio.ciampa@north-herts.gov.uk


COUNCIL (18.7.18) 

17. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Treasury Strategy 2017/18. 
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. 

 

Page 60



APPENDIX A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Annual Treasury Management Review 
2017/18 – North Hertfordshire District 
Council 
April 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 

  

2 

Annual Treasury Management Review 2017/18 

1. Introduction 
This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to 
produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the actual prudential and 
treasury indicators for 2017/18. This report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA Code 
of Practice on Treasury Management, (the Code), and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities, (the Prudential Code).  
 
During 2017/18 the minimum reporting requirements were that the full Council should 
receive the following reports: 

 an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 09/02/2017) 

 a mid-year (minimum) treasury update report (Council 21/11/2017) 

 an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity compared to the 
strategy (this report)  

 In addition, Cabinetl has received quarterly treasury management update reports. 
 
The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review and scrutiny of 
treasury management policy and activities.  This report is, therefore, important in that 
respect, as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury activities and highlights 
compliance with the Council’s policies previously approved by members.   
 
This Council confirms that it has complied with the requirement under the Code to give prior 
scrutiny to all of the above treasury management reports by the Finance Audit and Risk 
Committee before they were reported to the full Council. 
 

2. The Economy and Interest Rates   

During the calendar year of 2017, there was a major shift in expectations in financial markets in 
terms of how soon Bank Rate would start on a rising trend.  After the UK economy surprised on 
the upside with strong growth in the second half of 2016, growth in 2017 was disappointingly 
weak in the first half of the year which meant that growth was the slowest for the first half of any 
year since 2012. The main reason for this was the sharp increase in inflation caused by the 
devaluation of sterling after the EU referendum, feeding increases into the cost of imports into 
the economy.  This caused a reduction in consumer disposable income and spending power as 
inflation exceeded average wage increases.  Consequently, the services sector of the economy, 
accounting for around 75% of GDP, saw weak growth as consumers responded by cutting back on 
their expenditure. However, growth did pick up modestly in the second half of 2017.  
Consequently, market expectations during the autumn, rose significantly that the MPC would be 
heading in the direction of imminently raising Bank Rate.  The minutes of the MPC meeting of 14 
September indicated that the MPC was likely to raise Bank Rate very soon.  The 2 November MPC 
quarterly Inflation Report meeting duly delivered by raising Bank Rate from 0.25% to 0.50%. 
The 8 February MPC meeting minutes then revealed another sharp hardening in MPC warnings 
on a more imminent and faster pace of increases in Bank Rate than had previously been expected.  
Market expectations for increases in Bank Rate, therefore, shifted considerably during the second 
half of 2017-18 and resulted in investment rates from 3 – 12 months increasing sharply during the 
spring quarter. 

Page 62



 

  

3 

 
PWLB borrowing rates increased correspondingly to the above developments with the shorter 
term rates increasing more sharply than longer term rates.  In addition, UK gilts have moved in a 
relatively narrow band this year, (within 0.25% for much of the year), compared to US treasuries. 
During the second half of the year, there was a noticeable trend in treasury yields being on a rising 
trend with the Fed raising rates by 0.25% in June, December and March, making six increases in all 
from the floor. The effect of these three increases was greater in shorter terms around 5 year, 
rather than longer term yields.  
 
The major UK landmark event of the year was the inconclusive result of the general election on 8 
June.  However, this had relatively little impact on financial markets.   
 
 

3. Overall Treasury Position as at 31 March 2018  

 

During 2017/18, the Council complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements.  The key 
actual prudential and treasury indicators detailing the impact of capital expenditure activities 
during the year, with comparators, are as follows: 

Prudential and treasury 
indicators 

2016/17 
Actual 
£’000 

2017/18 
Forecast 

£’000 

2017/18 
Actual 
£’000 

Capital expenditure 
 

5,686 8,465 9,382 

 
Capital Financing Requirement: 

 
-16,6 -2,4 -10,2 

External debt 480 455 455 

 
Investments 
 Longer than 1 year 
 Under 1 year 
 Total 
 

 
7,000 

29,000 
36,000 

 
0 

17,000 
17,000 

 
1,000 

29,500 
30,500 

Net borrowing -35,520 -16,565 -30,045 

 
 

Capital spend increased during the year from an original budget of £8.465M to an actual of 
£9.382M.  This was mainly due to the revision in the timetable for completion of schemes from 
16/17 although there were also schemes that were delayed from 2017/18 in to 2018/19. 
 
Other prudential and treasury indicators are to be found in the main body of this report.  The 
Head of Finance, Performance and Asset Management also confirms that no borrowing was 
undertaken for a capital purpose and the statutory borrowing limit, (the authorised limit), was not 
breached. 
 
 

 

 

Page 63



 

  

4 

4. The Strategy for 2017/18 

The strategy in 2017/18 was to continue only lending to UK banks, building societies, money 
market funds, Local Authorities and property funds. Only UK banks with a credit rating, for longer 
term deals, greater than “BBB” and F3 or above for short term credit ratings were on the Council’s 
lending list. (These are Fitch definitions of ratings). Not all building societies are credit rated but 
this did not preclude them from the lending list as lending to a building society was dependant on 
their asset size. Where a society did have a rating, this was considered at the time of the deal 
taking into account the amount of investment and the length of the deal. As well as imposing 
maximum limits with each counter party, the overall percentage of outstanding investments with 
each counterparty was assessed to ensure a reasonable spread of investments. 

 
Change in strategy during the year – the strategy adopted in the original Treasury Management 
Strategy Report for 2017/18, approved by the Council on 09/02/2017, was not changed during 
the year.    
 

 
 

5. The  Borrowing Requirement and Debt  

The Council’s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is termed the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR).   
 
This figure is a gauge of the Council’s indebtedness.  The CFR results from the capital activity 
of the Council and resources used to pay for the capital spend.  It represents the 2017/18 
unfinanced capital expenditure (see above table), and prior years’ net or unfinanced capital 
expenditure which has not yet been paid for by revenue or other resources.   
 
Part of the Council’s treasury activities is to address the funding requirements for this 
borrowing need.  Depending on the capital expenditure programme, the treasury service 
organises the Council’s cash position to ensure that sufficient cash is available to meet the 
capital plans and cash flow requirements.  This may be sourced through borrowing from 
external bodies, (such as the Government, through the Public Works Loan Board [PWLB] or 
the money markets), or utilising temporary cash resources within the Council. 
 

Reducing the CFR – the Council’s underlying borrowing need (CFR) is not allowed to rise 
indefinitely.  Statutory controls are in place to ensure that capital assets are broadly charged 
to revenue over the life of the asset.  The Council has a negative CFR so is not required to 
make an annual revenue charge, called the Minimum Revenue Provision – MRP, to reduce 
the CFR. MRP is effectively a repayment of the borrowing need. This differs from the 
treasury management arrangements which ensure that cash is available to meet capital 
commitments.  External debt can also be borrowed or repaid at any time, but this does not 
change the CFR. 
 
The total CFR can also be reduced by: 

 the application of additional capital financing resources, (such as unapplied capital 
receipts); or  

 charging more than the statutory revenue charge (MRP) each year through a Voluntary 
Revenue Provision (VRP).  

Page 64



 

  

5 

The Council’s 2017/18 MRP Policy, (as required by CLG Guidance), was approved as part of 
the Treasury Management Strategy Report for 2017/18 on 09/02/2017. Because the Council 
has a negative CFR there is no requirement currently to make an annual revenue charge 
(MRP). 
 
The Council’s CFR for the year is shown below, and represents a key prudential indicator.  It 
includes leasing schemes on the balance sheet, which increase the Council’s borrowing 
need.  No borrowing is actually required against these schemes as a borrowing facility is 
included in the contract (if applicable). 
 

CFR: General Fund 

31 March 
2017 

Actual 
£’000 

31 March 
2018 

Actual 
£’000 

Opening balance  -18,767 -16.60 

Add unfinanced capital expenditure (as 
above) 

2.185 6.39 

Less MRP/VRP 0 0 

Less Finance Lease repayments 0.013 0.013 

Closing balance  -16.60 -10.2 

 

Borrowing activity is constrained by prudential indicators for net borrowing and the CFR, and 
by the authorised limit. 
 
Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are prudent over the 
medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that its gross 
external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital 
financing requirement in the preceding year (2017/18) plus the estimates of any additional 
capital financing requirement for the current (2018/19) and next two financial years.  This 
essentially means that the Council is not borrowing to support revenue expenditure.  This 
indicator allows the Council some flexibility to borrow in advance of its immediate capital 
needs if required.  The table below highlights the Council’s gross borrowing position against 
the CFR.  The Council has complied with this prudential indicator. 
 

 31 March 2017 
Actual 
£’000 

31 March 2018 
Budget 
£’000 

31 March 2018 
Actual 
£’000 

Gross borrowing position .480 .455 455 

CFR -16,634 -2,427 -10,243 

 
The CFR is negative as the Council has more cash investments than borrowing. Borrowing is 
historic and was undertaken prior to the housing stock transfer when the CFR was positive. 
 
The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required by s3 
of the Local Government Act 2003.  Once this has been set, the Council does not have the 

Page 65



 

  

6 

power to borrow above this level.  The table below demonstrates that during 2017/18 the 
Council has maintained gross borrowing within its authorised limit.  
 
The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected borrowing position of 
the Council during the year.  Periods where the actual position is either below or over the 
boundary is acceptable subject to the authorised limit not being breached. This boundary 
was not exceeded at any point during the year. 
 
Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator is the net cost 
of borrowing as a percentage of the total revenue budget. This would usually show how 
much of the overall budget is spent on borrowing costs. However as the Councils investment 
income exceeds the cost of interest on borrowing it is a negative number.  

 
2017/18 

£’000 

Authorised limit 6,000 

Maximum gross borrowing position  480 

Operational boundary 4,000 

Average gross borrowing position  470 

Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream -2.3% 

 
At the end of 2017/18 the Council‘s treasury position was as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

31 March 
2017 

Principal 
£’000 

Rate/ 
Return 

31 March 
2018 

Principal 
£’000 

Rate/ 
Return 

Fixed rate borrowing:      

 -PWLB 480 9.43% 455 9.59% 

 -Market 0  0  

Variable rate borrowing:      

 -PWLB 0  0  

 -Market 0  0  

Total debt 480 9.43% 455 9.59% 

CFR -16.6  -16.6  

Over / (under) 
borrowing 

17.08 
 17.08  

Investments:     

 - in house 7,500 0.66% 12,500 0.90% 

 - with managers 28,500 1.15% 18,000 1.17% 

Total investments 36,000 1.12% 30,500 1.13% 

Page 66



 

  

7 

 

 

The maturity structure of the debt portfolio was as follows: 

 31 March 2017 
Actual 
£’000 

31 March 2017 
Actual 
£’000 

Under 12 months  25 16 

12 months and within 24 months 16 17 

24 months and within 5 years 53 55 

5 years and within 10 years 97 92 

10 years and above  289 275 

Page 67



 

  

8 

6. Borrowing Rates in 2017/18 

PWLB certainty maturity borrowing rates 
As depicted in the graph and tables below, PWLB 25 and 50 year rates have been volatile during 
the year with little consistent trend.  However, shorter rates were on a rising trend during the 
second half of the year and reached peaks in February / March.  
During the year, the 50 year PWLB target (certainty) rate for new long term borrowing was 2.50% 
in quarters 1 and 3 and 2.60% in quarters 2 and 4.  
The graphs  for PWLB rates show, for a selection of maturity periods, the average borrowing rates, 
the high and low points in rates, spreads and individual rates at the start and the end of the 
financial year. 
 

 
 
 

7. Borrowing Outturn for 2017/18 

Borrowing  
 
No new loans were taken during the year.   
 
£25K of PWLB loans were repaid during the year   
 
 
Rescheduling  
 
No rescheduling was done during the year as the average 1% differential between PWLB new 
borrowing rates and premature repayment rates made rescheduling unviable. 
 

Page 68



 

  

9 

8. Investment Rates in 2017/18 

Investments rates for 3 months and longer have been on a rising trend during the second half of 
the year in the expectation of Bank Rate increasing from its floor of 0.25%, and reached a peak at 
the end of March. Bank Rate was duly raised from 0.25% to 0.50% on 2.11.17 and remained at 
that level for the rest of the year.  However, further increases are expected over the next few 
years. Deposit rates continued into the start of 2017/18 at previous depressed levels due, in part, 
to a large tranche of cheap financing being made available under the Term Funding Scheme to the 
banking sector by the Bank of England; this facility ended on 28.2.18.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9. Investment Outturn for 2017/18 

Investment Policy – the Council’s investment policy is governed by MHCLG guidance, which has 
been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the Council on 09/02/17.  This 
policy sets out the approach for choosing investment counterparties, and is based on credit 
ratings provided by the Fitch credit rating agency for banks and asset size for building society 
investments. 
 
The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and the Council had 
no liquidity difficulties. However, there were a couple of breaches to “investing no more than 10% 
of outstanding investments with one counter party”.  An existing investment was renewed with 
National Counties Building Society on 20th March for £1.5M and although the total invested with 
them remained unchanged, this was slightly over the 10% limit at 11.01%. Also two investments 
were placed with other Local Authorities in March that were over the 10% limit. £4.0M with 
Telford and Wrekin Council at 11.9% and Slough Borough Council at 12.4%.  
 

Page 69



 

  

10 

Investments placed by Cash Managers – the Council used an external cash manager to invest its 
longer term cash balances. At the start of the year, Tradition had £28.5m of outstanding 
investments. This reduced to £18.0m by the end of the year as investments were returned to 
finance Capital expenditure. The performance of the Tradition against the benchmark return was: 

Cash Manager 
Investments 

Placed 
Interest 

Return Benchmark* 

Tradition £28.5M - £18.0M £0.281M 1.17% 0.30% 

 
* Ave 7 days notice   Rate                 0.3%       

This compares with an original budget of £0.228M.  
 
The table below summaries where investments were held at 31 March and includes the Lloyds 
Bank interest bearing current account: 
 

 
Investments  

31 March 2016 
£’000 

Investments  
31 March 2017 

£’000 
Banks 13, 400 2,300 

Building Societies 20,500 18,000 

Local Authorities - 9,000 

Money Market Funds 5,000 3,500 

Total 38,900 32,800 

 
The pie chart below shows the spread of investment balances as at 31 March 2018. This is a 
snapshot in time that demonstrates the diversification of investments. 
 

 

Slough Borough 
Council £4.0

Telford & Wrekin 
Council £4.0M

National 
Counties £3.5M

Public Sector 
Deposit Fund 

£3.5M

Principality 
£3.0M

Lloyds £2.3M

Furness £2.0M

Monmouthshire 
£2.0M

Nottingham 
£2.0M

Marsden £1.5M

Hanley 
Economic £1.0M

Melton Mowbray 
£1.0M

Nationwide 
£1.0M

Progresive 
£1.0M Wirral Council 

£1.0M

Placement of Investments 31st  March 2018

Page 70



 

  

11 

 
 
 
The average daily balance of investments was £42.2m with balances varying between £31.0m and 
£49.2m. 
 
£0.334m of interest was generated from investments during the year. This is slightly more than 
the estimated interest of £0.320m. 
 
The graph below shows the maturity profile of investments at 31st March 2018. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

10.  Other Issues 

1. Revised CIPFA Codes 

In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, (CIPFA), issued a 

revised Treasury Management Code and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes, and a revised Prudential 

Code.  

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

7.00

A
p
r 

1
8

M
a

y
 1

8

J
u
n
e

 1
8

J
u
l 
1
8

O
c
t 
1
8

N
o

v
 1

8

D
e

c
 1

8

J
a
n
 1

9

M
a

y
 1

9

In
v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
£

Period

Investment Maturity 31st 
March 2018

Page 71



 

  

12 

A particular focus of these revised codes was how to deal with local authority investments which 

are not treasury type investments e.g. by investing in purchasing property in order to generate 

income for the Authority at a much higher level than can be attained by treasury investments.  

One recommendation was that local authorities should produce a new report to members to give 

a high level summary of the overall capital strategy and to enable members to see how the cash 

resources of the Authority have been apportioned between treasury and non-treasury 

investments. Officers will report to members when the implications of these new codes have 

been assessed as to the likely impact on this Authority. 

 

2. Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II (MiFID II) 

The EU set the date of 3 January 2018 for the introduction of regulations under MIFID II.  These 

regulations govern the relationship that financial institutions conducting lending and borrowing 

transactions will have with local authorities from that date.  This has had little effect on this 

Authority apart from having to fill in forms sent by each institution dealing with this Authority and 

for each type of investment instrument we use, apart from for cash deposits with banks and 

building societies.    

 

Page 72



 

 
COUNCIL  

 18 July 2018 
 

 

 
PART 1 – PUBLIC DOCUMENT 

 

 
TITLE OF REPORT:  COUNCIL CONSTITUTION (CONFIRMATION OF AMENDMENTS) & 
FURTHER MINOR PROPOSED CHANGES 
 
REPORT OF: SERVICE DIRECTOR: LEGAL AND COMMUNITY & MONITORING OFFICER 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: MRS L.A. NEEDHAM, LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
COUNCIL PRIORITY: RESPONSIVE AND EFFICIENT 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

This report confirms the amendments made to the Council’s Constitution under 
delegated decision and contains some further proposed minor amendments.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

That Full Council: 
 
2.1 notes the amendments made under delegated decision (with the agreement of the 

Leader) that came into effect on 1 June 2018 (as per Appendix A).  
 

2.2 agrees the further minor amendments at paragraph 8.3.  
 

 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

To ensure the Council meets its statutory obligations and continues to improve its 
working practices. 
 

4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
 None.  
 
5. CONSULTATION WITH RELEVANT MEMBERS AND EXTERNAL 

ORGANISATIONS 
 

Consultation and agreement was undertaken with the Leader, Chief Executive and 
relevant officers regarding the amendments effected through the delegated decision 
and these subsequent changes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 73

Agenda Item 10



6. FORWARD PLAN 
 

This report does not contain a recommendation on a key decision and has not been 
referred to in the Forward Plan. 

 
 
7. BACKGROUND 
 
7.1 This report follows the Council Constitution – Annual Review Report 2018, which came 

before Council on 10 April 20181.  As Members are aware, at that time the Council was 
still in the process of consulting on the Senior Management restructure and therefore 
further amendments to the Constitution could not be proposed until that process had 
been completed.  Delegated authority was therefore sought to amend sections 12, 14 
and pages within the Constitution that detailed officer titles and consequential post 
restructure issues.  
 

7.2 As per the resolution of Full Council, the then “Acting Corporate Legal Manager and 
Monitoring Officer, in agreement with the Leader, was delegated authority to make 
such amendments as were necessary to the Constitution to give effect to the Senior 
Management Restructure and once finalised to report these to the subsequent Council 
meeting”. 
 

7.3 Amendments were made to the Constitution, Contract Procurement Rules and 
Financial Regulations with the agreement of the Leader. These were summarised, and 
links provided to the amended documents as per the Delegated Decision 31 May 2018 
(Appendix A).  A hard copy of the amended Constitution (with tracked changes) was 
available for inspection by Members in the Members room.  All documents were 
available on the Council’s website (see 8.1 below) and Members were notified of the 
Delegated Decision via MIS on 2 June 2018. 

 
8. RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS 
 
8.1. The substance of the amendments was explained in the delegated decision (Appendix 

A).  The changes in the Constitution were to align the delegations for Senior 
Management to the new structure and then (for clarity and formatting purposes in 
tabular form) to set out which Executive Member had responsibility for the areas 
concerned (as opposed to two separate sections).  These are quite numerous and for 
that reason were not attached to the delegated decision and have not been attached to 
this report.  However, the changes made can be viewed as tracked changes on the 
Delegated Decision page:  
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/sites/northherts-
cms/files/Constitution%20Amendments%20-%20sections%201-
17%20tracked%20changes_0.pdf 
 
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/sites/northherts-
cms/files/Constitution%20Amendments%20-
%20Section%2019%20Financial%20Regulations%20tracked%20changes_0.pdf 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
1 https://democracy.north-herts.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=155&Ver=4 
 Page 74

https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/sites/northherts-cms/files/Constitution%20Amendments%20-%20sections%201-17%20tracked%20changes_0.pdf
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/sites/northherts-cms/files/Constitution%20Amendments%20-%20sections%201-17%20tracked%20changes_0.pdf
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/sites/northherts-cms/files/Constitution%20Amendments%20-%20sections%201-17%20tracked%20changes_0.pdf
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/sites/northherts-cms/files/Constitution%20Amendments%20-%20Section%2019%20Financial%20Regulations%20tracked%20changes_0.pdf
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/sites/northherts-cms/files/Constitution%20Amendments%20-%20Section%2019%20Financial%20Regulations%20tracked%20changes_0.pdf
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/sites/northherts-cms/files/Constitution%20Amendments%20-%20Section%2019%20Financial%20Regulations%20tracked%20changes_0.pdf
https://democracy.north-herts.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=155&Ver=4


https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/sites/northherts-
cms/files/Constitution%20Amendents%20-
%20Section%2020%20Contract%20Procurement%20Rules%20-
%20tracked%20changes_0.pdf 
 

8.2. The final version 1 June 2018 (without tracked changes) can be seen on the 
Constitution page:  
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/council-constitution 

 
8.3. It was nevertheless indicated, as part of the Delegated Decision (para 7.3), that due to 

the timescales for making the amendments and ensuring these were in place by 1 
June, that some further amendments may be necessary (once the Service Directors 
were in place).  These have now become apparent, and a few amendments are now 
required.  The proposed further amendments are set out in the Constitution with 
tracking on the report page attached. 
 
The proposed minor amendments are: 
 
8.3.1 Section 2.2 Definition (page 8): To the extent necessary “Democratic Services 

Manager” “Reference to such an officer shall be deemed to include the Service 
Director: Legal and Community, or such officer sub-delegated to undertake any 
of the specific functions detailed in the Constitution” (by the Service Director, 
until the recruitment to the post has been successfully completed). 
 

8.3.2 Section 8.4.5 (c)(i) and (ii) (page 76) still referred to “Head of Development & 
Building Control” and these should be amended to “Service Director: 
Regulatory”. 

 
8.3.3 Under Section 9.8.2(g) (page 98) Clarification that the delegate power in 

respect of Area Committees is only “revenue” ones under the Area Committee 
for £500 and does not include those recommended by the Capital Grants Panel 
(as per the proposed change to reflect the operational practice). See also 8.3.5 
below. 

 
8.3.4 Section 14.5.1 (page 125) “All those functions for which the Council is 

responsible relating to the treatment of hedgerows, the preservation of trees/ 
and complaints about high hedges” should be delegated to the Service Director: 
Regulatory as opposed to Planning Control Committee. Failure to resolve such 
issues would lead to an appeal to the Planning Inspectorate thereafter and is 
not currently contained within the Planning Control Committee’s terms of 
reference. 

 
8.3.5 Section 14.6.9, Delegation to Service Director: Legal and Community to clarify 

that: 
 

(iii) A: this includes capital grants following capital grant panel deliberations 
(page 141). 
 
(v) Community Safety does not include “and high hedges” and this is moved 
under the Service Director: Regulatory at 14.6.11 (xii) (page 142/ 150); and  
 
(vi) A: “flyposting” reference is to be removed (page 142) as this is no longer 
relevant. 

 
 
 

Page 75

https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/sites/northherts-cms/files/Constitution%20Amendents%20-%20Section%2020%20Contract%20Procurement%20Rules%20-%20tracked%20changes_0.pdf
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/sites/northherts-cms/files/Constitution%20Amendents%20-%20Section%2020%20Contract%20Procurement%20Rules%20-%20tracked%20changes_0.pdf
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/sites/northherts-cms/files/Constitution%20Amendents%20-%20Section%2020%20Contract%20Procurement%20Rules%20-%20tracked%20changes_0.pdf
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/sites/northherts-cms/files/Constitution%20Amendents%20-%20Section%2020%20Contract%20Procurement%20Rules%20-%20tracked%20changes_0.pdf
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/council-constitution


 
8.3.6 Section 14.6.10 (page 146) Service Director: Place (vii) to include “licensing of 

events on Council land: issuing or refusing a licence (with or without conditions 
or restrictions) to applicants for events”. 

 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Full Council’s terms of reference include “approving of adopting the Policy Framework. 

The Policy Framework includes the Constitution.  
 
9.2 Section 37 Local Government Act 2000 requires the Council to have in place a 

constitution and to keep that constitution under review.  The Local Government Act 
2000 section 9P sets out the requirements of a local authority’s constitution, including 
the requirements to prepare it and keep it up to date and the requirement to make it 
available for public inspection.  

 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

There are no financial implications (either revenue or capital) arising from this report. 
 

11. RISK IMPLICATIONS 
 

Ensuring the Council has appropriate governance arrangements in place is an 
important risk mitigation measure.  The Council’s Constitution is a fundamental part of 
those governance arrangements. 
 

12. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty, public bodies must, in the exercise of their 

functions, give due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, 
victimisation, to advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between 
those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 
12.2  The proposals made within this report for changes to the Constitution do not materially 

affect any groups with protected characteristics, but it is the aim, in revising the 
Constitution and its content regularly, to make it more ‘user friendly’, ensure 
transparency and to encourage greater participation in the Council’s decision-making 
processes. 

 
13. SOCIAL VALUE IMPLICATIONS 
 

The Social Value Act and “go local” policy do not apply to this report. 
 
14. HUMAN RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

The Senior Management Restructure is not the subject matter of this report; however, 
changes were made to the Constitution following consultation, consideration of those 
responses and implementation. Otherwise, no other implications.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



 
15. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix A – Delegated Decision 31 May 2018. 
 
16. CONTACT OFFICERS 
 
16.1 Jeanette Thompson; Service Director: Legal and Community & Monitoring Officer 

jeanette.thompson@north-herts.gov.uk; ext 4370 
  
16.2 Marie Searle; Property Solicitor  

marie.searle@north-herts.gov.uk; ext 4315  
 
16.3 Ian Couper; Service Director: Resources  
 ian.couper@north-herts.gov.uk; ext 4243 
 
16.4  Reuben Ayavoo; Senior Corporate Policy Officer 
 reuben.avayoo@north-herts.gov.uk; ext 4212 
 
 
17. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
17.1  Current NHDC Constitution 2018: https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/council-and-

democracy/council-constitution 
 
17.2 Delegated Decision page 2018 links as per body of the report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 77

mailto:jeanette.thompson@north-herts.gov.uk
mailto:marie.searle@north-herts.gov.uk
mailto:ian.couper@north-herts.gov.uk
mailto:reuben.avayoo@north-herts.gov.uk
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/council-constitution
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/council-constitution


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



CONSTITUTION 10.4.18   

 

 

 

 

 

NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

 

 

CONSTITUTION 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83

Agenda Annex



CONSTITUTION 10.4.18   

CONTENT 

part a ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

SECTION 1 .............................................................................................................................................. 4 

SECTION 2 .............................................................................................................................................. 7 

SECTION 3 ............................................................................................................................................ 13 

SECTION 4 ............................................................................................................................................ 21 

SECTION 5 ............................................................................................................................................ 44 

SECTION 6……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 56 

Appendix 1 to Section 6 ......................................................................................................................... 67 

SECTION 7 ............................................................................................................................................ 69 

SECTION 8 ............................................................................................................................................ 73 

Appendix 1 to section 8 .......................................................................................................................... 78 

Appendix 2 to section 8 .......................................................................................................................... 80 

Appendix 3 to section 8………………………………………………………………………………………….. 82 

SECTION 9……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 93  

SECTION 10 .......................................................................................................................................... 99 

SECTION 11 ........................................................................................................................................ 106 

SECTION 12 ........................................................................................................................................ 109 

SECTION 13 ........................................................................................................................................ 121 

SECTION 14 ........................................................................................................................................ 123 

SECTION 15 ........................................................................................................................................ 162 

SECTION 16 ........................................................................................................................................ 173 

SECTION 17……………………………………………………………………………………………………..173                        

SECTION 18……………………………………………………………………………………………………..181 

 

 

Page 84



 

4 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL CONSTITUTION 

PART A 

SECTION 1 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Purpose and Content of the Constitution 

1.1.1 The Constitution describes the various bodies that make up the 
Council, their functions, membership and procedural rules.   

1.1.2 In Section 3 (Getting Information and Getting Involved) we have 
provided information for members of the public and councillors on 
how you can get information about the Council, and how you can 
get involved.  We hope that this will help people who have an 
interest in the Council’s work, or a particular matter it is dealing with, 
understand where they can get more information, and how they can 
contribute to Council activities.   

1.1.3 You can get a better understanding of what each of the Council’s 
bodies do in Sections 4 to 10 of this Constitution, including Full 
Council, Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Standards 
Committee and Regulatory Committees.  Section 12 provides 
information on the management and officer structures of the 
Council.  Some Officers have a specific duty to ensure that the 
Council operates within the law and uses resources wisely.  
Sections 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 14 say which Council bodies, and 
which members and officers, have authority to make which 
decisions.   

1.1.4 At Sections 4.8 and 6 we have set out the procedural rules that 
apply to the different Council bodies.  You may find these useful if 
you want to attend a meeting, particularly if you want to be able to 
ask questions, have a matter discussed, or put your point of view. 

1.1.5 Sections 17 and 18 have the Codes of Conduct and Protocols which 
officers and Members have agreed to comply with.  They set the 
standards of behaviour. 

1.1.6 The Contents pages at the beginning of this Constitution provide a 
guide on what is in the Constitution and where you can find it.   

1.2 How the Council Operates 

1.2.1 The Council is comprised of forty nine Councillors each elected for a 
four year period. Elections are held in three out of four years with a 
third of the seats contested in each year.  Each Councillor is 
democratically accountable to the residents of their electoral ward 
as well as all of those who live in the District of North Hertfordshire.  
The overriding duty of Councillors is to the whole community, but 
they have a special duty to their constituents, including those that 
did not vote for them. Councillors who do not attend at least one 

Page 85



 

5 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Council or Committee meeting in a six month period cease to be a 
Councillor, unless their absence is approved by Full Council within 
that period. 

1.2.2 All Councillors have agreed to follow a Code of Conduct, to ensure 
high standards in the way they undertake their duties.  The 
Monitoring Officer is responsible for training and advising on the 
Code of Conduct. The Standards Committee (Section 7) also plays 
an important role in promoting and maintaining high standards of 
conduct. 

1.2.3 All Councillors meet together regularly as the Council.  Meetings of 
the Council are normally open to the public.  Here Councillors 
decide the Council’s overall Policy Framework and set the Budget 
each year.  The Council appoints the Leader of the Council.  The 
Leader then decides the size and membership of the Cabinet (within 
parameters set by legislation), the role of individual Members of the 
Cabinet and arrangements for the exercise and delegation of 
Executive Functions (for definition see paragraph 2.2 below). 

1.2.4 In addition to Council and Cabinet there are a number of other 
committees, whose terms of reference are set out in the 
Constitution.   These committees do different things, for example 
make decisions on some planning or licensing applications, or 
scrutinise work being undertaken. There are also five Area 
Committees which promote close working with our communities. For 
details as to how the committees operate please look at the section 
in the Constitution for that committee. These committees have 
Members from different political parties sitting on them, usually in 
proportion to their party's overall share of the Council's 49 seats 
(with the exception of Area Committees). 

1.2.5 As well as formal committee meetings, which have legal and 
constitutional requirements as to how they operate, the Council will 
also occasionally use Working Parties. A Working Party has no legal 
or constitutional requirements, for example they do not require a 
published agenda, reports or minutes. Generally these meetings are 
private, informal and have no decision making powers. Working 
Parties consider issues in detail and then report back to Council (or 
another committee) with findings and recommendations. They are 
often used in the early stages of policy formulation. A Working Party 
can be formed at any time to deal with a particular issue and will be 
disbanded after that issue is resolved. The Group Leaders of each 
political party choose which of their Members will sit on the Working 
Party. 

1.2.6 On larger projects the Council uses an approach based on the 
PRINCE2 (an acronym for projects in controlled environments, 
version 2) model of project management, in which the lead officer 
(called the project executive) is the decision maker. This model 
includes Project Boards whose role is to provide the lead officer with 
the support and input necessary for the project to proceed and to 
overcome any problems. The Chief Executive appoints the Lead 
Officer for the Project Board, who will chair and choose the 

Page 86



 

6 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

membership in consultation with the Leader of the Council. 
Membership will take into account the number of Members/ Officers, 
the risk and/or profile of the project and the skills and experience 
that will benefit the project (this list is non exhaustive). It may 
include external support. Membership usually includes appropriate 
Cabinet members. As an internal consultation and advisory meeting 
with no decision making powers, meetings are private and do not 
require a published agenda, reports or minutes. 

If you need any further help please visit our website http://www.north-herts.gov.uk/  

The Council Offices are located at Gernon Road, Letchworth Garden City, SG6 3JF.  However, 
whilst the main office is being refurbished, the Council has temporary offices located at Town 
Lodge, Gernon Road, Letchworth Garden City; telephone number 01462 474000.  

Whilst the Constitution is very long we hope that you will find it easy to use.  We have tried to 
make it as easy to follow as is possible with such a long and complex legal document. 

Page 87

http://www.north-herts.gov.uk/


 

7 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 2  

2. Purpose, Definition Interpretation and Amendment of the Constitution 

2.1 Purpose of the Constitution 

The purpose of the Constitution is to: 

2.1.1 enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the Community in 
partnership with citizens, businesses and other statutory or 
community organisation; 

2.1.2 support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local 
authority decision making; 

2.1.3 help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively; 

2.1.4 enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 

2.1.5 create a powerful and effective means of holding decision makers to 
public account; 

2.1.6 ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they 
are directly involved; 

2.1.7 ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly 
identifiable to local people and that they explain the reasons for 
decisions; and 

2.1.8 provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the 
community. 

2.2 Definitions in the Constitution 

2.2.1 The Constitution of the Council is this document (Sections 1 to 20). 

2.2.2 Within the Constitution the following words and phrases have the 
meaning set out below:- 

“Budget” 

 

“Chairman of the 
Council” 

the overall revenue and capital budget approved by 
Full Council (Section 16.2); 

means the Member elected at Annual Council to chair 
its meetings.  See section 4.5.4. 

“Chief Officer” As defined under section 12.8.1(c) 1 

“Councillor” a person elected to the Council to represent an area 
(called an electoral ward) within North Hertfordshire 
District Council; 

“Deputy Chief As defined under  regulation 2(8) of the Local 
                                                

1 To include all Directors irrespective of whether they directly report to the Head of Paid Service on the basis that they are directly accountable to the Head of Paid Service as 
per Regulation 2(7)(b) of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) Regulations 1989  

Page 88



 

8 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Officer” 

“Democratic 
Services Manager” 

Authorities (Standing Orders) Regulations 1989 
  
Reference to such an officer shall be deemed to 
include the Service Director: Legal and Community, or 
such officer sub-delegated to undertake any of the 
specific functions detailed in the Constitution. 

“Executive” the Cabinet or a Member or Members of the Cabinet 
when exercising Executive Functions; 

“Executive Decision” any decision taken by the Cabinet to exercise or refrain 
from exercising an Executive Function.  It also includes 
decisions made by persons or member bodies to whom 
the Cabinet has delegated Executive Functions to 
exercise or refrain exercising those functions; 

“Executive Function” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Forward Plan” 

Executive Functions are defined by the Local 
Government Act 2000, subsidiary legislation and 
associated guidance.  In general terms the provision of 
services, how the Council spends its budget, the 
Council’s procedures and management are Executive 
Functions.   

Contractual matters, the acquisition and disposal of 
land and financial support to organisations and 
individuals are also Executive Functions. 

The regulatory functions, for example, planning 
licensing and building control, are not Executive 
Functions; 

In this constitution the Notice of Key Decision and a 
Notice of Private Meeting of the Cabinet published by 
the Council over a four month period (including 
decisions to be made by the Cabinet, individual 
Cabinet members or delegated officers, which are not 
Key Decisions).  

“Full Council” the body where all Councillors act to exercise functions 
of the Council; 

“Head of Paid 
Service” 

 

an officer who must be appointed by law to carry out 
certain functions.  See Section 12.2 for more details.  
The officer will usually have other duties and a different 
job title.  See Section 12.1.4 for which officer is the 
Head of Paid Service; 

“Independent 
Person” 

the person(s) appointed by Full Council to fulfil the 
requirements of section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 in 
respect of complaints about Members 

“Key Decision” 

 

as defined in the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) (Regulations) 2012, means an executive 

Page 89



 

9 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Leader” 

“Legislation or 
Legislative” 

decision which is likely:- 

(a)  to result in the Council incurring expenditure 
which is, or the making of savings which are, 
significant having regard to the Council’s budget 
for the service or function to which the decision 
relates; or  

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on 
communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more wards in the District; 

a Member of Cabinet responsible for chairing Cabinet. 
See section 5.3.; 

reference to legislation or legislative means any Act, 
Regulation, order, instrument or rule and/ or statutory 
guidance under such provisions, however expressed; 

“Local Choice 
Functions” 

there are some functions which the Council may treat 
as being the responsibility of the Cabinet (in whole or in 
part) or as being non-executive, at its discretion; 

“Member” a Councillor; 

“Monitoring Officer” an officer who must be appointed by law to carry out 
certain functions.  See Section 12.3 for a description of 
those functions.  The officer will usually have other 
duties and a different job title.  See Section 12.1.4 for 
which officer is the Monitoring Officer; 

“Non-Executive 
Functions” 

“Neighbourhood 
plans and orders” 

all functions of the Council which are not Executive 
Functions; 

Neighbourhood Plans, Neighbourhood Development 
Plans/ Orders, Community Right to Build Orders, 
Designation of Neighbourhood Area, Neighbourhood 
Forum or Business Area, including related referenda, 
Independent Examination (‘IE’) and incidental matters, 
or any other descriptions amending or replacing the 
same.” 

“Policy Framework” See Section 4.2; 

“Executive Member” a Member of Cabinet with particular responsibilities 
determined by the Leader 

“Proper Officer” means an officer to whom a duty/ role or decision 
making power is delegated, as set out at Section 14.5 

“Section 151 Officer”  

 

an officer who must be appointed by law to carry out 
certain functions. Also known as Chief Finance Officer.  
See Section 12.4 for a description of those functions.  
The officer will usually have other duties and a different 

Page 90



 

10 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

 job title.  See Section 12.1.4 for which officer is the 
Section 151 Officer; 

“Service” 

 

 

“SIAS” 

one of the services provided by the Council, for 
example Waste collection, Council Tax collection, 
Leisure; 

means the Shared Internal Audit Service appointed by 
the Chief Finance Officer to undertake the Internal 
Audit function for the Council 

“Statutory Officer” the Head of Paid Service, the Section 151 Officer or 
the Monitoring Officer 

2.3 Interpretation of the Constitution 

2.3.1 We have tried to make the Constitution as clear and as easy to 
understand as possible.  Inevitably, people will have different views 
about what certain passages mean. 

2.3.2 During meetings, the ruling of the person chairing or presiding at the 
meeting either to the interpretation or application of the Constitution 
or as to any proceedings of the Council (or part of it) shall be final 
and not challenged.   

2.3.3 In all other situations, the Monitoring Officer will determine the 
interpretation and application of the Constitution. 

2.4 Duty to Monitor and Review the Constitution 

The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of the Constitution to 
ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect.  The 
Chief Finance Officer shall be responsible for keeping under review the Financial 
Regulations set out in Section 19 of the Constitution and shall make any necessary 
amendments and revisions as are required from time to time as defined in paragraph 
2.6 of the Constitution.  The Constitution will be reviewed on an annual basis with a 
substantive review every 3 years. 

2.5 Protocol for Monitoring and Review of Constitution by Monitoring Officer. 

A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to make recommendations for ways in which 
the Constitution could be amended in order to better achieve the purposes set out in 
this Section.  In undertaking this task, the Monitoring Officer may: 

2.5.1 Observe meetings of different parts of the Member and officer 
structure; 

2.5.2 Undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions; 

2.5.3 Record and analyse issues raised with him/her by Members, 
officers, the public and other relevant stakeholders; and 

2.5.4 Compare practices in this Council with those in comparable 
authorities, or national examples of best practice. 

Page 91



 

11 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

The Monitoring Officer must consult with Group Leaders and other Members as 
appropriate if proposing changes to the Constitution. 

2.6 Changes to the Constitution including the Financial Regulations  

2.6.1 Approval 

Subject to paragraph 2.6.2 below, changes to the Constitution are for Full 
Council to decide after consideration of the proposal by the Monitoring 
Officer or on recommendation of the Cabinet.   

2.6.2 Minor Changes 

If, in the reasonable opinion of the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance 
Officer, a change is: 

(a) a minor variation; or 

(b) required to be made to remove any inconsistency, ambiguity or 
typographical error; or 

(c) required to be made so as to put into effect any decision of the Council 
or its committees or the Cabinet; or 

(d) requested only for practical purposes, in order to ensure the proper 
administration of the Council, 

the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer may make such a 
change. 

2.6.3 Any change made under paragraph 2.6.2(d) shall come into force 
with immediate effect but shall be referred to Full Council as soon 
as is reasonably possible and shall continue to have effect only if 
Full Council agree. 

2.6.4 Changes made under paragraph 2.6.2 must be notified to all 
Members. 

2.6.5 Change to Mayoral Form of Executive 

The Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and 
other interested persons in the area when drawing up proposals and must 
hold a binding referendum. 

2.6.6 Legislative Change 

Any part of the Constitution may be amended by the Monitoring Officer 
where such amendment is required to be made so as to comply with any 
legislative provision.  Such amendments shall take effect when the 
Monitoring Officer so decides or the legislation (where relevant) so provides.  
Such changes shall be reported to the next full Council meeting. 

2.7 Suspension of the Constitution 

Page 92



 

12 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

2.7.1 Limit to Suspension 

The Rules of this Constitution may not be suspended.  Any of the Rules, 
with the exception of those contained in Sections 4.8.16(f), 4.8.16(h) and 
4.8.17(b) may be suspended to the extent permitted within these Rules and 
the law. 

2.7.2 Procedure to Suspend 

A motion to suspend any Rules will not be moved without notice unless at 
least one half of the whole number of Councillors is present.  The extent 
and duration of suspension will be proportionate to the result to be 
achieved, taking account of the purposes of the Constitution set out in this 
Section. 

2.8 Publication 

2.8.1          The Proper Officer will ensure that copies of this Constitution 
are available for inspection at Council offices. 

2.8.2          The Proper Officer will if requested, give a printed copy of this 
Constitution to Members of the Council upon delivery to him/her of that 
individual’s declaration of acceptance of office on the Member first being 
elected to the Council. 

2.8.3         The Constitution will be published on the Council’s website. 

Page 93



 

13 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 3  

3. Getting Information and Getting Involved 

3.1 Getting Information 

3.1.1 Information Available to Members of the Public 

(a) When meetings of the member bodies will take place 

A programme of meetings is available by contacting the Council direct, 
logging on to the Council’s website or looking at the Council’s notice 
board outside the Council Offices or library notice boards in Baldock, 
Hitchin, Letchworth or Royston. 

(b) Forward Plan 

Find out from the Forward Plan what decisions will be taken by the 
Cabinet or Council and what issues the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will be considering and when these matters will be 
discussed. 

(c) Information available prior to a meeting 

At least five clear working days before a meeting, the agenda, any 
report likely to be discussed and background papers to that report shall 
be available for inspection at the offices of the Council.  Further detail 
and clarification is provided in Section 15.  

(d) Information available at a meeting 

The Council will make available to the public present at a meeting a 
reasonable number of copies of the Agenda and of the Reports for the 
meeting (save during any part of the meeting to which the public are 
excluded).  Further detail and clarification is provided in Section 15. 

(e) Information available after a meeting 

For a period of six years the agenda, reports and the minutes of the 
meeting shall be available for inspection.  The background papers shall 
remain open for inspection for a period of four years. 

(f) Council’s Accounts 

During a 30 working day period that includes 1-14 June, any ‘interested’ 
person can inspect the Council’s accounts and accounting records. 
Local electors may also inspect various reports issued by the auditors 
and ask questions of the auditor about the accounting records. Local 
electors can also make objections to the auditor where they believe that 
an item in the accounts is unlawful or they think that a public interest 
report should be made. The National Audit Office has produced a guide 
that further explains the public’s rights in relation to the inspection of 
accounts.  

Page 94



 

14 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Information which is confidential or exempt will not be disclosed to members 
of the public at any time. 

3.1.2 Information Available to Members of the Council 

(a) Members can see any information, which is available to a member of 
the public. 

(b) In addition a member may see any information, which he or she 
reasonably requires in order to fulfil his or her role as a member of the 
Council, but a member will not make public information which is 
confidential or exempt (as defined in Section 15) without the consent of 
the Council or divulge information given in confidence to anyone other 
than a Councillor or other party entitled to know it.   

3.1.3 Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

(a) A member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may also see any 
document containing material relating to: 

(i) any business transaction of the Cabinet; or 

(ii) any decision taken by an individual member of the Cabinet; or 

(iii) any decision taken by an officer of the Council in accordance 
with executive arrangements; 

and which is within the terms of reference of the Scrutiny Committee of 
which they are a member. 

(b) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee member is not entitled to:- 

(i) any part of a document which contains confidential or exempt 
information unless that information is relevant to an action or 
decision they are reviewing or scrutinising or intending to 
scrutinise and is relevant to any review contained in the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s programme of work; or 

(ii) the advice of a political adviser. 

NB   No member is entitled to see any information relating to a matter in 
which he or she has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. 

3.1.4 Information Available to Officers 

The Monitoring Officer and S151 Officer may see any papers or records 
held by any part of the Council or its officers.  Other officers may see any 
information held by the Council provided: 

(a) they need to see the information to do their job; and 

(b) that information is processed lawfully in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 1998. 

Page 95



 

15 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

3.2 Getting Involved 

3.2.1 Members of the Public 

Members of the public can get involved in the following ways: 

(a) Voting for Councillors 

If they are over 18 years and registered as a local elector with the 
Council. 

(b) Suggesting Items of Business for Meetings 

A member of the public may suggest a matter be included in an agenda 
by: 

(i) asking the Chairman of any body to add an item to the agenda; 
and/or 

(ii) attending a meeting of the body and suggesting under public 
participation that it looks at an issue. 

(c) Taking Part in Meetings 

(i) Members of the public can come to and speak at any meeting 
which is open to the public.  The rules on when you may speak 
and for how long are contained in Section 4.8.9. 

(ii) 2The Council operates openly and transparently and recognises 
that citizens may wish to utilise social media during meetings 
(including recording meetings). This engagement is welcomed 
provided that Council business is not disrupted or disturbed. 
Examples of disruptive behaviour can include:- 

 moving to areas outside the areas designated for the public 
without the consent of the Chairman; 

 excessive noise in recording or setting up or re-siting 
equipment during the debate/discussion; 

 intrusive lighting and use of flash photography; and 

 asking for people to repeat statements for the purposes of 
recording. 
 

(iii) You can also ask Questions at meetings of Full Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees (Section 4.8.10). 

(d) Exclusion from Meetings 

Meetings will be open to the public wherever possible.  The public must 
be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely that confidential 
information will be disclosed.  The public may be excluded from 
meetings where it is likely that exempt information will be disclosed 

                                                

2 3.2.1(c)(ii) Amended wording approved Full Council 03.09.15 

Page 96



 

16 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(see Section 4 & Section 15 for the meaning of those terms and further 
explanation).   

(e) Making Comments/Complaints 

A member of the public may comment or complain about Council 
services by: 

(i) contacting their local councillor; 

(ii) contacting the member of the Cabinet responsible for the 
service; 

(iii) contacting the officer responsible for delivering the service or 
their manager; 

(iv) using the Council’s complaints procedure. 

Comments or complaints can be made about an officer or member by: 

Officer Contacting the officer or the officer’s manager 

Members If there has been a breach of the protocols a 
complaint may be lodged with the Monitoring Officer 

 

(f) Engage with Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

All members of the public who live or work in the area of North 
Hertfordshire District Council may bring to the attention of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee their views on any matter under consideration 
by the Committee.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee must give 
consideration to any views brought to its attention by a member of the 
public. 

3.3 Getting Involved – Members 

Members can get involved by:- 

3.3.1 Suggesting Items of Business for the Agenda  

As a member of the Council, you have the same rights as members of the 
public.  In addition to these rights you also have the following rights: 

(a) Member bodies in Column A can request that member bodies in 
Column B consider or reconsider an issue. 

Column A Column B 

Cabinet Council  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Page 97



 

17 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Column A Column B 

Council 

 

Cabinet  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee;  

Cabinet and Full Council 

 

Finance, Audit and 
Risk Committee 

Cabinet or Council – subject to matters reserved 
to Full Council (or call-in to Overview & Scrutiny 
subject to call-in rules/ procedure) 

Standards 
Committee 

Council  

Cabinet  

 

(b) Any member can submit a Notice of Motion to Council in accordance 
with the rules set out at Section 4.8.12. 

3.3.2 Participating in Meetings 

(a) Members of the Council are entitled to attend any formal meeting of the 
Council, its committees or sub-committees or the Cabinet. 

(b) Members of the Council may speak at any meeting which they are 
entitled to attend.  When a member may speak and for how long 
depends upon the rules applying to that meeting (Section 4.8). 

3.3.3 Executive Members 

Members of the Cabinet have a special role to play within the Council.  They 
are entitled to exercise any Executive Function provided:- 

(a) the Executive Function has been delegated to them by the Leader of 
the Council; and 

(b) the decision to exercise the Executive Function is not a Key Decision. 

3.3.4 Comments and Complaints 

(a) Members may comment on any aspect of Council business by: 

(i) talking to officers;  

(ii) talking to the Leader or member of the Cabinet; 

(iii) talking to the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

(b) If a member wishes to complain about: 

Page 98



 

18 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

An Officer The procedure set out in the Member/Officer Protocol 
may be used (Section18) 

A Member The procedure set out in Section 17 may be followed 

 

3.4 Adverse Weather 

 3.4.1 If prior to a meeting of any Committee adverse weather conditions are 
expected which will affect the ability of those attending the meeting (public, 
Councillors or Officers) to travel safely, it shall be the responsibility of the 
Chairman of the Committee, in consultation with the most senior Officer 
attending the Committee to determine whether to postpone the meeting.  
The Proper Officer shall be responsible for advising the public, Councillors 
and Officers of the postponement and setting a new date to re-convene the 
meeting in order to conclude the original agenda as soon as possible. 

 3.4.2 If during a meeting of any Committee adverse weather conditions occur 
which will affect the ability of those attending the meeting (public, 
Councillors or Officers) to travel safely, it shall be the responsibility of the 
Chairman of the Committee, in consultation with the most senior Officer 
present to determine whether to cease the meeting. The Proper Officer 
shall be responsible for setting a new date to re-convene the meeting in 
order to conclude the original agenda as soon as possible. 

Page 99



 

19 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

APPENDIX 1 TO SECTION 3 

NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL PETITION SCHEME  

1. Who may submit a petition? 

1.1 Any member of the public who is a registered local government elector or 
resident of North Hertfordshire or owns a business in the area (‘an *applicable 
person”) may present, to a meeting of full Council, Cabinet or an Area 
Committee, a petition relating to a matter with which the Council is concerned. 

2. What are the requirements for submitting a petition? 

2.1 Subject to 2.3 below a petition must be written and submitted on paper to: The 
Democratic Services Manager, Council Offices, Gernon Road, Letchworth, SG6 
3JF.  If presentation to a specific meeting is intended, notification must be given 
in writing at least 5 working days before the relevant meeting of the full Council, 
Cabinet or Area Committee.    

2.2 A petition must include: 

 a clear, concise statement, repeated on each page, covering the subject of 
the petition and what action you want the Council to take; 

 the name, address, post code (business if applicable) and signature of at 
least 120 applicable persons (as defined above*) supporting the petition; 

 the name, address and contact details of the petition organiser (who should 
be an applicable person). 

If the above information is not evident when the petition is submitted, the Proper 
Officer may reject the petition outright, or seek further information before deciding 
whether to do so. 

2.3 The Council will accept electronic petitions provided they comply with the 
requirements of paragraph 2.2 above and are created on recognised online 
petition websites which require a form of verification by the person signing the 
petition. Such petitions must be printed and submitted to The Democratic 
Services Manager. 

3. What will the Council do when it receives a petition? 

3.1 The Democratic Services Manager will acknowledge receipt and decide what to 
do with the petition. If a petition does not follow the requirements set out above, 
or is considered not to be relevant, the Democratic Services Manager may 
decide not to do anything further with it.  In that case, he/she will write to the 
petition organiser to explain the reasons. 

3.2 Action, on receipt of a petition, may include: 

 Undertaking research or an investigation into the issue; 

 Meeting or discussing the issue wit the petition organiser; 

 Consulting local Partners or stakeholders; 

 considering the petition at a full Council/Cabinet/Committee/ Sub-Committee/ 
Area Committee meeting; 

Page 100



 

20 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

 referring to officers for consideration and report to a Full 
Council/Cabinet/Committee / Sub-Committee/ Area Committee meeting; 

 referring the petition to another agency; 

 writing to the petition organiser setting out the Council views about the 
request in the petition. 

4. Why may a petition not be acceptable? 

4.1 If the petition applies to a matter where there is an existing right of appeal or 
other procedures apply (e.g. an individual planning application), we will advise 
the petition organiser of the procedure to be followed. 

4.2 In general, other, existing, procedures apply to: 

 Any matter relating to a planning decision, including about a development 
plan document or the community infrastructure levy; 

 Any matter relating to an alcohol, gambling or sex establishment licensing 
decision; 

 Any matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which that individual 
or entity has a right of recourse to a review or right of appeal conferred by or 
under any enactment; 

 any petition considered to be vexatious, abusive, libellous, offensive, in 
breach of the Council’s statutory duties in respect of equality, diversity and 
inclusion or otherwise inappropriate. 
 

4.3 Petitions disclosing matters that are personal, or confidential. 

4.4 Petitions which are a duplicate of, or very similar to, a petition submitted in the 
past 12 months 

4.5 Petitions that do not otherwise follow the requirements of the Petitions Scheme. 

 

5. If a Committee is to consider the petition am I able to speak at the meeting? 

5.1 The petition organiser or his/her representative may then address the Council, 
Cabinet or area committee meeting, for no more than five minutes on the subject 
of the petition, but shall not have the right to speak further. 

5.2 Please note - No more than 2 petitions may be presented per meeting, and 
petitions on the same subject may be amalgamated. 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



 

21 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 4 

4. Full Council 

4.1 Introduction 

The Full Council is a formal meeting of all Councillors.  The Full Council is required 
by law to take certain important decisions including setting the Council’s Budget and 
the Council’s share of the Council Tax and approving a number of key plans and 
strategies, which together form the Policy Framework (listed below).  It is responsible 
for all of the functions not the responsibility of the Cabinet.  It will carry out some 
functions itself, but others will be delegated to Committees or named Officers. 

4.2 The Policy Framework 

4.2.1 The Policy Framework means the following plans and strategies required by 
law to be adopted by the Council, or which the Council has chosen to adopt: 

(a) the Constitution; 

(b) Annual Report [note the Council does not currently produce such a 
report]; 

(c) Community Safety Plan; 

(d) Development Plan documents; 

(e) Licensing Policy statements under Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling 
Act 2005; 

(f) Priorities/ Objectives for the District. 

4.2.2 Any plan or strategy required by law to be sent to a Minister of the 
Crown for approval.             

4.3 The Budget 

The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different services and 
projects, proposed contingency funds, the Council Tax base, setting the Council Tax 
and decision relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing requirement, the 
control of its capital expenditure and the setting of virement limits.  The Full Council 
will decide the Council’s overall revenue budget and overall capital budget and any 
changes to these.  (See Section 16 for how the Council can change the Policy 
Framework or Budget referred to it for approval by the Cabinet.) 

4.4 Functions of the Full Council 

4.4.1 Only the Full Council will exercise the following functions: 

(a) approving or adopting the Policy Framework: 

(b) approving or adopting the budget; 

(c) Considering a referendum on Council Tax increases and associated 
matters; 

Page 102



 

22 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

 

(d) making decisions about any matter in the discharge of an executive 
function where the decision maker is minded to make it in a manner 
which would be contrary to the policy framework or contrary to/or not 
wholly in accordance with the budget; 

(e) electing the Chairman and electing a Vice-Chairman of the Council; 

(f) electing the Leader; 

(g) appointing committees of the Council and agreeing and/or amending 
the terms of reference of any committees or other bodies appointed by 
the Full Council deciding on their composition and making 
appointments to them; 

(h) nominating District Councillors to outside bodies unless the nomination 
is an executive function; 

(i) considering recommendations from the Independent Remuneration 
Panel and adopting an allowances scheme or assessing, revoking or 
replacing the whole or part of any such scheme; 

(j) the offer of appointment or notice of dismissal to the Head of Paid 
Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer, prior to such action 
being taken (and in respect of dismissal, having taken into account any 
advice, views or recommendations, conclusions of any investigation 
from the Panel and representations of the Officer concerned); 

(k) making arrangements for the proper administration of financial affairs 
(section 151 Local Government Act 1972); 

(l) appointing an Electoral Registration Officer; 

(m) appointing a Returning or Acting Returning Officer (to act in connection 
with Parliamentary, District, County, Police Commissioner, European 
elections and referenda); 

(n) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting byelaws and 
promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or personal Bills; 

(o) receiving reports from the Head of Paid Service on the senior 
management structures of the organisation; 

(p) agreeing procedure rules, standing orders and financial regulations; 

(q) agreeing proposals relating to district boundaries, electoral wards and 
the number of district councillors; 

(r) agreeing an Annual Schedule of meetings; 

(s) adopting and amending the Authority’s Code of Conduct for members 
and other codes and protocols comprising the ethical framework; 

Page 103



 

23 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(t) arranging for the discharge of any other functions of the Authority which 
are not executive functions; 

(u) to authorise the disposal (by sale or lease) of land or buildings where 
the sale price, premium or initial annual rent (after the expiry of any rent 
free period) exceeds £2,500,000; 

(v) to authorise the acquisition of land or buildings where the purchase 
price, premium or initial annual rent (after the expiry of any rent free 
period) exceeds £2,500,000; 

(w) to make, amend or withdraw Compulsory purchase orders; 

(x) approving and revising the Petition Scheme; 

(y) to consider or receive presentations from members of the public, 
community groups and outside bodies on matters relating to the 
District; 

(z) approving the Council Tax Reduction Scheme; 

(aa) agreeing any award which would exceed the financial limits set out in 
the Council’s Pay Policy Statement;  

(bb) to recognise exceptional contributions to the community by groups or 
individuals. 

(cc) setting the scale of fees for elections. 

(dd) approving the treasury management strategy statement; 

(ee) to determine those financial matters reserved to Council by the 
Financial Regulations.  

4.5 Membership 

4.5.1 All members of the Council shall be members of Full Council. 

4.5.2 Substitution is not possible at meetings of the Council. 

4.5.3 Chairing the Council 

(a) The Councillor elected annually by the Council to chair its meetings will 
be called the “Chairman”.   

(b) The Chairman will cease to be Chairman if they resign, are dismissed 
by a vote of Full Council, cease to be a member of the Council, or are 
unable to act as a member of the Council. 

4.5.4 Role and Function of the Chairman 

The Chairman of the Council and in his/her absence, the Vice-Chairman will 
have the following roles and functions:- 

(a) Ceremonial Role 

Page 104



 

24 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

The Chairman of the Council: 

(i) is the civic leader of the District of North Hertfordshire; 

(ii) promotes the interests and reputation of the Council and North 
Hertfordshire as a whole and acts as an ambassador for both; 
and 

(iii) undertakes civic, community and ceremonial activities and 
fosters community identity and pride.  

(b) Responsibilities of the Chairman 

(i) to uphold and promote the purpose of the Constitution, and to 
interpret the Constitution when necessary; 

(ii) to preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can 
be carried out fairly and efficiently and with regard to the rights of 
Councillors and the interests of the Community; 

(iii) to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of 
matters of concern to the local community and the place at which 
members who are not on the Cabinet are able to hold the 
Cabinet and/or Committee Chairmen to account; 

(iv) to encourage public involvement in the Council’s activities; 

(v) to be the conscience of the Council; and 

(vi) to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and 
he/she determines appropriate. 

4.5.5 Role of Members 

The role of Members is described in the document “Members’ Role 
Descriptions” which is available on the Council’s website and from the 
Democratic Services Manager. 

4.6 Council Meetings 

There are three types of Council meeting:- 

4.6.1 the annual meeting; 

4.6.2 ordinary meetings; and 

4.6.3 extraordinary meetings. 

4.7 Rules of Procedure and Debate 

The Standing Orders contained in Section 4.8 below will apply to meetings of the Full 
Council. 

4.8 Rules for Conducting Meetings (“Standing Orders”) 

Page 105



 

25 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

4.8.1 Annual Meeting of the Council 

(a) Timing and business 

In a year when there is an ordinary day of election of councillors, the 
annual meeting will take place between 8 and 21 days of the retirement 
of the outgoing Councillors.  In any other year, the annual meeting will 
take place in March, April or May. 

The annual meeting will: 

(i) elect a person to preside if the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of 
the Council is not present; 

(ii) elect the Chairman of the Council; 

(iii) elect the Vice-Chairman of the Council; 

(iv) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 

(v) receive any announcements from the Chairman and/or the Head 
of Paid Service; 

(vi) elect the Leader of the Council once every four years; 

(vii) note the number of Members to be appointed to the Cabinet and 
the appointment those Members; 

(viii) appoint the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Finance, Audit 
and Risk Committee, Standards Committee, Licensing and 
Appeals Committee, Planning Control Committee, Area 
Committees, Council Tax Setting Committee and Employment 
Committee and such other Committees and Sub-Committees as 
the Council considers appropriate to deal with matters which are 
neither reserved to the Council nor are Executive Functions (as 
set out in Section 14 of this Constitution); 

(ix) appoint the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees, with 
the exception of the Area Committees, subject to any 
requirements of this Constitution concerning who may be 
appointed to such positions; 

(x) agree the Scheme of Delegations or such part of it as the 
Constitution determines it is for the Council to agree (as set out 
in Section 14 of this Constitution); 

(xi) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the 
year; and 

(xii) consider any business set out in the notice convening the 
meeting.   

(b) Selection of Councillors on Committees and Outside Bodies  

Page 106



 

26 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

At the annual meeting, the Council meeting will: 

(i) decide which Committees and Sub-Committees to establish for 
the civic year; 

(ii) decide the size and terms of reference for those Committees and 
Sub-Committees; 

(iii) decide the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance 
with the political balance rules; 

(iv) receive nominations of Councillors to serve on each Committee 
and outside body; 

(v) make appointments to those Committees and nominations to 
outside bodies except where nomination to those bodies has 
been delegated by the Council or is exercisable only by the 
Cabinet. 

4.8.2 Ordinary Meetings 

There will be six ordinary meetings each year.  Ordinary meetings of the 
Council will take place in accordance with a programme decided at the 
Council’s annual meeting.  The order of business at ordinary meetings will 
be as follows: 

(a) elect a person to preside if the Chairman and Vice-Chairman are not 
present; 

(b) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 

(c) receive any declarations of interest from Members; 

(d) receive any announcements from the Chairman, Leader, members of 
the Cabinet or the Head of Paid Service; 

(e) receive questions from, and provide answers to, the public in relation to 
matters which in the opinion of the person presiding at the meeting are 
relevant to the business of the meeting; 

(f) deal with any business of the last Council meeting; 

(g) receive and debate reports from the Cabinet and the Council’s 
Committees and Chairmen of the Area Committees and receive 
questions and answers on any of those reports. For this purpose the 
agenda for each meeting of the Council will include a standing item 
under which such reports can be presented, subject to compliance with 
the provisions of the Access to Information Rules regarding notice; 

(h) receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the 
business of joint arrangements and external organisations; 

(i) consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting, 
including consideration of proposals from the Cabinet in relation to the 

Page 107



 

27 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Council’s Budget and Policy Framework and reports of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and Finance, Audit and Risk Committee; 

(j) consider motions; and 

(k) deal with questions from Members in accordance with 4.8.11. 

4.8.3 Extraordinary Meetings 

(a) Calling Extraordinary Meetings 

Those listed below may request the Proper Officer to call Council 
meetings in addition to ordinary meetings: 

(i) the Council by resolution; 

(ii) the Chairman of the Council; 

(iii) the Monitoring Officer; 

(iv) any five Members of the Council if they have signed a requisition 
presented to the Chairman of the Council and he/she has 
refused to call a meeting or has failed to call a meeting within 
seven days of the presentation of the requisition. 

(b) Business 

At an extraordinary meeting of the Council the only business to be 
transacted will be that included within the summons to attend the 
meeting. 

4.8.4 Appointment of Substitute Members of Committees and Sub-
Committees 

(a) As well as allocating seats on Committees and Sub-Committees the 
Council will allocate seats in the same manner for substitute Members. 

(b) For Committees or Sub-Committees listed at 4.8.4(c) below, but not the 
Cabinet, the Council will appoint a proportionate number of substitutes 
in respect of each political group as that group holds ordinary seats on 
that Committee or sub-Committee. The number of substitutes shall be a 
maximum of 40% of the total of each group’s full committee 
membership rounded up to the nearest whole number. 

(c) The Committees for which substitutes are permitted are; Employment 
Committee, Planning Control Committee, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, Finance, Audit and Risk Committee, Council Tax Setting 
Committee, Joint Staff Consultative Committee and the Standards 
Committee. 

(d) Substitute members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary 
member of the Committee but will not be able to exercise any special 
powers or duties exercised by the person they are substituting. 

Page 108



 

28 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(e) Substitute members may attend meetings in that capacity only: 

(i) to take the place of the ordinary member for whom they are 
designated substitute; 

(ii) when the ordinary member will be absent for the whole of the 
meeting; 

(iii) after notifying the Proper Officer by 12 noon on the day of the 
meeting of the intended substitution. 

4.8.5 Time and Place of Meetings and Agenda setting the Agenda and 
Recording of Meetings by the Council 

(a) The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Proper 
Officer and notified in the summons. 

(b) Responsibility for setting the agenda lies with the Chairman in 
consultation with the Proper Officer.  It must, however, be recognised 
that in some circumstances the proper conduct of business may require 
a particular matter to be included on the agenda. The Chairman is not 
entitled to require the removal of such an item from the agenda, unless 
agreed by the Leader and Chief Executive3. 

(c) The Leader of the Council, Executive Member and relevant officers will 
routinely be consulted as part of the process of drawing up an agenda 
for a forthcoming meeting. Any item requested to be included on the 
agenda by the Chairman shall be included.   

(d) The Council takes an audio recording of all parts of its committee 
meetings which the public are entitled to attend. The recording is 
retained in accordance with the Council’s data retention policies.4 

4.8.6 Notice of and Summons to Meetings 

The Proper Officer will give notice to the public of the time and place of any 
meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Rules in Section 15.  
At least five clear days before a meeting, the Proper Officer will send a 
summons signed by him/her by post to every Member of the Council or 
leave it at their usual place of residence.  The summons will usually be 
despatched prior to the statutory minimum five clear days and will give the 
date, time and place of each meeting and specify the business to be 
transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as are available 
(subject to the requirement at 15.5 that all reports must be available at least 
five clear days before the meeting unless the report is genuinely urgent). 

4.8.7 Chairman of Meeting 

The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the 
Chairman, but must request the permission of the Council before speaking 

                                                

3. The right to remove does not apply to Statutory Officer reports (CFO & MO) under ss114/114A Local Government Finance Act 
1988 & s5 Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
4 Paragraph 4.8.5 amended to include (d) as approved by Full Council 03.09.15. 

Page 109



 

29 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

on matters other than procedural. The person presiding will ensure that 
formality is maintained throughout the proceedings. Where these rules 
apply to Committee and Sub-Committee meetings, references to the 
Chairman also include the Chairmen of Committees and Sub-Committees. 

4.8.8 Quorum 

The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of 
Members.  During any meeting if the Chairman counts the number of 
Members present and declares there is not a quorum present, then the 
meeting will adjourn immediately.  In the event that there is a quorum 
present for subsequent agenda items, the meeting will resume. Remaining 
business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman.  If 
he/she does not fix a date, the remaining business will be considered at the 
next ordinary meeting. 

4.8.9 Presentations by the Public 

(a) Unless otherwise stated in the rules for Full Council or a particular 
Committee, presentations from the public under the Public Participation 
item of a Committee agenda must not exceed five minutes in length. 

(b) Points of clarification may be asked by Council or a particular 
Committee through the Chairman (up to a total of three on each 
presentation) of the member of the public making a presentation. The 
Chairman can decline to put a point of clarification if he/she considers 
this irrelevant or this has been covered during the presentation. 

(c) Public presentations on matters decided in the past 6 months, or those 
already made to Cabinet, Committees/ Sub-Committees or Council on 
the same issue prior to a decision will not be accepted without the 
agreement of the Chairman of the meeting. 

(d) Notice of Presentations 

A presentation may only be made if notice has been given in writing or 
by electronic mail to the Proper Officer no later than midday, two 
working days before the day of the meeting.   

(e) Number of Presentations 

At any one meeting no person may make more than two presentations 
and no more than two such presentations may be made on behalf of 
one organisation. 

(f) Scope of Presentations 

The Chairman and/or Proper Officer may reject a presentation if it: 

(i) is not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or 
which affects the District; 

(ii) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

Page 110



 

30 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(iii) is substantially the same as a presentation which has been 
made at a meeting of the Council in the past six months; 

(iv) is a duplicate of a same or similar one at the meeting; 

(v) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.   

(g) Exceptions to this rule apply to the Planning Control Committee and the 
Area Committees (see Appendix 1 to Section 8 and Section 9.8.3 
respectively). 

4.8.10 Questions by the Public 

(a) General 

Members of the public may ask questions of the Leader and members 
of the Cabinet at ordinary meetings of the Full Council, Cabinet, 
Committees and Sub-Committees.  

(b) Order of Questions 

Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received, 
except that the Chairman may group together similar questions. 

(c) Notice of Questions 

A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it 
in writing or by electronic mail to the Proper Officer no later than 
midday, five working days before the day of the meeting.  Each 
question must give the name and address of the questioner and must 
name the member of the Council to whom it is to be put. 

(d) Number of Questions 

At any one meeting no person may submit more than two questions 
and no more than two such questions may be asked on behalf of one 
organisation. 

(e) Scope of Questions 

The Chairman and/or Proper Officer may reject a question if it: 

(i) is not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or 
which affects the District; 

(ii) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

(iii) is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a 
meeting of the Council in the past six months; 

(iv) is a duplicate of a same or similar one at the meeting; 

(v) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.   

(f) Record of Questions 

Page 111



 

31 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(i) The Proper Officer will enter each question in a book open to 
public inspection and will immediately send a copy of the 
question to the Councillor to whom it is to be put.  Rejected 
questions will include reasons for rejection. 

(ii) Copies of all questions will be circulated to all Councillors and 
will be made available to the public attending the meeting.   

(g) Asking the question at the meeting 

The questioner will normally be expected to attend the meeting and put 
the question in person. The Chairman will invite the questioner to put 
the question to the Councillor named in the notice.  If a questioner who 
has submitted a written question is unable to be present, they may ask 
the Chairman to put the question on their behalf.  The Chairman may 
ask the question on the questioner’s behalf, indicate that a written reply 
will be given or decide, in the absence of the questioner, that the 
question will not be dealt with. 

(h) Supplementary question 

A questioner who has put a question in person may also put one 
supplementary question without notice to the Councillor who has 
replied to his or her original question.  A supplementary question must 
arise directly out of the original question or the reply.  The Chairman 
may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds set out in 
4.8.10(e) above. 

(i) Written answers 

Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, 
either because of lack of time or because of the non-attendance of the 
Councillor to whom it was to be put, will be dealt with by a written 
answer as soon as practicable. 

(j) Reference of question to the Cabinet or a Committee 

Unless the Chairman decides otherwise, no discussion will take place 
on any question, but any Member may move that a matter raised by a 
question be referred to the Cabinet or the appropriate Committee or 
Sub-Committee.  Once seconded, such a motion will be voted on 
without discussion. 

4.8.11 Questions by Members 

(a) On Reports of the Cabinet or Committees 

A Member of the Council may ask the Leader or the Chairman of a 
Committee or a Cabinet member any question without notice directly 
arising from an item of the report of the Cabinet, a Cabinet member or a 
Committee, when that item is being received or is under consideration 
by the Council. 

(b) Questions on Notice at Full Council 

Page 112



 

32 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Subject to 4.8.11(d), a Member of the Council may ask: 

(i) the Chairman;  

(ii) a member of the Cabinet;  

(iii) the Chairman of any Committee or Sub-Committee; 

a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or 
duties or which affects the District. 

(c) Questions on Notice at Committees and Sub-Committees 

Subject to 4.8.11(d), a Member of the Council may ask the Chairman of 
a Committee or Sub-Committee a question on any matter in relation to 
which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the District and 
which falls within the terms of reference of that Committee or Sub-
Committee. 

(d) Notice of Questions 

A member may ask a question under 4.8.11(b) or 4.8.11(c) if either: 

(i) they have given at least three clear working days’ notice in 
writing of the question to the Proper Officer; or 

(ii) the question relates to urgent matters, they have the consent of 
the Chairman or Member to whom the question is to be put and 
the content of the question is given to the Proper Officer by 
10.00 a.m. on the day of the meeting. 

(e) Scope of Questions 

The Chairman and/ or Proper Officer may reject a question if it: 

(i) is not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or 
which affects the District; 

(ii) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

(iii) is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a 
meeting of the Council in the past six months; 

(iv) is a duplicate of a same or similar one at the meeting; 

(v) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.   

(f) Maximum Number of Questions 

A Member may ask only one question under 4.8.11(b) or 4.8.11(c) 
except with the consent of the Chairman of the Council, committee or 
sub-committee.  The maximum number of questions that may be asked 
at any meeting of the Full Council is three. If there are multiple parts, 
then each will be treated as an individual question for the purposes of 
this Rule and if the number of questions exceeds three the questions to 

Page 113



 

33 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

be asked shall be determined by ballot to be conducted by the Proper 
Officer.  Any outstanding questions unable to be asked should be 
addressed in writing to the Proper Officer for a written response to be 
provided to all Members. 

(g) Order of Questions 

Questions of which notice has been given under 4.8.11(b) or 4.8.11(c) 
will be listed on the agenda in the order determined by the Chairman of 
the Council, Committee or Sub-Committee. 

(h) Response 

An answer may take the form of: 

(i) a direct oral answer at the meeting; 

(ii) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or 
other published work, a reference to that publication; or 

(iii) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written 
answer circulated later to the questioner. 

(i) Supplementary question 

A Member asking a question under 4.8.11(b) or 4.8.11(c) may ask one 
supplementary question without notice of the Member to whom the first 
question was asked.  The supplemental question must arise directly out 
of the original question or the reply. 

4.8.12 Motions on Notice 

(a) Notice 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under 4.8.13, 
written notice of every motion, signed by at least five Members where 
the motion calls for the removal from office of the Leader, or by at least 
two Members in any other case, must be delivered to the Proper Officer 
not later than midday, six clear working days (excluding the day of the 
meeting and the day of delivery) before the Council meeting at which it 
is to be considered.  Motions received will be entered in a book open to 
public inspection.  The Proper Officer may, with the consent of the 
Chairman, refuse to accept a motion if the matter to which it relates is 
referred to in the Forward Plan for consideration at a later meeting or 
there is otherwise an intention to consider that matter at a meeting of 
the Council within the next three (3) months. 

(b) Motion Set Out in Agenda 

Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in 
the order in which the notices were received, unless the Member giving 
notice states, in writing, that they propose to move it to a later meeting 
or withdraw it. 

Page 114



 

34 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(c) Scope 

Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a 
responsibility for and which are relevant to and specifically affect the 
District.  The final decision to include any Motion on the agenda shall lie 
with the Chairman of Council in consultation with the Proper Officer. 

(d) Debate at Council 

Motions that have been proposed and seconded shall then be the 
subject of immediate debate unless the Chairman of the Council 
considers it to be appropriate for the motion to be referred to the 
Cabinet or a Committee for consideration. In such cases the Chairman 
shall provide reasons for such a decision. 

4.8.13 Motions without Notice 

The following motions may be moved without notice: 

(a) to appoint a Chairman of the meeting at which the motion is moved; 

(b) in relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 

(c) to change the order of business in the agenda; 

(d) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual; 

(e) to appoint a Committee or Member arising from an item on the 
summons for the meeting; 

(f) to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of Committees or 
Officers and any resolutions following from them; 

(g) to withdraw a motion; 

(h) to amend a motion; 

(i) to proceed to the next business; 

(j) that the question be now put; 

(k) to adjourn a debate; 

(l) to adjourn a meeting; 

(m) to suspend a particular Standing Order; 

(n) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to 
Information  Rules; 

(o) to not hear further a Member named under 4.8.20(c) or to exclude them 
from the meeting under 4.8.20(d) or (e); and 

(p) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this 
Constitution. 

Page 115



 

35 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

4.8.14 Rules of Debate 

(a) No Speeches until Motion Seconded 

No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and 
explained the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded. 

(b) Right to Require Motion in Writing 

Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Chairman may 
require it to be written down and handed to him/her before it is 
discussed. 

(c) Seconder’s Speech 

When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve their 
speech until later in the debate. 

(d) Councillor’s Speaking Right5 

After a motion has been moved and seconded, any Member who has 
indicated that they wish to exercise a Councillor’s Speaking Right in 
relation to any item of business shall be entitled to speak to the item 
from the public area of the meeting room. The rules as to content and 
length of speeches set out at 4.8.14(e) shall apply. Once the right to 
speak has been exercised, the member must leave the room before the 
debate and vote.   

(e) Content and Length of Speeches 

Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a 
personal explanation or point of order. No speech may exceed five 
minutes without the consent of the Chairman. 

(f) When a Member may Speak Again 

A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is 
the subject of debate, except: 

(i) to speak once on an amendment moved by another Member; 

(ii) to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended 
since he/she last spoke; 

(iii) if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another 
Member, to speak on the main issue (whether or not the 
amendment on which he/she spoke was carried); 

(iv) in exercise of a right of reply; 

(v) on a point of order; and 

                                                

5 As defined in the Councillor Code of Conduct which comes into force from 4 May 2018 

Page 116



 

36 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(vi) by way of personal explanation.   

(g) Amendments to Motions 

(i) An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and 
will either be: 

A. to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for 
consideration or reconsideration; 

B. to leave out words; 

C. to leave out words and insert or add others; or 

D. to insert or add words 

as long as the effect of 4.8.14(g)(i)B to 4.8.14(g)(i)D is not to 
negate the motion. 

(ii) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one 
time.  No further amendment may be moved until the 
amendment under discussion has been decided. 

(iii) If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original 
motion may be moved. 

(iv) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the 
place of the original motion.  This becomes the substantive 
motion to which any further amendments are moved. 

(v) After an amendment has been carried, the Chairman will read 
out the amended motion before accepting any further 
amendments, or if there are none, put the substantive motion as 
amended for debate and to the vote. 

(h) Alteration of Motion 

(i) A Member may alter a motion of which he/she has given notice 
with the consent of the meeting.  The meeting’s consent will be 
signified without discussion. 

(ii) A Member may alter a motion which he/she has moved without 
notice with the consent of both the meeting and the seconder.  
The meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion. 

(iii) Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be 
made. 

(i) Withdrawal of Motion 

A Member may withdraw a motion which he/she has moved with the 
consent of both the meeting and the seconder.  The meeting’s consent 
will be signified without discussion.  No Member may speak on the 

Page 117



 

37 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

motion after the mover has asked permission to withdraw it unless 
permission is refused. 

(j) Right of Reply 

(i) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the 
debate on the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote. 

(ii) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has 
the right of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, 
but may not otherwise speak on it. 

(iii) The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate 
on his/her amendment. 

(k) Motions which may be Moved During Debate 

When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except 
the following procedural motions: 

(i) to withdraw a motion; 

(ii) to amend a motion; 

(iii) to proceed to the next business; 

(iv) that the question be now put; 

(v) to adjourn a debate; 

(vi) to adjourn a meeting; 

(vii) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to 
Information Rules; and 

(viii) to not hear further a Member named under 4.8.20(c) or to 
exclude them from the meeting under 4.8.20(d). 

(l) Closure Motions 

(i) A Member may move, without comment, the following motions at 
the end of a speech of another Member; 

A. to proceed to the next business; 

B. to ask that the question be now put; 

C. to adjourn a debate; or 

D. to adjourn a meeting. 

(ii) If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the 
Chairman thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, he/she 
will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply and then 
put the procedural motion to the vote. 

Page 118



 

38 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(iii) If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the 
Chairman thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, he/she 
will put the procedural motion to the vote.  If it is passed he/she 
will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply before 
putting the motion to the vote. 

(iv) If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is 
seconded and the Chairman thinks the item has not been 
sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably be so discussed on 
that occasion, he will put the procedural motion to the vote 
without giving the mover of the original motion the right of reply. 

(m) Point of Order 

A point of order is a request from a member to the Chairman to rule on 
an alleged irregularity in the procedure of the meeting.  A Member may 
raise a point of order at any time.  The Chairman will hear them 
immediately.  A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of 
these Standing Orders or the law.  The Member must indicate the rule 
or law and the way in which he/she considers it has been broken.  The 
ruling of the Chairman on the matter will be final. 

(n) Personal Explanation 

A Member may make a personal explanation at any time.  A personal 
explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech 
by the Member which may appear to have been misunderstood in the 
present debate.  The ruling of the Chairman on the admissibility of a 
personal explanation will be final. 

4.8.15 Previous Decisions and Motions  

(a) Motion to Rescind a Previous Decision 

A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of 
Council within the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice 
of motion is signed by at least twelve members.  

(b) Motion Similar to One Previously Rejected 

A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected 
at a meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless 
the notice of motion or amendment is signed by at least twelve 
members.  Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, no one can 
propose a similar motion or amendment for six months. 

(c) There shall be an exception to 4.8.15 (a) and (b) for motions moved as 
part of a Budget proposal at the Full Council meeting at which the 
annual budget is set. Such a motion must be made in accordance with 
the procedures set out in 4.8.14. 

4.8.16 Voting 

(a) Majority 

Page 119



 

39 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, and subject to Standing 
Order 4.8.24, any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those 
Members voting and present in the room at the time the question was 
put. 

(b) Chairman’s Casting Vote 

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chairman will 
have a second or casting vote.  There will be no restriction on how the 
Chairman chooses to exercise a casting vote. 

(c) Method of Voting 

Unless a recorded vote is demanded under 4.8.16(e) the Chairman will 
take the vote either by show of hands or (where available) by use of 
electronic voting buttons, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of 
the meeting. 

(d) Ballots 

The vote will take place by ballot if six Members present at the meeting 
demand it. The Chairman will announce the numerical result of the 
ballot immediately the result is known. 

(e) Recorded Vote 

If one Member present at the meeting so demands it, the names for 
and against the motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will be 
taken down in writing and entered into the minutes. A demand for a 
recorded vote will override a demand for a ballot. A recorded vote must 
be taken when a budget decision is made under 4.8.16(h). 

(f) Right to Require Individual Vote to be Recorded 

Where any Member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their 
vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for 
or against the motion or abstained from voting. 

(g) Voting on Appointments 

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled 
and there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then 
the name of the person with the least number of votes will be taken off 
the list and a new vote taken.  The process will continue until there is a 
majority of votes for one person. 

(h) Voting on Budget Decisions (a recorded vote is required) 

A recorded vote must be taken when a budget decision is made. For 
the avoidance of doubt the application of this rule and necessity for a 
recorded vote will be set out in any relevant report. Immediately after 
any vote is taken at a budget decision meeting of the Council there 
must be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting the 

Page 120



 

40 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

names of the persons who cast a vote for the decision or against the 
decision or who abstained from voting. 

A “budget decision” means a meeting at which the Council: 

(i) makes a calculation (whether originally or by way of substitute) of: 
council tax; basic amount of tax; additional calculations of special items 
to part only areas (precept or special expenses); different tax for 
different bands; substitute calculations; amounts payable by each billing 
authority;6 or  
(ii) issues a precept7 relating to (i) above and this includes a meeting 
where the calculation or issuing a precept is included as an item of 
business on the agenda.  

References to a vote means voting on any decision related to (i) and (ii) 
above.  

4.8.17 Minutes 

(a) Signing the Minutes 

The Chairman will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next 
suitable meeting.  The Chairman will move that the minutes of the 
previous meeting be signed as a correct record.  The only part of the 
minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy. 

(b) No Requirement to Sign Minutes of Previous Meeting at Extraordinary 
Meeting 

Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of 
signing the minutes is a meeting called under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12 to the Local Government Act 1972 (an extraordinary meeting), then 
the next following meeting (being a meeting called otherwise than 
under that paragraph) will be treated as a suitable meeting for the 
purposes of paragraph 41(1) and (2) of Schedule 12 relating to signing 
of minutes. 

(c) Form of Minutes 

Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the form and order 
the Chairman put them. 

4.8.18 Public Petitions – Full Council Debate 

(a) Petitions must comply with the Council’s Petition Scheme set out at 
Section 3 Appendix 1. 

(b) Petitions under this Standing Order 4.8.18 shall be taken immediately 
before reports but if a petition relates to a particular item on a report 
then it shall be presented immediately before consideration thereof. 

                                                

6 As defined under sections 31A, 31B, 34 to 36A, 42A, 42B, 45 to 49, 52ZF, 52ZJ of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
7 Under Chapter 4 of Part 1 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 

Page 121



 

41 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

4.8.19 Exclusion of Public 

Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in 
accordance with the Access to Information Rules in Section 15 of this 
Constitution or Standing Order 4.8.21 (Disturbance by Public). 

4.8.20 Members’ Conduct  

(a) Standing to Speak at Meetings 

When a Member speaks at Full Council he/she must stand and address 
the meeting through the Chairman.  If more than one Member signifies 
their intention to speak, the Chairman will ask one to speak.  Other 
Members must remain silent whilst a Member is speaking unless they 
wish to make a point of order or a point of personal explanation. 

(b) Chairman Speaking 

When the Chairman speaks during a debate, any Member speaking at 
the time must stop and sit down. The meeting must be silent. 

(c) Member not to be Heard Further 

If a Member persistently disregards a ruling of the Chairman by 
behaving improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, a 
motion may be moved that the Member may not be heard further.  If 
seconded, the motion will be voted on without debate. 

(d) Member to Leave the Meeting 

If the Member continues to behave improperly after such a motion not 
to be heard further is carried, a motion may be moved that either the 
Member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is adjourned for a 
specified period.  If seconded, the motion will be voted on without 
debate. If after such a vote to leave or adjourn has been passed and 
the Member fails to remove him/ herself from the meeting, the Member 
shall be treated as though s/he has left the meeting (and shall not be 
heard further or have their vote counted for the remainder of the 
meeting). If the presence of that Member would prejudice the council’s 
interests the Chairman may suspend the meeting. 

(e) If a Member attends a Meeting, where any business of the meeting 
relates to or is likely to affect that Member’s Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest8 (DPI) or a Declarable Interest which in the latter case is so 
significant (both as described in the NHDC Code of Conduct), then the 
Member: 

(i) must not participate in any discussion on that item of business; 

(ii) must not vote on that item of business; 

                                                

8 Without a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer. 

Page 122



 

42 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(iii) must retire from the Meeting, until the discussion and vote on that 
item of business has taken place. 

In the event that the Member with an Interest as described does not 
abide by Rule 4.8.20(e), the Chairman shall follow the procedure under 
4.8.20 (c) and (if required) 4.8.20(d). 

(f) General Disturbance 

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, 
the Chairman may adjourn the meeting for as long as he/she thinks 
necessary. 

(g) Recording Meetings 

Members taking their own recording of a committee meeting must 
comply with the Council’s Protocol for Recording of Council Meetings 
and ensure that Council business is not disrupted or disturbed. 
Examples of such behaviour are set out at 3.2.1(c)(ii). 

4.8.21 Disturbance by Public  

(a) Removal of Member of the Public 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chairman will 
warn the person concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman 
will order their removal from the meeting room. 

(b) Clearance of Part of Meeting Room 

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to 
the public, the Chairman may call for that part to be cleared. 

(c) Recording Meetings 

Members of the Public taking recordings of a committee meeting must 
comply with the Council’s Protocol for Recording of Council Meetings 
and ensure that Council business is not disrupted or disturbed. 
Examples of such behaviour are set out at 3.2.1(c)(ii). 

4.8.22 Suspension and Amendment of Standing Orders 

(a) Suspension 

All of these Standing Orders, except 4.8.16(f),(h) and 4.8.17(b) may be 
suspended by motion on notice or without notice if at least one half of 
the whole number of Members of the Council are present.  Suspension 
can only be for the duration of the meeting.   

(b) Amendment 

Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Standing Orders will, when 
proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the 
next ordinary meeting of the Council. 

Page 123



 

43 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

4.8.23 Decision Making 

(a) In order to vote on an agenda item at any meeting of the Council or a 
Committee or Sub-Committee, a Member must be present in the room 
for the entirety of the debate and consideration of that item.  

(b) All decisions of the Council and Committees will be made in 
accordance with the following principles: 

(i) Proportionality (that is the action must be proportionate to the 
desired outcome); 

(ii) Due consultation and the taking of professional advice from 
officers; 

(iii) Respect for human rights; 

(iv) A presumption in favour of openness; and 

(v) Clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 

4.8.24 Application to Committees and Sub-Committees 

(a) All of these Standing Orders apply to meetings of Full Council.   

(b) The following Standing Orders apply to Cabinet: 4.8.6; 4.8.9 - 
4.8.11(a),(e)-(h); 4.8.13(b)-(d), (f)-(l),(n)-(p); 4.8.14(a),(b),(d),(g),(k),(m); 
4.8.15 - 4.8.17; 4.8.19 - 4.8.21 (but not 4.8.20(a)); and 4.8.23.   

(c) The following Standing Orders apply to Committees and Sub-
Committees (excluding the Employment Panel): 4.8.5 - 4.8.11(a),(c)-(i); 
4.8.13(b)-(d),(f)-(l), (n)-(p); 4.8.14(a),(b),(d),(e),(g)-(i), (k), (m); 4.8.15 - 
4.8.17; 4.8.19 - 4.8.22 (but not 4.8.20(a)); and 4.8.23. 

(d) The following Standing Orders apply to the Employment Panel: 
4.8.2(a), 4.8.5(a)(d), 4.8.6 (note the Panel must be appointed 20 days 
before the meeting under 12.8.12), 4.8.13(a)(b)(c)(l)(m)(n), 4.8.19 and 
4.8.23. 

(e) Standing Order 4.8.9(d) shall not apply to Planning Control Committee 
or Area Committees 

 

Page 124



 

44 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 5 

5. The Cabinet  

5.1 Introduction 

The Cabinet is appointed to carry out all of the Council’s functions which are not the 
responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by Law or under this 
Constitution.  Many decisions will be made by the Cabinet on behalf of the Full 
Council.   

5.2 Form and Composition of the Cabinet 

The Cabinet will consist of: 

5.2.1 the Leader of the Council (the “Leader”); and 

5.2.2 at least two but not more than nine (or other parameters set by 
legislation) Councillors appointed to the Cabinet as Executive 
Members by the Leader. 

5.3 Leader 

5.3.1 Election 

The Leader will be a Councillor elected to the position of Leader by the 
Council at an Annual Meeting.  An election will be held on the day of the 
Annual Meeting when the incumbent’s term of office as Leader expires.   

5.3.2 Term of Office 

The Leader will hold office until the fourth anniversary of his/her 
appointment, or until any of the following events arise: 

(a) He/she resigns from the office; 

(b) He/she is suspended from being a Councillor; 

(c) He/she is no longer a Councillor; or 

(d) Where the Council passes a resolution removing him/her from office. 

5.3.3 Role of the Leader 

The Leader will carry out all of the Council’s Executive Functions which are 
not the responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by law or 
under this Constitution.  Further information is contained in Section 14. 

5.3.4 The Cabinet Scheme of Delegations 

Within two weeks of being elected as Leader the Leader will submit to the 
Proper Officer a Cabinet Scheme of Delegations setting out the 
responsibilities and delegated authority of each member of the Cabinet and 
any other delegation of any Executive Function the Leader chooses to 
make.  

Page 125



 

45 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

5.3.5 Meetings of the Cabinet 

Subject to the requirement to publish notice of each meeting five clear days 
before it takes place, and other conditions contained in Section 5.9, the 
Leader can call meetings of the Cabinet at such times and places as he/she 
chooses (NB: the Head of Paid Service, the Section 151 Officer, and the 
Monitoring Officer can all, should the need arise, call meetings of the 
Cabinet as well). 

5.3.6 Chairing Cabinet Meetings 

The Leader shall chair Cabinet meetings.  In the Leader’s absence the 
Deputy Leader will chair.  If the Deputy Leader is not available the Leader 
will appoint a member of the Cabinet to chair the meeting on their behalf by 
informing the Proper Officer of the person chosen. 

5.3.7 Appointments of Representatives on Outside Bodies 

The Leader has authority to appoint representatives of the Council on 
outside bodies where those outside bodies relate to Executive Functions of 
the Council. 

5.4 Deputy Leader 

5.4.1 The Leader will appoint a Deputy Leader to act as Leader in the 
Leader’s absence and the appointment will continue unless: 

(a) He/she resigns from office; 

(b) The Leader removes the Deputy Leader from office; 

(c) He/she is suspended from being a Councillor; or 

(d) He/she is no longer a Councillor. 

5.4.2 The Deputy Leader may exercise all of the functions of the Leader 
where the position is vacant or where the Leader is absent or 
otherwise unable to act. 

5.5 Other Cabinet Members 

Other Cabinet Members will be Councillors appointed to the position of Executive 
Member by the Leader.  Each Executive Member shall hold office until: 

5.5.1 he/she resigns from that office;  

5.5.2 he/she is removed from that office by the Leader upon such notice 
(if any) as the Leader considers appropriate; 

5.5.3 he/she is suspended from being a Councillor; or 

5.5.4 he/she ceases to be a Councillor. 

The Leader may at any time appoint a Executive Member to fill any vacancies.   

Page 126



 

46 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

5.6 Functions of Cabinet 

The Cabinet may exercise the following functions:- 

By resolution 

5.6.1 To prepare and agree to implement policies and strategies other 
than those reserved to Council. 

5.6.2 To consider, at least annually, the level of reserves, provisions, and 
balances held by the Authority and recommend any changes to the 
Council. 

5.6.3 To take decisions on resources and priorities, together with other 
stakeholders and partners in the local community, to deliver and 
implement the budget and policies decided by the Full Council. 

5.6.4 To exercise the Authority’s duty in Section 17 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 to reduce crime and disorder. 

5.6.5 To deal with matters affecting the salaries and conditions of 
employment of officers covered by the JNC Chief Officers terms and 
conditions. 

5.6.6 To consider and respond to recommendations and reports from the 
statutory officers. 

5.6.7 To monitor quarterly expenditure on the capital programme and 
agree adjustments within the overall budgetary framework. 

5.6.8 To monitor quarterly revenue expenditure and agree adjustments 
within the overall budgetary framework. 

5.6.9 To monitor quarterly the Treasury Management Strategy and agree 
adjustments within the policy framework. 

5.6.10 To write-off debts in accordance with the Financial Regulations. 

5.6.11 To approve those major service developments or reductions which 
also constitute Key Decisions. 

5.6.12 To be kept informed of any issues raised by the Local (External) 
Auditor. 

5.6.13 To consider the reports of external review bodies on key aspects of 
overall service delivery. 

5.6.14 To carry out the Authority’s responsibilities for the General Power of 
Competence pursuant to section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 for the 
benefit of the Authority, its area or persons resident in its area and 
increasing the availability and equality of access to employment. 

5.6.15 To oversee the provision of all the Council’s services other than 
those functions reserved to the Council. 

Page 127



 

47 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

5.6.16 To manage and maintain the Authority’s accommodation. 

5.6.17 To exercise the Authority’s powers in planning for and responding to 
civil emergencies. 

5.6.18 To exercise the Authority’s functions as Local Planning Authority 
and to receive reports on: strategic planning matters, applications 
for, approval/ designation, consultations/referendums revocation (or 
recommend revocation of) neighbourhood plans and orders, (except 
to the extent that those functions are by law the responsibility of the 
Council or delegated to the  Service Director: Regulatory).  

5.6.19 To oversee the Authority’s overall policy on the voluntary and 
community sector. 

5.6.20 To approve the purchase or appropriation of land and buildings 
where the sale price, premium or initial annual rent (after the expiry 
of any rent free period) exceeds £250,000 and does not exceed 
£2,500,000. 

5.6.21 To dispose of land or buildings where the purchase price, premium 
or initial annual rent (after the expiry of any rent free period) which 
exceeds £250,000 but does not exceed £2,500,000. 

5.6.22 To accept tenders for individual schemes where the estimated 
expenditure exceeds the budgetary provision by the limits set out in 
the Financial Regulations . 

5.6.23 To receive reports on contract overspends on schemes in 
accordance with limits set out in the Financial Regulations and 
agree the action to be taken. 

5.6.24 To promote and develop external partnerships to meet strategic 
objectives. 

5.6.25 To exercise the powers and duties of the Authority under Section 13 
and 14 of the Public Order Act 1986. 

5.6.26 To confer with other local authorities, government departments, 
statutory bodies, voluntary bodies, the police or other external 
agencies in order to discharge the responsibilities vested in the 
Cabinet. 

5.6.27 To deal with all local choice functions set out in the Constitution. 

5.6.28 To make decisions where a policy or strategy does not exist. 

5.6.29 To approve any waiver of Contract Procurement Rules in 
accordance with the adopted policy. 

5.6.30 To determine charges for car parking. 

5.6.31 To make a decision or consider any matter referred to it by an Area 
Committee. 

Page 128



 

48 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

5.6.32 To consider or receive presentations from members of the public, 
community groups and outside bodies on matters relating to the 
District. 

5.6.33 To make, renew and revoke Public Spaces Protection Orders. 

5.6.34 To agree to the establishment or wind up of a Council wholly or 
partly owned Local Authority Company, and to approve investment, 
loans, resource arrangements and asset transfers, act as corporate 
shareholder, save as otherwise delegated to the Cabinet Sub-
Committee (Local Authority Trading Companies’ Shareholder), 
Executive Members or Officers under the Sub-Committee terms of 
reference. 

5.6.35 To determine those financial matters reserved to Cabinet by the 
Financial Regulations.   

5.6.36 To determine those procurement matters reserved to Cabinet by the 
Contract Procurement Rules. 

By recommendation to Council 

5.6.37 To advise the Council in the formulation of those policies within the 
Council’s terms of reference. 

5.6.38 The annual budget, including the capital and revenue budgets.  

5.6.39 The treasury management strategy statement. 

5.6.40 To make proposals for the purchase, sale or appropriation of land 
which exceeds Cabinet limits. 

5.6.41 To advise on the senior management structure of the Council. 

5.6.42 To advise on the promotion, adoption or opposition to local 
legislation. 

5.6.43 The Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 

5.7 Delegation of Functions 

The Leader may exercise Executive Functions himself/herself or may otherwise 
make arrangements to delegate responsibility for their discharge.  The Leader may 
delegate Executive Functions to: 

5.7.1 the Cabinet as a whole; 

5.7.2 a Committee of the Cabinet (comprising executive members only); 

5.7.3 an individual Cabinet Member; 

5.7.4 a joint committee; 

5.7.5 Another local authority or the executive of another local authority; 

Page 129



 

49 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

5.7.6 A delegated Officer. 

5.8 Proceedings of the Cabinet 

The proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Cabinet 
Procedure Rules in Section 5.9.   

5.9 Rules for Conducting Meetings - Cabinet Procedure Rules 

5.9.1 How does the Cabinet Operate? 

(a) Who May Make Executive Decisions? 

The arrangements for the discharge of Executive Functions may be set 
out in the executive arrangements adopted by the Council. If they are 
not set out there, then the Leader may decide how they are to be 
exercised. In either case, the arrangements or the Leader may provide 
for Executive Functions to be discharged by: 

(i) the Cabinet as a whole; 

(ii) a committee of the Cabinet; 

(iii) an individual member of the Cabinet; 

(iv) an Officer; 

(v) an Area Committee; 

(vi) joint arrangements; or 

(vii) another local authority.   

(b) Delegation by the Leader 

Following the annual meeting of the Council, the Leader will present to 
the Council a written record of executive delegations made by him/her 
for inclusion in the Council’s Scheme of Delegation at Section 14 to this 
Constitution.  This document presented by the Leader will contain the 
following information about Executive Functions in relation to the 
coming year: 

(i) The names, addresses and Wards of the people appointed to the 
Cabinet by the Leader; 

(ii) the extent of any authority delegated to Cabinet members 
individually, including details of the limitation on their authority; 

(iii) the terms of reference and constitution of such Cabinet 
committees as the Leader appoints and the names of Cabinet 
members appointed to them; 

(iv) the nature and extent of any delegation of Executive Functions to 
Area Committees, any other authority or any joint arrangements 

Page 130



 

50 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

and the names of those Cabinet members appointed to any joint 
committee for the coming year; and 

(v) the nature and extent of any delegation to Officers with details of 
any limitation on that delegation, and the title of the Officer to 
whom the delegation is made. 

(c) Sub-Delegation of Executive Functions 

(i) Where the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or an individual 
member of the Cabinet is responsible for an Executive Function, 
they may delegate further to an Area Committee, joint 
arrangements or an Officer. 

(ii) Unless the Council directs otherwise, if the Leader delegates 
functions to the Cabinet, then the Cabinet may delegate further 
to an Officer. 

(iii) Unless the Leader directs otherwise, a committee of the Cabinet 
to whom functions have been delegated by the Leader may 
delegate further to an Officer. 

(iv) Where Executive Functions have been delegated, that fact does 
not prevent the discharge of delegated functions by the person 
or body who delegated. 

(d) The Council’s Scheme of Delegation and Executive Functions 

(i) Subject to below, the Council’s Scheme of Delegation will be 
subject to adoption by the Council and may only be amended by 
the Council.  

(ii) If the Leader is able to decide whether to delegate Executive 
Functions, he/she may amend the Scheme of Delegation relating 
to Executive Functions at any time.  In doing so the Leader will 
give written notice to the Proper Officer and to the person, body 
or Committee concerned.  The notice must set out the extent of 
the amendment to the Scheme of Delegation, and whether it 
entails the withdrawal of delegation from any person, body or 
Committee.  The Proper Officer will present a report to the next 
ordinary meeting of the Council setting out the changes made by 
the Leader. 

(iii) Where the Leader seeks to withdraw delegation from a 
Committee, notice will be deemed to be served on that 
Committee when he/she has served it on its Chairman. 

(e) Conflicts of Interest 

(i) Where the Leader has a conflict of interest this should be dealt 
with as set out in the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members in 
Section 17 of this Constitution. 

Page 131



 

51 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(ii) If any member of the Cabinet has a conflict of interest this should 
be dealt with as set out in the Council’s Code of Conduct for 
Members in Section 17 of this Constitution. 

(iii) If the exercise of an Executive Function has been delegated to a 
Committee of the Cabinet, an individual member or an Officer, 
and should a conflict of interest arise, then the function will be 
exercised in the first instance by the person or body by whom the 
delegation was made and otherwise as set out in the Council’s 
Code of Conduct for Members in Section 17 of this Constitution. 

(f) Frequency and location of Cabinet Meetings 

The Cabinet will have a minimum of six regular meetings each year, to 
be agreed by the Leader. The Cabinet shall meet at the Council offices, 
Gernon Road, Letchworth Garden City or some other location agreed 
by the Leader. 

(g) Transparency of Cabinet Meetings 

The Cabinet will hold its meetings in public, except in the circumstances 
set out in the Access to Information Rules in Section 15, for example 
where confidential or exempt information is being discussed. 

(h) Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet or a committee of it shall be 
three, and shall include the Leader or Deputy Leader or such member 
of the Cabinet as the Leader has appointed to chair the meeting in the 
absence of the Leader or Deputy Leader. 

(i) Decision making 

(i) Executive Decisions which have been delegated to the Cabinet 
as a whole will be taken at a meeting convened in accordance 
with the Access to Information Rules in Section 15 of this 
Constitution. 

(ii) Where Executive Decisions are delegated to a Committee of the 
Cabinet, the rules applying to Executive Decisions taken by them 
shall be the same as those applying to those taken by the 
Cabinet as a whole. 

5.9.2 How are Cabinet Meetings Conducted?  

(a) Who Presides? 

If the Leader is present, he/she will preside.  In his/her absence, the 
Deputy Leader will preside. 

(b) Who May Attend? 

Page 132



 

52 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Members may attend in accordance with rule 3.3.2(a). For the public 
these details are set out in the Access to Information Rules in Section 
15 of this Constitution.   

(c) What is considered? 

At each meeting of the Cabinet the following business will be 
conducted: 

(i) consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 

(ii) declarations of interest, if any; 

(iii) matters referred to the Cabinet, by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, Finance, Audit and Risk Committee or by the 
Council, for reconsideration by the Cabinet in accordance with 
the provisions contained in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules set 
out in Sections 6.3 and 16 of this Constitution; 

(iv) consideration of referrals from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, Finance, Audit and Risk Committee, or any other 
Committee able to refer matters to Cabinet;  

(v) Matters set out in the agenda for the meeting, which shall 
indicate within the report which are Key Decisions and which are 
not, in accordance with the Access to Information Rules set out 
in Section 15 of this Constitution. 

(d) Consultation 

All reports to the Cabinet from any member of the Cabinet or an Officer 
on proposals relating to the Budget and Policy Framework must contain 
details of the nature and extent of consultation undertaken with 
stakeholders and with the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee and the 
outcome of that consultation.  Reports about other matters will set out 
the details and outcome of consultation as appropriate.  The level of 
consultation required will be appropriate to the nature of the matter 
under consideration. 

(e) Who can put Items on the Cabinet Agenda? 

(i) The Leader will decide upon the schedule for meetings of the 
Cabinet.  He/she may put any matter on the agenda of any 
Cabinet meeting any matter which he/she wishes, whether or not 
authority has been delegated to the Cabinet, a Committee of it or 
any Member or Officer in respect of that matter, subject to the 
procedures set out in rule 4.8.5. 

(ii) Items for consideration by the cabinet may also be included by 
the Proper Officer in the following circumstances set out in 
5.9.2(e)(iii) to (vi) below. 

Page 133



 

53 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(iii) Any member of the Cabinet may require the Proper Officer to 
make sure that an item is placed on the agenda of the next 
available meeting of the Cabinet for consideration. 

(iv) The Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and/or the 
Chief Finance Officer may include an item for consideration on 
the agenda of a Cabinet meeting and may require that such a 
meeting be convened in pursuance of their statutory duties. 

(v) The Council, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Finance, 
Audit and Risk Committee or an Area Committee may request 
the Proper Officer to include an item on the agenda of the next 
available meeting of the Cabinet for consideration. 

(vi) A Member may request the Proper Officer to include an item on 
the agenda of the next available meeting of the Cabinet for 
consideration, subject to the Leader’s consent. 

 

5.10 Cabinet Sub-Committee (Council Charities) 

5.10.1 Membership 

(a) The Sub-Committee shall comprise three (3) Executive members 
nominated by the Leader.  

5.10.2 Quorum 

3 

5.10.3 Meetings 

Ad hoc. 

5.10.4 Roles and Functions:  

(a) To act on behalf of the Council as a Corporate Trustee for all assets of 
the Council that are held on a charitable trust. 

(b) In the capacity of Corporate Trustee, to consider all matters relating to 
those trusts, including the use, operation and management of trust 
assets and the preservation of the objectives of those trusts so 
instituted. 

(c) To consider all proposals and representations from and on behalf of the 
Council or any third party, in connection with the use, operation, 
management and ownership of trust assets. 

(d) To secure all necessary advice and assistance, including, where 
necessary, external advice and assistance, to ensure that the interests 
of those trusts are protected and preserved. 

Page 134



 

54 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(e) To receive reports on any matter, including the property and financial 
implications concerning those trust’s assets. 

Delegated powers Delegated Members and Officers 

To authorise the entering into any 
agreement, contract, lease, consent or deed 
to surrender or termination for administrative 
or minor matters (including minor 
amendments). 

Sub-Committee Chairman in consultation 
with lead Officer for the Trust concerned and 
Trust lawyer. 

In cases of emergency or urgency to carry 
out any of the Sub-Committee functions, 
powers or duties. 

Lead Officer for the Trust concerned in 
consultation with the Chairman of Sub-
Committee where possible. 

 

5.11 Cabinet Sub-Committee (Local Authority Trading Companies’ Shareholder) 

5.11.1 Membership 

(a) The Sub-Committee shall compromise three (3) Executive members 

nominated by the Leader.  Substitutes may be permitted at the 

discretion of the Leader. 

5.11.2  Quorum 

3 

5.11.3  Meetings 

Ad hoc 

5.11.4 Roles and Functions 

(a) To represent the Council’s interests as shareholder in wholly owned 

and other companies. 

 

(b) To undertake all functions of the Council as shareholder under the 

Company Act, unless delegated otherwise. 

 

(c) To ensure that actions taken by the companies accord with the 

interests of the Council as shareholder and contribute to the Council’s 

objectives. 

 

(d) To consider (and approve in principle where appropriate) any proposed 

or amended company documentation (save minor administrative 

documentation) including Memorandum and Articles of association and 

shareholder agreements. 

 

Page 135



 

55 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(e) To undertake the actions, activities and responsibilities as shareholder 

provided for and required by any Memorandum and Articles of 

Association and shareholder agreements. 

 

(f) To provide, or withhold, consent as appropriate (in principle, where 

formal company ratification is required) on those matters requiring 

shareholder consent as defined in the Memorandum and Articles of 

Association and shareholders agreements. 

 

(g) In the specific case of a wholly owned company to: 

 

(i) review the Business Plan prepared by the Company prior to its 

adoption by the company.  

(ii) monitor performance and financial delivery against business plan; 

(iii) review and agree (in principle where formal company ratification is 

required) any proposals to undertake activities outside of the 

District, unless already allowed for within Memorandum and 

Articles of association; 

(iv) to agree to appoint or dismiss (in principle in so far as company 

ratification is required) any Director of the company (where power 

is reserved to the shareholder). 

 

(h) To make recommendations to Cabinet on the investment, loans, 

resource arrangements and asset transfers to companies; 

(i) Prior to the creation of any wholly or partly owned company: 

(i) to consider options for activities which are for a commercial 
purpose and would need to be undertaken by such a company; 

(ii) to make recommendation to Cabinet to establish such a 
company 

(j) Delegating specific functions, other than those listed below, to Officers 
of the Council to increase commercial flexibility. 

Delegated Powers Delegated Members and Officers 

Approval of minor administrative 
documentation 

Chairman of Sub-Committee in consultation 
with the Client Lead Officer for the Company 
concerned (in default of nominated officer 
this shall be Service Director: Resources). 

Signing of documentation on behalf of the 
Council 

Lead Client Officer for the Company 
concerned (in default of nominated officer 
this shall be Service Director: Resources). 

In cases of emergency or urgency to carry 
out any of the Sub-Committee functions, 
powers or duties 

Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer in 
consultation with the Chairman of Sub-
Committee where possible. 

 

Page 136



 

56 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 6 

6. Scrutiny  

6.1 Introduction 

6.1.1 The Council is required by Law to discharge certain overview and 
scrutiny functions.  These functions are an essential component of 
local democracy.  A Scrutiny Committee can contribute to the 
development of Council policies and also hold the Cabinet to 
account for its decisions.  Another key part of the overview and 
scrutiny role is to review existing policies, consider proposals for 
new policies and suggest new policies.   

6.1.2 Scrutiny should be carried out in a constructive way and should aim 
to contribute to the delivery of efficient and effectives services that 
meet the needs and aspirations of local inhabitants. A Scrutiny 
Committee should not shy away from the need to challenge and 
question decisions and make constructive criticism.   

6.1.3 The Council has one Scrutiny Committee, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and it is required by statute to abide by any 
statutory limitations placed upon it. 

6.2 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6.2.1 Membership 

(a) No more than 16 Members shall be appointed to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

(b) Neither the Chairman of the Council nor any members of the Cabinet 
may be members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Moreover, 
no Member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which he/she 
has been directly involved. 

(c) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to recommend 
to the Council the appointment of non-voting co-optees. 

6.2.2 Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

There shall be six regular meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in each year. In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called 
from time to time as and when appropriate.  An extraordinary meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee may be called by its Chairman (or in his 
or her absence, the Vice-Chairman) or by the Proper Officer, if he or she 
considers it necessary or appropriate. 

6.2.3 Quorum 

The quorum for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be five (5) voting 
members of the Committee. 

6.2.4 Scrutiny Support 

Page 137



 

57 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

It is the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service to ensure appropriate 
officer support for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

6.2.5 Work Programme 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for setting their 
own Work Programme and in doing so they should take into account wishes 
of members of that Committee who are not Members of the largest political 
group on the Council. The Work Programme should retain flexibility to deal 
with urgent issues. 

6.2.6 Annual Report 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee must report annually to the Full 
Council on their workings with recommendations for its future work 
programme and amended working methods if appropriate.   

6.2.7 Terms of Reference 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has the following functions: 

(a) Discharge the statutory functions granted to the Committee by Section 
21 of the Local Government Act 2000, as amended, plus consideration 
of any matter referred to it under Section 21A, plus any powers and 
functions conferred under Sections 21A, 21B and 21D of the Local 
Government Act 2000; 

(b) To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in 
connection with the discharge of any functions which are the 
responsibility of the Executive.  This includes the power for the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to recommend that the decision be 
reconsidered by the person who made it, or to arrange for its function 
under this section, so far as it relates to the decision, to be exercised by 
the authority; 

(c) To make reports or recommendations to the authority or the Executive 
with respect to the discharge of any functions which are the 
responsibility of the Executive; 

(d) To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in 
connection with the discharge of any functions which are not the 
responsibility of the Executive; 

(e) To make reports or recommendations to the authority or the Executive 
with respect to the discharge of any functions which are not the 
responsibility of the Executive; 

(f) Pursuant to the requirements of the Police and Justice Act 2006 (as 
amended) review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in 
connection with the discharge by the Council and other bodies and 
persons responsible for crime and disorder strategies for the area or in 
relation to a local crime and disorder matter and to make reports or 
recommendations to the Council for the discharge of those functions 
and arrange for copies of any report to be sent to those bodies and 

Page 138



 

58 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

persons responsible for crime and disorder strategies for the area (and 
such other co-operating persons and bodies as it thinks appropriate); 

(g) To consider a local crime and disorder matter, (including in particular 
forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social behaviour or 
adversely affecting the local environment, or the misuse of drugs, 
alcohol and other substances), referred to it by any member of the 
Council or by Cabinet pursuant to the requirements of the Police and 
Justice Act 2006 (as amended); 

(h) Question members of the Cabinet and/or Committees and/or officers 
about their views on issues and proposals affecting the area and to 
make reports or recommendations to the authority or the Executive on 
matters which affect the authority's area or the inhabitants of that area; 

(i) Question and gather evidence from any other person (with their 
consent); 

(j) Review and scrutinise the policies, plans, expenditure and performance 
of other public bodies in the area and invite reports from them by 
requesting them to address the Committee and local people about their 
activities and performance which impact upon the economic, social or 
environmental well-being of the authority's area or any part of it, and 
make recommendations to such bodies and to the Council on any such 
policies, plans, expenditure and performance; 

(k) Liaise with external organisations operating in the area, whether 
national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people 
are enhanced by collaborative partnership working; 

(l) Conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of 
policy issues and possible options; 

(m) Consider mechanisms to encourage and enhance community 
participation in the development of policy options; 

(n) To receive reports from the Leader annually on the Cabinet's priorities 
for the coming year and its performance in the previous year; 

(o) Consider the impact of policies to assess if they have made a 
difference; 

(p) Review and scrutinise the decisions by and performance of the Cabinet 
and/or Committees and/or Officers in relation to individual decisions, 
and over time; 

(q) To consider the Forward Plan and comment as appropriate prior to any 
decision being made; 

(r) Consider reports relating to the authority’s use of the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act (2000) (RIPA); 

Page 139



 

59 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(s) To review performance against the Council’s agreed objectives / 
priorities and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its 
policy objectives, performance targets and/or service areas; 

(t) Receive a referral from any member of the Committee, relevant to the 
functions of the Committee; 

(u) To appoint time limited task and finish Topic Groups to undertake 
detailed scrutiny work report back to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to make recommendations to the Cabinet; 

(v) To monitor the quality of task and finish group work and the 
implementation and impact of recommendations; 

(w) To collaborate with other overview and scrutiny committees or bodies 
carrying out similar functions outside the Council; 

(x) To scrutinise decisions prior to implementation in accordance with the 
Council's adopted call-in procedure. 

(y) Consider reports relating to the authority’s safeguarding responsibilities. 

6.3 Rules for Conducting Meetings – Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

6.3.1 These rules apply to the scrutiny function of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

6.3.2 Agenda Items: 

(a) The agenda shall be set in accordance with rule 4.8.5 and (b) to (e) 
below. 

(b) Any member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled 
to give notice to the Proper Officer that he wishes an item relevant to 
the functions of that Committee to be included on the agenda for the 
next available meeting. Ten working days’ notice of the item should be 
given to the Proper Officer together with sufficient information to enable 
the Officer to advise about the nature and purpose of the item. 

(c) On receipt of such a request, so long as it is within the relevant terms of 
reference, the Proper Officer will ensure that it is included on the next 
available agenda.   

(d) Any five Members of the Council who are not members of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee may give written notice to the Proper Officer 
that they wish an item to be included on the agenda of that Committee. 
Ten working days’ notice of the item should be given to the Proper 
Officer together with sufficient information to enable the Officer to 
advise about the nature and purpose of the item.  If the Proper Officer 
receives such a notification, then he/she will include the item on the 
next available agenda. 

(e) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall also respond, as soon as 
their work programme permits, to requests from the Council and/or, if it 

Page 140



 

60 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

considers it appropriate, the Cabinet to review particular areas of 
Council activity.  Where they do so, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee shall report its findings and any recommendations back to 
the Cabinet and/or Council.  The Council and/or the Cabinet shall 
consider the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at their 
next meeting. 

6.3.3 Limitations on Scrutiny 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall have the power to receive a 
Call-In made in accordance with the rules at 6.3.11, relevant to any of the 
functions of the Committee, other than: 

(i) A planning or licensing decision; 

(ii) Any matter relating to an individual or entity where there is 
already a statutory right to review or appeal (but not including the 
right to complain to the ombudsman); 

(iii) Any matter which is vexatious is substantially the same as a call 
in previously reviewed by a meeting of the Committee in the last 
six months, vexatious, discriminatory or unreasonable; 

(iv) The decision as to whether the call-in is valid or falls within (i)-(iii) 
above rests with the Proper Officer or Monitoring Officer in 
his/her absence. 

6.3.4 Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee Meetings 

(a) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider the following 
business: 

(i) minutes of the last meeting; 

(ii) declarations of interest (including whipping declarations see 
section 6.3.12); 

(iii) consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for a 
decision in relation to call in of a decision; 

(iv) responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee; 

(v) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 

(b) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may ask people to attend to 
give evidence or answer questions about any items on their agenda.  
Meetings should be conducted in accordance with the following 
principles: 

(i) that the business be conducted fairly and all members of the 
Committee be given the opportunity to ask questions of 
attendees, and to contribute and speak; 

Page 141



 

61 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(ii) that those assisting the Committee by giving evidence be treated 
with respect and courtesy; 

(iii) that any investigation be conducted so as to maximise the 
efficiency of the investigation and analysis; and 

(iv) that the business be conducted as efficiently as possible. 

(c) Following any investigation or review, the Committee shall prepare a 
report, for submission to the Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate and 
shall make its report and findings public. 

(d) These Scrutiny Procedure Rules shall apply to any Sub-Committees of 
an Overview and Scrutiny Committee as they apply to that Committee 
save that the functions of call-in of Executive Decisions under 6.3.11 
shall be reserved to the full Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

6.3.5 Consideration of Call-Ins at Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Meetings 

Where a decision is subject to Call-In in accordance with the Rules set out at 
6.3.11, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider the matter as 
follows:- 

(a) The Notice of Call-In will be provided to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, together with the Minutes (or delegated decision record) 
and reports relevant to the decision called in; 

(b) The Members who signed the Notice of Call-In will be expected to 
attend the meeting and shall be invited to address the Committee on 
the reasons for the Call-In. Ordinarily it is expected that one Member 
will be nominated to present the reasons on behalf of those who called 
in the decision. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be invited 
to ask questions of the Members who signed the Notice of Call-In; 

(c) The Executive Member and/or relevant officers shall be invited to 
address the Committee on the decision taken and the grounds stated 
in the Notice of Call-In. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be 
invited to ask questions of the Executive Member and/or relevant 
officers; 

(d) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall debate and consider the 
Call-In and make recommendations on its conclusions. If the 
Committee decides to refer the matter back to the decision maker, the 
referral must be made in accordance with 6.3.11(a)(v). 

6.3.6 Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(a) Once it has formed recommendations on proposals for development, 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will prepare a formal report and 
submit it to the Proper Officer for consideration by the Cabinet or to the 
Council as appropriate (e.g. if the recommendation would require a 
departure from or a change to the agreed Policy Framework). 

Page 142



 

62 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(b) If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on one single 
final report to the Council or Cabinet as appropriate, then one minority 
report may be prepared and submitted for consideration by the Council 
or Cabinet with the majority report. 

(c) The Council or Cabinet shall consider the report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee at their next ordinary meeting. 

6.3.7 Making sure that Scrutiny Reports are considered by the Cabinet 

(a) The agenda for Cabinet meetings shall include as a referral any 
relevant resolutions of Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee reports to the Cabinet shall be 
included on the agenda (unless they have been considered in the 
context of the Cabinet’s deliberations on a substantive item on the 
agenda) as soon as practicable. 

(b) Where the Cabinet has delegated decision making power to another 
individual member of the Cabinet the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will submit a copy of their report to him or her for consideration.  At the 
time of doing so the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall serve a 
copy on the Proper Officer. The Member with delegated decision 
making power must consider the report and respond in writing to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee within four weeks of receiving it.  A 
copy of his written response to it shall be sent to the Proper Officer and 
the Leader. The Member, if requested to do so, will also attend a future 
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to present their 
response. If the Member is unable to accept the recommendations of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, he/she must refer the matter to 
the Cabinet for debate. After consideration by the Cabinet, the Member 
may exercise his/her decision-making powers and must report back to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

6.3.8 Rights of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members to 
Documents 

(a) In addition to their rights as Councillors, Members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees have the additional right to documents, and to 
notice of meetings as set out in the Access to Information Rules in 
Section 15 of this Constitution. 

(b) Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the 
Cabinet and the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee as 
appropriate depending on the particular matter under consideration.   

6.3.9 Members and Officers Giving Account 

(a) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may scrutinise and review 
decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of 
any Council functions (as set out in the Terms of Reference).  As well 
as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling the Scrutiny role, it may require 
any member of the Cabinet, the Head of Paid Service and/or any 
appropriate Officer to attend before it to explain in relation to matters 
within their remit: 

Page 143



 

63 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(i) any particular decision or series of decisions; 

(ii) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; 
and/or 

(iii) their performance,  

and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 

(b) Where any Member or Officer is required to attend Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee under this provision, the Chairman of that 
Committee will inform the Proper Officer.  The Proper Officer shall 
inform the Member or Officer, if necessary in writing, giving at least five 
working days’ notice of the meeting at which he or she is required to 
attend (unless agreed otherwise).  Any notice will state the nature of the 
item on which he or she is required to attend to give account and 
whether any papers are required to be produced for the Committee. 

(c) Where the account to be given to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will require the production of a report, then the Member or Officer 
concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that 
documentation. 

(d) Where, in exceptional circumstances, the member or officer is unable to 
attend on the required date, then the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
shall in consultation with the member or officer arrange an alternative 
date for attendance, within a maximum of ten days from the original 
date. 

6.3.10 Attendance by Others 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite other people to address 
it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions.  It may for 
example wish to hear from residents, stakeholders and Members and 
Officers in other parts of the public sector and shall invite such people to 
attend. 

6.3.11 Call-In 

(a) Rules 

(i) Where a decision is made by the Cabinet, an individual Member 
of the Cabinet or a Committee of the Cabinet or under joint 
arrangements, or an Executive Decision is made by an Officer 
with delegated authority, the decision shall be published by the 
Proper Officer, including on the Council’s web-site, and shall be 
available at the main offices of the Council normally within two 
clear working days of it being made.  Notice of all decisions that 
are required to be published shall be sent to all Members of the 
Council on the Friday of the week in which the decision was 
taken.  In the case of Individual Executive decisions, the Record 
of Decision will be forwarded to the Chairman of Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee at the same time as this is forwarded to the 

Page 144



 

64 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Proper Officer (unless the urgency provisions apply – see 
below). 

(ii) That notice will bear the date on which it is published by the 
Proper Officer. The notice will specify that the decision will come 
into force and may then be implemented, on the expiry of five 
clear working days after the publication of the decision, unless 
within that time the Proper Officer is given written notice 
requesting that the decision be referred to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

(iii) During that period the Chairman or any five Members of the 
Council may submit, in writing, a request to the Proper Officer to 
call-in a decision for scrutiny specifying the grounds for the call-
in. 

(iv) The Proper Officer shall then notify the decision taker of the call-
in.  The Proper Officer shall call a meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on such a date as he/she may determine, 
where possible after consultation with the Chairman or Vice-
Chairman of the Committee, and in any case to be held within 
ten clear working days of the decision to call-in (only in 
exceptional circumstances will the Chairman of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee consider extending this time limit). 

(v) If, having considered the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is still concerned about it, then it may refer it back to 
the decision making person or body for reconsideration, setting 
out in writing the nature of its concerns or refer the matter to Full 
Council.  If referred to the decision maker they shall then 
reconsider within a further twenty clear working days, amending 
the decision or not, before adopting a final decision.   

(vi) If following an objection to the decision, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee does not meet within the period set out 
above, or does meet but does not refer the matter back to the 
decision making person or body, the decision shall take effect on 
the date of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting, or the 
expiry of that further ten working day period, whichever is the 
earlier. 

(vii) If the matter was referred to Full Council and the Council does 
not object to a decision which has been made, then no further 
action is necessary and the decision will be effective in 
accordance with the provision below.  However, if the Council 
does object, it has no power to make decisions in respect of an 
Executive Decision unless it is contrary to the Policy Framework, 
or contrary to or not wholly consistent with the Budget. If that is 
the case, the Council will refer any decisions to which it objects 
back to the decision making person or body, together with the 
Council’s views on the decision.  That decision making body or 
person shall choose whether to amend the decision or not before 
reaching a final decision and implementing it.  Where the 
decision was taken by the Cabinet, or a Committee of it, a 

Page 145



 

65 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

meeting will be convened to reconsider within five working days 
of the Council’s request.  Where the decision was made by an 
individual, the individual will reconsider within three working days 
of the Council’s request. 

(viii) If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the 
decision back to the decision making body or person, the 
decision will become effective on the date of the Council meeting 
or expiry of the period in which the Council meeting should have 
been held, whichever is earlier. 

(ix) Where an executive decision has been taken by an Area 
Committee, then the right of call-in shall extend to any five 
Members of another Area Committee if they are of the opinion 
that the decision made but not implemented will have an adverse 
effect on the area to which their Committee relates.  In such 
cases, those five Members must make a written request to the 
Proper Officer to call-in the decision.  He/she shall call a meeting 
of the relevant Committee on such date as he/she may 
determine, where possible after consultation with the Chairman 
of the Committee, and in any case within five days of the 
decision to call-in.  All other provisions relating to call-in shall 
apply as if the call-in had been exercised by the Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any five Members of the 
Council.   

(b) Call-In and Urgency 

(i) The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the 
decision being taken is urgent, irrespective of whether the 
decision was taken by Cabinet, an individual member of the 
Cabinet, an Area Committee, or an Executive Decision made by 
an Officer with delegated authority.  A decision will be urgent if 
any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would, for 
example, seriously prejudice the Council’s or other public 
interests.  The record of the decision, and notice by which it is 
made public, shall state whether in the opinion of the decision 
making person or body, the decision is an urgent one, and 
therefore not subject to call-in.  The Chairman of the Council 
must agree both that the decision proposed is reasonable in all 
the circumstances and to it being treated as a matter of urgency.  
In the absence of the Chairman, the Deputy Chairman’s consent 
shall be required.  In the absence of both, the Head of Paid 
Service or his/her nominee’s consent should be required.  
Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported at the 
next available meeting of the Council, together with the reasons 
for urgency. 

(ii) The operation of the provisions relating to call-in and urgency 
shall be monitored annually by the Proper Officer and a report 
submitted to Council with proposals for review if necessary. 

 

Page 146



 

66 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

6.3.12 The Party Whip 

If a member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is subject to a party 
whip in respect of an issue to be considered by it, that member must 
declare the existence of the whip and the nature of it before the 
commencement of deliberations on the matter.  The declaration, and the 
detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be recorded in the minutes of the 
meeting. 

6.3.13 Conflicts of interest - Membership of Committees and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is scrutinising specific decisions or 
proposals in relation to the business of a Committee of which the Councillor 
concerned is a Member, then the Councillor may not speak or vote at the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting unless a dispensation to do so is 
given by the Monitoring Officer. 

6.3.14 Councillor Call for Action 

(a) The Councillor Call for Action is a mechanism for enabling elected 
members to bring matters of local concern to the attention of the 
Council via the Scrutiny process.  However, it is intended that it should 
be an option of “last resort” and therefore used only where all other 
avenues and opportunities for scrutiny have been exhausted. 

(b) Any member may request that an item is placed on the agenda of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for consideration. 

(c) The procedure for dealing with a Call for Action is set out in the 
Councillor Call for Action - Guidance for Councillors attached to this 
section at Appendix 1. 

Page 147



 

67 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

APPENDIX 1 TO SECTION 6 

Councillor Call for Action - Guidance for Councillors 

1. The Councillor Call for Action is a mechanism for enabling elected Members to bring 
matters of local concern to the attention of the Council, via the Scrutiny process. 

2. Any Member may request that an item is placed on the agenda of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for consideration. The Member making that request does not have to 
be a member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any Scrutiny Sub-Committee. 

3. The Call for Action should be an option of “last resort”. In considering whether to refer to a 
matter in accordance with these provisions, Members must have regard to relevant 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State. A Call for Action will only be included on the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee agenda if the Chairman, in consultation with the Proper 
Officer, is satisfied that: 

3.1 the Member has made all reasonable efforts to resolve the matter via direct liaison 
with council officers and/or relevant partners and the constituent(s) having exhausted 
other avenues, including the Council’s complaints process as appropriate; and 

3.2 the issue of concern is a matter in respect of which the Council has a statutory power 
or duty and is not precluded by adopted Council policy or legislation; and 

3.3 the issue of concern has a demonstrable impact on a part or the whole of the 
Member’s electoral ward 

and accordingly information to support the above matters should accompany the Call for 
Action request. 

4. A Call for Action cannot, in any event, relate to: 

4.1 a planning decision; 

4.2 a licensing decision; 

4.3 any matter concerning an individual or entity in respect of which that individual or 
entity has a right of recourse to a review or right of appeal conferred by or under any 
enactment; 

4.4 any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable to be included in the 
agenda for, or to be discussed at a meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

4.5 any matter which is a local crime and disorder matter for the purposes of Section 19 
of the Police and Justice Act 2006 

4.6  Any matter that has already been through the Call for Action Process.. 

5. If the Chairman rejects the Call for Action the Member who made the request shall be 
provided with reasons for the decision. 

6. A valid Call for Action will be considered at the next ordinary meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee or at a special meeting of the Committee within 14 days of validation 
whichever is the sooner. 

Page 148



 

68 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

7. The subject matter of the Call for Action will be the subject of a report from the relevant 
Service Director to whom the power or duty has been delegated, with such supporting 
information and evidence as is reasonably available. If the matter also or exclusively entails 
consideration of information held by another public body or partner, an appropriate 
representative shall be invited to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting to provide 
that information, make representations and answer questions. 

8. The Call for Action will be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in public 
session unless consideration of the issues involves the disclosure of exempt or confidential 
information as defined by the Access to Information Rules of the Constitution in Section 15. 

9. The Member who referred the matter under sub-paragraph 2 above may address the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in respect of the Call for Action for up to 10 minutes. 

10. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may also consider representations from any 
residents of the electoral ward affected by the Call for Action, subject to the discretion of the 
Chairman. 

11. If the Call for Action concerns issues that fall within the remit of the Cabinet, the relevant 
Executive Member shall also attend the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to answer 
questions and make any representations. 

12. Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee makes a report or recommendations to the 
Council or the Executive as a result of a reference under paragraph 2 above, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee may publish the report, subject to the provisions of Part 5 of the 
Local Government Act 2000 (“the 2000 Act”) in relation to confidential or exempt 
information. 

13. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will, by notice in writing to the Proper Officer, require 
the Council or Cabinet: 

13.1 to consider the report or recommendations, 

13.2 to respond to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee indicating what, if any action the 
Council or Cabinet proposes to take, 

13.3 if the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has published the report or 
recommendations, to publish the response, subject to the provisions of Part 5 of the 
2000 Act relating to confidential or exempt information, 

13.4 if the Overview and Scrutiny Committee provided a copy of its report or 
recommendations to the Member who referred the matter to the Committee, to 
provide that Member with a copy of the response, subject to the provisions of Part 5 
of the 2000 Act in relation to confidential or exempt information, 

and to do so within two months of the date when the Council or Cabinet received the report 
or recommendations or (if later) the date when the Proper Officer received the notice. 

Page 149



 

69 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 7 

7. The Standards Committee 

Introduction 

7.1 Trust and confidence in public office holders and institutions are important for the 
functioning of local authorities. This is particularly true in the case of elected office 
holders. Our Councillors are expected to live up to high standards of behaviour and 
demonstrating that they do so underpins that confidence in local democracy. The 
Standards Committee has an important part to play in promoting and maintaining 
high standards of conduct. 

Composition 

7.2 Membership 

The Standards Committee is composed of at least fourteen Members.  Its 
membership includes: 

7.2.1 At least twelve (12) Councillors appointed proportionately (four of 
whom  may be a member of the Executive nominated by the 
Leader); and 

7.2.2 A maximum of two Parish Councillors co-opted as non-voting 
members. 

The Independent Person and Reserve Independent Person shall be invited to attend 
the meetings of the Standards Committee 

7.3 Number of Meetings 

There shall be two regular meetings of the Committee in each year. In addition, 
extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time, as and when appropriate. 
An extraordinary meeting may be called by the Chairman of the Committee or by the 
Proper Officer if he/she considers it is necessary or appropriate. 

7.4 Quorum 

7.4.1 The quorum for a meeting of the Standards Committee shall be four 
voting members of that Committee. 

7.4.2 At least one Parish member must be present when matters relating 
to Parish Councils or their members are being considered. 
References to Parish Councils include Town Councils. 

7.5 Terms of Reference 

The Standards Committee will have the following roles and functions: 

7.5.1 to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members 
and Co-Opted Members of the authority; 

Page 150



 

70 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

7.5.2 to advise and assist Parish Councils and Councillors to maintain 
high standards of conduct and to make recommendation to Parish 
Councils on improving standards or actions following a finding of a 
failure by a Parish Councillor to comply with its Code of Conduct;  

7.5.3 to conduct hearings on behalf of the Parish Council; 

7.5.4 to advise the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ 
Code of Conduct; 

7.5.5 to receive referrals from the Monitoring Officer into allegations of 
misconduct in accordance with the authority assessment criteria; 

7.5.6 to receive reports from the Monitoring Officer and assess the 
operation and effectiveness of the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

7.5.7 to advise, train or arrange to train Members and Co-Opted Members 
on matters relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

7.5.8 to assist Councillors and Co-Opted Members to observe the 
Members’ Code of Conduct; 

7.5.9 to hear and determine complaints about Members and Co-Opted 
Members referred to it by the Monitoring Officer; 

7.5.10 to advise the Council upon the contents of and requirements for 
codes/protocols/other procedures relating to standards of conduct 
throughout the Council; 

7.5.11 to  review and approve the Council’s arrangements for dealing with 
complaints about Member conduct (subject to: minor amendments 
delegated to the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the 
Independent Person); 

7.5.12 to inform Council and the Chief Executive of relevant issues arising 
from the determination of Code of Conduct complaints; 

7.5.13 to hear and determine appeals against refusal to grant 
dispensations by the Monitoring Officer pursuant to s33 of the 
Localism Act 2011; 

7.5.14 to deal with applications for exemption from political restriction or to 
consider whether  to include a post within the list of politically 
restricted posts. 

7.6 Standards matters 

The Monitoring Officer will present a general report on standards matters at each 
Committee meeting, updating the Committee on the workload of the Monitoring 
Officer and current standards issues.  

7.7 Standards Sub-committee 

7.7.1 Membership 

Page 151



 

71 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

No more than three (3) voting Members of the Standards Committee shall 
be appointed to a Standards Sub-Committee. 

7.7.2 Quorum 

3 voting Members (which should aim to achieve cross political party 
representation wherever practicable) 

7.7.3 The Chairman shall be elected by the Sub-Committee at each 
meeting. 

7.7.4 A Parish Councillor must be invited to be co-opted as a non-voting 
member in dealing with a complaint against a Parish Councillor.  

7.7.5 The Independent Person or Reserve Independent Person to attend 
the meetings of the Standards Sub-Committee dealing with 
hearings into allegations of misconduct.  

7.7.6 Terms of Reference 

(i) To conduct a Hearing into an allegation that a Member or Co-
opted Member has  breached the Authority’s Code of Conduct 
at which a member against whom a complaint has been made 
can respond to an investigation report, and the Sub-Committee 
can following a Hearing, make one of the following findings: 

A. That the Member has not failed to comply with the Code of 
Conduct and no further action needs to be taken in respect 
of the matters considered at the Hearing;  

B. That the Member has failed to comply with the Code of 
Conduct but that no further action needs to be taken in 
respect of the matters considered at the Hearing; 

C. That the Member has failed to comply with the Code of 
Conduct and that a sanction and/or an informal resolution 
should be imposed; 

(ii) The sub-committee may impose any action or combination of 
actions available to it, or impose any informal resolution or 
combination of informal resolutions as are available to it by law 
or policy; 

(iii) After making a finding the sub-committee shall, as soon as 
reasonably practicable provide written notice of its findings and 
the reasons for its decision to the Member and complainant;  

(iv) To conduct an Appeal Hearing following an appeal by a Member 
or Co-opted Member against a finding that they have breached 
the Authority’s Code of Conduct and/or against any sanction 
imposed.  

7.8 Rules of Procedure and Debate 

Page 152



 

72 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

The Standing Orders contained in Section 4.8 will apply to meetings of the Standards 
Committee. 

Page 153



 

73 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 8  

8. Regulatory Committees 

8.1 Introduction 

The Government gives powers to local authorities to act as the regulatory body in 
respect of some functions, for example licensing and planning matters in the area. 
Many licensing or planning applications are able to be decided by officers under 
delegated powers, however some decisions are made by Committee, as set out in 
the terms of reference in this section. The Council appoints the Committees to 
discharge the functions set out in this Section 8 of the Constitution.  Except where 
expressly stated, the Standing Orders contained in Section 4 will apply to meetings 
of these Committees. 

8.2 Licensing and Appeals Committee 

8.2.1 Membership 

No more than fifteen (15) Councillors shall be appointed to the Licensing 
and Appeals Committee. 

8.2.2 Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of the Licensing and Appeals Committee shall be 
five (5) voting members of that Committee. 

8.2.3 Meetings 

There shall be at least one (1) regular meeting of the Committee per year:- 

(a) to consider all Licensing matters with the exception of the statements of 
licensing policy under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 
2005 and those matters delegated to the Licensing Sub-Committee and 
the  Service Director: Legal and Community.  

(b) to make recommendations to Council on the statements of licensing 
policy under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 

8.3 Licensing Sub-Committee 

8.3.1 Membership 

Three (3) Councillors shall be appointed to a Licensing Sub-Committee. 

8.3.2 Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of a Licensing Sub-Committee shall be three (3) 
voting member of that Sub-Committee. 

These bodies deal with licensing functions delegated from the Licensing and Appeals 
Committee in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003, Gambling Act 2005 and Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982. Please note that the hearing is a 

Page 154



 

74 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

public meeting, but the Sub-Committee’s deliberations take place privately, prior to 
resuming the public meeting to announce its decision. 

8.3.3 Licensing Act 2003 

(a) When there is a Police objection to a temporary event to hear and 
determine whether or not to issue a counter notice. 

(b) An application for a personal licence where the applicant has unspent 
convictions and the police make a representation. 

(c) When a relevant representation (which has not been determined as 
frivolous and vexatious) has been received from one or more 
authorised persons, interested parties or responsible authorities as 
defined by the Licensing Act 2003 and has not been withdrawn to hear 
and determine an: 

(i) Application for a personal licence; 

(ii) Application for a premises licence; 

(iii) Application for a club premises certificate; 

(iv) Application for provisional statement; 

(v) Application to vary a premises licence; 

(vi) Application to vary a club premises certificate; 

(d) When a representation has been made by the Police to hear and 
determine in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003: 

(i) Applications to vary the designated premises supervisor; 

(ii) Applications for transfer of premises licences; 

(iii) Applications for interim authorities. 

(e) Applications to review premises licences in accordance with the 
Licensing Act 2003. 

(f) Applications to review club premises certificates in accordance with the 
Licensing Act 2003. 

(g) Revocations of personal licences where convictions come to light after 
grant in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003. 

Gambling Act 2005 

(h) Where a relevant representation (which has not been determined as 
frivolous and/or vexatious) has been received from one or more 
authorised persons, interested parties or responsible authorities as 
defined by the Gambling Act 2005 and has not been withdrawn, to hear 
and determine an: 

Page 155



 

75 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(i) Application for a premises licence; 

(ii) Application to vary a premises licence; 

(iii) Application for a provisional statement; 

(iv) Application for Club gaming/Club machine permits; 

(i) Where representations have been received from the Gambling 
Commission with regard to an application for transfer of a licence. 

(j) Applications to review a premises licence in accordance with the 
Gambling Act 2005. 

(k) The cancellation of Club gaming/Club machine permits. 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (as amended) 

When an objection has been received to an application for a sexual 
entertainment venue. 

Page 156



 

76 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

8.4 Planning Control Committee 

8.4.1 Membership 

No more than fifteen (15) members shall be appointed to the Planning 
Control Committee. 

[Note - members may be requested to present to a Planning Appeal any 
Planning Control Committee objections to a planning application or reasons 
for refusing an application.] 

8.4.2 Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of the Planning Control Committee shall be five 
(5) voting members of that Committee. 

8.4.3 Meetings 

There shall be twelve (12) regular meetings of the Committee per year.  The 
procedure for the participation of members of the public and non-Committee 
members is set out in Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 to this Section 8. 

8.4.4 The Planning Control Committee exercises those functions of the 
local planning authority not delegated to the Service Director: 
Regulatory. The Service Director: Regulatory may refer a matter to 
the Planning Control Committee if the application is controversial or 
of significant public interest or is likely to have a significant impact 
on the environment. 

8.4.5 The Planning Control Committee shall determine9: 

(a) any residential development with a site area of 0.5 hectares or greater; 

(b) any development with greater than 500sq. metres floorspace on a site 
of more than 1 hectare or other operational development with a site 
area of 1 hectare or greater; 

(c) any other planning application, application for advertisement consent, 
listed building consent or conservation area consent where: 

(i) a statutory consultee has submitted a written opinion contrary to 
the recommendation of the  Service Director of Regulatory and 
which is a valid material planning consideration in the opinion of 
the Service Director: Regulatory; or 

(ii) a parish or town council10 has submitted a written opinion 
contrary to the recommendation of the  Service Director: 
Regulatory: 
A. which is a valid material planning consideration in the 

opinion of the Service Director: Regulatory; and 

B. provided that the written opinion of the parish or town 
council is supported in writing by at least one Ward 

                                                

9This does not apply to notifications to the Council for development that would fall under the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 
10 NB Parish meetings do not have this right. 

Page 157



 

77 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Member11 within five working days of the Ward Member 
being notified of the representation  

(iii) within three (3) weeks of the matter appearing in the weekly lists 
of applications a Member(without any declarable interest) 
requests in writing the matter to be determined by the 
Committee: 

1 supported by reasons based upon one or more material 
planning considerations; or 

2 supported by reasons that the matter is in the wider public 
interest. 

Where a member makes such a request they should attend 
the relevant Committee meeting to present their 
reasons/grounds to the Committee.  If they are unable to 
attend the relevant Committee meeting the member must 
arrange for another member to present on their behalf or 
provide a written statement presenting their 
reasons/grounds, otherwise the item may be deferred. 

Members should not require an application to be referred to the 
Planning Control Committee for decision solely to enable a 
person to speak. 

(d) applications submitted by the Council for its own development other 
than those for which no objection has been received; 

(e) the granting of orders to revoke or modify planning permissions where 
compensation may be payable; 

(f) the granting of certificates of alternative development; 

(g) any application made by an elected member of the Council; 

(h) any application made by an employee of the Council where applications 
are other than for householder development; 

(i) any application for householder*12 development made by an employee 
of the Planning and Building Control Service or Chief Officer13; 

(j) to receive updates on Planning Appeals lodged and Appeal Decisions 
made; 

(k) to receive quarterly updates on planning enforcement matters; 

(l) to consider whether to confirm tree preservation orders to which 
objections have been received. 

                                                

11 A Ward Member with a declarable Interest must not be involved in the referral to Committee 
12 Householder development includes Planning Applications, Listed Building consents, TCA/TPO’s, Certificates of Lawful Use, Certificates of Lawful Development and 
Conservation Area Consents 
13 As defined under section 12.8.1(c) 

Page 158



 

78 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

APPENDIX 1 TO SECTION 8 

PROCEDURE FOR PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN THE CONSIDERATION BY THE PLANNING CONTROL 
COMMITTEE OF APPLICATIONS MADE UNDER THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING AND 

RELATED LEGISLATION 

1. SCOPE OF SCHEME 

1.1 The scheme should apply solely to applications, made under the Town and Country 
Planning, Listed Building and Conservation Area Acts and related legislation, which are 
the subject of a written report to the Planning Control Committee and not to those 
applications which fall to be determined under officer delegation. 

1.2 The right to address the Committee should be confined to the applicant or his agent or 
representative, persons who have previously made written representations to the 
Authority either for or against the application proposals and the local Member of the 
County Council. In the case of objectors or supporters (including the applicant or agent) 
where more than one person in each group wishes to speak, they should be strongly 
encouraged to nominate one of their number to address the Committee in order to make 
the most effective use of their allotted time. 

1.3 The time slot allocated to each group of speakers should not exceed 5 minutes. This 
time limit should be strictly adhered to in order to ensure that the business of the 
Committee can be transacted as expeditiously as is reasonably possible. It is 
suggested that the Committee & Member Services Officer or another officer not 
directly involved has the responsibility for time-keeping rather than the Chairman. 

1.4 The Chairman of the Committee should have the right to stop persons from speaking 
at any time if he/she considers the matters being presented to be defamatory, improper 
or outside the scope of the responsibilities of the Committee. This would be additional 
to the Chairman exercising discretion as to whether a meeting should be suspended for 
the purpose of maintaining order. 

1.5 Persons should only be allowed to address the Planning Control Committee if they 
have previously registered with the Council's Democratic Services Manager by 12 noon 
on the day of the meeting but not before the agenda of the meeting has been made 
public (normally five working days prior to the meeting). They may speak at 
subsequent meetings, in the case of a decision being deferred. If more than one 
person registers their wish to speak, they should be advised by the Democratic 
Services Manager to contact the first person who has registered in an endeavour to 
agree how to share their 5 minutes. 

1.6 Persons addressing a Committee should not be permitted to put questions to the 
Chairman, Members or officers. Likewise, that person should not, normally, be 
questioned as this could give the opportunity for extending their presentation which 
would be unfair on the other parties. 

2. PROCEDURE AT MEETINGS 

2.1 Those persons who have registered to speak should arrive at least 10 minutes 
before the meeting in order to make contact with the Committee & Member Services 
Officer. 

Page 159



 

79 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

2.2 At the appropriate point in the meeting, the Chairman announces the item and 
invites the planning officer to speak. 

2.3 The planning officer introduces the proposal, drawing attention to significant issues 
and up-dating, if necessary, the written agenda report. 

2.4 The representative(s) of those persons objecting to the application is/are invited to 
address the Committee for up to 5 minutes in total. 

2.5 The applicant, applicant's agent or the representative of those persons supporting 
the application is/are invited to address the Committee for up to 5 minutes in total. 

2.6 Points of clarification may be asked by the Committee through the Chairman (up to 
a total of three on each representation) of the objector(s), applicant, applicant’s 
agent or representative. This limit does not apply to points of clarification asked of 
the planning officer (see 2.7 below). The Chairman can decline to put a point of 
clarification if he/she considers this irrelevant in planning term or that this has been 
covered in the planning officer’s report or during any of the representations. 

2.7 The Chairman will invite the planning officer to comment on any of the issues 
raised. 

2.8 The Committee will debate the proposal and then make its decision. 

 

Page 160



 

80 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

APPENDIX 2 TO SECTION 8 

PROCEDURE FOR PARTICIPATION OF MEMBERS IN THE CONSIDERATION BY THE 
PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE OF APPLICATIONS MADE UNDER THE TOWN AND 
COUNTRY PLANNING ACT AND RELATED LEGISLATION 

1. SCOPE OF SCHEME 

1.1 The scheme should apply solely to applications, made under the Town and Country 
Planning, Listed Building and Conservation Area Acts and related legislation, which 
are the subject of a written report to the Planning Control Committee and not to those 
applications which fall to be determined under officer delegation. 

1.2 The right of Non-Planning Control Committee Members to address the Committee 
should be in the following circumstances: 

1.2.1 the Ward Member(s) in whose ward the application site is located; 

1.2.2 on applications which are considered to be of significance within the wider 
area, and with the agreement of the Chairman of the Committee, other 
Members may address the Committee in addition to the relevant Ward 
Members; 

1.2.3 on applications in Wards where all Ward Members serve on the Planning 
Control Committee (including single Member Wards), such Members may 
nominate another Member to address the Committee in the role of advocate 
(see footnote 1 below) either for or against the application. 

1.3 Planning Control Committee Members who have a Declarable Interest in the relevant 
application may address the Committee by exercising their Councillor’s Speaking 
Right14. 

1.4 Planning Control Committee Members who are excluded from taking part in the 
debate and vote on the basis of perceived or actual bias or predetermination may 
address the Committee in accordance with this scheme provided that they do no 
have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in the relevant application.  

1.5 There will be a maximum of two “groups” of Member speakers (i.e. those supporting 
and those objecting) for each application. The time slot allocated to each “group” of 
speakers should not exceed 5 minutes except where the applications are Major 
Applications (see footnote 2 below) where the time for each “group” will not exceed 
10 minutes.  In cases where Major Applications are of significant public interest the 
Chairman can, in advance of the meeting, extend the maximum 10 minute period.  
Where this discretion is to be exercised the Democratic Services Manager will be 
informed. If more than one Member registers their wish to speak either for or against 
the application, they should be advised by the Democratic Services Manager to 
contact the first Member who has registered in an endeavour to agree how to make 
best use of their total time.  This time limit should be strictly adhered to in order to 
ensure that the business of the Committee can be transacted as expeditiously as is 
reasonably possible.  It is suggested that the Committee & Member Services Officer 
has the responsibility for time-keeping rather than the Chairman. 

                                                

14 As defined in the Code of Conduct  

Page 161



 

81 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

1.6 The Chairman of the Committee should have the right to stop persons from speaking 
at any time if he/she considers the matters being presented to be defamatory, improper 
or outside the scope of the responsibilities of the Committee. This would be additional 
to the Chairman exercising discretion as to whether a meeting should be suspended for 
the purpose of maintaining order. 

1.7 Members should only be allowed to address the Planning Control Committee if they 
have previously registered with the Council's Democratic Services Manager by 12 noon 
on the day of the meeting, but not before the agenda of the meeting has been made 
public (normally five working days prior to the meeting). They may speak at 
subsequent meetings, in the case of a decision being deferred.  

1.8 Members addressing a Committee should not be permitted to put questions to the 
Chairman, Committee Members or officers. Likewise, that Member should not, 
normally, be questioned as this could give the opportunity for extending their 
presentation which would be unfair on the other parties. 

1.9 Members should not require an application to be referred to the Planning Control 
Committee for decision solely to enable a person to speak. 

2. PROCEDURE AT MEETINGS 

2.1 Those Members who have registered to speak should arrive at least 10 minutes 
before the meeting in order to make contact with the Committee & Member Services 
Officer. 

2.2 At the appropriate point in the meeting, the Chairman announces the item and 
invites the planning officer to speak. 

2.3 The planning officer introduces the proposal, drawing attention to significant issues 
and up-dating, if necessary, the written agenda report. 

2.4 The representative(s) of those members of the public objecting to the application 
is/are invited to address the Committee for up to 5 minutes in total.  Any Members 
objecting to the application is/are then invited to address the Committee for up to 5 
minutes in total or 10 minutes in total where the application is a Major Application (see 
footnote 2 below). This category of speakers shall include, any Non Planning Control 
Committee Members who are entitled to speak, Planning Control Committee 
members exercising their Councillor’s Speaking Right and Planning Control 
Committee members who are excluded from participating in the debate and vote on 
the basis of perceived or actual bias or predetermination. In cases where Major 
Applications are of significant public interest the Chairman can, in advance of the 
meeting, extend the maximum 10 minute period.  Where this discretion is to be 
exercised the Democratic Services Manager will be informed. 

2.5 The applicant, applicant's agent or the representative of those persons supporting 
the application is/are invited to address the Committee for up to 5 minutes in total.  
Any Members supporting the application is/are then invited to address the 
Committee for up to 5 minutes in total or 10 minutes in total where the application is a 
Major Application. This category of speakers shall include, any Non Planning Control 
Committee Members who are entitled to speak, Planning Control Committee 
members exercising their Councillor’s Speaking Right and Planning Control 
Committee members who are excluded from participating in the debate and vote on 
the basis of perceived or actual bias or predetermination. In cases where Major 

Page 162



 

82 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Applications are of significant public interest the Chairman can, in advance of the 
meeting, extend the maximum 10 minute period.  Where this discretion is to be 
exercised the Democratic Services Manager will be informed. 

2.6 The Chairman will invite the planning officer to comment on any of the issues 
raised. 
 

2.7 The Committee will debate the proposal and then make its decision. 
 
 
Footnote 1  
In this context ‘advocate’ is a Member championing their constituents’ views upon an application to the Committee and is not a legal adversarial role.  
Footnote 2 
“Major Application” is defined by the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015/595 as:  
(c) the provision of dwelling houses where – 

(i) the number of dwelling houses to be provided is 10 or more; 
(ii) the development is to be carried out on a site having an area of 0.5 hectare or more and it is not known whether the development falls within (c) (i); 

(d)  the provision of building or buildings where the floor space to be created by the development is 1000 square metres or more; or 
(e)  development carried out on a site having an area of 1 hectare or more  
In addition, there may be circumstances outside these definitions where the application is of significant public interest, which will be treated as Major Applications. The 
determination of this will be a decision for the Chairman. 
 

Page 163



 

83 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

APPENDIX 3 TO SECTION 8  
 

NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL’S 

MEMBER’S PLANNING CODE OF GOOD PRACTICE15 
[Adopted by the Council on 3 September 2015] 

 
Introduction 
 
The aim of this Planning Code of Good Practice (the ‘Code’): to ensure that there are no 
grounds for suggesting that a decision is biased, partial or not well founded in the planning 
process.  
 
One of the key purposes of the planning system is to regulate development and use of land for 
the public interest.  If you are a Member of the Planning Control Committee (‘the Committee’) 
your role is to make planning decisions openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for 
justifiable reasons. If you are any other NHDC Member, your role is to ensure that a democratic, 
fair and transparent process is followed through your role as Ward advocate.  
 
When the Code applies: this Code applies to all Members at all times when involving 
themselves in the planning process, whether you are a Member of the Committee or not (this 
includes pre-application discussions, briefings, when taking part in the decision making 
meetings of the Council or when involved on less formal occasions, such as meetings with 
Officers, the public, consultative meetings and acting as Ward advocate). This includes not only 
planning applications/ proposals, but also planning enforcement or site specific policy 
issues. 
 
If you have any doubts about how this Code applies to you please seek advice from the 
Monitoring Officer or one of his/her staff, preferably well before any meeting takes place. 
As planning is an area of Council business that the public are interested in, remember to 
consider how your actions will be viewed by them. 
 
1. Relationship to the Members’ Code of Conduct (‘Code of Conduct’) 

 

 Do apply the Code of Conduct first, as this must always be complied with. Frequently 

specific issues will arise on interests: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (‘DPIs’) and any 

Declarable interests (as set out in Part 2 of the Code of Conduct). However, other 

matters such as making sure you are not seen to misuse your position, or disclose 

sensitive confidential information – and abiding by the seven Principles of Public life: 

selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership set 

out under Appendix B of the Code of Conduct , will also be relevant. 

 

 Do then apply this Code, as it seeks to explain and supplement the Code of Conduct 

and in basic terms the law on the planning process. If you do not abide by this Code, you 

may put: 

 
- the Council at risk of appeals, or legal challenges on the legality of the decision or 

complaints of maladministration; and 

 

                                                

15 Based on the Lawyers in Local Government Model Council Members’ Planning Code or Protocol 2014. 

Page 164



 

84 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

- yourself at risk of being named in a report made to the Council or, if the failure is also 

likely to be a breach of the interest provisions - a complaint may be made to the 

police to consider criminal proceedings and/ or the Standards Committee. 

 
 

2. Development Proposals and Interests 

 
The Principle of Integrity is key to decision making and is defined in these terms: 

 
“Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or 
organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should 
not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 
themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests 
and relationships”. 

 
 So:  
 

 Don’t get involved at any stage of the determination of an application if you have an 

interest in it. That includes involvement in pre-application discussions or 

negotiations with an Officer or Members. If you have an interest you may nominate 

someone to make representations on your behalf. You may make representations in 

writing. Members with a DPI or Declarable Interest will not be notified of pre-application 

advice, if Officers are aware of the interest.  

 

 Don’t seek or accept any preferential treatment, or place yourself in a position that could 

lead the public to conclude that you are receiving preferential treatment, because you 

are a Councillor.  

 

 Don’t act as Ward advocate if you have a DPI or Declarable Interest. 

 

 Do notify the Monitoring Officer in writing where it is clear you have a DPI or other 

Declarable Interest and the existence and nature to other relevant Officers.  

 

Also note:  
 
If this is your DPI: 
- you should send the notification no later than submission of that application or as 

soon as you are aware that the application has been made (e.g. if this is you or your 

spouse’s employer you may only become aware at a later date); 

 
- if this is your application this will always be referred to the Committee for decision 

and not dealt with by Officers under delegated powers; 

 

- you must not get involved in the processing of the application; and 

 

- you should use an agent to liaise and correspond on your behalf and deal with 

Officers, attend and speak on your behalf in the public speaking session at 

Committee. 

 

Page 165



 

85 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

If this is a Declarable Interest: 

- Do not get involved in trying to refer the proposal to Committee. 

 
- Ask another Councillor to deal with this with Officers or speaking at Committee as 

Ward advocate. 

 

- Exceptions are detailed below for Multi-hatted Members. 

 
 
3. Pre-determination, bias, reasonableness and fettering discretion in the Planning 

Process 

 
You are a democratically accountable decision-taker who has been elected to provide 
and pursue policies. You are entitled to be predisposed towards an outcome provided 
you have not pre-determined a proposal or be seen to have done so. To ensure that is 
the case (i.e. that you have approached this in a reasonable and unfettered way) you 
must give due consideration to all representations, Development Plan documents and 
material planning considerations (which will be set out in any Planning Case Officer’s 
report that comes before Committee). Members must have and be seen to have an 
open mind on a planning application.  

 
So: 

 

 Don’t get involved in pre-application advice or negotiations other than providing general 
advice on the planning process/ or procedure16. Planning Officers will deal with this, and 
applicants are made aware that this is not binding on the authority. Pre-application 
advice is available for all applications and encouraged for certain types of applications. 
Ward Councillors (and other Councillors as thought appropriate) will be informed if pre-
application advice has been provided for Major17  applications. Active involvement of 
Committee Members in a proposal prior to determination is likely to lead to an 
appearance of bias and/or predetermination if the Committee becomes the decision 
making body 
 

 Don’t do or say anything to make it appear that you have reached a conclusion on any 

planning proposal prior to the formal decision being made i.e. don’t “fetter your 

discretion” by approaching the decision with a closed mind. 

 

 Do listen to the views of Officers, applicants and objectors and debate at the Committee 

meeting i.e. keep an open mind in the light of all the evidence and arguments. You 

should only take account of the Development Plan documents and material planning 

considerations and must disregard irrelevant issues and considerations. 

 

 Do be aware that you will be perceived as biased where the Council is the landowner, 

developer or applicant if you have acted as, or could be perceived as being a chief 

advocate for the proposal.  

 

                                                

16 Amended under delegated authority of the Monitoring Officer section 14.6.19(c)(d) of the Constitution, following resolution of Standards Committee 
12 October 2016. 
17 As defined under Art. 2 The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 

Page 166



 

86 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Multi-hatted Members (i.e. where you are elected/ appointed to another local government 
body e.g. County or Parish/ Town Council): In all cases declare the nature of your Declarable 
Interest before the item is considered 

 
Where the external body is only a consultee on the application: 
 

 Do take part in the debate on a proposal when acting as part of a consultee body, 

provided: 

- you make it clear that your views are expressed on the limited information before you 

only; 

 
- you reserve judgement and the independence to make up your own mind on each 

separate proposal, based on your overriding duty to the whole community (and not 

just to the people in that area, ward or parish), as and when it comes before the 

Committee and you then hear all of the relevant information; and 

 
- you do not commit yourself or others may vote when the proposal comes before the 

Committee. 

 
You should then be in a position to attend, debate and vote on the item at the 
Committee. If the body is affected in other ways by the proposal you should consider 
seeking specific advice from the Monitoring Officer. 
 

Where the external body is the decision maker (such as the Hertfordshire County 
Council) and this Council is a consultee and the public interest test is met:  
 

 Do feel you can choose whether to involve yourself in the District consultation debate 

and vote, or observe. You can observe the District Committee discussions if you wish to 

participate in the County Council decision. If the external body has a Monitoring Officer 

and you are unsure whether to take part, seek his/her advice. 

 
Where the external body is the applicant: 
If you have been a chief advocate: 
 

 Don’t take part in the Committee debate or vote as the Public Interest test is likely to be 

met. You may exercise speaking rights, but should follow the process set out below* if 

you do. Seek advice if you are unsure. 

 
If you have not been a key advocate or had a significant role in the proposal: 
 

 Do take part if you have not committed yourself, as the Public interest test is unlikely to 

be met. This is going to be the case for most County Council consultee matters and may 

be the case for Town and Parish related proposals. Seek advice from the Monitoring 

Officer on the proposals. 

 

 Do take the opportunity to exercise your separate speaking rights as a Ward advocate 

where you need to represented the views of local electors (so long as you do not have a 

DPI or other Declarable Interest). *Where you intend to do this: 

 

Page 167



 

87 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

- advise the Proper Officer or Chairman that you wish to speak in this capacity before 

commencement of the item; 

 
- remove yourself from the Members area to the public area of the Committee for the 

duration of that item; and 

 
- ensure that your actions are recorded. 

 
 
4. Contact with Applicants, Developers and Objectors 

 

 Do refer those who approach you for planning, procedural or technical advice to Officers 

and/ or the Planning pages of the Council’s website. As a Ward Councillor you will 

frequently be approached for advice on what to do, or where to obtain information and 

this is the best approach. If you sit on the Committee you should refrain from making 

comments on an application before it is determined in case you are accused of having 

made up your mind. Also section 5 “Lobbying of Councillors”. 

 

 Don’t agree to any formal meeting with applicants, developers or groups of objectors if 

you can avoid it. Where you feel that a formal meeting would be useful to clarify issues, 

you only arrange that meeting through the Development and Conservation Manager if 

she/ he is able to organise one. If the meeting can be arranged, the Officer(s) will then 

ensure that those present at the meeting are advised from the start that the discussions 

will not bind the authority to any particular course of action, that the meeting is properly 

recorded on the application file and the record of the meeting is disclosed when the 

application is considered by the Committee. 

 

 Do otherwise: 

- follow the Council’s rules on lobbying; 
 
- consider whether or not it would be prudent in the circumstances to make notes 

when contacted; and 
 
- report any significant contact with the applicant and other parties to the 

Development and Conservation Manager, explaining the nature of the contact and 
your involvement in them (and this recorded on the planning file). 

 
In addition in respect of presentations by Applicants/Developers: 
 

 Don’t attend a planning presentation without requesting an Officer to be present if you 

sit on the Committee. Ideally any presentation should be made to the Committee as a 

whole as part of the determination procedure. If you are on the Committee and attend a 

presentation outside of that process, take care – you will not have all the information and 

should reserve / and make clear you will reserve your opinion on the proposals until this 

is considered properly by the Council. 

 

 Do ask relevant questions for the purposes of clarifying your understanding of the 

proposals. 

 

Page 168



 

88 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

 Do remember that the presentation is not part of the formal process of debate and 

determination of any subsequent application. This will be carried out at the Committee. 

 

 Do be aware that a presentation is a form of lobbying and, whilst you may express any 

view on the merits or otherwise of the proposal presented, you should never state how 

you or other Members would intend to vote at the Committee. 

 
 
5. Lobbying of Councillors 

 

 Do not commit yourself to those lobbying you (generally or as part of the Statement of 

Community Involvement process) to vote a particular way at Committee, as you will be 

seen as it prejudicing your impartiality, and therefore your ability to participate in the 

Committee’s determination. It is, however, possible to act as Ward advocate if you do 

not sit on the Committee and do not have an interest.  

 

 Do remember that your overriding duty is to the whole community not just to the people 

in your ward and, taking account of the need to make impartial decisions that you should 

not improperly favour, or appear to improperly favour, any person, company, group or 

locality. 

 

 Don’t accept gifts or hospitality from any person involved in or affected by a planning 

proposal. If a degree of hospitality is entirely unavoidable, ensure it is minimal, its 

acceptance is declared as soon as possible, including adding it to your register of 

interests where relevant. 

 

 Do pass on any lobbying correspondence you receive to the Development and 

Conservation Manager at the earliest opportunity. 

 

 Do promptly refer any offers made to you of planning gain or constraint of development, 

through a proposed s.106 Planning Obligation or otherwise to the Development and 

Conservation Manager. 

 

 Do inform the Monitoring Officer where you feel you have been exposed to undue or 

excessive lobbying or approaches (including inappropriate offers of gifts or hospitality). 

 
 

6. Lobbying by Councillors 

 

 Don’t become a member of, lead or represent, an organisation whose primary purpose 

is to lobby to promote or oppose planning proposals unless it is your intention to openly 

campaign on the matter. If you do you will have to follow the DPI or Declarable Interest 

path (see Code of Conduct and above). 

 

 Do join general interest groups which reflect your areas of interest and which 

concentrate on issues beyond particular planning proposals (such as the Victorian 

Society, CPRE, Ramblers Association or a local civic society), but you should  disclose 

Page 169



 

89 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

that interest on the grounds of transparency where the organisation has made 

representations on a particular proposal. 

 

 Don’t excessively lobby fellow Councillors regarding your concerns or views nor attempt 

to persuade them how they should vote in advance of the meeting at which the planning 

decision will be taken. 

 

 Don’t decide or discuss how to vote on any application at any political group meeting, or 

lobby any other Member to do so. Political Group Meetings should never dictate how 

Members should vote on a planning issue. 

 

 Don’t sit on the Committee if you are likely to regularly submit a number of planning 

applications. Councillors who are Members of Committee should never act as agents for 

individuals (including a company, group or body) pursuing a planning matter. 

 

 
7. Site Visits/Inspections 

 
A planning “site visit” is a recognised planning term within the planning system with a 

defined legal purpose. The purpose of a planning site visit is to observe the site and gain 

a better understanding of the issues. Visits made by Committee Members with Officer 

assistance are therefore the best approach. The Council does not regularly organise site 

visits and relies on report and presentations at Committee for consideration purposes. 

However, on larger or potentially contentious developments it may do so. This is not the 

same as a location or drive by visit by a Member. Once a Member becomes aware of 

a proposal they may be tempted to visit the site alone (i.e. a location or drive by visit). In 

such situations, the Member is only entitled to view the application site from public 

vantage points; they have no right to enter private property. While Members may be 

invited to enter the site by the owner, it is not good practice to do so, as it can lead to 

the perception of bias. Therefore if applicable Committee Members: 

 

 Do try to attend site visits organised by the Council where possible. 

 

 Don’t request a site visit unless you feel it is strictly necessary because: 

 
- particular site factors are significant in terms of the weight attached to them relative 

to other factors or the difficulty of their assessment in the absence of a site 
inspection; or 

 
- there are significant policy or precedent implications and specific site factors need to 

be carefully addressed. 

 
Requests can be made to the Development and Conservation Manager, or at Committee 
if the item is on the agenda and will be arranged if it is agreed that it is reasonable (in 
terms of timing and nature of the proposal). 
 

 Do ensure that you report back to the Committee any information gained from the site 

visit that you feel would benefit all Members of the Committee.  

Page 170



 

90 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

 

 Do ensure that you treat the site visit only as an opportunity to seek information and to 

observe the site. 

 

 Do ask the Officers at the site visit questions or seek clarification from them on matters 

which are relevant to the site inspection. 

 

 Don’t hear representations from any other party, with the exception of the Ward 

Member(s) whose address must focus only on site factors and site issues. Where you 

are approached by the applicant or a third party, advise them that they should make 

representations in writing to the authority, or attend the Committee and direct them to or 

inform the Officer present. 

 

 Don’t express a committed opinions or views about the proposal. 

 

 Don’t enter a site which is subject to a proposal other than as part of an official site visit, 

even in response to an invitation, as this may give the impression of bias. 

 
 
8. Public Speaking at Meetings 

 

 Don’t allow members of the public to communicate with you during the Committee’s 

proceedings (orally or in writing) other than through the scheme for public speaking or 

through the Chair, as this may give the appearance of bias. 

 

 Do ensure that you comply with the Council’s procedures in respect of public speaking. 

 
 
9. Officers 

 

 Don’t put pressure on Officers to put forward a particular recommendation. (This does 

not prevent you from asking questions or submitting views to the Officer, which may be 

incorporated into any Committee report). 

 

 Do recognise that Officers are part of a management structure and only discuss a 

proposal outside of any arranged meeting, with a Head of Service or those Officers who 

are authorised by their Head of Service to deal with the proposal at a Member level. 

 

 Do recognise and respect that Officers involved in the processing and determination of 

planning matters must act in accordance with the Council’s Employee Code and their 

professional codes of conduct, primarily the Royal Town Planning Institute’s Code of 

Professional Conduct. As a result, Planning Officers’ views, opinions and 

recommendations will be presented on the basis of their overriding obligation of 

professional independence, which may on occasion be at odds with the views, opinions 

or decisions of the Committee or its Members. 

 

 

Page 171



 

91 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

 

10. Decision Making 

 

 Do ensure that if you request a proposal to go before the Committee rather than be 

determined through Officer delegation, that you provide clear reasons (as per the 

Committee’s terms of reference under 8.4.5 (c) (ii) or (iii)) AND you should attend and 

speak to the item at Committee if you have made a request for this to go before 

Committee to present reasons/ grounds to the Committee. 

 

 Do come to meetings with an open mind and demonstrate that you are open-minded. 

 

 Do comply with section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and 

make decisions in accordance with the Development Plan18 unless material planning 

considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

 Do make sure that if you are proposing, seconding or supporting a decision contrary to 

Officer recommendation or the Development Plan that you clearly identify and 

understand the planning reasons leading to this conclusion/decision. These reasons 

must be given prior to the vote and be recorded. Be aware that you may have to justify 

the resulting decision by giving evidence in the event of any challenge at Appeal/ Inquiry 

or Judicial Review. 

 

 Do come to your decision only after due consideration of all of the information 

reasonably required upon which to base a decision. If you feel there is insufficient time to 

digest new information or that there is simply insufficient information before you, request 

further information. If necessary this may lead to a proposal to defer (or, if sufficient 

reasons to do so, a refusal). 

 

 Do make clear any reasons for deferral of any proposal, as these must be recorded.  

 

 Don’t vote or take part in the meeting’s discussion on a proposal unless you have been 

present to hear the entire debate, including the Officer’s introduction to the matter. 

 
 
11. Planning Enforcement 

 
It is not always a criminal offence to carry out development without planning 
permission. However, is likely to constitute a contravention of planning laws and 
the Council (as Local Planning Authority) can enforce those laws.  
 
So: 
 

 Do pass on reports from local residents of suspected planning breaches or those you 

believe have taken place, to the Development and Conservation Manager, as soon as 

possible, as enforcement action is time critical. These will then be investigated and 

                                                

18 The Development Plan is defined under section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as any regional strategy, development plan 
documents (taken as a whole) which have been adopted or approved in relation the area and any adopted neighbourhood development plans. 

Page 172



 

92 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Members updated when or where appropriate and enforcement matters reported 

regularly to the Committee. 

 

 Don’t discuss enforcement matters with third parties – you should stress that you cannot 

commit the Council to any particular course of enforcement action. 

 
 

12. Training 

 

 Don’t participate in decision making at Committee unless you have attended the 

mandatory planning training prescribed by the Council. 

 

 Do endeavour to attend any other specialised training sessions provided, as these will 

be designed to extend your knowledge of planning law, regulations, procedures, Codes 

of Practice and the Development Plans beyond the minimum referred to above and 

therefore assist you in carrying out your role properly and effectively. All Members are 

invited for annual refresher training and should endeavour to attend. 

 

 Do participate in any annual review of a sample of planning decisions to ensure that 

Members` judgements have been based on proper planning considerations. 

 

 

13. In summary: 
 

 Apply Code of Conduct and then this Code.  

 

 Declare interests and follow the participation procedures that apply to the interest you 

have. 

 

 Don’t involve yourself in pre-application advice or negotiations. 

 

 Refer queries on applications and procedures to Officers. 

 

 Ensure that if you request a proposal to go before the Committee that your reasons are 

clear (as per the Committee terms of reference). You should attend the Committee 

and speak to the item if you do this. Don’t do this if you have an interest. 

 

 Avoid meeting directly with developers/ attending presentations by them without Officers 

being present. Avoid lobbying other Members about a proposal.  

 

 If you decide to undertake a location/ drive by of the proposal site, only view this from 

public vantage points. This is not the same as a Planning Site Visit and Committee 

Members should attend if organised by the Council. 

 

 Don’t put pressure of Planning Officers to change their recommendations before a 

Committee. 

 

 Come to meetings with an open mind and demonstrate that you are open-minded.  

Page 173



 

93 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

 

 Come to your decision only after due consideration of all of relevant information. Making 

decisions in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 

indicate otherwise. 

 

 Don’t vote or take part in the discussion on a proposal at the meeting unless you have 

been present to hear the entire debate, including the Officers’ introduction to the matter. 

 

 If you are proposing, (seconding or supporting) a decision contrary to an Officer’s 

recommendation or the Development Plan you must clearly identify the planning reasons 

for doing so. These reasons must be given prior to the vote and be recorded. You may 

have to justify the resulting decision by giving evidence in the event of any challenge. 

 

 Report potential planning breaches to the Development and Conservation Manager. 

 

 You must attend any mandatory training. Attend other specialist training if made 

available. 

 

 If you are unsure about any of the above, seek advice. 

 

Page 174



 

94 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 9 

9. Area Committees 

9.1 Introduction 

In order to promote close working with our communities there are five Area 
Committees which cover different geographical areas of the district. The Area 
Committees are given substantial powers and responsibilities, within the parameters 
of the policies set by the Council and Cabinet and as set out in the terms of 
reference, including the ability to consider and report to Cabinet and Council on any 
matter affecting their area. Area Committees must operate within Council policy and 
decisions must be consistent with the Budget and Policy framework and service 
specific policies. 

9.2 Form, composition and function 

9.2.1 The Council will appoint Area Committees as set out in the first 
column of the table below. The Wards to be included within the area 
administered by each Area Committee are shown in the second 
column of the table below. 

Area Committee Membership Composition 

Baldock and 

District 

Committee 

6 The Wards of Baldock East and Baldock 
Town, the Arbury Ward and the Weston 
and Sandon Ward which comprise the 
parishes of Ashwell, Bygrave, Caldecote, 
Clothall, Hinxworth, Newnham, Radwell, 
Rushden, Sandon, Wallington and 
Weston. 

Hitchin 

Committee 

13 The Wards of Hitchin Bearton, Hitchin 
Highbury, Hitchin Oughton, Hitchin Priory 
(including the north ward of the parish of 
St Ippolyts) and Hitchin Walsworth. 

Letchworth 

Committee 

13 The Wards of Letchworth Grange, 
Letchworth East, Letchworth South East, 
Letchworth South West and Letchworth 
Wilbury. 

Royston and 

District 

Committee 

7 The Wards of Royston Heath, Royston 
Meridian and Royston Palace (which 
comprise the area of Royston Town 
Council) and the Ermine Ward (which 
comprises the parishes of Barkway, 
Barley, Kelshall, Nuthampstead, Reed 
and Therfield). 

Southern 

Rural 

10 The Wards of Cadwell, Chesfield, 
Codicote, Graveley and Wymondley, 
Hitchwood, Offa & Hoo, Kimpton and 
Knebworth which comprise the parishes 

Page 175



 

95 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Committee of Codicote, Graveley, Great Ashby, 
Hexton, Holwell, Ickleford, the south 
Ward of the parish of St Ippolyts (south 
ward), Kings Walden, Kimpton, 
Knebworth, Langley, Lilley, Offley, St 
Pauls Walden, Pirton, Preston and 
Wymondley. 

 

9.2.2 All Members of the Council will be a member of the Area Committee 
that includes their own Ward. 

9.2.3 The Area Committee elects its Chairman and Vice-Chairman 
annually. 

9.3 Delegations 

The Council and Cabinet will include details of the delegations to Area Committees. 
The delegations to Area Committees will include budgets for the purpose of providing 
grants and discretionary budgets that may be used within the area of the Committee 
for economic, social and environmental well-being. 

9.4 Area Committees - Access to Information 

9.4.1 Area Committees will comply with the Access to Information Rules 
in Part 15 of this Constitution. 

9.4.2 Agendas and Notices for Area Committee meetings which deal with 
both functions of the Cabinet and functions which are not the 
responsibility of the Cabinet will state clearly which items are which. 

9.5 Cabinet Members on Area Committees 

A Member of the Cabinet may serve on, and chair, an Area Committee.  

9.6 Quorum 

9.6.1 The quorum for meetings of Area Committees will be:  

   Baldock and District Committee 3 
Hitchin Committee 7 
Letchworth Committee 7 
Royston and District Committee 3 
Southern Rural Committee 5 
 

9.6.2 In the event of a tie the Chairman will have a casting vote. 

9.7 Meetings 

Page 176



 

96 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

9.7.1 There will be a maximum19 of four (4) ordinary meetings of each 
Area Committee per year. 

9.7.2 Extraordinary meetings can be called by the Proper Officer in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council following a request of 
the Chairman, giving due notice as required by the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules. 

9.7.3 At an extraordinary meeting of an Area Committee the only 
business to be transacted will be that included within the summons 
to attend the meeting. 

9.8 Terms of Reference 

9.8.1 Policy - exercise of decisions by resolution 

(a) To allocate discretionary budgets within the terms determined by the 
Council. 

(b) To allocate devolved budgets and activities within the terms determined 
by the Council. 

(c) To promote the introduction of local byelaws. 

(d) To maintain public War Memorials. 

(e) To provide art in public places. 

(f) To designate polling places and review the boundaries of polling 
districts. 

9.8.2 Community 

(a) To undertake a community leadership role in bringing together different 
interest groups from the public, private and voluntary sectors to work in 
partnership to meet the Council's corporate strategic and local 
objectives. 

(b) To consider the policies and actions of the Cabinet as to their 
appropriateness to the needs and aspirations of local communities. 

(c) To receive petitions, presentations and questions from members of the 
public, groups and outside bodies on matters relating to their area. 

(d) To act as a forum for discussion on matters of local interest and in 
particular to elicit/hear the views of local bodies and organisations. 

(e) To make arrangements for the provision of information about local 
services and other matters to people in the area. 

(f) To provide local input into centrally determined specifications for all 
services. 

                                                

19 As from civic year 2016/17 

Page 177



 

97 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(g) To establish and maintain relationships with outside bodies/voluntary 
organisations operating specifically within the area including, where 
appropriate, the provision of discretionary grant aid/financial support 
etc. but excluding grants for district-wide activities (as determined by 
the Head of Policy and Community Services). 

Delegated powers Delegated Members and Officers 

The provision of revenue20 grant 
aid/financial support  to a maximum limit 
of £500  where the grant aid/financial 
support is to facilitate an event which 
will take place prior to the next meeting 
of the Area Committee.   

The Service Director: Legal and 
Community in consultation with the 
Chairman or Vice Chairman of the 
relevant Area Committee. 

9.8.3 Protocols 

(a) Within the above Terms of Reference, the style and tone of a meeting 
and the way it is managed will be determined by the Chairman and 
Committee members. 

(b) There is no intention to be prescriptive about the management of 
meetings, but rather to let local Members run their business in ways 
that best reflect their local areas, provided that decisions are consistent 
with the Council’s Budget and Policy framework and service specific 
policies. 

(c) Notwithstanding this, the following are guidelines to assist Members in 
determining their approach: 

(i) Members of the public may request to speak at a meeting and 
must give advance notice of their intention to do so by contacting 
the Democratic Services Manager by noon of the day of the 
meeting. The option to speak will be at the discretion of the 
Chairman. In normal circumstances there would be a maximum 
time allowed of ten (10) minutes. This action would fall within the 
agenda item of Public Participation. 

(ii) County Councillors are able to attend area meetings and may 
speak, but not vote, subject to having notified the Chairman of 
their wish to do so. Such notification to be given to the 
Democratic Services Manager before 4pm on the day of the 
meeting. 

(iii) Parish Councillors are able to attend area meetings, but should 
do so as members of the public and sit in the public gallery, 
unless specifically requested to participate by the Chairman. 
Parish Councillors do not have a right to speak at a meeting, but 
may do so at the discretion of the Chairman. 

                                                

 
20 This does not include Capital Grants recommended through the Capital Grant Panel 

Page 178



 

98 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(iv) The Chairman may invite advisors to meetings as and when 
required to assist in discussion. They may speak as directed by 
the Chairman but not vote. 

(v) At Area Committee meetings, with the exception of the Area 
Champions and Committee Administrators, officers should only 
"come to the table" to present their reports. Once they have done 
this they may return to the public gallery or feel free to leave the 
meeting. 

(vi) For items where the Committee resolves to exclude the public 
and press, officers should remain outside of the meeting room 
until called in to present their report, and once this has been 
discussed, they should leave the meeting. 

Page 179



 

99 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 10 

10. OTHER COMMITTEES 

10.1 Finance, Audit and Risk Committee 

10.1.1 Role  & Functions 

The Role and functions of the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee shall be as 
follows:  

(a)  Finance, Audit and Risk; and 

(b)  the oversight and approval of Financial, Audit and Risk Management 
matters (not otherwise the responsibility of the Cabinet, Full Council or 
Standards Committee) as set out in the Terms of Reference. 

10.1.2  Membership 

No more than seven members shall be appointed to the Finance, Audit and Risk 
Committee. The Chairman shall be appointed at the annual meeting of the 
Council. 

10.1.3 Quorum 

The Quorum for a meeting of the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee shall be 
three (3) voting members of that Committee. 

10.1.4 Proceedings of the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee. 

There shall be six regular meetings of the Committee in each year. In addition, 
extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time, as and when 
appropriate. An extraordinary meeting may be called by the Chairman of the 
Committee or by the Proper Officer if he/she considers it is necessary or 
appropriate. 

10.1.5 Terms of Reference: 

Finance 

(a) To review and approve the Statement of Accounts.  

(b) To review and recommend the Medium Term Financial Strategy to Cabinet 
(including, although not limited to consideration of associated procedures, 
policies and process).   

(c) To consider the Council’s policy in relation to Treasury Management and make 
recommendations on the Annual Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategy, and Treasury Management Code of Practice. 

(d) Assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its Budget and Policy 
Framework process by in-depth analysis of policy issues pertaining to finance, 
audit and risk. 

Page 180



 

100 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(e) To consider mechanisms to encourage participatory budgeting and enhanced 
community participation in the budget process.  

(f) To review the financial performance of the Council in relation to its policy 
objectives, and budgetary amounts, and to make recommendations to Cabinet 
(unless legally reserved to Full Council) on any matter arising out of the finance 
monitoring and review process within the terms of this Committee. 

(g) To maintain an overview of the Council’s Constitution in respect of Contract 
Procurement Rules and Financial Regulations, consider any major changes and 
make recommendations to Council for approval. 

Audit & Governance 

Internal 

(h) To ensure that an annual review of the effectiveness of internal control 
(accounting records, supporting records and financial) systems is undertaken and 
this review considered before approving the Annual Governance Statement. 

(i) To consider the Shared Internal Audit Service (‘SIAS’) annual report and opinion, 
summary of internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of 
assurance it can give over the Council’s corporate governance arrangements 
(including, although not limited to agreed high level recommendations not 
implemented). 

(j) To review the SIAS arrangements, including performance, effectiveness, 
consideration of any associated reports and approve/ make recommendations as 
appropriate. 

(k) To consider and approve the Annual Audit Plan, Code of Audit Practice and 
Statement of Responsibilities (including any drafts, where appropriate).  

(l) To approve the Code of Corporate Governance. 

(m) To review and comment on the development of anti-fraud and anti-corruption 
strategies, ‘Raising Concerns at Work’ and Whistleblowing Policy. 

(n) To review the Shared Anti-Fraud Service (‘SAFS’) arrangements, including 
performance, effectiveness, consideration of any associated reports and approve/ 
make recommendations as appropriate.  

External Audit 

(o) To appoint (when this requirement arises) the Council’s Auditor Panel (if 
expedient, with one or more other relevant authority). 

(p) To appoint (when this requirement arises) the Council’s external Local Auditor, 
having consulted and taken into account the advice of the Council’s Auditor 
Panel. 

(q) To consider (and to approve where required) the Annual Audit letter to Members, 
Annual Audit and Inspection Fee Letter.  

Page 181



 

101 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(r) To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives 
value for money.  

(s) To receive reports or recommendations from the external Local Auditor, other 
than public interest reports (which shall be direct to Full Council). 

Risk 

(t) To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and 
corporate governance, agree actions (where appropriate) and make 
recommendations to Cabinet. 

General 

(u) To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive, Statutory Officer or 
Service Director, or any Council body and undertake such other functions that 
may be delegated to it from time to time by Council. 

(v) To bring to the attention of Council financial, audit or risk concerns, with 
recommendations as to how these matters should be remedied.  

(w) When undertaking any of the afore-stated functions to consider compliance with 
Council policies, other public standards, controls and best practice. 

 

10.2 Council Tax Setting Committee 

10.2.1 Terms of Reference 

The Council will appoint one Council Tax Setting Committee for the purpose 
of setting the Council Tax Base and the Council Tax. The Committee will 
have the responsibilities as set below. 

(a) Set the Council Tax Base in accordance with the Local Authority 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 2012; 

(b) Set the Council Tax in accordance with Chapter III & IV of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992; 

(c) Approve the non-domestic rating income (NNDR1) Return. 

10.2.2 Specific Functions 

The functions of the Council Tax Setting Committee are to set the Council 
Tax Base and to set the overall level of Council Tax for the following 
financial year taking into account the precepts of all Major and Local 
Precepting Authorities. The Committee also approves the information 
submitted to the Government about non-domestic rate income, as required 
by the NNDR1 form. 

10.2.3 Membership 

Page 182



 

102 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

No more than five members shall be appointed to the Council Tax Setting 
Committee. The Chairman shall be appointed at the annual meeting of the 
Council. 

10.2.4 Quorum 

The Quorum for a meeting of the Council Tax Setting Committee shall be 
three voting members of that Committee. 

10.2.5 Proceedings of the Council Tax Setting Committee. 

There shall be a minimum of two regular meetings of the Committee in each 
year. In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time, as 
and when appropriate. An extraordinary meeting may be called by the 
Chairman of the Committee or by the Proper Officer if he/she considers it is 
necessary or appropriate.  

10.2.6 Meetings of the Council Tax Setting Committee shall consider the 
following business: 

(a) minutes of the last meeting; 

(b) declarations of interest (including whipping declarations); 

(c) responses of the Council to their reports; and 

(d) any other business set out on the agenda for the meeting. 

 

10.3 Employment Committee 

10.3.1 Membership 

No more than five (5) members (including at least one (1) member of 
Cabinet) shall be appointed to the Employment Committee.  

10.3.2 Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of the Committee shall be three (3) voting 
members of that Committee.  

10.3.3 Meetings 

As called for by the Proper Officer. 

10.3.4 Terms of Reference 

(a) To interview candidates for the post of Head of Paid Service (Chief 
Executive) and make a recommendation for appointment to Council. 

(b) To interview and appoint candidates for the posts of Deputy Chief 
Executive,  and to interview and recommend to Council the 
appointment of Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer. 

Page 183



 

103 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(c) To appoint candidates for the posts of Service Directors. 

(d) To consider any alleged misconduct and take any necessary 
disciplinary action against the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer, 
the Chief Finance Officer in accordance with the Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules (as applicable to the Officers concerned). If following 
consideration of the matter the Committee concludes that a ‘relevant 
officer’21 should be dismissed then this will be referred to the 
Employment Panel for consideration and potential recommendation of 
dismissal to Full Council. The remit of the Committee will include 
whether to recommend issuing a notice of dismissal of a ‘relevant 
officer’ for disciplinary reasons to the Employment Panel, or deciding 
whether to impose all other disciplinary action including dismissal 
(unless reserved to Full Council). 

(e) To authorise suspension of the Chief Executive where it is considered 
appropriate during the investigation of alleged misconduct.  

(f) Exercise the powers under the Local Government (Early Termination of 
Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) Regulations up to the 
financial limits set out in the Council’s Pay Policy Statement. 

10.3.5 By recommendation to Council: 

(a) The appointment of the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), Chief 
Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer prior to any offer being issued. 

(b) The dismissal of the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), Chief 
Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer prior to any notice being issued 
(for all non-disciplinary reasons). 

(c) Any decision within the Committee’s terms of reference which would 
exceed the financial limits set out in the Council’s Pay Policy 
Statement. 

Delegated powers Delegated Members and Officers 

To ascertain whether allegations raised 
against the Chief Executive the Monitoring 
Officer or, the Chief Finance Officer are 
substantial issues regarding investigation or 
whether they do not require investigation on 
the basis that they are clearly unfounded, 
trivial or best dealt with under an alternative 
procedure.  

Monitoring Officer (or Deputy Monitoring 
Officer in the event of conflict or absence) in 
consultation with the Chairman. 

 

10.4  Employment Panel: 

10.4.1 Membership 

                                                

21 As per definition 12.8.7 – 12.8.14 of the Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

Page 184



 

104 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Two Independent Persons, comprising of the appointed Independent 
Person and Reserve Independent Person.  

10.4.2 Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of the Committee shall be two (2). 

10.4.3 Meetings 

As called for by the Proper Officer, following the Employment Committees 
consideration under convened to consider whether to recommend to 
Council the dismissal of a ‘relevant officer’ as per 12.8.7 – 12.8.14 of the 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules. When sitting for this purpose the 
Committee shall be considered a Panel as defined by The Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)(Amendment) Regulations 2015. 

10.4.4 Terms of reference: 

(a)  To consider any alleged misconduct and recommendation for dismissal 
from the Employment Committee against a ‘relevant officer’ in 
accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules. The remit of 
that meeting will include whether to agree with any prior 
recommendation to dismiss and recommend issuing a notice of 
dismissal  of that ‘relevant officer’ to Full Council. 

 

10.5 Employment Appeals Committee 

10.5.1 Membership 

No more than five (5) members who are not be members of the 
Employment Committee (including at least one (1) member of Cabinet) 
shall be appointed to the Employment Appeals Committee.  

10.5.2 Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of the Committee shall be three (3) voting 
members of that Committee.  

10.5.3 Meetings 

Ad-Hoc 

10.5.4 Terms of Reference 

(a) The determination of appeals against any decision of the Employment 
Committee to take action short of dismissal against the Chief Executive, 
the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer following an 
allegation of misconduct. 

Page 185



 

105 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(b) To consider appeals against decisions made by the Chief Executive 
relating to the dismissal by reason of redundancy or otherwise of Chief 
Officers22, other than Statutory Officers. 

 

10.6 Joint Staff Consultative Committee (JSCC) 

10.6.1. Introduction 

JSCC is an informal committee which is attended by representatives of 
the Staff Consultation Forum and Trade Union(s). It does not make 
decisions, but provides an opportunity for Members to discuss employee 
relations and Human Resource management issues. The Chairman is 
appointed at Annual Council. 

10.6.2. Membership 

No more than five (5) Members shall be appointed to the Joint Staff 
Consultative Committee. 

10.6.3. Quorum 

The quorum for the meeting of the JSCC shall be three (3) voting 
Members of that Committee. 

10.6.4. Meetings 

4 per year. 

10.6.5. Terms of Reference 

The JSCC will have the following roles and functions: 

(a) Regular consultation between the Council and its employees; 

(b) To be the Member interface with employees on major human resource 
issues; 

(c) To be the strategic HR Forum for NHDC Members; 

(d) To consider, report and make recommendations to the  Service 
Director: Resources on terms and conditions of service and on training 
and development. 

                                                

22 As defined in section 12.8.1(c) 

Page 186



 

106 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 11 

11. Joint arrangements 

11.1 Introduction 

There are a number of circumstances where the Council or the Cabinet is entitled to 
carry out certain functions jointly with another local authority. 

11.2 Arrangements to Promote Wellbeing 

The Cabinet, in order to promote the economic, social, or environmental wellbeing of 
its area, may: 

11.2.1 enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 

11.2.2 co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of any 
person or body; and 

11.2.3 exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that 
person or body. 

11.3 Joint Arrangements 

11.3.1 The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more 
local authorities and/or their executives to exercise functions which 
are not Executive Functions in any of the participating authorities, or 
advise the Council.  Such arrangements may involve the 
appointment of a joint committee with those other local authorities.   

11.3.2 The Cabinet may establish joint arrangements with one or more 
local authorities to exercise functions which are Executive 
Functions.  Such arrangements may involve the appointment of joint 
committees with those other local authorities.  Except as set out 
below, or as permitted or required by Law, the Cabinet may only 
appoint Cabinet Members to such joint committees and those 
Members need not reflect the political composition of the Council as 
a whole. 

11.3.3 The Cabinet may appoint members to a Joint Committee from 
outside the Cabinet where the Joint Committee has functions for 
only part of the area of the Council and that area is smaller than two 
fifths of that local authority, by area or population.  In such cases, 
the Cabinet may appoint to the Joint Committee any Councillor who 
is member for an electoral ward contained within the area.  Political 
balance requirements do not apply to such appointments.   

11.4 Access to Information 

11.4.1 The Access to Information Rules in Section 15 apply.   

11.4.2 If all the Members of a Joint Committee are Members of the Cabinet 
in each of the participating authorities, then its access to information 
regime is the same as that applied to the Cabinet.   

Page 187



 

107 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

11.4.3 If the Joint Committee contains members who are not on the 
Cabinet of any participating authority, then the Access to 
Information Rules in part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) will apply.   

11.5 Delegation to and from Other Local Authorities 

11.5.1 The Council can delegate Non-Executive Functions to another local 
authority or, where those functions are the responsibility of the 
executive of another local authority, to that executive.   

11.5.2 The Cabinet can delegate Executive Functions to another local 
authority or the executive of another local authority in certain 
circumstances.   

11.5.3 The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from 
another local authority is reserved to the Full Council.   

11.6 Contracting Out 

The Council (in respect of Non-Executive Functions) and the Cabinet (in respect of 
Executive Functions) may contract out to another body or organisation  functions: 

11.6.1 which may be exercised by an Officer and which are subject to an 
order under section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 
1994; or 

11.6.2 under contracting arrangements where the Contractor acts as the 
Council’s Agent under usual contracting principles, provided there is 
no delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision making. 

11.7 CCTV Joint Committee 

11.7.1 Membership, Quorum and Meetings 

(a) The Membership shall comprise: three Cabinet members from each of 
the Authorities. 

(b) Meetings shall be held at least once per annum or when there is 
sufficient business. 

(c) Meetings shall be held alternately at the offices of each partner 
authority. 

(d) The Chairman shall be a member of the Authority hosting the meeting. 

(e) The quorum shall be three Members, with at least one from each of the 
partner authorities. 

(f) The meetings shall follow the normal Standing Orders of the hosting 
authority. 

11.7.2 Terms of Reference 

Page 188



 

108 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(a) To discuss and agree the strategic and policy issues relating to the 
jointly owned and operated CCTV Control and Monitoring service. 

(b) To deal with all matters defined under the CCTV ‘Code of Practice’ as 
the responsibility of the CCTV Executive Board. 

(c) To consider and approve expansion or contraction proposals for the 
CCTV Control Room, Network, and monitoring service. 

(d) To consider and agree changes to the CCTV ‘Code of Practice’. 

(e) To ensure the Independent inspection regime is set up and maintained. 

(f) To receive and approve the Independent Inspectors’ annual report. 

(g) To consider complaints regarding any breaches of the CCTV ‘Code of 
Practice’ and recommendations for preventing breaches.  To 
recommend disciplinary action where appropriate. 

(h) To make recommendations on any of the above to the Officer 
Management Board.  

Page 189



 

109 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 12  

12. Officers 

12.1 Management Structure 

12.1.1 General 

The Full Council may engage such staff (referred to as Officers) as it 
considers necessary to carry out its functions. 

The Council’s management structure is published on the Council’s website. 

12.1.2 Officer delegation 

The Council will engage persons for the following posts, (as set out in the 
table below, to be appointed as per the legislative requirements as 
applicable), which designation includes persons acting temporarily in such 
capacity.  These Officers have the power to delegate further under their 
schemes of delegation, as detailed further in Section 14. 

Post Responsibility 

Chief Executive   Head of Paid Service: to co-ordinate discharge of 
all functions and exercise overall managerial and 
operational responsibility for staff 

 To lead the Senior Management Team; 

 Representing the Council on partnership and 
external bodies (as required by statute or the 
Council) and Strategic Partnerships. 

 Electoral Registration Officer; 

 Returning Officer for Elections and Officer 
responsible for referenda; 

 Data Protection Officer for Elections; 

 Emergency Planning Officer; 

 Communications; 

  

Service Director 
– Commercial  

 Lead officer in relation to business development 
and commercial operations. 

 Council Director – Building Control Companies; 

 Council Director – Housing/Property Development 
Companies;  

Page 190



 

110 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Post Responsibility 

 CCTV (company);  

 Development of Commercial Operations; 

 Estates and Asset Management;  

 Markets; 

 Museums including North Hertfordshire Museum 
and Hitchin Town Hall; 

 Project Support. 

Service Director 
- Customers 

 Chief Information Officer / Data Controller  

 Careline; 

 Customer Service Centre; 

 Data Protection and Freedom of Information; 

 Information Technology;  

 Management Support Unit; 

 Print  

 Revenues and Benefits 

Customer 
Services 
Manager 

 Council’s Data Protection Officer 

Service Director 
– Legal and 
Community 

 Chief Legal Officer to the Council; 

 Monitoring Officer; 

 Community Development (including grants); 

 Committee & Member Services;  

 Community Safety; 

 Elections Services; 

 Legal Services; 

 Licensing;  

 Policy and Safeguarding (including health); 

Page 191



 

111 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Post Responsibility 

 Procurement; 

 Scrutiny support. 

Service Director 
- Place 

 Active Communities team (excluding safeguarding & 
Health); 

 Emergency Planning; 

 Grounds Maintenance;  

 Leisure development opportunities & Leisure 
Management; 

 Parks and Open Spaces 9including Green Space 
Strategy); 

 Waste (including shared waste service). 

Service Director 
- Regulatory 

 Building Control (client); 

 Car Parking (including enforcement); 

 Economic Development;  

 Development Management; 

 Environmental Enforcement (including health and 
safety, food safety and hygiene, contaminated land, 
air quality);  

 Environmental Health; 

 Housing;  

 Parking and Transport Strategy; 

 Planning (local planning Authority) including 
Strategic Planning. 

Service Director 
- Resources 

 Chief Finance Officer – section 151 

 Anti Money Laundering reporting Officer  

 Building Services; 

 Finance;  

 Human Resources; 

 Performance, project management, risk, audit and 

Page 192



 

112 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Post Responsibility 

insurance;  

 Shared anti-fraud service. 

 

12.1.3 Scheme of Delegations 

The Scheme of Delegations to Officers is set out in Section 14. 

12.1.4 Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer 

The Council will designate the following posts as shown: 

 

 

 

 

 

Such posts will have the functions and responsibilities more particularly 
described in Sections 12.2 to 12.4 and delegations under section 14. 

12.2 Functions of the Head of Paid Service 

12.2.1 Discharge of Functions by the Council 

The Head of Paid Service will report to Full Council on the manner in which 
the discharge of the Council’s functions is co-ordinated, the number and 
grade of Officers required for the discharge of functions and the 
organisation of Officers. 

12.2.2 Restrictions on Functions 

The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer but may hold 
the post of Chief Finance Officer if a qualified accountant. 

12.3 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 

12.3.1 Maintaining the Constitution 

The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution 
and will ensure that it is widely available for Members, staff and the public. 

12.3.2 Ensuring Lawfulness and Fairness of Decision Making 

After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, 
the Monitoring Officer will report to the Full Council or to the Cabinet in 

Post Designation 

Chief Executive Head of Paid Service 

Service Director: Legal and Community Monitoring Officer 

Service Director: Resources  Chief Finance Officer 

Page 193



 

113 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

relation to an Executive Function if he or she considers that any proposal, 
decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or 
omission has given rise to maladministration.  Such a report will have the 
effect of stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the 
report has been considered. 

12.3.3 Supporting the Standards Committee 

The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of 
high standards of conduct through provision of support to the Standards 
Committee. 

12.3.4 Receiving Complaints about Councillors 

The Monitoring Officer will receive complaints of failures to comply with the 
Members’ Code of Conduct and determine, in consultation with the 
Independent Person, whether a complaint requires formal investigation. The 
Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve a complaint informally prior to a 
decision on whether the complaint merits formal investigation. 

12.3.5 Conducting Investigations 

The Monitoring Officer will arrange formal investigations as appropriate into 
matters referred to him/her and make reports or recommendations in 
respect of them to the Standards Committee. Subject to providing a report 
for information to the Standards Committee, the Monitoring Officer may take 
no further action where a formal investigation finds no evidence of a failure 
to comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct, or seek an informal 
resolution (subject to consultation with the Independent Person) where the 
complainant is satisfied with the outcome. 

12.3.6 Advising whether decisions of the Cabinet are within the Budget and 
Policy Framework 

The Monitoring Officer will, in conjunction with the Chief Finance Officer, 
advise whether decisions of the Cabinet are in accordance with the Budget 
and Policy Framework. 

12.3.7 Providing Advice 

The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and 
authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity 
and Budget and Policy Framework issues to the Councillors. 

12.3.8 Restrictions on Posts 

The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or the Head of 
Paid Service. 

12.4 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer 

12.4.1 Ensuring Lawfulness and Financial Prudence of Decision Making 

Page 194



 

114 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, 
the Chief Finance Officer will report to the Full Council or to the Cabinet in 
relation to an Executive Function and the Council’s external auditor if he or 
she considers that any proposal, decision or course of action will involve 
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency or if the Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully. 

12.4.2 Administration of Financial Affairs 

The Chief Finance Officer will have responsibility for the administration of 
the financial affairs of the Council.  

12.4.3 Contributing to Corporate Management 

The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management of 
the Council, in particular through the provision of professional financial 
advice. 

12.4.4 Providing Advice 

The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and 
authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity 
and Budget and Policy Framework issues to all Councillors and will support 
and advise Councillors and Officers in their respective roles. 

12.4.5 Give Financial Information 

The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial information to the media, 
members of the public and the community. 

12.4.6 Advising whether Decisions of the Cabinet are within the Budget 
and Policy Framework 

The Chief Finance Officer will, in conjunction with the Monitoring Officer, 
advise whether decisions of the Cabinet are in accordance with the Budget 
and Policy Framework. 

12.5 Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer 

The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with such 
Officers, accommodation and other resources as are in the opinion of the Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Finance Officer sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 

12.6 Conduct 

Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol for 
Officer/Member Relations set out in Section 18 of this Constitution. 

12.7 Employment 

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of Officers will comply with the Officer 
Employment Procedure Rules set out below. 

Page 195



 

115 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

12.8 Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

The Council is legally obliged under the Local Government & Housing Act 1989 (the 
‘1989 Act’) and consequential Regulations to adopt mandatory Standing Orders 
relating to members of staff. These are contained in the Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules detailed under this rule 12.8. 

12.8.1 Introduction 

(a)  The functions of appointment and dismissal and taking disciplinary 
action against a member of staff must be discharged on behalf of the 
Council by the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) or an Officer 
nominated by him/her. Save for as provided for in these rules this means 
that the appointment, dismissal or disciplinary action for staff (other than 
political assistants) must be dealt with by the Chief Executive or his/her 
nominee, without any participation by Members.  

(b) Nothing in 12.8.1 and 12.8.6 (a) shall prevent a person from serving as a 
member of any committee or sub-committee established by the authority 
to consider an appeal by— 

(i)  another person against any decision relating to the appointment of 
that other person as a member of staff of the authority; or 

(ii)  a member of staff of the authority against any decision relating to 
the dismissal of, or taking disciplinary action against, that member of 
staff. 

(c)  In paragraph 12.8.1-12.8.4 ‘Chief Officer’ means the Head of Paid 
Service, the Deputy Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief 
Finance Officer and all Service Directors23   

12.8.2 Recruitment and Appointment 

(a) Declarations 

(i) The Council has drawn up at statement requiring any candidate for 
an appointment as an officer to state in writing whether they are the 
parent, grandparent, child, grandchild, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, 
nephew or niece of an existing Councillor or officer of the Council, or 
the partner of such persons. 

(ii)  No candidate so related to a Councillor or an officer will be 
appointed without the authority of the relevant Chief Officer or an 
officer nominated by him/her. 

(b) Seeking Support for Appointment 

(i) Subject to paragraph (iii), the Council will disqualify any applicant 
who directly or indirectly seeks the support of any Councillor for any 

                                                

23 The procedures in paragraph 12.8.3 shall not apply to any other non-statutory Chief Officer, that would otherwise fall within the statutory definition pursuant to the provisions 
of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) Regulations 1993 Paragraph 3 of Part II of Schedule 1 

Page 196



 

116 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

appointment with the Council.  The content of this paragraph will be 
included in any recruitment information. 

(ii) Subject to paragraph (iii), no Councillor will seek support for any 
person for any appointment with the Council. 

(iii) Nothing in paragraphs (i) and (ii) above will preclude a Councillor 
from giving a written reference for a candidate for submission with 
an application for appointment. 

12.8.3 Recruitment of Chief Officers 

12.8.3.1 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Officer and it is not 
proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from among their 
existing Officers, the Council will: 

(a) draw up a statement including the following: 

(i) the duties of the Officer concerned; and 

(ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be 
appointed; 

(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is 
likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for 
it; and 

(c) make arrangements for a copy of the procedures mentioned in 
paragraph 12.8.3(a) to be sent to any person on request. 

12.8.3.2 Where a post has been advertised as provided for in 12.8.3.1, the Council 
shall– 

(a)  interview all qualified applicants for the post, or 

(b) select a short list of such qualified applicants and interview those 
included on the short list. 

12.8.3.3 Where a post has been advertised as provided for in 12.8.3.1 and no 
qualified person has applied, the Council shall make further arrangements 
for advertisement in accordance with standing order 12.8.3.1 

12.8.4 Appointment of Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) 

(a) The Full Council shall decide whether to approve the appointment of 
the Head of Paid Service, following the recommendation of the 
Employment Committee and before the offer of appointment is made. 

(b) The Full Council may only approve the appointment of the Head of Paid 
Service where no well-founded objection has been made by any 
member of the Cabinet (via the procedure set out in 12.8.5 below). 

Page 197



 

117 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

12.8.5 Appointments and Dismissals of Chief Officers any Chief officers 
that fall outside of the section 12.8.1 (c) provision and Deputy Chief 
Officers.  

In this paragraph:  

“the appointor”  

 

 
 
 
 
“dismissor”  

means the relevant decision making body or 
officer as per the Terms of Reference or 
delegation to Full Council, Committee or the 
Head of Paid Service, or as in the case of the 
initial notification to the Proper Officer – on 
behalf of ;  
means the relevant decision making body or 
officer as per the terms of reference or 
delegation to Full Council, Committee or the 
Head of Paid Service and 
 

“the Proper Officer”  means the Service Director: Legal and 
Community Services. 

(a) Where the appointor or dismissor is proposing to appoint or dismiss the 
Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer, the 
Council must approve that appointment before the offer of appointment 
is made or must approve that dismissal before notice of dismissal is 
given. 

(b) The appointor shall not make an offer of appointment in relation to the 
Head of Paid Service, any Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer until: 

(i) the appointor has notified the Proper Officer of the name of the 
person he/she or it  wishes to make the offer and any other 
particulars considered to be relevant to the appointment; 

(ii) the Proper Officer has notified every member of the Cabinet of: 

A. the name of the person to whom the appointor wishes to 
make the offer; 

B. any other particulars relevant to the appointment which 
have been notified to the Proper Officer; and 

C. the period within which any objection to the making of the 
offer is to be made by the Leader on behalf of the Cabinet 
to the Proper Officer; and 

either: 

D. the Leader has, within the period specified, notified the 
appointor that neither he nor any other member of the 
Cabinet has any objection to the making of the offer; 

E. the Proper Officer has notified the appointor that no 
objection was received by him within that period from the 
Leader; or 

Page 198



 

118 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

F. the appointor is satisfied that any objection received from 
the Leader within that period is not material or is not well-
founded. 

Notice of the dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Officer or 
Deputy Chief Officer must not be given by the dismissor until: 
 
(iii) the dismissor has notified the Proper Officer of the name of the 

person who the dismissor wishes to dismiss  and any other 
particulars which the dismissor considers are relevant to the 
dismissal; 

(iv) the Proper Officer has notified every member of the Cabinet of: 

A. the name of the person who the dismissor wishes to 
dismiss; 

B. any other particulars relevant to the dismissal which the 
dismissor has notified to the Proper Officer; and 

C. the period within which any objection to the dismissal is to 
be made by the Leader on behalf of the Cabinet to the 
Proper Officer; and 

either: 

D. the Leader has, within the period specified, notified the 
dismissor that neither he nor any other member of the 
Cabinet has any objection to the dismissal; 

E. the Proper Officer has notified the Committee that no 
objection was received by him within that period from the 
Leader; or 

F. the Committee (or, in the case of the proposed dismissal of 
the Head of Paid Service, the Full Council)  is satisfied that 
any objection received from the Leader within that period is 
not material or is not well-founded; 

12.8.6 Other Officers 

(a) Appointment and dismissal and taking disciplinary action against a 
member of staff below Chief Officer as defined in section 12.8.1 (c) 
(other than political assistant) is the responsibility of the Head of Paid 
Service or his nominee, and may not be undertaken by councillors. 

(b) The appointment of an assistant to a political group shall be made in 
accordance with the wishes of that political group. [Please note – the 
Council does not currently employ any assistants to political groups] 

(c) The Council’s policies in relation to recruitment, selection, appointment, 
disciplinary action and dismissal shall otherwise apply. 

Page 199



 

119 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Disciplinary Action - Statutory Officers  

12.8.7 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 
2001(as amended) (the “Regulations”) sets out the legal 
requirement for an authority to incorporate these provisions on 
disciplinary action in their standing order relating to certain “relevant 
officers” (defined below) They set out the basis of how disciplinary 
action is taken against these relevant officers. The Employment 
Panel is the relevant Committee for the purposes of the 
Regulations. When interpreting 12.8.7 -12.8.15:    

“the 2011 Act” means the Localism Act 2011; 

“chief finance officer”, “disciplinary action”, “head of the authority’s paid service” 
and “monitoring officer” have the same meaning as in regulation 2 of the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001; 

“independent person” means any person appointed under section 28(7) of the 
2011 Act; by the authority or, where there are fewer than two such persons, 
such independent persons as have been appointed by another authority or 
authorities as the authority considers appropriate. 

“local government elector” means a person registered as a local government 
elector in the register of electors in the authority’s area in accordance with the 
Representation of the People Acts; 

“the Panel” means a committee appointed by the authority under section 102(4) 
of the Local Government Act 1972 for the purposes of advising the authority 
on matters relating to the dismissal of relevant officers of the authority, in this 
authority the Panel; 

“relevant meeting” means a meeting of the authority to consider whether or not to 
approve a proposal to dismiss a relevant officer; and 

“relevant officer” means the Head of the authority’s paid service, Chief Finance 
Officer or Monitoring Officer, as the case may be. 

12.8.8 A relevant officer may not be dismissed by the authority unless the 
procedure set out in the following Rules is complied with.  

12.8.9 The authority must invite relevant independent persons to be 
considered for appointment to the Panel, with a view to appointing 
at least two such persons to the Panel.  

12.8.10 Subject to Rule 12.8.11, the authority must appoint to the Panel 
such relevant independent persons who have accepted an invitation 
issued in accordance with Rule 12.8.9 in accordance with the 
following priority order—  

(a) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the 
authority and who is a local government elector; 

(b) any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by the 
authority; 

Page 200



 

120 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(c) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another 
authority or authorities. 

12.8.11 An authority is not required to appoint more than two relevant 
independent persons in accordance with 12.8.10 but may do so.  

12.8.12 The authority must appoint any Panel at least 20 working days 
before the relevant meeting.  

12.8.13 Before the taking of a vote at the relevant meeting on whether or not 
to approve such a dismissal, the authority must take into account, in 
particular—  

(a) any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel; 

(b) the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; and 

(c) any representations from the relevant officer. 

12.8.14 Any remuneration, allowances or fees paid by the authority to an 
independent person appointed to the Panel must not exceed the 
level of remuneration, allowances or fees payable to that 
independent person in respect of that person’s role as independent 
person under the 2011 Act.  

12.8.15 Councillors will not be involved in the dismissal of or disciplinary action against 
any Officer below the level of Chief Officer, except as set out in 12.8.1(b) and 
where such involvement is necessary for an investigation or inquiry into 
alleged misconduct, through the Council’s adopted disciplinary procedure, by 
way of an appeal to the Employment Appeals Committee in respect of 
disciplinary action. 

 

Page 201



 

121 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 13 

13. Finance Contracts and Legal Matters 

13.1 Financial Management 

The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in accordance 
with the financial regulations set out in Section 19 of this Constitution. 

13.2 Contracts 

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contract Procurement Rules 
set out in Section 20 of this Constitution. 

13.3 Legal Proceedings 

13.3.1 The Service Director: Legal and Community is authorised to 
institute24, defend or participate in any legal proceedings and take 
all necessary steps in any case where such action is necessary to 
give effect to decisions of the Council or in any case where the 
Service Director: Legal and Community considers that such action is 
necessary to protect the Council’s interests. 

13.3.2 The Service Director: Legal and Community has delegated powers 
to authorise officers to appear in court on the Council’s behalf. 

13.4 Authentication of Documents 

13.4.1 Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or 
proceedings on behalf of the Council, it will be signed by the Service 
Director: Legal and Community or other person authorised by 
him/her, unless any enactment or otherwise authorises or requires, 
or the Council has given requisite authority to some other person. 

13.4.2 Any contract with a value exceeding the figure set out in the 
Contract Procurement Rules and Financial Regulations, entered 
into on behalf of the Council shall be made in writing.  Subject to the 
Contract Procurement Rules, such contracts must be signed by at 
least two officers of the Council or made under common seal of the 
Council attested by at least one authorised officer. 

13.5 Common Seal of the Council 

13.5.1 Common Seal 

(a) The Common Seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place in the 
custody of the Service Director: Legal and Community  

(b) A decision of the Council, or any part of it, will be sufficient authority for 
sealing any document necessary to give effect to the decision. 

13.5.2 Sealing and Execution of Documents 

                                                

24 Save for proceedings under the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974. 

Page 202



 

122 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

The Common Seal will be affixed to those documents which, in the opinion 
of the Service Director: Legal and Community should be sealed. The 
affixing of the Common Seal will be attested by those officers authorised to 
do so by this Constitution (or as may be further delegated to officers). 

13.5.3 Record of Sealing of Documents 

Any entry of the sealing of every deed or document to which the Common 
Seal has been affixed shall be made by the officer affixing the seal and 
consecutively numbered in a book to be provided for the purpose. 

 

 

Page 203



 

123 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 14 

14. Responsibility for Functions - Summary 

14.1 Introduction 

The functions of the Authority fall into two categories: 

14.1.1 Council functions; and 

14.1.2 Executive functions, 

Included in this part of the Constitution are: 

14.1.3 the Scheme of Delegation of executive and council functions to 
Officers; 

14.1.4 the list of Proper Officer designations 

Sections 6, 7, 8 and 9 of the Constitution describe the executive and council 
functions that are delegated to Committees. 

14.2 Council Functions 

14.2.1 These are functions that cannot be the responsibility of the Cabinet.  
For example, adopting the annual budget, can only be the 
responsibility of the full Council.  In other cases, the responsibility 
for undertaking the function may be delegated by the Council to a 
committee or an officer.  Where this is the case it is shown in the 
terms of reference (committees) or the scheme of delegation 
(officers). 

14.2.2 There are also a number of functions which individual Councils can 
allocate to Cabinet or retain for its own determination.  These are 
known as “local choice functions” and are listed showing which 
matters are retained and which are allocated to Cabinet. 

14.3 Executive Functions 

All other functions are executive functions.  Decisions about these functions may be 
taken by the Leader, the Cabinet, individual Cabinet members, Cabinet Committees, 
joint arrangements with other authorities and officers. 

14.4 TERMS OF REFERENCE 

14.4.1 Council and Committees exercising Council Functions: 

(a) Council (see Section 4); 

(b) Scrutiny Functions (see Sections 6): 

(i) Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 

(c) Standards Functions (see Section 7): 

Page 204



 

124 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(i) Standards Committee 

(ii) Standards Sub-Committee; 

(d) Regulatory Functions (see Section 8): 

(i) Licensing and Appeals Committee; 

(ii) Licensing Sub-Committee; 

(iii) Planning Control Committee; 

(e) Finance Audit and Risk Committee (see Section 10); 

(f) Council Tax Setting Committee (see Section 10); 

(g) Employment Committee (see Section 10); 

(h) Joint Staff Consultative Committee (see Section 10); 

14.4.2 Cabinet Committees and Executive Members exercising Executive 
Functions 

(a) Cabinet (see Section 5); 

(b) Cabinet Sub-Committee (Charities) (see Section 5); 

(c) Area Committees (see Section 9); 

(d) CCTV Joint Committee (see Section 11); 

(e) Executive Members (see Section 14.8). 

14.5 Proper Officer Designations 

14.5.1 Council Functions 

These are functions which cannot be the responsibility of the Executive. The 
table below demonstrates how the Council has chosen to reserve matters to 
itself for decision or delegate them to a Committee or an officer.  The 
functions listed in the table are those referred to in the Local Authorities 
(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000. 

Function as set out in Regulation 
2 and Schedule 1 of the 
Regulations 

To whom the function is reserved or 
delegated 

All those functions for which the 
Council is responsible relating to 
town and county planning and 
development control 

Planning Control Committee/ Service 
Director: Regulatory 

All those functions for which the 
Council is responsible relating to the 

Service Director: Regulatory 

Page 205



 

125 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Function as set out in Regulation 
2 and Schedule 1 of the 
Regulations 

To whom the function is reserved or 
delegated 

protection and treatment of 
hedgerows, the preservation of 
trees/ and complaints about high 
hedges 

All those functions for which the 
Council is responsible relating to 
public rights of way 

Planning Control Committee/  Service 
Director: Regulatory  

All those functions for which the 
Council is responsible relating to 
licensing and registration and the 
grant of consents and refusals 

Licensing and Appeals Committee/  
Service Director: Legal and Community  

Functions relating to Smoke free 
premises 

 Service Director: Regulatory  

All those functions for which the 
Council is responsible governing 
health and safety at work (other 
than in the Authority’s capacity as 
an employer) 

 Service Director: Regulatory 

All those functions relating to 
elections 

Council/Chief Executive 

Functions relating to the name and 
status of areas and individuals 

Council 

Functions relating to Community 
governance 

Council 

Power to make, amend, revoke or 
re-enact byelaws 

Council 

Power to promote or oppose local or 
personal bills 

Council 

Power to make and amend 
procedure rules (Standing Orders 
and Financial Regulations) 

Council / Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance officer under  the 
requirements of section 2.6 

Power to appoint staff, and to 
determine the terms and conditions 
on which they hold office in 
accordance with approved Council 
policies (including procedures for 
their dismissal and the Officer 
Employment Procedure Rules under 

Council/Chief Executive and Service 
Directors 

Page 206



 

126 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Function as set out in Regulation 
2 and Schedule 1 of the 
Regulations 

To whom the function is reserved or 
delegated 

section 12.8 

Duty to make arrangements for the 
proper administration of financial 
affairs 

Council 

Power to appoint officers for 
particular purposes (appointment of 
Proper Officers) 

Council 

Duty to designate an officer as the 
Head of the Authority’s paid service 

Council 

Duty to designate an officer as the 
Monitoring Officer and to provide 
staff 

Council 

Duty to approve the Authority’s 
statement of accounts, income and 
expenditure and balance sheet, or 
record of payments and power to 
make payments in cases of 
maladministration 

Finance Audit & Risk Committee 

Power to make payments in cases 
of maladministration 

Chief Executive 

Power to make a closing order on a 
takeaway food shop 

Director: Regulatory 

Powers relating to overview and 
scrutiny committee 

Council 

“Proper Officer” under section 13(3) 
Local Government Acts 1972, to act 
as Parish Trustee to a Parish 
Meeting (in a parish not having a 
separate parish council). 

Committee Services Manager/ officer 
delegated as such by the Services 
Director – Legal and Community 

 

14.5.2 Responsibility for Local Choice Functions 

The Council has the discretion to choose which part of the structure should 
be responsible for certain functions (known as “Local Choice Functions”).  
These are set out in Schedule 2 of The Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 as amended (the 
Regulations).  The Council has determined who is responsible for these 
functions in the table below. 

Page 207



 

127 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Function Decision 
Making Body 

Delegated to 

Functions under local Acts (other 
than a function specified in 
Regulation 2 and Schedule 1 of 
the Regulations) 

Cabinet Service Directors 

Determination of an appeal 
against any decision of the 
Authority 

Council (where designated) 
Licensing and Appeals 
Committee/ or as 
provided under 
statutory provision 

The discharge of any function 
relating to the control of pollution, 
the management of air quality or 
contaminated land 

Cabinet Service Director: 
Regulatory 

The service of an abatement 
notice for a statutory nuisance 

Cabinet Service Director: 
Regulatory 

The passing of a resolution that 
Schedule 2 to the Noise and 
Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 
should apply 

Cabinet Service Director: 
Regulatory 

Inspections for statutory nuisance Cabinet Service Director: 
Regulatory 

Investigation of any complaint as 
to the existence of a statutory 
nuisance 

Cabinet Service Director: 
Regulatory 

Obtaining information under 
Section 330 Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as to interests 
in land 

Cabinet Service Director: 
Regulatory 

Obtaining of particulars of 
persons interested in land under 
Section 16 Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 

Cabinet General delegation to 
Chief Executive, 
Deputy Chief Executive 
and Service Directors 

The appointment, nomination or 
revocation of appointment of any 
individual to any office/body other 
than to Full Council 

Council Chief Executive/ 
Service Director: Legal 
and Community (in the 
event of vacation of 
office, in consultation 
with Group Leaders in 

Page 208



 

128 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Function Decision 
Making Body 

Delegated to 

respect of elected 
Councillors25) 

The making of agreements with 
other local authorities and 
external agencies for the placing 
of staff and joint working 
arrangements 

Council Chief Executive 

 

14.6 Scheme of Delegation to Officers 

14.6.1 Introduction 

This scheme sets out those council and executive functions, powers and 
duties which are delegated to officers and allocates the Proper Officer roles. 

14.6.2 General Principles 

(a) This scheme operates under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 
1972 (council functions) and section 9E Local Government Act 2000 
(executive functions). 

(b) All officers discharging these functions shall also have power to do 
anything which is calculated to facilitate or is conducive or incidental to 
the discharge of those functions, including entering into temporary 
arrangements with other authorities for the delivery of services. 

(c) All officers discharging these functions may authorise any member of 
their staff to act on their behalf and shall keep a written record of all 
sub-delegations in a register held by the Chief Executive (subject to the 
limitations at 14.6.3 and within specific policies). 

(d) Before taking a decision under delegated powers which may be 
controversial or politically sensitive the officer shall notify the relevant 
Cabinet Executive Member. Delegated decisions must be taken, 
recorded and published in accordance with the Council’s Guidance26 
(or any policy) on the statutory requirements and procedures. 

(e) An officer may always refer a delegated decision to the Cabinet or 
Council or any of their respective Committees rather than make the 
decision. 

(f) The Chief Executive may exercise any of the delegated powers in this 
scheme or may authorise one officer to carry out the functions of 
another absent officer. 

                                                

25 In accordance with any requirements under the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 
26 NHDC Guidance to Members and Officers – Taking a delegated decision 2018 or any replacement 

Page 209



 

129 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

14.6.3 General Limitations 

(a) This scheme does not delegate to officers: 

(i) any matter exclusively reserved to Council, Cabinet or a 
committee; 

(ii) any matter which by law may not be delegated to an officer. 

(b) All decisions made under delegated powers must have regard to the 
legal, financial, risk, equalities, social value and human resource 
implications of the decision. 

(c) Officers shall exercise delegated powers in accordance with the 
policies of the Council and the requirements of this Constitution. 

14.6.4 General Authorisations  

(a) Chief Executive, the Deputy Chief Executive and the Service Directors 

The Chief Executive, the Deputy Chief Executive and the Service 
Directors are delegated the following functions, powers and duties for 
their respective service areas:  

(i) The operational management of staff;  

(ii) Entering into contracts to carry out works and/or for the supply of 
goods and services within approved budgets (subject also to 
approval of the Service Director for: Customers in respect of 
software or hardware contracts); 

(iii) Serving any requisition for information, notice or authorising any 
works in default and recovery of any related expenditure; 

(iv) Recommending legal proceedings to the Service Director for 
Legal and Community  

(v) To submit tenders and, where successful, to enter into contracts 
for the supply of goods and services to other local authorities 
and public bodies; 

(vi) To have responsibility for the operational management of the 
health and safety policy; 

(vii) To consider and co-ordinate any investigation by the Local 
Government Ombudsman; 

(viii) To set fees and charges in accordance with the Council’s 
Financial Regulations and relevant policies, in consultation with 
the Executive Member; 

(ix) National Lottery and external funding applications. 

Page 210



 

130 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

14.6.5 Delegation of Authority - Chief Executive 

(a) Functions The Chief Executive shall exercise the following functions 

To carry out the duties of the Head of Paid Service (section 4 of the Local Government & Housing Act 1989) which 
includes all necessary powers for: 

A Coordinating the discharge of all functions 

B Exercising overall managerial responsibility for staff 

(ii) To make any minor changes to terms and conditions for staff 

(iii) To dismiss any member of staff including (unless otherwise reserved to Committee or Full Council and excluding 
Statutory Officers) in accordance with legislative, Officer Employment Procedure Rules and Council’s staff related 
policies. 

(iv) In cases of emergency or urgency (where possible in consultation with the Leader of the Council) to carry out any 
Council or Executive function, power or duty 

(v) To represent the authority on partnerships and external bodies as required by statute or by the Council 

(vi) To lead the Senior Management Team 

(vii) To decide, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, upon Members’ “need to know” and provide for access to 
information and to decline access where information would be considered exempt (as defined under section 15). 

(viii) To be responsible for performance review issues 

(ix) To carry out the duties of the Electoral Registration Officer 

(x) To carry out the duties of the Returning Officer 

(xi) To authorise employees of the Council to enter onto land to enable them to carry out the functions of the Council. 

(xii) The granting of approval for staff to be allowed to undertake outside work. 

P
age 211



 

131 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(xiii) Attestation of the Council’s Common Seal 

(xiv) To authorise Officers to conduct directed surveillance or the use of covert human intelligence sources or the 
acquisition of confidential information in accordance with the Regulations of Investigatory Powers Act 2000. 

(xv) To authorise Officers to use juveniles and vulnerable individuals as covert human intelligence sources 

(xvi) To consider any report of the Local Government Ombudsman and to settle any compensation payments up to 
£1000 

(xvii) To authorise, issue vary or cancel Closure Notices to deal with nuisance or disorder or designate a person to do so 
under relevant legislation27. 

The Chief Executive shall exercise all of the functions other 
than those reserved to Council, Cabinet and Committee in 
relation to: 

The Executive Member responsible for leadership, strategic 
planning and development, partnership working and 
decision making within the service area shall be:  

(i) Communications including public relations and 
consultations 

Leader of the Council 

 

14.6.6 Delegation of Authority – Deputy Chief Executive  

(a) Functions The Deputy Chief Executive shall exercise the following functions (as per any delegation provided and in the absence of the 
Chief Executive) 

(i) In cases of emergency or urgency to exercise any of the functions powers or duties of the Chief Executive; 

(ii) In cases of emergency or urgency (where possible in consultation with the Leader of the Council) to carry out any 
council or executive function, power or duty 

(iii) To represent the authority on partnerships and external bodies as required by statute or by the Council 

                                                

27 S77(2)(b) Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 Power to issue Closure Notice up to 48 hours must be signed by Chief Executive or person designated by him/her. 

P
age 212



 

132 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(iv) To lead the Senior Management Team 

(v) To authorise employees of the Council to enter onto land to enable them to carry out the functions of the Council. 

(vi) The granting of approval for staff to be allowed to undertake outside work. 

(vii) Attestation of the Council’s Common Seal 

 (viii) To consider and determine applications for Review of the decision to list an Asset of Community Value, whether 
compensation should be paid and of payment of associated costs. 

 

14.6.7 Delegation of Authority – Service Director: Commercial  

(a) Functions The Service Director: Commercial shall exercise the following functions 

(i) To manage, direct and control all resources allocated to the Directorate in accordance with the Council’s policies and 
procedures. 

(ii) To be responsible for performance review issues within the Directorate. 

(iii) To maintain an overview of the Council’s commercial activities/ ventures. 

(iv)  To act or nominate to act as Director to any wholly owned Local Authority company to which the Director is appointed 
(subject to the companies internal appointment processes and any legislative requirements).  

The Service Director shall exercise the following functions 
powers and duties except those reserved to Council, Cabinet 
or a Committee in relation to: 

The Executive Member responsible for leadership, strategic 
planning and development, partnership working and 
decision making within the service area shall be: 

Asset management  

including  

Executive Member for Finance and IT which shall include:  

P
age 213



 

133 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

A 

A.  

agreeing terms for and accepting the surrender of 
leases, negotiating, agreeing and arranging for the 
release or modification of restrictive covenants, 
determining applications for licences to assign and 
consent to sub-let, change of use, make alterations 
or additions to land or premises, forfeiting (or 
seeking other appropriate remedy) of leases, 
licences and wayleaves where covenants have 
been broken, discharging mortgages and taking 
decisions under section 137 and 139 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 regarding Council 
expenditure on land held on charitable trust 

1. 

B.  

provision and management of the civic buildings, 
including the letting of accommodation at public 
buildings owned or occupied by the Council and not 
specifically under the control of another Cabinet 
Executive Member 

B granting, negotiating and settling terms of leases, 
licences, easements, wayleaves, rent reviews, 
assignment of leases, the appointment of 
arbitrators / experts, consents, guarantees and all 
other minor land matters where the initial annual 
rent (after the expiry of any rent free period) or the 
premium does not exceed  £50,000 

C in consultation with the Service Director:Resources,  
acquisition of land where the purchase price or 
premium does not exceed £250,000 

(ii) Commercial Operations  

including maximisation of the Council’s commercial 
income 

Executive Member for Finance and IT 

 

(iii) CCTV Company Executive Member for Community Engagement and Rural 
Affairs 

(iv) Markets  Executive Member for Leisure and Green Issues 

P
age 214



 

134 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(v) Museum Services  

including 

Executive Member for Community Engagement and Rural 
affairs  

A North Hertfordshire museum and Hitchin Town Hall 

B Exhibition galleries and art education and loan 
service 

C Archaeological matters 

(vi) Project Support  None 

 

14.6.8 Delegation of Authority  - Service Director: Customers 

(a) Functions The Service Director: Customers shall exercise the following functions 

(i) To manage, direct and control all resources allocated to the Directorate in accordance with the Council’s policies and 
procedures. 

(ii) To be responsible for performance review issues within the Directorate. 

(iii) To be the Council’s Chief Information Officer 

(iv) To be the Council’s Data Controller 

(v) To issue applications for the acquisition of Communications data 

(vi) To authorise Officers to conduct directed surveillance and to act as a covert human intelligence source Handler or 
Controller under the Council’s RIPA policy 

(vii) To authorise the commencement, defence, withdrawal or settlement of legal proceedings for Council tax, non-
domestic rates, sundry debts, Business Improvements District levy, Housing Benefit overpayments, and parking 

P
age 215



 

135 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

penalty charge notices (from warrant stage).  

The Service Director shall exercise the following functions 
powers and duties except those reserved to Council, Cabinet 
or a Committee in relation to: 

The Executive Member responsible for leadership, strategic 
planning and development, partnership working and 
decision making within the service area shall be: 

(i) Care functions  

including the provision and management of Careline, 
community alarms and oversight of the Council’s 
involvement in Hertfordshire Community Meals 

Executive Member for Housing and Environmental Health 

Customer Services  

including 

 

A the Customer service centre Leader of the Council 

B Coordination of complaints and ombudsman 
queries 

Leader of the Council  

C the Telecommunications service Executive Member for Finance and IT 

D reprographics, corporate stationery and the 
Courier and member mail service 

None 

Council Tax and Rates (revenues) 

Including  

Executive Member for Finance and IT which shall include 

 

A writing off debt below £5,000 and between £5,001 
and £10,000 in conjunction with the Executive 
Member for Finance and IT  

B collection and administration on behalf of the 
Council of Council Tax, National Non-Domestic 
Rates, sundry debts, Business Improvements 

P
age 216



 

136 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

District levy, Housing Benefit overpayments, and 
parking penalty charge notices (from warrant 
stage) 

C valuation, Administration of the National Non-
Domestic Rates scheme including NNDR3 return 

D administration of the Housing and Council Tax 
Reduction Schemes including, investigation of 
benefit fraud and agreeing administrative 
penalties in lieu of legal proceedings 

Executive Member for Finance and IT which shall include 

1 the development and application of policies, initiatives 
and services involving the use of information and 
communications technology to support the work of the 
Council and the Council's work with others 

2 development and implementation of policy and strategy 
for the delivery of e-Government 

Information management  

including data protection, data quality and freedom of 
information  

Direct delegation of data protection officer function 

The Customer Services Manager shall act as data 
protection officer for the Council and shall exercise all 
functions, powers and duties in this regard. 

Management Support and central administrative 
services  

None 

P
age 217



 

137 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Including:  

A Contract hire and Car loan schemes  

B Land Charges Leader of the Council  

 

14.6.9 Delegation of Authority – Service Director: Legal and Community  

(a) Functions The Service Director: Legal and Community shall exercise the following functions 

(i) To manage, direct and control all resources allocated to the Directorate in accordance with the Council’s policies 
and procedures. 

(ii) To be responsible for performance review issues within the Directorate. 

(iii) To act as Chief Legal Officer to the Council. 

(iv) To carry out the functions of the Monitoring Officer (Section 5 of the Local Government & Housing Act 1989 and the 
Local Government Act 2000). 

(v) To authorise changes to the Governance Policies/ Protocols/ Codes or Guidance (as the case may be) that fall 
within the remit of the Monitoring Officer and/ or Legal Services (and are not already covered by 14.6.9(d) to reflect 
decisions of the Council / Committees and the Cabinet, or minor ones relating to changes of fact and law, or if 
required for practical purposes, in order to ensure the proper administration of the Council, subject to regular 
notification to all Members of such changes. 

(vi) To authorise changes to the Constitution to reflect resolutions of Council or of the Cabinet, and changes of fact and 
law, or if required for practical purposes, in order to ensure the proper administration of the Council, subject to 
regular notification to all members of such changes. 

(vii) To authorise consequential changes to the terms of reference of any Committee of the Council or the Cabinet, to 
reflect any changes of fact and law or if required for practical purposes, in order to ensure the proper administration 
of the Council, subject to regular notification to all members of each change. 

P
age 218



 

138 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(viii) To authorise the institution, defence, withdrawal or settlement of any legal proceedings, civil or criminal (other than 
for Heath and Safety proceedings, Council tax, non-domestic rates and sundry debts). 

(ix) To negotiate and settle any claim or disputes without recourse to Court proceedings including the use of alternative 
dispute resolution. 

(x) To authorise officers of the Council to appear before the Magistrates’ Court or County Court District Judges. 

(xi) To undertake the role of Senior Responsible Officer under the Council’s RIPA Policy. To arrange for the discharge 
of the role of RIPA Co-ordinating Officer. 

(xii) To oversee the Community Right to Challenge Policy or Protocol and to process any Expression of Interest in 
accordance with the Council’s Policies and procedures. 

(xiii) To determine and issue advice and guidelines to the Council on legal, procedural and propriety matters. 

(xiv) To make all necessary arrangements in respect of byelaws and local legislation. 

(xv) To release guarantee bonds in contracts for works and the supply of goods and services (upon the certificate of the 
contract manager that the contract has been completed satisfactorily and that any maintenance period has expired). 

(xvi) Attestation of the Council’s Common Seal. 

(xvii) To instruct Counsel and / or retain the services of other experts or external solicitors or any matter affecting the 
interests of the authority. 

(xviii) Certify (or authorise Officers to certify) documents on behalf the authority. 

(xix) To administer the scheme for Members’ allowances including the approval of duties for Members’ allowances. 

(xx) To make appointments (or where relevant nominate) Councillors to Committees, sub-Committees, panels, boards 
and outside bodies, in consultation with Group Leaders, when vacancies arise during the civic year in respect of the 
appointments that have previously been made at Annual Council. 

(xxi) To make all necessary arrangements for Members and Member support and for all Council meetings. 

P
age 219



 

139 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

 (xxii) To carry out the duties of the Electoral Registration Officer because of the Registration Officer’s inability to act or 
because of a vacancy. 

(xxiii) To carry out the duties of the Returning Officer because of his inability to act or because of a vacancy. 

(xxiv) Witnessing of candidates’ and agents’ declarations and returns as to election expenses. 

(xxv) To receive petitions in accordance with the Council’s Petition Scheme. 

(xxvi) Receipt of petitions questioning an election. 

(xxvii) To make decisions regarding individual submissions relating to the councillor call for action having due regard to 
actions already undertaken to resolve the matter in question where practicable, after consultation with the Chairman 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

(xxviii)  To verify foreign national pensions. 

(xxix) To ensure a system for record keeping of all Key Decisions. 

 (xxx) To authorise the Directorate’s employees to enter onto land, in accordance with relevant statutory powers to enable 
them to carry out the functions of the Council.
 

The Service Director shall exercise the following functions 
powers and duties except those reserved to Council, Cabinet 
or a Committee in relation to: 

The Executive Member responsible for leadership, strategic 
planning and development, partnership working and 
decision making within the service area shall be: 

Executive Member for Leisure and Green Issues which shall 
include 

1 the Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change and 
other green issues affecting the District 

(ii) Committee and member services Leader of the Council 

P
age 220



 

140 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(iii) Community engagement and development 

including:  

Executive Member for Community Engagement and Rural 
Affairs which shall include:  

1 consultation with local people to help plan and improve 
Council services and influence the services provided by 
others 

2 community relations and the promotion of social 
cohesion and fair opportunities 

3 the Council's relationship with, and funding of, 
independent advice agencies, community centres, 
voluntary sector support agencies and other 
organisations not within the remit of other Cabinet 
Executive Members 

4 to lead on partnerships and liaisons with external 
agencies  

B population and other census information Leader of the Council 

Executive Member for Community Engagement and Rural 
Affairs which shall include 

1. to co-ordinate and therefore try to improve the overall 
delivery of services provided by public bodies and 
voluntary organisations 

2. to act as the Council’s spokesperson and principal point 
of contact on matters affecting Town, Parish and 
Community Councils 

The Leader of the Council and Executive Member for 
Community Engagement and Rural Affairs  which shall 
include  

P
age 221



 

141 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

including (although not limited to) Closure Notices28, 
Community protection (notices, fixed penalty notices, 
seizure of goods) under any relevant legislative 
powers 

1 community safety and work with the Community Safety 
Partnership, the police and other law enforcement 
agencies to reduce crime and disorder, and the fear of 
either; including as the Council’s representative on the 
Police and Crime Panel 

Community safety (enforcement) 

including. 

A flytipping, byelaws and abandoned vehicles 

B in consultation with the Service Director: 
Regulatory, unlawful encampments 

Leader of the Council which shall include  

1 development and implementation of the Council’s 
Corporate Business Planning process, in consultation 
with the Executive Member for Finance and IT and the 
Leader 

Leader of the Council which shall include 

1 liaison with other statutory agencies in and outside the 
District 

                                                

28 Not including authorising/ signing Closure Notices up to 48 hours unless designated by Chief Executive to do so. 

P
age 222



 

142 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(ix) Counter Terrorism and Security Leader of the Council  

Electoral Services 

including  

None 

A proposals to vary the boundaries of the Borough 
and Electoral Wards and Polling Districts 

Leader of the Council  

Executive Member for Community Engagement and Rural 
Affairs which shall include: 

1 ensuring the Council’s services are responsive and 
relevant to a diverse population and free from improper 
discrimination 

2 approving the monitoring of the Council’s Equality and 
Diversity Schemes 

Executive Member for Community Engagement and Rural 
Affairs 

Executive Member for Housing and Environmental Health to 
have responsibility for wider public health initiatives arising 
from the Health and Social Care Act 2012 which relate to 
functions within the Housing and Environmental Health 
portfolio 

(xiii) Legal Services Leader of the Council 

Executive Member for Housing and Environmental Health 
which shall include: 

P
age 223



 

143 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

legislation other than matters reserved to the 
Licensing and Appeals Committee, street trading, 
Sunday trading and scrap metal.. 

1 being consulted on the setting of charges and fees for 
hackney carriages and private hire vehicles 

(xv) Management of Scrutiny Support  None 

(xvi) Procurement  Executive Member for Finance and IT 

Safeguarding 

Including 

 

A safeguarding of vulnerable adults Executive Member for Housing and Environmental Health 

Executive Member for Community Engagement and Rural 
Affairs which shall include 

 1 promoting the Council’s position in regard to children’s 
services across the district and in particular the 
protection of children and young people undertaken 
within its safe-guarding responsibilities 

 

14.6.10 Delegation of Authority – Service Director: Place 

(a) Functions 

 

The Service Director: Place shall exercise the following functions 

(i) To manage, direct and control all resources allocated to the Directorate in accordance with the Council’s policies and 
procedures. 

(ii) To be responsible for performance review issues within the Directorate. 

(iii) To authorise Officers to conduct directed surveillance and to act as a covert human intelligence source Handler or 
Controller under the Council’s RIPA policy. 

P
age 224



 

144 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(iv) To carry out the duties of the Emergency Planning Officer with all necessary power to act and incur expenditure. 

 (v) To authorise the Directorate’s employees to enter onto land, in accordance with relevant statutory powers to enable 
them to carry out the functions of the Council.
 

Service Director 

The Service Director shall exercise the following functions 
powers and duties except those reserved to Council, Cabinet 
or a Committee in relation to: 

Executive Member 

The Executive Member responsible for leadership, strategic 
planning and development, partnership working and 
decision making within the service area shall be: 

(i) Active Communities 

including sports & physical activity development in the 
community 

Executive Member for Leisure and Green Issues 

(ii) Environmental Services  

including cemeteries, crematoria, burials and related 
services and public conveniences 

Executive Member for Waste Management, Recycling and 
Environment 

(iii) Emergency planning  

Including operational management (section 138 of the 
Local Government Act 1972) under general direction 
of the Emergency Planning Officer 

Leader of the Council 

Executive Member for Waste Management, Recycling and 
Environment which shall include 

1 Public health activities and contribution to wellbeing of 
the local population so far as it relates to this portfolio 

(v) Land drainage Executive Member for Waste Management, Recycling and 
Environment  

P
age 225



 

145 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(vi) Leisure Management 

including sports centres, swimming pools, sports and 
recreation grounds and leisure strategy development 

Executive Member for Leisure and Green Issues  

(vii) Parks and Open Spaces  

including public art in open spaces, allotments,  and 
promotion of health wellbeing promotion and activity 
through leisure and use of open spaces  

licensing of events on Council land: issuing or refusing 
a licence (with or without conditions or restrictions) to 
applicants for events 

Executive Member for Leisure and Green Issues which shall 
include 

 

(viii) Tourism and visitor management Executive Member for Community Engagement and Rural 
Affairs 

(ix) Waste collection and waste management 

including recycling and waste minimisation under any 
enabling legislation (including waste-related 
enforcement: littering, graffiti and  waste receptacle 
offences) 

Executive Member for Waste Management, Recycling and 
Environment 

 

 

14.6.11 Delegation of Authority – Service Director: Regulatory 

(a) Functions The Service Director: Regulatory shall exercise the following functions 

(i) To manage, direct and control all resources allocated to the Directorate in accordance with the Council’s policies and 
procedures. 

(ii) To be responsible for performance review issues within the Directorate. 

P
age 226



 

146 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(iii) To authorise Officers to conduct directed surveillance and to act as a covert human intelligence source Handler or 
Controller under the Council’s RIPA policy 

(iv) To authorise Consultants in Communicable Disease Control of Public Health England, to act on behalf of the Council 
as Proper Officer in the exercise of statutory functions relating to the control of infections and other disease and food 
poisoning 

(v) To authorise Officers to act as an Inspector under the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974, such Inspectors are 
authorised to institute proceedings and prosecute under the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 following 
consultation with the Service Director: Legal and Community Services  

 (vi) To discharge the functions of the Appointing Officer under the Party Wall etc. Act 1996 

 (vii) To authorise the Directorate’s employees to enter onto land, in accordance with relevant statutory powers to enable 
them to carry out the functions of the Council 

The Service Director shall exercise the following functions 
powers and duties except those reserved to Council, Cabinet 
or a Committee in relation to: 

The Executive Member responsible for leadership, strategic 
planning and development, partnership working and 
decision making within the service area shall be: 

(i) Building Control 

including all activities relating to discharge of the 
Council’s function as the Local Building Regulation 
Authority 

Executive Member for Planning and Enterprise 

(ii) Car Parking  

including enforcement of on and off street parking 
orders including residential parking zones. 

Executive Member for Planning and Enterprise 

(iii) Economic Development 

Including regeneration, neighbourhood renewal, 
bidding for, planning and expenditure of regeneration 
funding 

Executive Member for Planning and Enterprise 

P
age 227



 

147 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(iv) Environmental Health 

including sewers, drains and private water supplies,  
caravan sites, housing safety and fitness of premises, 
domestic energy conservation, health and safety at 
work, food safety and hygiene, pest control, animal 
welfare and communicable diseases. 

Executive Member for Housing and Environmental Health  

A.  

Environmental Protection and enforcement functions 

including. 

A contaminated land, air quality, statutory 
nuisances, controlled processes 

B in consultation with the Service Director: Legal 
and Community, unlawful encampments 

(vi) Highways enforcement matters delegated by 
Hertfordshire County Council 

Executive Member for Housing and Environmental Health 

(vii) Housing and homelessness 

including housing grants and loans 

Executive Member for Housing and Environmental Health 
including 

Executive Member for Planning and Enterprise including:  

1 monitoring the Council’s annual report on the Local 
Plan and making submissions on the same to regional 
bodies and other external agencies 

2 responsibility for strategic planning and organisational 
development 

P
age 228



 

148 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

the Planning Control Committee 3 proposals for the Council’s planning policies relating to 
land use (including the Local Plan), for recommendation 
to full Council, and supplementary guidance 

4 planning briefs for individual development sites 

5 responses to planning guidance and planning policy 
statements from Government and other local agencies 
and authorities impacting on the District 

6 co-ordination of the Council's response to major 
developments on private land or developments 
affecting the streetscape, where these have not been 
explicitly reserved to another Cabinet Executive 
Member 

7 the Council’s policies for identifying, and preserving 
conservation areas 

8 the Council’s provision of development and strategic 
planning and enterprise services 

(ix) Public health functions under the Public Health Acts 
and related legislation 

Executive Member for Housing and Environmental Health 

(x) Traffic management  

including the creation of on and off street parking 
orders and street closure orders 

Executive Member for Planning and Enterprise  

Executive Member for Planning and Enterprise which shall 
include 

1 leading on the Council’s arrangements for highways 
matters including partnership and agency arrangements 

P
age 229



 

149 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

furniture and the naming and numbering of streets,  
Highways matters delegated by Hertfordshire County 
Council,  Public transport issues and Goods Vehicles 
Operators Licences. 

2 development and implementation of the Council’s 
Transport Strategy and Initiatives and representing the 
Council’s views on regional transport issues 

 (xii) High hedges   

 

14.6.12 Delegation of Authority – Service Director: Resources  

(a) Functions The Service Director: Resources shall exercise the following functions 

(i) To manage, direct and control all resources allocated to the Directorate in accordance with the Council’s policies 
and procedures. 

(ii) To be responsible for performance review issues within the Directorate. 

(iii) To carry out the functions of the Section 151 officer 

(iv) Attestation of the Council’s Common Seal 

(v) To authorise consequential changes to the Financial Regulations to reflect resolutions of Council or of the 
Executive, and changes of fact and law, or if required for practical purposes, in order to ensure the proper 
administration of the Council, subject to regular notification to all members of such changes 

(vi) To appoint the members of the Independent Remuneration Panel, having first consulted the Monitoring Officer and 
Group Leaders as to any reason why member(s) not independent 

(vii) To be responsible for the Council’s corporate health and safety in accordance with legislation and the Councils’ 
adopted policy 

(viii) To be responsible for the proper administration of Council charities and their assets 

(ix) To be the Council’s Anti Money Laundering Reporting Officer 

P
age 230



 

150 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(x) To consider and determine applications to: list and removal Assets of Community Value (in consultation with 
Officers nominated by the Service Director), whether compensation should be paid and of payment of associated 
costs 

The Service Director shall exercise the following functions 
powers and duties except those reserved to Council, Cabinet 
or a Committee in relation to: 

The Executive Member responsible for leadership, strategic 
planning and development, partnership working and 
decision making within the service area shall be: 

Assets/ buildings (maintenance) 

including 

Executive Member for Finance and IT which shall include 

A disposal of land and buildings, where such land 
has been declared surplus to requirements for a 
sale price or premium which does not exceed 
£250,000 provided that if the disposal is proposed 
at an undervalue the Service Director shall always 
consider whether a referral to Cabinet is 
necessary 

B in consultation with the Service Director: 
Commercial acquisition of land where the 
purchase price or premium does not exceed 
£250,000 

(ii) CCTV Client Executive Member for Community Engagement and Rural 
Affairs 

Executive Member for Finance and IT which shall include 

1 in-year changes to the Council's Capital Programme up 
to a limit of £100,000 per project 

2 Budget planning and all action necessary to maintain 
overall budget control within the cash limits agreed by 

P
age 231



 

151 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

secure improvements in quality of services and cost 
improvements. 

full Council (in conjunction with the Leader of the 
Council) 

3 development and implementation of the Corporate 
Business Planning process, in consultation with the 
Policy Executive Member 

4 use of the special reserves and reserved contingency 
budgets, within the total budget agreed by full Council 

 

(iv) Health and Safety of staff Leader of the Council 

Leader of the Council  

which in conjunction with the Executive Member for Finance 
and IT shall include 

1 matters to do with officers leaving the Council's service 

2 payroll and other financial benefits for staff 

(vi) Insurance and risk  Executive Member for Finance and IT 

(vii) Shared Internal audit and anti-fraud service Executive Member for Finance and IT 

 (viii) Stock Transfer Agreement  

including approvals for all transactions pursuant to the 
Community Benefit Fund, in consultation with the 
appropriate Cabinet Executive Member (Finance or 
Housing); and approvals for any overage, claw back 
or similar arrangement pursuant to the Stock Transfer 

Executive Member for Finance and IT and Executive 
Member for Housing and Environmental Health 

P
age 232



 

152 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Agreement 

P
age 233



 

153 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

14.6.13 Proper Officers Schedule 

The Council may designate any of its officers to carry out specific statutory functions.  
This officer is referred to in the Statutory provisions as the “Proper Officer”.  This 
schedule confirms the officers appointed as the Proper Officer for the specific 
functions listed. 

Legislative Provision Function Proper Officer 

Local Government Act 1972 

S.83(1) to (4) Witness and receipt of 
Declaration of Acceptance of 
Office 

Director: Legal and 
Community 

S.84(1) Receipt of notice of resignation of 
elected members 

Returning Officer/ 
Service Director: Legal 
and Community 

S.88(2) Convening a meeting of Council 
to fill a casual vacancy in the 
office of Chairman 

Chief Executive/ 
Service Director: Legal 
and Community 

S.89(1) Notice of casual vacancy Returning Officer/ 
Service Director: Legal 
and Community 

S.100 (except  100(D)) Admission of public (including 
press) to meetings 

Service Director: Legal 
and Community 

S.100(B)(2) The officer also may exclude 
from agendas any information 
which is likely to be dealt with in 
the absence of press and public 

Service Director: Legal 
and Community/ 
Committee Services 
Manager  

S.100(B)(7) The officer to supply to 
newspapers copies of documents 
supplied to councillors 

Service Director: Legal 
and Community/ 
Committee Services 
Manager 

S.100(C)(2) The officer to prepare a written 
summary of the proceedings at 
committees and sub-committees 

Committee Services 
Manager  

S.115(2) Receipt of money due from 
officers 

Service Director: 
Resources 

S.146(1)(a) and (b) Declarations and certificates with 
regard to transfer of securities 

Service Director: 
Resources 

S.151 (and S.114 
Local Government and 

The officer responsible for the 
proper administration of the 

Service Director: 

Page 234



 

154 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Legislative Provision Function Proper Officer 

Finance Act 1988 Council’s financial affairs Resources 

S.191 Officer to whom an application 
under S.1 of the Ordnance 
Survey Act 1841 will be sent 

Service Director: 
Resources 

S.225 Deposit of documents Service Director: Legal 
and Community 

S.228(3) Accounts for inspection by any 
member of the Council 

Service Director: 
Resources 

S.229(5) Certificate of photographic copies 
of documents 

Chief 
Executive/Director: 
Legal and Community 

S.236(9) and (10) Sending of copies of byelaws to 
parish councils, parish meetings 
and County Council 

Chief Executive/ 
Service Director: Legal 
and Community 

S.238 Certification of byelaws Chief Executive/ 
Service Director: Legal 
and Community 

S.248(2) Officer who will keep the Roll of 
Freemen 

Chief Executive 

Schedule 12 

Local Government Act 1972 

Para 4(2)(b) Signing of summons to Council 
meeting 

Service Director: Legal 
and Community 

Para 4(3) Receipt of notice about address 
to which summons to meeting is 
to be sent 

Service Director: Legal 
and Community 

Schedule 14 

Para 25 Certification of resolution passed 
under this paragraph 

Service Director: Legal 
and Community 

Schedule 16 

Para 28 

(amended by the 
Planning 
(Consequential 

Deposits of lists of buildings of 
special architectural or historic 
interest 

Director:  Regulatory 

Page 235



 

155 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Legislative Provision Function Proper Officer 

Provisions) Act 1990) 

Local Government Act 1974 

S.30(5) To give notice that copies of an 
Ombudsman’s report are 
available 

Chief Executive 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

S.41(1) The officer who will certify copies 
of evidence of resolutions and 
minutes of proceedings 

Committee Services 
Manager 

Local Authorities Cemeteries Order 1977 

Article 10 To sign exclusive rights of burial 

 

Director:  Place 

Representation of the People Act 1983 

S.9 Registration Officer Chief Executive 

S.24 Returning Officer for Local 
Elections 

Chief Executive 

S.28 Acting Returning Officer for 
a Parliamentary Election 

Chief Executive 

S.82 and 89 Receipt of election expense 
declarations and returns and 
the holding of those 
documents for public 
inspection 

Chief Executive 

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 

S.54 To act as police area Returning 
Officer or local Returning Officer 
for police and crime 
commissioner elections (if so 
designated) 

Chief Executive 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

S.2(4) Recipient of the list of politically 
restricted posts 

 Services Director – 
Legal and Community  

S.3 Employers certificate for Monitoring Officer 

Page 236



 

156 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Legislative Provision Function Proper Officer 

exemption from politically 
restricted posts 

S.4 Head of the Paid Service Chief Executive 

S.5 The Monitoring Officer Director: Legal and 
Community  

S.15 Officers to receive notices 
relating to membership of political 
groups 

Chief Executive 

Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 

 For the purpose of the 
composition of committees and 
nominations to political groups 

Chief Executive 

Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 

 Officer who will give written 
notice of appointment or 
dismissal of officers listed in 
Schedule 1, Part II, Paragraph 3 

Chief Executive 

Local Government Act 2000 

 All references to the Proper 
Officer in the Local Government 
Act 2000 and subordinate 
legislation 

Monitoring Officer 

The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 

Regulation 12 Recording of executive decisions 
made at meetings of the Cabinet 

Director of Legal and 
Community/ 
Committee Services 
Manager 

Regulation 14 Inspection of documents 
following executive decisions 

Director of Legal and 
Community/ 
Committee Services 
Manager 

Regulation 15 Inspection of background papers Director of Legal and 
Community/ 
Committee Services 
Manager 

Page 237



 

157 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Legislative Provision Function Proper Officer 

Regulation 13 Individual executive decisions Director of Legal and 
Community/ 
Committee Services 
Manager 

Regulation 7 Access to agenda and connected 
reports 

Director of Legal and 
Community/ 
Committee Services 
Manager 

Regulation 9 Publicity in connection with Key 
Decisions 

Director of Legal and 
Community/ 
Committee Services 
Manager 

Regulation 10 General exception relating to 
publicity in connection with Key 
Decisions 

Director of Legal and 
Community/ 
Committee Services 
Manager 

Regulation 16 Members’ rights of access to 
documents 

Chief Executive/ 
Monitoring Officer 

Regulation 20 Confidential/exempt information 
and exclusion of public from 
meetings 

Director of Legal and 
Community 

Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 

S.31 Certification by officer of need for 
disinfection of premises 

Service Director:  
Regulatory 

S.32 Certification by officer of need to 
remove person from infected 
house 

Service Director: 
Regulatory 

Public Health Act 1936 

S.85(2) To serve notice requiring 
remedial action where there are 
verminous persons or articles 

Service Director:  
Regulatory 

Public Health Act 1961 

S.37 Control of any verminous article Service Director: 
Regulatory 

Localism Act 2011 

Page 238



 

158 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Legislative Provision Function Proper Officer 

s.33 Dispensations from section 31(4) 
Localism Act 2011 

Monitoring Officer 

 

14.6.14 Delegations of Executive Function for inclusion in the Scheme of Delegation  

In accordance with the Cabinet Procedure Rules and Terms of Reference executive 
functions will be delegated to the Cabinet Portfolios detailed on the Council’s 
website:  

https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/councillors-mps-and-
meps/councillor-duties-and-responsibilities. 

14.6.15 Extent of Delegated Authority 

The extent of the authority delegated to these Executive Members will be limited to: 

(a) Decisions which have a cost or saving less than the European Union 
Procurement threshold for Supplies and Services such as the limit may 
be from time to time. 

(b) Any decision which is not otherwise delegated to Committees or 
officers as detailed in the Scheme of Delegation. 

(c) In discharging any functions that have been delegated, the Cabinet 
Executive Member must act lawfully. This means that that the Cabinet 
Executive Member must act within the scope of the authority that is 
delegated to him/her in accordance with any limits within the 
delegation, the Constitution, Council policies, procedure rules and the 
Members’ Code of Conduct. Where an issue affects more then one 
Portfolio, the respective holders of those Portfolios shall consult with 
each other, officers and the Leader to agree where the decision will be 
taken.   

14.6.16 Leader of the Council  

14.6.16.1 The scope of the Leader’s responsibilities spans all Portfolios, ensuring co-
ordination and a coherent approach to the Council’s decision making. The 
Leader can make any decision which is delegated to any Executive 
Member.  

14.6.16.2 The Leader will appoint the Deputy Leader and members of Cabinet and 
allocate responsibility for the discharge of executive functions. 

14.6.16.3    The Leader is appointed for a four year term. 

14.6.16.4 The Deputy Leader will have the powers and responsibilities of the Leader 
when the Leader is absent or unable to act (including portfolio and statutory 
responsibilities). 

Page 239

https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/councillors-mps-and-meps/councillor-duties-and-responsibilities
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/councillors-mps-and-meps/councillor-duties-and-responsibilities


 

159 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

14.6.16.5 In discharging this role, the Leader is specifically responsible for leadership, 
strategic planning and development, partnership working and decision 
making within the following policy and service areas:- 

(a) the development of overall strategic and financial plans for the Council 
and the promotion of both existing and new strategies and plans; 

(b) overall control of the revenue and capital finances of the Council, in 
conjunction with the Executive Member with responsibility for those 
matters 

(c) the production and publication of the Council's Forward Plan;  

(d) the Council's contribution to the life of the District and the sub-region;  

(e) the Council’s overall contribution to the health and wellbeing of the 
district in conjunction with other Executive Members with responsibility 
for services contributing to “public health”; 

(f) the functioning of Council's Cabinet and the executive powers it holds, 
including the allocation of responsibilities to the full Cabinet, individual 
Cabinet Portfolios and Area Committees; the appointment and 
dismissal of those Cabinet Executive Members; the appointment of 
Cabinet committees and sub-committees and the delegation of 
executive authority to officers;  

(g) partnership working across the Council's services, including sharing 
arrangements with other Councils;  

(h) consultation with local people to help plan and improve Council 
services and influence the services provided by others;  

(i) speaking up on matters of local concern and representing the views of 
the Council to Government and its agents and to others;  

(j) appointments to outside organisations between meetings of the 
Council;  

14.6.17 Matters of General Delegation 

Each Cabinet Executive Member is responsible for:- 

(k) leadership, strategic planning and development, partnership working 
and decision making within the service areas allocated to them in 
section 14 of this Constitution.  

(l) the proper administration of the Council's services; 

(m) the efficient use and day-to-day maintenance of Council premises;  

(n) ensuring budget control;  

Page 240



 

160 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(o) approving use of specific grants and/or funding from non-governmental 
sources, and any annual delivery plans and agreements in relation to 
such funding;  

(p) approving funding exceeding £5,000 per annum to voluntary and other 
organisations within their Portfolio, and approving jointly with other 
Cabinet Executive Members where the application affects more than 
one Portfolio;  

(q) the continuous improvement of the Council's services through a 
programme of work;  

(r) liaising with the relevant Council Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 

(s) decisions proposed and made. Delegated decisions must be taken, 
recorded and published in accordance with the Council’s Guidance29 
(or any policy) on the statutory requirements and procedures; 

(t) the promotion of the Council's policies and communication with the 
public as appropriate through local and other media, ensuring always 
that publications are compliant with the Council’s Communications 
Strategy;  

(u) proposing and responding to Government and its agents, and to those 
sharing common cause and others on matters defined by their 
responsibilities;  

(v) responding directly to governmental and other consultation papers on 
behalf of the Council, where the view of the Council has been 
requested; 

(w) making minor amendments to adopted strategies, policies and 
procedures; 

(x) the promotion of the Council’s existing policies; 

(y) speaking up on matters of local concern and acting as the main Council 
spokesman on issues within their Portfolio;  

(z) the disposal of non-property assets between £5,001 and £100,000 and 
between £100,001 and £250,000 in conjunction with the Cabinet 
Executive Member for Finance; 

(aa) providing input for procurement exercises within their Portfolio, in 
accordance with the Contract Procurement Rules;  

(bb) approving variations to contracts in accordance with the Contract 
Procurement Rules; 

                                                

29 NHDC Guidance to Members and Officers – Taking a delegated decision 2015 

Page 241



 

161 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(cc) approving proposals for the disposal of property valued under £250,000 
in respect of the functions for which they are responsible, in conjunction 
with the Cabinet Executive Member for Finance; 

(dd) applying for planning permission for the Council’s own development 
schemes;  

(ee) applying for conservation area consent, listed building consent or any 
other permissions or consents necessary to progress the Council’s own 
development schemes; and  

(ff) responding to consultation with officers on setting new external fees 
and charges and revising current ones. 

(gg) press and publicity activity so far as it relates to the scope of their 
Portfolio.  

14.6.18 Champions 

NHDC Children and Young People’s 
Champion 

Executive Member for Community 
Engagement and Rural Affairs  

NHDC Heritage Champion Executive Member for Waste 
Management, Recycling and 
Environment 

NHDC Localism Champion Executive Member for Planning, and 
Enterprise 

NHDC Mental Health Champion Executive Member for Community 
Engagement and Rural Affairs 

NHDC Risk Champion Executive Member for Finance and IT  

 

14.6.19 Procedural Rules 

Where an Executive Member is to take a decision which is outside the Key 
Decision definitions under their delegated powers, they will give at least 5 
days notice of the matter to be decided, in the Members Information Service 
(MIS). The date and time for taking the decision will be included. Members 
may then request details of the decision to be made and make written 
representations on the matter, for consideration by the Executive Member.  

WHEN MAKING THE DECISION THE EXECUTIVE MEMBER WILL 
CONSIDER A WRITTEN REPORT FROM OFFICERS AND WILL MAKE 
THEIR DECISION IN PUBLIC, RECORDING THE DECISION(S) AND 
REASON(S) FOR IT. ONCE THE DECISION HAS BEEN MADE, NOTICE 
OF THE DECISION(S) AND THE REASON(S) WILL BE GIVEN IN MIS. 

Page 242



 

162 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 15 

15. Access to Information Rules 

15.1 Scope 

These rules apply to all Committee meetings (including Council and Cabinet) unless 
stated otherwise in the Constitution or legislation. They also apply to meetings called 
for the purposes of individual decision making. No decision shall be taken unless it is 
included on the agenda for that meeting and is accompanied by a report from the 
appropriate officer or Cabinet Member. Where the report is from a Cabinet member, 
it must state any advice received from officers. 

15.2 Additional Rights to Information 

These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere 
in this Constitution or the law. 

15.3 Rights to Attend Meetings 

Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the exceptions in 
these rules. 

15.4 Notices of Meeting 

Unless a meeting is convened at short notice, the Council will give at least five clear 
days’ notice of any meeting by posting details of the meeting at the Council offices 
and on the Council’s website. 

15.5 Access to Agenda and Reports Before the Meeting 

The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public available 
for inspection at the Council offices and on the Council’s website at least five (5) 
clear days before the meeting.  If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised 
agenda will be open to inspection from the time the item was added to the agenda. 
Where reports are prepared after the summons has been sent out, the designated 
Officer shall make each such report available to the public as soon as the report is 
completed and sent to Councillors. In the case of items or reports which fail to meet 
the deadline of five clear working days, the Proper Officer will need to be satisfied 
that: 

15.5.1 the item/report is genuinely urgent; and 

15.5.2 it cannot wait until a later meeting; 

and the report author is responsible for furnishing these reasons to the Proper 
Officer. 

15.6 Supply of Copies 

15.6.1 The Council will supply to Members of the Committee copies of the 
agenda and reports for that Committee. 

Page 243



 

163 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

15.6.2 The Proper Officer will ensure that copies of the agenda and reports 
are made available at the meeting of the Committee for any other 
Member, or member of the public, who attends the meeting.  This is 
subject to 15.23.1. 

15.6.3 If you are not a Member of the Committee you should access the 
agenda and reports via the Council’s website. 

15.6.4 The Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny Committee will receive 
copies of all reports for every Committee whose business can be 
scrutinised by Overview and Scrutiny Committee and any individual 
Executive delegated decision that could be subject to call-in. 

15.7 Access to Minutes etc after the Meeting 

The Council will make available copies of the following for a period of six years after 
the date of a meeting: 

15.7.1 the minutes of the meeting or record of decisions taken by the 
Cabinet, together with reasons, excluding any part of the minutes of 
proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public because 
exempt or confidential information was being considered; 

15.7.2 a summary of any proceedings not open to the public, where the 
minutes open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and 
coherent record; 

15.7.3 the agenda for the meeting; and 

15.7.4 reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 

15.8 Background Papers 

15.8.1 List of Background Papers 

The Officer preparing a report will set out in every report a list of those 
documents (called background papers) relating to the subject matter of the 
report which in his/her opinion: 

(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of 
the report is based; and 

(b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report 

but does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or 
confidential information as defined in Rule 15.10. 

15.8.2 Public Inspection of Background Papers 

The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the 
date of the meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of 
background papers. 

Page 244



 

164 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

15.9 Summary of Public’s Rights 

A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy 
documents will be kept at, and made available to the public at the Council’s main 
offices. 

15.10 Exclusion of Access by the Public to Meetings 

15.10.1 Confidential Information – Requirement to Exclude Public 

The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted, or the nature of the 
proceedings, that confidential information would be disclosed. 

15.10.2 Exempt Information – Discretion to Exclude Public 

(a) The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view 
of the nature of the business to be transacted, or the nature of the 
proceedings, that exempt information would be disclosed. 

(b) Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or 
obligations, or adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the 
Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a presumption that the meeting will 
be held in public, unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the 
reasons specified in article 6. 

15.10.3 Meaning of Confidential Information 

Confidential information means information given to the Council by a 
Government Service or Agency on terms which forbid its public disclosure 
or information which cannot be publicly disclosed by any enactment or 
Court Order. 

15.10.4 Meaning of Exempt Information  

Exempt information means information falling within the following seven 
categories (subject to any condition): 

NOTE:  Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed 
development for which the local planning authority may grant itself planning 
permission pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning 
General Regulations 1992. 

No. Category of Exempt Information Condition 

1. Information relating to any 
individual.  

Public interest test applies (see 
below). 

2. Information which is likely to reveal 
the identity of an individual. 

Public interest test applies (see 
below). 

3. Information relating to the financial Information falling within 

Page 245



 

165 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

No. Category of Exempt Information Condition 

or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority 
holding that information).  

category 3 is not exempt 
information by virtue of that 
paragraph if it is required to be 
registered under: 

 The Companies Act 2006; 

 The Friendly Societies Act 
1974; 

 The Friendly Societies Act 
1992; 

 Co-operative and 
Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014; 

 The Building Societies Act 
1986; or 

 The Charities Act 2011. 

Public interest test applies 
(see below). 

4. Information relating to any 
consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister 
of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under, the authority.   

Public interest test applies (see 
below). 

5. Information in respect of which a 
claim to legal professional privilege 
could be maintained in legal 
proceedings. 

 

6. Information which reveals that the 
authority proposes: 

 to give under any enactment a 
notice under or by virtue of 
which requirements are 
imposed on a person; or 

 to make an order or direction 
under any enactment. 

Public interest test applies (see 
below). 

Page 246



 

166 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

No. Category of Exempt Information Condition 

7. Information relating to any action 
taken or to be taken in connection 
with the prevention, investigation or 
prosecution of crime. Public 
interest test applies (see below). 

Public interest test applies (see 
below). 

 

15.11 Public Interest Test 

15.11.1 Information which: 

(a) falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 4, 6 and 7 in the table above; and 

(b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of the “qualifications” 
above, 

is exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information.   

15.11.2 The starting point is that there is a general public interest in release 
and the public authority has to decide whether in any particular case 
it would serve the interest of the public better to either disclose or 
withhold the information.   

15.11.3 There is no legal definition of what the public interest is, but the 
following have been identified as some of the relevant 
considerations: 

(a) there is a distinction between public interest and what merely interests 
the public. 

(b) does it further the understanding of and participation in the public 
debate of issues of the day? 

(c) does it promote accessibility and transparency by public authorities for 
decisions taken by them or in the spending of public money? 

(d) does it allow individuals and companies to understand decisions made 
by public authorities affecting their lives? 

(e) does it bring to light information affecting public health and public 
safety? 

15.12 Exclusion of Access by the Public to Reports 

If the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the public to 
reports which, in his or her opinion, relate to items during which, in accordance with 
Rule 15.10, the meeting is likely not to be open to the public.  Such reports will be 
marked “Not for Publication”, together with the category of information likely to be 

Page 247



 

167 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

disclosed and if applicable, why it is in the public interest it is considered that the 
information should not be disclosed. 

15.13 Application of Rules to the Cabinet 

15.13.1 Rules 15.14 - 15.23 apply to the Cabinet and its Committees. If the 
Cabinet or its Committees meet to take a Key Decision then it must 
also comply with rules 15.1-15.12 unless rule 15 (general exception) 
or rule 16 (special urgency) apply. A Key Decision is as defined in 
Section 2  of this Constitution. 

15.13.2 If the Cabinet or its Committees meet to discuss a Key Decision to 
be taken collectively, with an officer other than a political assistant 
present, within 20 working days of the date according to the 
Forward Plan by which it is to be decided, then it must also comply 
with rules 15.1 - 15.12 unless rule 15.16 (general exception) or rule 
17.17 (special urgency) apply. This requirement does not include 
meetings whose sole purpose is for officers to brief Members. 

15.14 Procedure before taking Key Decisions 

15.14.1 Notice of Key Decisions 

Subject to rule 15.16 (general exception) and rule 15.17 (special urgency), a 
Key Decision may not be taken unless: 

(a) a notice (called here a  “Notice of Key Decision”) has been published in 
connection with the matter in question; 

(b) at least 28 clear days have elapsed since the publication of the Notice 
of Key Decision; 

(c) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet or its 
Committees, notice of the meeting has been given in accordance with 
rule 4 (notice of meetings). 

15.14.2 Contents of Notice of Key Decision 

The Notice of Key Decision will state that a Key Decision is to be taken by 
the Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet, individual members of the 
Cabinet, Officers, Area Committees or under joint arrangements in the 
course of the discharge of an Executive Function. It will describe the 
following particulars: 

(a) the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made; 

(b) where the decision maker is an individual, his/her name and title, if any 
and where the decision maker is a body, its name and a list of its 
membership; 

(c) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision is to be 
made; 

Page 248



 

168 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(d) a list of the documents submitted to the decision maker for 
consideration in relation to the matter; 

(e) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their 
disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed is available; 

(f) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted to the 
decision maker; and 

(g) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as they 
become available. 

15.14.3 Publication of the Notice of Key Decision 

The Notice of Key Decision must be made available for inspection by the 
public at the Council offices and on the Council’s website. 

15.15 The Forward Plan  

15.15.1 The Council is not required by law to publish a Forward Plan. 
However, a Notice of Key Decision and a Notice of Private Meeting 
of the Cabinet published by the Council set out not just details of 
specific Key Decisions, but also details of Key Decisions over a four 
month period (including decisions to be made by the Cabinet, 
individual Cabinet members or delegated officers, which are not Key 
Decisions). In this constitution, such notices are together referred to 
as the “Forward Plan”. 

15.15.2 The Forward Plan does not have to include exempt information and 
should not include confidential information, but does give notice of 
forthcoming Part 2 decisions. 

15.16 General Exception 

If a matter which is likely to be a Key Decision has not been included in the Forward 
Plan, then subject to Rule 15.17 (Special Urgency), the decision may still be taken if: 

15.16.1 the decision must be taken by such a date that it is impracticable to 
defer the decision until it has been included in the next Forward 
Plan and until the start of the first month to which the next Forward 
Plan relates; 

15.16.2 The Proper Officer has informed the Chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, or if there is no such person, each member of 
that Committee in writing, by notice, of the matter to which the 
decision is to be made; 

15.16.3 the Proper Officer has made copies of that notice available to the 
public at the Council offices and on the Council’s website; and 

15.16.4 at least five clear working days have elapsed since the Proper 
Officer complied with 15.16.2 and 15.16.3. Where such a decision is 
taken collectively, it must be taken in public. 

Page 249



 

169 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

15.17 Special Urgency 

15.17.1 If by virtue of the date a decision which must be taken under Rule 
15.16 (General Exception) cannot be followed, then the decision 
can only be taken if the decision taker (if an individual) or the 
Chairman of the body making the decision, obtains the agreement 
of the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that the 
taking of the decision cannot be reasonably deferred. If there is no 
Chairman, or if the Chairman is unavailable to act, then the 
agreement of the Vice-Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, the Chairman of the Council, or in his/her absence, the 
Vice-Chairman or Head of Paid Service will suffice. 

15.17.2 As soon as reasonably practicable after the decision taker has 
obtained agreement under 15.17.1, the decision taker must make 
available at the Council Offices a notice setting out the reasons that 
the decision is urgent and cannot be reasonably deferred, and 
arrange for this notice to be published on the Council’s website. The 
notice will be circulated to Members. 

15.18 Report to Council 

15.18.1 When the Overview and Scrutiny Committee can Require a Report 

If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee think that a Key Decision has been 
taken which was not: 

(a) included in the Forward Plan; 

(b) the subject of the general exception procedure; 

(c) the subject of an agreement with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Chairman, or the Chairman/Vice-Chairman of the Council under rule 
15.17; 

the Committee may require the Cabinet to submit a report to the Council 
within such reasonable time as the Committee specifies. The power to 
require a report rests with the Committee, but is also delegated to the 
Proper Officer, who shall require such a report on behalf of the Committee 
when so requested by the Chairman or any five Members. Alternatively the 
requirement may be raised by resolution passed at a meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

15.18.2 Cabinet's Report to Council 

The Cabinet will prepare a report for submission to the next available 
meeting of the Council. However, if the next meeting of the Council is within 
seven days of receipt of the written notice, or the resolution of the 
Committee, then the report may be submitted to the meeting after that. The 
report to Council will set out particulars of the decision, the individual or 
body making the decision, and if the Leader is of the opinion that it was not 
a Key Decision the reasons for that opinion. 

Page 250



 

170 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

15.18.3 Annual Report on Special Urgency Decisions 

The Leader of the Council will submit an annual report to the Council on the 
Cabinet decisions taken in the circumstances set out in 15.17 (special 
urgency) in the preceding year. The report will include the number of 
decisions so taken and a summary of the matters in respect of which those 
decisions were taken. 

15.19 Record of Decisions of the Cabinet 

15.19.1 The Decision Record 

(a) As soon as reasonably practicable after any meeting, the Proper 
Officer, or if he/she was not present at the meeting, the Chairman of the 
meeting, must ensure that a written record is made of every Executive 
Decision made by the Cabinet and its Committees (if any) and by 
individual Cabinet Members, and Joint Committees and Joint Sub-
Committees whose Members are all Members of a local authority 
executive. 

(b) This decision record will include a statement, for each decision, of: 

(i) the decision made; 

(ii) the date the decision was made; 

(iii) the reasons for that decision; 

(iv) any alternative options considered and rejected at the meeting; 

(v) any personal interest declared; and 

(vi) any dispensation granted. 

15.20 Cabinet Meetings to be held in Public 

Meetings of the Cabinet will be held in public, unless it is likely that exempt or 
confidential information would be disclosed or whenever a lawful power is used to 
exclude a member or members of the public in order to maintain orderly conduct or 
prevent misbehaviour at a meeting. The public may only be excluded for the part or 
parts of the meeting which it is likely that exempt or confidential information would be 
disclosed.  

15.21 Key Decisions by An Individual Member of the Cabinet  

15.21.1 Reports Must Be Taken Into Account 

Where an individual Member of the Cabinet receives a report which he/she 
intends to take into account in making any Key Decision, then he/she will 
not make the decision until at least three clear working days after receipt of 
that report. 

15.21.2 Provision of Copies of Reports to Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 251



 

171 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

On giving such a report to an individual decision maker, the person who 
prepared the report will give a copy of it to the Chairman of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee as soon as reasonably practicable, and make it 
publicly available at the same time. 

15.21.3 Record of Individual Decision 

The decision recording rules in paragraph 15.19.1 will apply. 

15.22 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Access to Documents 

15.22.1 Rights of Access 

Subject to paragraph 15.22.2 below, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will be entitled to copies of any document which is in the possession or 
control of the Cabinet or its Committees and which contains material 
relating to: 

(a) any business transacted at a meeting of the Cabinet or its Committees; 
or 

(b) any decision taken by an individual Member of the Cabinet. 

15.22.2 Limit on Rights 

A Scrutiny Committee will not be entitled to: 

(a) any document that is in draft form; 

(b) any part of a document that contains confidential or exempt information, 
unless that information is relevant to an action or decision that the 
Committee are reviewing or scrutinising or intending to scrutinise; or 

(c) advice provided by a political advisor or assistant. 

With regard to 15.22.2(b) above, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 
need to demonstrate to the Monitoring Officer that the information requested 
is relevant to them and the Monitoring Officer shall take the decision as to 
whether the information should be made available, supplying reasons as 
appropriate. 

15.23 Additional Rights of Access for Members 

15.23.1 All Members of the Council will be entitled to inspect any document 
(except those available only in draft form) in the possession or 
under the control of the Cabinet or its Committees which contain 
material relating to any business to be transacted at a public 
meeting unless 15.23.1(a),15.23.1(b) or 15.23.1(c) applies: 

(a) it contains exempt information falling within paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 5 or 7 of 
the categories of exempt information; or 

Page 252



 

172 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(b) it contains exempt information falling within paragraph 3 of the 
categories of exempt information and that information relates to any 
terms proposed or to be proposed by or to the Council in the course of 
negotiations for a contract; or 

(c) where it appears to the Proper Officer that allowing the Member to 
inspect the document would involve the disclosure of advice provided 
by a political advisor or assistant. 

15.23.2 Any document which is required by Rule 15.23.1 to be available for 
inspection by any member of the Council must be available for such 
inspection for at least five (5) clear days before the meeting except 
that- 

(a) where the meeting is convened at shorter notice, such a document 
must be available for inspection when the meeting is convened; and 

(b) where an item is added to the agenda at shorter notice, a document 
that would be required to be available under Rule 15.23.1 in relation to 
that time, must be available for inspection when the item is added to the 
agenda. 

15.24 Material relating to previous business 

15.24.1 All members will be entitled to inspect any document (except those 
available only in draft form) which is in the possession or under the 
control of the Cabinet or its committees and contains material 
relating to any business previously transacted at a private meeting 
or to any decision made by a Member or Officer in accordance with 
executive arrangements unless 15.23.1(a) or 15.23.1(b) applies. 

15.24.2 Any document required to be made available for inspection under 
15.24 must be made available when the relevant meeting concludes 
or, where an executive decision is made by an individual member or 
officer, immediately after the decision has been made, and in any 
event, within twenty four (24) hours of the conclusion of the meeting 
or the decision having been made as the case may be. 

15.24.3 Nature of Rights 

These rights of a Member are additional to any other right he/she may have. 

Page 253



 

173 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 16 

16. Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 

16.1 The Framework for Executive Decisions 

The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its Budget and Policy Framework 
as set out in Section 4.  Once a Budget or a Policy Framework is in place, it will be 
the responsibility of the Cabinet to implement it. 

16.2 Process for Developing the Framework and the Budget 

16.2.1 The Cabinet will publicise by including in the Forward Plan a 
timetable for making proposals to the Council for the adoption of 
any plan, strategy or budget that forms part of the Budget and 
Policy Framework. 

16.2.2 The Cabinet may undertake consultation with Committees and local 
stakeholders as deemed appropriate by Cabinet. Any 
representations made to the Cabinet shall be taken into account in 
formulating the initial proposals and shall be reflected in any report 
dealing with them.  If the matter is one where the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee has carried out a statutory Scrutiny function 
then the outcome of that review will be reported to the Cabinet and 
considered in the preparation of initial proposals. Finance, Audit and 
Risk Committee has specific functions reserved to it under its Terms 
of Reference and shall deal with these matters accordingly. 

16.2.3 The Cabinet develops its proposals for the plan, strategy or budget, 
having due regard to previously approved Priorities as appropriate, 
and seeks the views from Member budget workshops and 
Committees as deemed appropriate by Cabinet (including Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee or Finance Audit and Risk Committee for 
matters within the Terms of Reference of those Committees). The 
proposals will be referred by sending a copy to the Proper Officer 
who will forward them to the Chairman of the relevant Committee. 
The Committee may canvass the views of local stakeholders if it 
considers it appropriate, having particular regard not to duplicate 
any consultation carried out by the Cabinet. The Committees 
consulted shall report to Cabinet on the outcome of their 
deliberations. Committees shall have 4 to 6 weeks to respond to the 
initial proposals of the Cabinet unless the Cabinet considers that 
there are special factors that make the timescale inappropriate. If it 
does, it will inform the Committee of the time for response when the 
proposals are referred to it. 

16.2.4 The Cabinet will consider the views of those consulted and may 
amend its proposals before making recommendations to the full 
Council for consideration. It will report to the Council how it has 
taken into account any recommendations from the Member budget 
workshops and Committee(s) consulted. 

Page 254



 

174 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

16.2.5 The Council will consider the proposals of the Cabinet and may 
adopt them, amend them, refer them back to the Cabinet for further 
consideration, or substitute its own proposals in their place. In 
considering the matter, the Council shall have before it the Cabinet's 
proposals and any report from any Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or Finance, Audit and Risk Committee. 

16.2.6 In respect of the preparation of the Budget or a plan, policy or 
strategy forming part of the Strategic Framework, the Cabinet has a 
right to ask the Council to reconsider any proposed decision which 
runs counter to the Cabinet's proposals for either Budget or plans. 

16.2.7 Where the Cabinet has submitted a draft plan or strategy to the 
Council for its consideration and, following consideration of that 
draft plan or strategy, the Council has any objections to it, the 
Council must take the action set out in paragraph 16.2.8. 

16.2.8 Before the Council: 

(a) amends the draft plan or strategy; 

(b) approves, for the purpose of its submission to the Secretary of State or 
any Minister of the Crown for his approval, any plan or strategy 
(whether or not in the form of a draft) of which any part is required to be 
so submitted; 

(c) adopts (with or without modification) the plan or strategy; 

it must inform the Leader of any objections which it has to the draft plan or 
strategy (and the rationale for such objections) and must give to him/her  
instructions requiring the Cabinet to reconsider, in the light of those 
objections, the draft plan or strategy submitted to it. 

16.2.9 Where the Council gives instructions in accordance with paragraph 
16.2.8, it must specify a period of at least five working days 
beginning on the day after the date on which the Leader receives 
the instructions on behalf of the Cabinet within which the Leader 
may: 

(a) submit a revision of the draft plan or strategy as amended by the 
Cabinet (the "revised draft plan or strategy"), with the Cabinet's reasons 
for any amendments made to the draft plan or strategy, to the Council 
for the Council's consideration; 

(b) inform the Council of any disagreement that the Cabinet has with any of 
the Council's objections and the Cabinet's reasons for any such 
disagreement. 

When the period specified by the Council, referred to in paragraph 16.2.9, 
has expired, the Council must, when: 

(i) amending the draft plan or strategy or, if there is one, the revised 
draft plan or strategy; 

Page 255



 

175 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(ii) approving, for the purpose of its submission to the Secretary of 
State or any Minister of the Crown for his approval, any plan or 
strategy (whether or not in the form of a draft or revised draft) of 
which any part is required to be so submitted; or 

(iii) adopting (with or without modification) the plan or strategy, 

take into account any amendments made to the draft plan or strategy that 
are included in any revised draft plan or strategy, the Cabinet's reasons for 
those amendments, any disagreement that the Cabinet has with any of the 
Council's objections and the Cabinet's reasons for that disagreement, which 
the Leader submitted to the Council, or informed the Council of, within the 
period specified. The Council will then meet again to consider any 
objections from Cabinet and will make its final decision on the matter on the 
basis of a simple majority. 

16.2.10 Subject to paragraph 16.2.14, where, if estimates are prepared 
before 8th February in any financial year, the Council's Cabinet 
submits to the Council for its consideration in relation to the 
following financial year, 

(a) estimates of the amounts to be aggregated in making a calculation 
(whether originally or by way of substitute) in accordance with any of 
sections 32 to 37 or 43 to 49, of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 or any other applicable legislation; 

(b) estimates of other amounts to be used for the purposes of such a 
calculation; 

(c) estimates of such a calculation; or 

(d) amounts required to be stated in a precept under Chapter IV of Part I of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992 or any other applicable 
legislation, 

and following consideration of those estimates or amounts the Council has 
any objections to them, it must take the action set out in paragraph 16.2.12. 

16.2.11 Before the Council makes a calculation (whether originally or by 
way of substitute) in accordance with any of the sections referred to 
in paragraph 16.2.10(a), or issues a precept under Chapter IV of 
Part I of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, it must inform the 
Leader of any objections which it has to the Cabinet's estimates or 
amounts and must give to him instructions requiring the Cabinet to 
reconsider, in the light of those objections, those estimates and 
amounts in accordance with the Council's requirements. 

16.2.12 Where the Council gives instructions in accordance with paragraph 
16.2.11, it must specify a period of at least five working days 
beginning on the day after the date on which the Leader receives 
the instructions on behalf of the Cabinet within which the Cabinet 
Leader may: 

Page 256



 

176 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(a) submit a revision of the estimates or amounts as amended by the 
Cabinet ("revised estimates or amounts"), which have been 
reconsidered in accordance with the Council's requirements, with the 
Cabinet's reasons for any amendments made to the estimates or 
amounts, to the Council for the Council's consideration; or 

(b) inform the Council of any disagreement that the Cabinet has with any of 
the Council's objections and the Cabinet's reasons for any such 
disagreement. 

16.2.13 When the period specified by the Council, referred to in paragraph 
16.2.12, has expired, the Council must, when making calculations 
(whether originally or by way of substitute in accordance with the 
sections referred to in paragraph 16.2.10(a)), or issuing a precept 
under Chapter IV of Part I of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, take into account, 

(a) any amendments to the estimates or amounts that are included in any 
revised estimates or amounts; 

(b) the Cabinet's reasons for those amendments; 

(c) any disagreement that the Cabinet has with any of the Council's 
objections; and 

(d) the Cabinet's reasons for that disagreement, which the Leader 
submitted to the Council, or informed the Council of, within the period 
specified. 

16.2.14 Paragraphs 16.2.11 to 16.2.13 shall not apply in relation to: 

(a) calculations or substitute calculations which a Council is required to 
make in accordance with sections 52(I), 52(J), 52(T) or 52(U) of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992; and 

(b) amounts stated in a precept issued to give effect to calculations or 
substitute calculations made in accordance with section 52(J) or 52(U) 
of that Act. 

16.3 Decisions Outside the Budget or Policy Framework 

16.3.1 Subject to the provisions of paragraph 16.4 (Urgent Decisions 
Outside the Budget or Policy Framework) any Committees, whether 
they be: the Cabinet, Area Committees, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (to the extent that it makes such decisions), Finance, 
Audit and Risk Committee; or individual members of the Cabinet, or 
any Officers may only take decisions which are in line with the 
Budget and Policy Framework.  If any of these bodies or persons 
wishes to make a decision which is contrary to the Policy 
Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
Budget approved by Full Council, then that decision may only be 
taken by the full Council, subject to paragraph 16.4 below. 

Page 257



 

177 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

16.3.2 It is the responsibility of the decision-taker to take advice from the 
Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer as to whether 
the decision they want to make would be contrary to the Policy 
Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
Budget. 

16.3.3 If the advice of either of those officers is that the decision would not 
be in line with the existing Budget and/or Policy Framework, then 
the decision must be referred by that body or person to the Council 
for decision, unless the decision is a matter of urgency, in which 
case the provisions in paragraph 16.4 (Urgent Decisions Outside 
the Budget or Policy Framework) shall apply. 

16.4 Urgent Decisions Outside the Budget or Policy Framework 

16.4.1 The Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, an individual member of 
the Cabinet or officers or joint arrangements discharging Executive 
Functions may take a decision which is contrary to the Council’s 
Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
Budget approved by Full Council if the decision is a matter of 
urgency.  However, the decision may only be taken: 

(a) if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the Full Council; 
and 

(b) if the Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny Committee agrees that the 
decision is a matter of urgency. 

16.4.2 The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of 
Full Council and the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee’s consent to the decision being taken as a matter of 
urgency must be noted on the record of the decision.  In the 
absence of the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
the consent of the Head of Paid Service will be sufficient. The 
Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny Committee should receive 
copies of any individual Executive delegated decision that could be 
subject to call-in. Delegated decisions must be taken, recorded and 
published in accordance with the Council’s Guidance  on the 
statutory requirements and procedures. 

16.4.3 Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to 
the next available Council meeting explaining the decision, the 
reasons for it and why the decision was treated as a matter of 
urgency. 

16.5 Virement 

Steps taken by the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, individual members of the 
Cabinet or Officers or joint arrangements discharging Executive Functions to 
implement Council policy, shall not exceed those budgets allocated to each budget 
head.  In the event that virement across budget heads or budgets becomes 
necessary or desirable, it shall be carried out in accordance with the Financial 
Regulations in Section 19 of this Constitution. 

Page 258



 

178 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

16.6 In-Year Changes to Policy Framework 

The responsibility for agreeing the Budget and Policy Framework lies with the 
Council and decisions by the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, an individual 
member of the Cabinet or officers or joint arrangements discharging Executive 
Functions must be in line with it.  No changes to any policy or strategy which make 
up the Policy Framework may be made by those bodies or individuals except those 
changes: 

16.6.1 which will result in the consequential closure or discontinuance of a 
discretionary service or part of service to meet a budgetary 
constraint; 

16.6.2 necessary to ensure compliance with the law, ministerial direction or 
government guidance; 

16.6.3 in relation to the Policy Framework in respect of a policy which 
would normally be agreed annually by the Council following 
consultation, but where the existing policy document is silent on the 
matter under consideration; or 

16.6.4 for which provision is made within the relevant budget or policy. 

16.7 Call-In of decisions Contrary to the Budget or Policy Framework  

16.7.1 Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is of the opinion that 
an Executive Decision is, or if made would be, contrary to the Policy 
Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
Council’s Budget, then it shall seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer. 

16.7.2 In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet, 
the Monitoring Officer’s report and/or Chief Finance Officer’s report 
shall be to the Cabinet with a copy to every Member of the Council.  
Regardless of whether the decision is delegated or not, the Cabinet 
must meet to decide what action to take in respect of the Monitoring 
Officer’s or Chief Finance Officer’s report and to prepare a report to 
Council in the event that the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance 
Officer conclude that the decision was a departure, and to the 
Finance, Audit and Risk Committee if the Monitoring Officer or the 
Chief Finance Officer conclude that the decision was not a 
departure. 

16.7.3 If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet 
implemented, and the advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the 
Chief Finance Officer is that the decision is or would be contrary to 
the Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with 
the Budget, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may refer the 
matter to Council.  In such cases, no further action will be taken in 
respect of the decision or its implementation until the Council has 
met and considered the matter.  The Council shall meet within 20 
working days of the request by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  At the meeting it will receive a report of the decision or 

Page 259



 

179 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

proposals and the advice of the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief 
Finance Officer.  The Council may either: 

(a) endorse a decision or proposal of the Executive Decision taker as 
falling within the existing Budget and Policy Framework.  In this case no 
further action is required, save that the decision of the Council be 
minuted and circulated to all councillors in the normal way; or 

(b) amend the Council’s Financial Regulations or policy concerned to 
encompass the decision or proposal of the body or individual 
responsible for that Executive Function and agree to the decision with 
immediate effect.  In this case, no further action is required save that 
the decision of the Council be minuted and circulated to all councillors 
in the normal way; or 

(c) where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary to 
the Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with 
the Budget, and does not amend the existing framework to 
accommodate it, require the Cabinet to reconsider the matter in 
accordance with the advice of either the Monitoring Officer or Chief 
Finance Officer. 

 

Page 260



 

180 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 17 

NORTH HERTS DISTRICT COUNCIL CODE OF CONDUCT 

FOR COUNCILLORS (AND VOTING / NON-VOTING CO-OPTEES) 

(4 May 201830) 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1. Trust and confidence in public office-holders and institutions are essential for the 

effective functioning of local authorities.  This is particularly true in the case of elected 

office-holders.  Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 requires a relevant authority to 

adopt a code setting out the conduct that is expected of a Councillor or co-opted 

Councillor (“Councillor”). The Council (“the authority’) has therefore adopted this Code of 

Conduct to promote and maintain high standards of conduct in public life.  Its purpose is 

not to inhibit legitimate representational and political activity, but to provide a framework 

that enables such activities to be carried out appropriately.   

 
1.2. This Code applies to all Councillors, voting or non-voting.  As a Councillor you must 

meet/adhere to the seven Nolan principles of public life: selflessness, integrity, 

objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. They are set out in more 

detail in Appendix B.  These principles underpin this Code and will be used for 

interpretation, investigation and determination purposes. 

 
1.3. This Code covers the following areas: 

 

 Part 1 sets out general obligations regarding Councillors’ behaviour; 

 

 Part 2 sets out how Councillors must behave if they have an interest in an item of 

authority business (“Councillors’ Interests”); 

 

 Appendix A - Description of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests; 

 Appendix B - Nolan principles of public life; 

 Appendix C - Dispensation grounds. 

 
If in doubt about the application or interpretation of any of the provisions of this Code, you 
should check the NHDC Guide that supports it and/or seek advice from the Monitoring Officer. 

 
 
2. WHEN DOES THE CODE OF CONDUCT APPLY? 
 
2.1 In this Code “meeting” means any meeting of: 

 
(a)  the authority; 
 
(b)  the executive of the authority; 

                                                

30 Approved by Full Council 23 November 2017 

Page 261



 

181 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

 
(c)  the authority, or its executive, committees, sub-committees joint committees, joint 

sub-committees, or area committees (including working groups, working parties and 
panels); 

 
(d)  informal meetings with other Councillors and/or Officers relating to the discharge of 

the authority’s business. 
 

2.2 This Code applies— 
 

(a)  whenever you conduct the business of, or are present at a meeting of, the authority; 
or 

 
(b)  whenever you act, or claim to act, or give the impression you are acting, in the role 

of Councillor to which you were elected or appointed; or 
 
(c)  whenever you act, or claim to act or give the impression you are acting, as a 

representative of the authority; or 
 
(d)  at all times and in any capacity, in respect of conduct described in paragraphs 3.4(a) 

and 3.5; or 
 
(e)  in respect of any criminal offence of which you have been convicted or for which you 

have accepted an out of court disposal in respect of a criminal offence31 during your 
term of office. 

 
2.3 Where you are elected, appointed or nominated by the authority to serve on any other 

authority or body you must, when acting for that other authority or body, comply with the 
code of conduct of that other authority or body. 

 
2.4 Where you are elected, appointed or nominated by the authority to serve on any other 

body which does not have a code relating to the conduct of its members, you must, 
when acting for that other body, comply with this Code, unless it conflicts with any other 
lawful obligations to which that other body may be subject. 

 
 

PART 1 
RULES OF CONDUCT 

 
3. GENERAL OBLIGATIONS 
 
3.1 You must comply with this Code.  You fail to do so if you do not comply with any of the 

obligations in this Code. 
 
3.2 Duties and Responsibilities 
 

You must: 
 
(a) carry out your duties and responsibilities with due regard to the principle that there 

                                                

31 To include: simple caution, a conditional caution, any appropriate regulatory proceedings, a punitive or civil penalty, or prosecution-related disposal. 

Page 262



 

182 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

should be equality of opportunity for all people, regardless of their race,  pregnancy 

and maternity, gender reassignment, marriage or civil partnership, disability, sex or 

sexual orientation, age, religion or belief; 

 
(b) not do anything which may cause the authority to breach equalities legislation; 

 

(c) show respect and consideration for others; 

 

(d) not bully or harass any person;  

 

(e) not do anything which compromises, or which is likely to compromise, the impartiality 

of those who work for, or on behalf of, the authority. 

 
3.3  Information 
 

You must not: 
 
(a) disclose confidential information or information which could reasonably be regarded 

as being confidential without the express prior consent of a person authorised to 

give such consent, or unless required by law to do so; 

 
(b) prevent any person from gaining access to information to which that person is 

entitled by law. 

 
3.4 Conduct 
 

You must: 
 
(a) not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing 

your office or the authority into disrepute; 

 
(b) not make vexatious, malicious or frivolous complaints against other Councillors or 

anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the authority; 

 

(c) comply with any request of the authority's Monitoring Officer, or section 151/ Chief 

Finance Officer, or Head of Paid Service in connection with an inquiry or 

investigation conducted in accordance with their respective statutory powers. 

 
3.5 Use of your Position 
 

You must not: 
 
(a) in your official capacity or otherwise, use or attempt to use your position improperly 

to confer on, or secure for yourself, or any other person, an advantage or create or 

avoid for yourself, or any other person, a disadvantage; 

 
(b) use, or authorise others to use, the resources of the authority:— 

 

Page 263



 

183 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(i)  imprudently; 
 
(ii)  in breach of the authority's requirements; 
 
(iii)  unlawfully; 
 
(iv)  other than in a manner which is calculated to facilitate, or to be conducive to, 

the discharge of the functions of the authority, or of the office to which you 
have been elected or appointed; 

 
(v)  improperly for political purposes; or 
 
(vi)  improperly for private purposes. 
 

3.6 Decision Making 
 

You must: 
 
(a) when participating in meetings or reaching decisions that are the business of the 

authority, do so on the basis of the merits of the circumstances involved and in the 

public interest having regard to any relevant advice provided by the authority's 

Statutory Officers listed below: — 

 
(i) the Head of Paid Service; 

 
(ii) the s.151 Officer/ Chief Finance Officer; 

 

(iii)  the Monitoring Officer/ Chief legal Officer; 
 
and give sufficient reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory 
requirements and any reasonable additional requirements imposed by the authority. 

 
(b) act reasonably and not prejudge or demonstrate bias, or be seen to prejudge or 

demonstrate bias, in respect of any decision. 

 
3.7 Compliance with the Law and the Authority’s Rules and Policies 
 

You must: 
 
(a) (i)  uphold the criminal law. You fail to uphold the criminal law if you are convicted 

or you have accepted an out of court disposal32 during your term of office;  

(ii) notify the Monitoring Officer within 14 days of any conviction or out of court 

disposal.  

 
(b) observe the law and the authority's rules governing the claiming of expenses and 

allowances in connection with your duties as a Councillor; 

 

                                                

32 To include: simple caution, a conditional caution, any appropriate regulatory proceedings, a punitive or civil penalty, or prosecution-related disposal. 

Page 264



 

184 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

(c) comply with NHDC’s Members’ Protocol for Gifts and Hospitality; 

 

(d) comply with any other policy which sets out requirements for Councillor conduct. 

This includes the Protocol on Member/Officer Working Arrangements and Planning 

Code of Good Practice for Members. 

 

(e) attend compulsory33 training provided by the authority or when directed to34 attend 

following the determination of a Councillor Conduct complaint. 

 
 

PART 2 
COUNCILLORS’ INTERESTS 

 
There are specific obligations on Councillors regarding the disclosure, declaration and 
participation in meetings which are set out in Part 2 below. 
 
4. DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS (‘DPI’s) AND DECLARABLE INTERESTS  
 

DPIs 
 

4.2 A Breach of the requirements relating to DPIs can constitute a criminal offence under 

Section 34 of the Localism Act 2011.  DPIs are defined in the Relevant Authorities 

(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, summarised at Appendix A35. 

 
4.3 You have a DPI (as defined at Appendix A), if it is:   

 
(a) your interest; or 

 
(b) an interest of a “relevant person” i.e. your spouse or civil partner (or equivalent co-

habitee), and you are aware that the relevant person has that interest. 

 
4.4 If you have a DPI, you must, within 28 days: 

 
(a) of election or appointment as a Councillor (whichever is later), notify the Monitoring 

Officer of your DPI on the Register of Interests form; 

  
(b) notify the Monitoring Officer of any change to your DPIs on the Register of Interests 

form. 

 
4.5 A copy of your Register of Interests form will (subject to paragraph 5) be available for 

public inspection and published on the authority’s website. 

 
4.6 If a function of the authority can be carried out by a Councillor acting alone and you have 

a DPI in any matter to be dealt with when carrying out that function, you must not take 

                                                

33 For the purposes of this Code, training will only be considered compulsory if designated as such by: a Statutory Officer 3.6 (a) i)-iii) with the agreement of Group Leaders; or decision of Full 

Council, Cabinet or Committee. 
34 By the Monitoring Officer as part of informal resolution or Standards Sub-Committee both following a standards complaint, and a decision in the latter case that the Code has been breached. 
35 From DCLG Guide for Councillors “Openness and Transparency on Personal Interests” March 2013 

Page 265



 

185 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

any steps, or any further steps, in relation to the matter, except to enable the matter to 

be dealt with by another Councillor who can carry out the function. 

 
DECLARABLE INTERESTS 
 

4.7 You have a Declarable Interest in an item of business of the authority where it relates to, 

or might reasonably be likely to affect: 

 
(a) the well-being or financial standing of you or a member of your family or your 

employer or a person or body with whom you have a close association to a greater 

extent than it would affect the majority of: 

(i) the inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision; or 

(ii) the inhabitants of the authority’s administrative area where the decision affects 

the wider area. 

 
(b)  the interests listed in Appendix A to this Code, but in respect of a member of your 

family or your employer or a person or body with whom you have a close 
association; or 

 
(c) the interests of any person or body from whom you have received a gift or hospitality 

with an estimated value of at least £50 (or such other figure set in the NHDC 

Members’ Protocol for Gifts and Hospitality).  You need not disclose this interest if it 

was received and / or registered more than six years before the date of the meeting; 

or 

 
(d) any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 

management which: 

 
(i) you are appointed or nominated to by the authority; or 

 
(ii) exercises functions of a public nature; or 

 
(iii) is directed to charitable purposes; or 

 

(iv) includes as one of its principal purposes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union); 

  
and that interest is not a DPI. 
 

4.8 If you have a Declarable Interest you must within 28 days: 

  
(a) of election or appointment as a Councillor (whichever is later), notify the Monitoring 

Officer of any Declarable Interest listed under paragraph 4.6 (c) and/ or (d) on the 

Register of Interests form. 

 
(b)  notify the Monitoring Officer of any change to the Declarable Interests listed under 

paragraph 4.6 (c) and/ or (d) on the Register of Interests form. 
 

Page 266



 

186 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

These will be on the same Register of Interests and arrangements as DPIs described at 
paragraphs 4.3 and 4.4.  
 
 

5. SENSITIVE INTERESTS 
 
5.1  A DPI or Declarable Interest will not be published or made available for inspection, or the 

details disclosed in meetings, where the nature of the interest is such that you and the 
Monitoring Officer have reasonable grounds for believing that disclosure could lead to 
you or a person connected with you being subject to violence or intimidation.  If the 
Monitoring Officer agrees with you, it will then be considered a “sensitive interest” for the 
purposes of this Code.  The obligations in relation to not participating or voting in a 
meeting under paragraph 6 shall still otherwise apply.  

 
5.2 You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any change of circumstances that 

means that information excluded under paragraph 5.1 is no longer a sensitive interest, 
notify the Monitoring Officer.  You must then enter the information on your Register of 
Interests as per the arrangements at paragraphs 4.3, 4.4 and/ or 4.7. 

 
 
6. DECLARING INTERESTS, PARTICIPATING AND VOTING AT MEETINGS  
 

DPIs 
 
6.1. If you attend a meeting and have, and are aware that you have, a DPI in any matter to 

be considered, or being considered, at the meeting, then:  

 
(a) you must orally disclose the existence and nature of your DPI before the 

consideration of the item of business or as soon as it becomes apparent unless 

paragraph 5.1 applies; and 

 
(b) you must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting or vote; or 

 

(c) if you become aware of your DPI during the meeting, you must not participate       

further in any discussion in the matter or vote;  

 

and in all cases 
 

(d) you must leave the room where the meeting is being held unless you have received 

a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer (see paragraph 7 & Appendix C). 

 
DECLARABLE INTERESTS  

 
6.2. If you attend a meeting and have, and are aware that you have, a Declarable Interest in 

any matter to be considered or being considered at the meeting, then:  

 
(a) you must orally disclose the existence and nature of your Declarable Interest before 

the consideration of the item of business or as soon as it becomes apparent unless 

paragraph 5.1 applies;  

Page 267



 

187 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

 
and 
 

(b) If the Declarable Interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice 

your judgement of the public interest, then you must not participate in the 

discussion, or vote on the item, and you must leave the room, unless: 

 
(i) you have received a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer (see paragraph 7 & 

Appendix C); or 

 
(ii) you wish to exercise a ‘Councillor Speaking Right’. To do so you must comply 

with 6.2 (c). 

 
(c) If you wish to exercise a Councillor Speaking Right: 

 
(i) you must declare that you intend to do so at the same time as 6.2 (a) and such 

right will be subject to the time limits for public speaking; and   

 
(ii) you must move to the public area of the meeting room before exercising the 

Speaking Right; and  

 
(iii) once exercised, you must then leave the room before the debate and vote.   

 
NOTE: a Councillor Speaking Right cannot be exercised at informal 
meetings.36 This cannot be exercised in relation to a DPI. 

 
 
7. DISPENSATIONS 
 
7.1 Section 33 of the Localism Act 2011 allows the authority in certain circumstances to 

grant a dispensation to permit a Councillor to participate in the business of the authority, 
even if the Councillor has a DPI relating to that business.  The authority has also 
decided that dispensations may be applied to Declarable Interests. 

  
7.2     If you would like the authority to consider granting you a dispensation where you have a 

DPI or a Declarable Interest, you must make a prior written request to the Monitoring 
Officer.  The grounds under which such an application will be considered are detailed in 
Appendix C. 

 
 

                                                

36 Informal meeting is defined under paragraph 2.1(d). 

Page 268



 

188 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

APPENDIX A 
 

Description of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (from DCLG Guide for Councillors “Openness 
and Transparency on Personal Interests” March 201337.  
 
Further assistance may be obtained from the ‘Guide to NHDC Code of Conduct’ available on 
the authority’s website: https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/council-and-
democracy/councillors-mps-and-meps/councillors-code-conduct-and-declaration 
 
If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests under the national rules. Any reference to spouse or civil partner includes any person 
with whom you are living as husband or wife, or as if they were your civil partner. 
 
Employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain, which you, or 
your spouse or civil partner, undertakes. 
 
Other payments received 
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your council or 
authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by 
you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. This includes any 
payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. The relevant period is the 12 months ending on the 
day when you tell the Monitoring Officer about your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests following 
your election or re-election, or when you became aware you had a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest relating to a matter on which you were acting alone.  
 
Contracts 
Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner (or a body in 
which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial interest) and your council or 
authority –  

 under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; 

and  

 which has not been fully discharged.  

 
Land 
Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, have and which is 
within the area of your council or authority.  
 
Licences 
Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, holds to 
occupy land in the area of your council or authority for a month or longer.  
 
 
Corporate tenancies 
Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) –  

 the landlord is your council or authority; and  

 the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a 

beneficial interest. 

                                                

37 Updated in September 2013. 

Page 269

https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/councillors-mps-and-meps/councillors-code-conduct-and-declaration
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/councillors-mps-and-meps/councillors-code-conduct-and-declaration


 

189 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

 
Securities38 
Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in securities of a body 
where –  
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of your council or 
authority; and  
(b) either –  

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body; or  
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of 
the shares of any one class in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.  
 

 
APPENDIX B 

 
Nolan principles of public life 
 
Selflessness  Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public 

interest.  
Integrity  Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under 

any obligation to people or organisations that might try 
inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should 
not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other 
material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. 
They must declare and resolve any interests and 
relationships.  

Objectivity  Holders of public office must act and take decisions 
impartially, fairly and on merit, using the best evidence and 
without discrimination or bias.  

Accountability  Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their 
decisions and actions and must submit themselves to the 
scrutiny necessary to ensure this.  

Openness  Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an 
open and transparent manner. Information should not be 
withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful 
reasons for so doing.  

Honesty  Holders of public office should be truthful.  
Leadership  Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their 

own behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly 
support the principles and be willing to challenge poor 
behaviour wherever it occurs.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                

38 Means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities 

of any description, other than money deposited with a building society. 

 

Page 270

https://docmanager.pnld.co.uk/content/S1379.htm


 

190 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

APPENDIX C 
 
Dispensation grounds39 
 
A dispensation may be granted only if, after having had regard to all relevant circumstances, the 
Monitoring Officer considers that— 
 

(a) without the dispensation the number of Councillors prohibited from participating in 

any particular business, would be so great a proportion of the body transacting the 

business, as to impede the transaction of the business;  

 
(b) without the dispensation the representation of different political groups on the body 

transacting any particular business would be so upset as to alter the likely outcome 

of any vote relating to the business; 

 
(c) granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the authority's area; 

 
(d) without the dispensation each member of the authority's executive would be 

prohibited from participating in any particular business to be transacted by the 

authority's executive, or 

 
(e) considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 

 
A dispensation must specify the period for which it has effect, and the period specified may not 
exceed four years. 

                                                

39 The full wording for the statutory grounds for a DPI dispensation can be found under section 33 Localism Act 2011 

Page 271



 

191 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

SECTION 18 

PROTOCOL FOR MEMBER / OFFICER WORKING ARRANGEMENTS 

(Reviewed and approved by Council 11 April 2017) 

1. Introduction 

1.1 This Protocol provides a general framework for the interaction between elected Members 
and officers of the Council, in order to seek to ensure that the Members and officers work 
together effectively and efficiently to conduct the business of the Authority. 

1.2 In particular, this protocol aims to support the enhancement of local democracy by – 

 facilitating the participation of Members and officers in the Council’s policy development and 
decision making processes; 

 assisting Members and those officers who support them in their role as representatives of 
the community within the Council and externally; and 

 clarifying arrangements for the provision of the information and support for Members and 
their party groups. 

 
1.3 This Protocol is intended to assist Members and officers in maintaining the highest 

standards of integrity and propriety and ensuring that everything they do is seen by others to 
be done properly, fairly and where possible openly. 

1.4 It is important therefore that any dealings with Members and officers should observe 
reasonable standards of mutual courtesy and respect, and that neither should seek to take 
unfair advantage of their position in any circumstances. 

1.5 The Council has adopted a Councillor Code of Conduct (section 17 of the Constitution) 
which sets out the Conduct expected from Members.  Officers are also bound to follow the 
Council’s Employee Code of Conduct and may, in addition be subject to their own 
professional codes of conduct. 

1.6 This Protocol should be read and applied in conjunction with that Code of Conduct. The 
principles and procedures set out in this Protocol are already, to a large extent, established 
and form the basis of the Council’s working arrangements. The purpose of this Protocol is to 
provide guidance on Member/officer working arrangements particularly in the case of doubt 
or difficulty. 

1.7 Failure of a Member to follow the Protocol for Member / Officer Working Arrangements may 
amount to a breach of the Councillor Code of Conduct and by an Officer of the Employee 
Code of Conduct and therefore their terms and conditions of employment. 

2. Roles of Members and Officers 

2.1 The respective roles of Members and officers can be summarised as follows: 

Members and officers are servants of the public and they are indispensable to one another. But 
their responsibilities are distinct. Members are responsible to the electorate and serve only so 
long as their term of office lasts. Officers are responsible to the Council. Their job is to give 
advice to Members and to the Authority, and to carry out the Authority's work under the direction 

Page 272



 

192 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

and control of the Council, the Cabinet, and relevant Committees etc. It is not the role of 
Members to determine the day-to-day management of the Authority's services.  Mutual respect 
between Members and officers is essential to good local government. 

2.2 Members 

Members have four main areas of responsibility: 

a) determining the policy of the Authority and giving it political leadership; 
b) monitoring and reviewing the performance of the Authority in implementing that policy 

and delivering services; 
c) representing the Authority externally; 
d) acting as advocates on behalf of their constituents. 

 
2.3 Members of Cabinet, Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen 

Members of Cabinet and Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees, Boards, Panels etc have 
additional responsibilities. Because of those responsibilities, their relationships with employees 
may be different from, and more complex than those of Members without those responsibilities, 
and this is recognised in the expectations they are entitled to have. However, such Members 
must still respect the impartiality of officers, must not ask them to undertake work of a party 
political nature, or to do anything which would put them in difficulty in the event of a change in 
the political composition of the Authority. 

2.4 Opposition Members 

As individual Members, all Members have the same rights and obligations in their relationship 
with officers and should be treated fairly. This principle is particularly important in the context of 
overview and scrutiny. However, where a political group forms an administration, either alone or 
in partnership with another group or groups, it is recognised that the relationship between 
officers, particularly those at a senior level in the organisation and the administration will differ 
from that with opposition groups. 

2.5 Officers 

The role of officers is to give advice and information to Members and to implement the policies 
determined by the Authority. In giving such advice to Members, and in preparing and presenting 
reports, it is the responsibility of the officer to express his/her own professional views and 
recommendations. Whilst an officer may report the views of individual Members on an issue, if 
the Member wishes to express a contrary view he/she should not seek to pressure the officer to 
make a recommendation contrary to the officer's professional view. Certain officers i.e. Head of 
Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) have 
responsibilities in law over and above their obligations to the Authority and to individual 
Members, and Members must respect these obligations, must not obstruct officers in the 
discharge of these responsibilities, and must not victimise officers for discharging these 
responsibilities. 

3. Expectations 

There might be occasions when Members and Officers disagree about certain issues, however 
on these occasions it is expected that the standards of behaviour set out in the Protocol will still 
be followed. 

Page 273



 

193 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

3.1 Members can expect from officers: 

a)  A commitment to the Authority as a whole, and not to any political group; 
b) A working partnership; 
c) An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and pressures; 
d)  Timely response to enquiries and complaints; 
e)  Professional advice, not influenced by political views or preference, which does not 

compromise the political neutrality of officers; 
f)  Regular, up to date information on matters that can reasonably be considered 

appropriate and relevant to their needs, having regard to any individual responsibilities 
that they have and positions that they hold; 

g)  Awareness of and sensitivity to the political environment; 
h)  Respect, dignity and courtesy; 
i)  Training and development in order to carry out their role effectively; 
j)  Integrity, mutual support and appropriate confidentiality; 
k)  Not to be subject to bullying or to be put under undue pressure. 
l)  Not to have personal issues raised with them by officers outside the agreed procedures; 
m) That employees will not use their relationship with Members to advance their personal 

interests or to influence decisions improperly; 
n) That officers will at all times comply with the relevant professional standards, corporate 

policies and conditions of employment; 
o) Support for the role of Members as the local representatives of the Authority, within any 

scheme of support for Members which may be approved by the Authority. 
 
3.2 Officers can expect from Members: 
 

a) A working partnership; 
b) An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and pressures; 
c) Political leadership and direction; 
d) Respect, dignity and courtesy; 
e) Integrity, mutual support and appropriate confidentiality; 
f) Not to be subject to bullying or to be put under undue pressure. Members should have 

regard to the seniority of officers in determining what are reasonable requests, having 
regard to the power relationship between Members and officers, and the potential 
vulnerability of officers, particularly at junior levels; 

g) That Members will not use their position or relationship with officers to advance their 
personal interests or those of others or to influence decisions improperly; 

h) That Members will give due consideration to advice received from officers; 
i) That Members will not criticise individual officers in public and will instead raise any 

concerns or complaints with the appropriate officer (dependent on the seniority of the 
officer concerned – directly or their line manager) in the first instance; 

j) That Members will have due regard to advice received from the Head of Paid Service, 
Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer when those officers are acting pursuant to 
their statutory duties; 

k) That Members will at all times comply with the relevant Code of Conduct. 
 
3.3 Limitations on Behaviour 
 
The distinct roles of Members and officers necessarily impose limitations upon behaviour. By 
way of illustration, and not as an exclusive list: 
 

Page 274



 

194 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

a) Close personal relationships between Members and officers can confuse these separate 
roles and get in the way of the proper discharge of the Authority's functions, not least in 
creating the perception in others that a particular Member or officer may secure 
advantageous treatment; 

b) The need to maintain the separate roles means that there are limits to the matters on 
which they may seek the advice of officers, both in relation to personal matters and party 
political issues; 

c) Relationships with a particular individuals or party groups should not be such as to 
create public suspicion that an employee favours that Member or group above others. 

 
The issue of officer attendance and advice to political groups is specifically covered below. 
 

d) Members will sometimes need to use Council Services in their private capacity, for 
example a planning application for their property, or a licensing application for an 
organisation they are involved with. In order to ensure good future working relationships 
Members should follow the principles of this Protocol in such interactions with officers 
and in any event any requirements in the Councillors’ Code of Conduct (and where 
applicable the Planning Code of Good Practice).  Members are reminded that the Code 
of Conduct applies to any formal or informal meeting with officers and Members where 
authority business such as this is discussed. Members should therefore use a third party 
to liaise and correspond on their behalf. 
 

4. Member/Officer Communication 

4.1 Members should communicate with officers at the appropriate level Routine service related 
enquiries should be initiated through normal departmental enquiry/contact points. Contact 
and communication includes telephone, e-mail, letters and in person. Members should 
always identify themselves as being a Member when contacting officers. Flexible working 
arrangements mean that this will be especially important, as contact will often be via email 
or telephone. Senior officers may use briefings, e-mail or dispatch to notify Members of 
Ward issues. The relevant Senior officer will keep Members informed of general 
developments affecting the Council and/or the District via MIS.  If a Member wants an 
officer to undertake new or additional work (other than routine requests described below) 
contact should be made in the first instance with the appropriate Senior officer for the 
service concerned. This will be considered in the context of the Council’s priorities, 
approved policies and resources available.  

4.2 In communicating with Members, officers should have regard to professional standards, 
Corporate Policies and conditions of employment, the requirements of this Protocol and any 
instructions issued by their departmental management. 

4.3  In order to keep Members informed of relevant information, it may sometimes be necessary 
for Members and officers to hold confidential briefings. Officers are expected to be clear as 
to what information is confidential, and why, and Members are expected to maintain that 
confidentiality. 

4.4  When a Member wishes to discuss policy, contact should be made with the relevant 
Executive Member.  Operational queries should be raised with the Senior officer for the 
Service concerned (Head of Service, Corporate Manager or other Senior manager). 

Page 275



 

195 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

4.5 Members will experience a number of standardised requests for assistance from 
constituents and should approach such matters as per below. Officer response times will be 
as per the Council’s published customer care standards: 

4.5.1.  ‘First Time’ Service Requests or Reports of a service failure: if reporting matters for 
the first time, then this can be reported on line via the Council’s website: 
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/ 

4.5.2 When dealing with specific planning applications Members should contact the 
Development Control case officer at the contact number set out on material 
produced by the Planning Service.  This does not include a Member’s own 
application, as this should be handled through a third party on a Member’s behalf. 

4.5.3  Electoral registration issues for residents, including postal votes are handled by the 
Elections Team.  Residents can register on line via https://www.north-
herts.gov.uk/home/elections-and-voting/register-vote 

4.6 If in doubt as to who to contact for such routine enquiries, Members should contact 
Democratic Services.  

5. Officer Advice to Party Groups 

5.1 There is no statutory recognition for party groups and it is common practice for such groups 
to give preliminary consideration to matters of Council business in advance of such matters 
being considered by the Council or the relevant Committees. Officers may be properly 
called upon to support and contribute to such deliberations by party groups. The advice 
provided must be consistent with the principle at paragraph 3.1(e) above. 

5.2 The support provided by officers can take many forms ranging from a brief meeting with an 
Executive Member, Chairman or spokesperson prior to a Council meeting, to a presentation 
to a full party group meeting. This support is available to all party groups. 

5.3 Certain points must however be clearly understood by all those participating in this type of 
process, Members and officers alike. In particular – 

a) The support provided by an Officer support in these circumstances must not extend 
beyond providing information and advice in relation to matters of Council business. 
Officers must not be involved in advising on matters of party business. The observance 
of this distinction will be assisted if officers are not expected to be present at meetings or 
parts of meetings when matters of party business are to be discussed. 

b) Party group meetings, whilst they form part of the preliminaries to Council decision 
making, are not empowered to make decisions on behalf of the Council. It is essential 
that discussions are kept confidential and are not communicated (inside or outside the 
organisation), interpreted or acted upon as though they have that official status. 

c) Similarly, where officers provide information and advice to a party group meeting in 
relation to a matter of Council business this cannot act as a substitute for providing all 
necessary information and advice to the Cabinet or relevant Committee when the matter 
in question is considered. 

5.4 Special care needs to be exercised whenever officers are involved in providing information 
and advice to a party group meeting which includes persons who are not Members of the 

Page 276

https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/elections-and-voting/register-vote
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/elections-and-voting/register-vote


 

196 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

Council. Such persons will not be bound by the Code of Conduct, in particular the 
provisions concerning the declaration of interest and confidentiality, and for this and other 
reasons officers may not be able to provide the same level of information and advice as 
they would to a meeting of Members only. 

5.5 Officers must respect the confidentiality of any party group discussions at which they are 
present and should not, in particular, relay the content of any such discussion to another 
party group. 

5.6 Any request for an officer to attend a meeting arranged by a party or party group, for the 
purpose of presenting information to the meeting (in relation to an issue or proposal 
affecting or involving the Council) must be made to the relevant senior officer for the service 
concerned, who will consult with the Chief Executive. Where it is agreed that an officer will 
attend for this purpose the same facility will be offered or made available to the other party 
groups. Any officer who so attends will do so in his/her official capacity, will be politically 
neutral, and attendance will not signify support for any particular political view, proposal or 
response. 

5.7  Officer attendance at any public meeting will generally be avoided during the period 
between the announcement and conclusion of any local or parliamentary election (including 
Police and Crime Commissioner elections) affecting the area involved, and will only occur 
during such a period if representatives of all parties supporting candidates in the election 
have been invited to take part in the meeting. 

5.8  At any public meeting organised by any party group, or by any individual Member (rather 
than by the Council) officers may attend only to provide information which is publicly 
available. No such officer attendance will take place during the ‘pre-election’ period referred 
to in paragraph 5.7. 

5.9  Any particular difficulty or uncertainty concerning officer advice to party groups should be 
raised with the Chief Executive who will where appropriate discuss with the relevant group 
leaders. 

6. Officer/Member/Chairman Relationships 

6.1  It is clearly important that there should be a close working relationship between the Leader 
of the Council, Executive Member and Chairman of a Committee and the senior officers of 
any department which reports to that Member or Committee. However, such relationships 
should never be allowed to become so close, or appear to be so close, as to bring into 
question the officers’ ability to deal impartially with other Members and other party groups 
or with any other individual or organisation. 

6.2 The Leader of the Council, Executive Member or Chairman will routinely be consulted as 
part of the process of drawing up an agenda for a forthcoming meeting. It must, however, 
be recognised that in some circumstances the proper conduct of business may require a 
particular matter to be included on the agenda.  The Leader/Member/Chairman is not 
entitled to require the removal of such an item from the agenda, unless agreed by the 
Leader (unless s/he is the requester40) and Chief Executive Officer41. The relevant officer 
will always be fully responsible for the content of any reports submitted in their name. Any 

                                                

40 If the Leader is the requester, then this is to be agreed with the Chief Executive. 
41 This does not apply to statutory officer reports – under s114 Local Government Finance Act 1988 &  s5 Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

Page 277



 

197 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

issue concerning the inclusion of any item on an agenda and the submission of any 
particular report that cannot be agreed between the Leader, Executive Member or 
Chairman and the relevant senior officer should be referred to the Chief Executive as Head 
of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer. 

6.3  In relation to any action under delegated powers, it is important to remember that the law 
allows for decisions relating to the discharge of any of the Council’s functions which are not 
specifically reserved to the Council to be taken by the Cabinet or officers. Normally, 
wherever the authority to make a decision is delegated to an officer it is on the basis that 
the officer will exercise that authority in consultation with the Cabinet Member and/or other 
nominated Members and a record of that decision (as per the Guidance for Decisions Made 
Under Delegated Authority) completed and published. 

6.4 It must be remembered that officers within a department are accountable to their Service 
Director and that whilst officers should also seek to assist a Cabinet Member or Chairman 
(or indeed any Member), they must not in doing so go beyond the bounds of whatever 
authority they have been given by their Service Director or other senior officer. It should 
also be noted that the Chief Executive has a statutory responsibility as Head of Paid 
Service for ensuring the proper organisation and management of the Council’s staff, and 
has therefore an overall responsibility for the direction and management of all officers. 

 

7. Correspondence 

7.1 Members and officers are reminded that all written correspondence (including letters, emails 
and other forms of electronic communication) between them and with members of the 
public may be subject to information requests under the Freedom of Information Act, 
Environmental Information Regulations or Data Protection Act. 

7.2 Correspondence between individual Members and an officer should not normally be copied 
to any other Member except where necessary for the proper conduct of business. When 
using email ‘blind’ copies of such correspondence should not be circulated. 

7.3 Official letters on behalf of the Council should normally be sent out in the name of the 
appropriate officer rather than in the name of a Member. It may be appropriate in certain 
exceptional circumstances, for example representations to a Government Minister or 
correspondence with a Leader or another local authority, for a letter to be issued in the 
name of the Leader of the Council. Letters or e-mails (and other forms of electronic 
communication) which for example create obligations, confirm or deny the acceptance of 
any liability, or give instructions on behalf of the Council, should always be sent out by the 
appropriate Service Director or other senior officer. 

8. Publicity and the Media 

8.1 Contact with the media on issues related to the Council or to Council business is handled 
through, or with advice/support from the Communications Unit. 

8.2 Any Member who approaches the media on any item involving or affecting the Council 
without first approaching or consulting the Council (through the Communications Unit) will 
be responsible for such action. Any Member who does so should make it clear that he/she 
is speaking on his/her own behalf and not representing or speaking for the Council. 

Page 278



 

198 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

8.3 Members and officers should be mindful of the prohibition on the publication by the Council 
of any information intending to promote or canvass support for any political party or 
candidate for elections. In case of doubt, advice should first be obtained from the 
Monitoring Officer, who will have regard to the Code of recommended practice on local 
authority publicity. 

8.4 In all other respects such communications should be in accordance with the Council’s 
Media Relations protocol.42 

9. Personal Relationships 

9.1 No Member or officer should allow any personal connection or relationship with any other 
Member or officer to affect the performance of his or her official responsibilities or the taking 
of any action or decision by or on behalf of the Council. This includes, for example, any 
family relationship, membership of the same household or any business connection. 
Members and officers should always consider how such a relationship or connection would 
be likely to be regarded by anyone outside the Council, or by any other Member or officer, 
and avoid creating any impression of bias or unfairness. 

9.2  An officer who is personally connected or related to any Member has a Personal Interest 
that should notified to his or her Appropriate Officer in writing using the (Personal) Interests 
Register Form (on the intranet: http://intranet.north-herts.gov.uk/home/human-resources/hr-
policies/conflicts-interest). 

9.3  Members should take into account any personal relationship or connection with any other 
Member or officer, in considering the need to register or declare a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest or Declarable interest whenever appropriate. 

10. Involvement of Members 

10.1Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a local issue affecting a 
particular area, all the Members of the relevant Area Committee or (if only affecting a 
particular Ward or Wards), those Members representing the Ward or Wards affected 
should, as a matter of course, be invited to attend the meeting. Similarly, wherever the 
Council undertakes any form of consultative exercise on a local issue, in line with the 
Consultation Strategy, the Area Committee/Ward Members should be notified at the outset 
of the exercise. 

10.2The relevant senior officer will keep Members informed about significant issues in their 
Ward or elsewhere and affecting the Council generally, including in respect of consultation 
with parish councils and community groups. Such updates will usually be via MIS and 
examples include items on national policy, County issues, technical workshops etc. These 
will be issues of importance over and above the routine matters and which do not 
contravene the law relating to confidential information. 

10.3When a Member raises a Ward issue with an officer, they will be kept informed of progress 
if they wish to be. 

 

                                                

42 Available on the internet: https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/customer-services/publications-and-consultations/media-relations-
protocol 

Page 279

https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/customer-services/publications-and-consultations/media-relations-protocol
https://www.north-herts.gov.uk/home/customer-services/publications-and-consultations/media-relations-protocol


 

199 

CONSTITUTION  18 July 2018 

11. Further Guidance 

11.1 Any Member of the Council who needs further guidance on any of the matters referred to in 
the Code or on any similar or related issue is advised to contact the Monitoring Officer. Any 
officer needing such guidance should refer initially to their manager who will consult senior 
management and obtain advice as necessary. 

 

Page 280


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES - 17 MAY 2018
	6 ITEM REFERRED FROM FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE: 18 JUNE 2018 - FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18
	7 ITEM REFERRED FROM CABINET: 19 JUNE 2018 - RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE AND ANNUAL REPORT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 2017/18
	Appendix A - Corporate Risks
	Appendix B - Annual Report on Risk Management 2017-18

	8 ITEM REFERRED FROM CABINET: 19 JUNE 2018 - REVENUE BUDGET OUTTURN 2017/18
	9 ITEM REFERRED FROM CABINET: 19 JUNE 2018 - ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REVIEW 2017/18
	Appendix A - Annual Treasury Management Review 2017-18

	10 COUNCIL CONSTITUTION (CONFIRMATION OF AMENDMENTS) & FURTHER MINOR PROPOSED CHANGES
	Appendix A - Delegated Decision 31 5 18 on Constitutional Amendments

	 Constitution Sections 1-18 18 (Tracked Changes)

